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EXPLANATORY NOTE  

The Registrant is filing this Amendment No. 1 on Form 10-K/A (this “Amended Filing”) to its Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal 
year ended December 31, 2013 (“Original Filing”) to: (i) reissue the Report of the Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm to change the 
opinion of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP regarding the effectiveness of the Registrant's internal control over financial reporting as of December 
31, 2013; (ii) restate management's conclusions regarding internal control over financial reporting and disclosure controls and procedures as of 
December 31, 2013; (iii) add discussion of the risk factors associated with the material weaknesses in internal control over financial reporting as 
of December 31, 2013; and (iv) reissue the consolidated financial statements for the periods listed below to reflect the changes in revenue 
recognition and the correct classification of restricted cash resulting from the material weaknesses.  

The Registrant is restating its consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2013, and its consolidated statement of income, consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of stockholders' equity and consolidated statement of cash flow for the year ended 
December 31, 2013, as well as the quarterly periods during that fiscal year. The Registrant is also revising its consolidated balance sheet as of 
December 31, 2012, and its consolidated statements of income, consolidated statements of comprehensive income, consolidated statements of 
stockholders' equity and consolidated statements of cash flow for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, as well as for all the quarterly 
periods included in 2012.  

Accordingly, the Registrant hereby amends and replaces in their entirety Items 1A, 6, 7, 8, 9A and 15 in the Original Filing. For the 
convenience of the reader, this Amended Filing sets forth the Original Filing, as modified where necessary to reflect the restatement and 
revisions.  

The Registrant has concluded that there are two material weaknesses in internal control over financial reporting, as the Registrant did not 
maintain effective controls over the selection and application of accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (“GAAP”). 
Specifically, the members of the Registrant’s management with the requisite level of accounting knowledge, experience and training 
commensurate with the Registrant’s financial reporting requirements did not analyze certain accounting issues at the level of detail required to 
ensure the proper application of GAAP in certain circumstances. Accordingly, management has determined that the Registrant's disclosure 
controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting were not effective as of December 31, 2013.  

As required by Rule 12b-15, the Registrant's principal executive officer and principal financial officer are providing new currently dated 
certifications. In addition, the Registrant is filing a new consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP. Accordingly, the Registrant hereby amends 
Item 15 in the Original Filing to reflect the filing of the new certifications and consent.  

Except as described above, this Amended Filing does not amend, update or change any other items or disclosures in the Original Filing and 
does not purport to reflect any information or events subsequent to the filing thereof. As such, this Amended Filing speaks only as of the date the 
Original Filing was filed, and the Registrant has not undertaken herein to amend, supplement or update any information contained in the Original 
Filing to give effect to any subsequent events. Accordingly, this Amended Filing should be read in conjunction with the Registrant's filings made 
with the SEC subsequent to the filing of the Original Filing, including any amendment to those filings.  

Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements  

This Annual Report on Form 10-K/A contains certain “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities 
Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). All 
statements other than statements of historical fact may be forward-looking statements. Such forward-looking statements include, among others, 
those statements regarding future events and future results of Bridgepoint Education, Inc. (the “Company,” “Bridgepoint,” “we,” “us” or “our”) 
including, without limitation, statements regarding:  

 

•  Ashford University's operation of an accredited institution subject to the requirements of the California Bureau for Private 
Postsecondary Education (“BPPE”);  

•  our ability to comply with changing regulatory requirements; 

•  expectations regarding financial position, results of operations, liquidity and enrollment at our institutions; 

•  projections, predictions, expectations, estimates or forecasts as to our business, financial and operational results and future economic 
performance;  

•  new initiatives focused on student success and academic quality; 

•  changes in our student fee structure; 



 

Words such as “may,” “should,” “could,” “would,” “predicts,” “potential,” “continue,” “expects,” “anticipates,” “future,” “intends,” 
“plans,” “believes,” “estimates” and similar expressions, as well as statements in the future tense, identify forward-looking statements.  

Forward-looking statements should not be interpreted as a guarantee of future performance or results and will not necessarily be accurate 
indications of the times at, or by, which such performance or results will be achieved. Forward-looking statements are based on information 
available at the time those statements are made and are management's good faith belief as of that time with respect to future events and are 
subject to risks and uncertainties that could cause actual performance or results to differ materially from those expressed in or suggested by the 
forward-looking statements. Important factors that could cause such differences include, but are not limited to:  

Forward-looking statements speak only as of the date the statements are made. You should not put undue reliance on any forward-looking 
statements. We assume no obligation to update forward-looking statements to reflect actual results, changes in assumptions or changes in other 
factors affecting forward-looking information, except to the extent required by applicable securities laws. If we do update one or more forward-
looking statements, no inference should be drawn that we will make additional updates with respect to those or other forward-looking 
statements.  
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•  expectations regarding the adequacy of our cash and cash equivalents and other sources of liquidity for ongoing operations; 

•  expectations regarding investment in online and other advertising and capital expenditures; 

•  our anticipated seasonal fluctuations in results of operations; 

•  management's goals and objectives; and 

•  other similar matters that are not historical facts. 

•  the failure to successfully remediate the control deficiencies that constitute the material weaknesses in our internal controls discussed 
in “Item 9A. Controls and Procedures”;  

•  the inability of Ashford University to effectively gain approval to operate an accredited institution by BPPE, and remaining an 
institution that operates by means of an exemption to that approval;  

•  the inability of Ashford University to adequately resolve the findings and recommendations of the final audit report of the U.S. 
Department of Education's Office of Inspector General;  

•  the imposition of fines or other corrective measures against our institutions; 

•  adverse regulatory changes affecting our industry; 

•  our failure to comply with the extensive regulatory framework applicable to our industry, including Title IV of the Higher Education 
Act and its regulations, state laws and regulatory requirements and accrediting agency requirements;  

•  the inability to continue to develop awareness among, to recruit and to retain students; 

•  competition in the postsecondary education market and its potential impact on our market share, recruiting cost and tuition rates; 

•  reputational and other risks related to potential compliance audits, regulatory actions, negative publicity or service disruptions; 

•  the inability to develop new programs or expand existing programs in a timely and cost-effective manner; 

•  economic or other developments potentially impacting demand in our institutions' core disciplines or the availability or cost of Title IV 
or other funding;  

•  the preceding and other factors discussed in Part I, Item 1A, “Risk Factors,” and in other reports we may file with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission from time to time; and  

•  those factors set forth in Part II, Item 7, “Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.”



 
PART I  

Item 1. Business.  

BUSINESS  

Overview  

We are a provider of postsecondary education services. We believe that our academic institutions, Ashford University ® and University of 
the Rockies SM , embody the contemporary college experience. Our institutions deliver programs primarily online, as well as at their traditional 
campuses. Our institutions had a total of 63,624 students enrolled as of December 31, 2013 .  

Our institutions' delivery models, weekly start dates, commitment to affordability and the transferability of credits make their programs 
highly accessible. Our institutions' online platform has been designed to deliver a quality educational experience while offering the flexibility 
and convenience that many students require, particularly working adults. Our institutions are committed to providing a high-quality educational 
experience to their students. Our institutions have a comprehensive curriculum development process and employ qualified faculty members with 
significant academic and practitioner credentials. Our institutions conduct ongoing faculty and student assessment processes and provide a broad 
array of student services.  

We are also focused on developing innovative new technologies to improve the way students learn, through technologies such as Waypoint 
Outcomes ® , Constellation ™ , Thuze ™ , and the development of our institutions' mobile learning platforms.  

Ashford University. In March 2005, we acquired The Franciscan University of the Prairies, located in Clinton, Iowa, and renamed it 
Ashford University. The mission of Ashford University is to provide accessible, affordable, innovative, high-quality learning opportunities and 
degree programs that meet the diverse needs of individuals pursuing integrity in their lives, professions and communities. The institution offers 
associate's, bachelor's and master's degree programs online, as well as bachelor's degree programs at its campus in Clinton, Iowa. Ashford 
University is comprised of four colleges: the Forbes ™ School of Business, the College of Education, the College of Health, Human Services and 
Sciences, and the College of Liberal Arts. We believe Ashford University is helping to define the modern college experience by combining the 
heritage of a traditional campus with the flexibility and effectiveness of online learning.  

Ashford University continues to invest in enhancing and expanding the physical infrastructure of its campus. The institution encourages 
online students to follow campus activities, including athletic teams, student clubs and student projects.  

Ashford University is accredited by the Accrediting Commission for Senior Colleges and Universities of the Western Association of 
Schools and Colleges, or WASC. For more information about Ashford University's accreditation, see the “Regulation-Accreditation” section 
below. Ashford University also maintains a website at www.ashford.edu, the contents of which are not part of this report.  

University of the Rockies . In September 2007, we acquired the Colorado School of Professional Psychology, located in Colorado Springs, 
Colorado, and renamed it University of the Rockies. The mission of University of the Rockies is to provide high-quality, accessible learning 
opportunities globally for diverse groups of individuals seeking preparation for life goals, professional practice, service, and distinguished 
leadership. University of the Rockies is a graduate institution that offers master's and doctoral degree programs in the social and behavioral 
sciences. Classes at University of the Rockies are presented in a progressive online format, as well as at its campuses in Colorado Springs and 
Denver, Colorado. Similar to Ashford University, most students at University of the Rockies attend via the institution's accessible online 
platform, which is also available through our mobile applications.  

University of the Rockies is accredited by the Higher Learning Commission, or HLC. For more information about University of the 
Rockies' accreditation, see the “Regulation-Accreditation” section below. University of the Rockies also maintains a website at 
www.rockies.edu, the contents of which are not part of this report.  

Innovation and new technologies . Central to our ideal of enabling learning anytime, anywhere is the commitment to provide learning 
platforms and resources that make accessible learning a reality. These innovations include Waypoint Outcomes, Constellation, Thuze and our 
mobile application technology.  

Waypoint Outcomes provides learning and assessment software to our universities and to other education institutions nationwide. The 
software combines classic rubric grading scales with easy, efficient technology to help educators teach writing,  
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critical thinking and cognitive skills. Its sophisticated grading palette frees teachers to focus on meaningful, personalized feedback for students 
by automating mundane and repetitive tasks.  

Constellation is an innovative suite of interactive educational materials that increases both the educational quality and affordability of 
education for online students at Ashford University. We developed Constellation to replace third party textbooks with digital course materials. 
Constellation materials are displayed in a proprietary, browser-based platform, developed and owned by us. Constellation provides mobile 
access to students over the Internet as well as on a variety of devices, including web-enabled smartphones and tablet devices. Through 
Constellation, we were able to significantly decrease student costs and increase student accessibility and learning.  

Thuze is a cloud-based, multi-platform, collaborative learning environment for students to interact with their course digital materials and 
with each other. Thuze leverages the technology that supports our Constellation platform. Thuze provides students with the resources to work 
from both their desktop computers and also from their tablets and smartphones. Our Thuze customers include institutions and resellers, and these 
customers utilize Thuze to deliver our textbook content.  

Ashford University also utilizes mobile application technology that empowers students and faculty to connect to their learning environment 
via their mobile phones and tablet computers. These innovations have garnered significant interest within the academic community and have led 
to invitations for our personnel to speak at various academic conferences.  

Sense of community. We believe that a strong sense of community is important to recruiting and retaining students and differentiate us from 
many other online providers. We encourage online students to follow activities on our institutions' campuses, including student clubs, student 
projects with our campuses' local communities and athletic teams. The athletic teams at Ashford University compete as members of the National 
Associations of Intercollegiate Athletics.  

All online student activity, including completing coursework and seeking support services, is initiated through each university's homepage, 
which also highlights campus activities, including athletic and social events. Additionally, our institutions hold graduation ceremonies at the 
campuses for both the campus-based and online students. As a result, students have the opportunity to become more connected to their fellow 
students and to develop a stronger connection with our institutions.  

Enrollment  

The following table summarizes enrollments at our institutions as of December 31, 2013 , 2012 and 2011:  

* Includes students who are taking one or more courses with our institutions, but have not declared that they are pursuing a specific degree.  

We define enrollments as the number of active students on the last day of the financial reporting period. A student is considered active if 
the student has attended a class within the prior 15 days or is on an institutionally-approved break not to exceed 45 days, unless the student has 
graduated or has provided us with notice of withdrawal.  

As of December 31, 2013 , 72% of our institutions' online students were female, 49% have identified themselves as minorities and the 
average age of online students was 37. Our institutions have online students from all 50 states and from the District of Columbia, and they have 
students from 40 different countries.  

 
 
6  

   December 31, 2013    December 31, 2012    December 31, 2011  

Doctoral  919    1.4 %   874    1.1 %   772    0.9 % 

Master's  8,377    13.2 %   9,930    12.1 %   9,805    11.3 % 

Bachelor's  49,634    78.0 %   60,812    74.3 %   63,962    73.8 % 

Associate's  4,182    6.6 %   9,570    11.7 %   11,632    13.4 % 

Other*  512    0.8 %   624    0.8 %   471    0.6 % 

Total  63,624    100.0 %   81,810    100.0 %   86,642    100.0 % 

Ashford University Online  60,910    95.6 %   78,874    96.4 %   83,774    96.7 % 

Ashford University Campus  796    1.3 %   864    1.1 %   939    1.1 % 

University of the Rockies Online  1,758    2.8 %   1,917    2.3 %   1,753    2.0 % 

University of the Rockies Campus  160    0.3 %   155    0.2 %   176    0.2 % 

Total  63,624    100.0 %   81,810    100.0 %   86,642    100.0 % 



 
Graduation  

Through December 31, 2013 , over 66,500 students have graduated from our combined institutions. Total credits required to obtain a 
degree are consistent for online and campus-based programs: an associate's degree requires a minimum of 64 credits; a bachelor's degree requires 
a minimum of 120 credits; a master's degree typically requires a minimum of 30 additional credits at Ashford University and 33 additional 
credits at University of the Rockies. A doctoral degree at University of the Rockies requires a minimum of 68 additional credits.  

Many students have previously completed some postsecondary education and have credits that they would like to transfer to a new degree 
program. We believe students should receive credit for their prior work; accordingly our institutions have worked closely with our accrediting 
agencies to obtain the right to accept a high level of transfer credits.  

Tuition and Fees  

Our institutions generally structure the tuition and fees for programs to be below Title IV loan limits and average grant awards, permitting 
students who do not otherwise have the financial means to pursue an education the ability to gain access to our institutions' programs. We 
recognize that private loans are increasingly difficult to obtain, which can prevent academically qualified students from pursuing an education at 
institutions with higher tuition and fees. We believe that helping to remove the financial burden of obtaining incremental private loans while 
pursuing a postsecondary education not only permits more students to access our institutions' programs, but also enables students to focus more 
on their coursework and on program completion while in school.  

The price of our institutions' courses varies based upon the number of credits per course (with most courses representing three credits), the 
degree level of the program and the discipline. For the 2013-2014 academic year (which began on July 1, 2013), the price per credit is $413 for 
undergraduate online courses and ranges from $539 to $1,011 for graduate online courses. Based on these per credit prices, the prices for a three-
credit course are $1,239 for undergraduate online courses and range from $1,617 to $3,033 for graduate online courses. For the 2013-2014 
academic year, Ashford University charges a fixed $7,860 “block tuition” for undergraduate campus-based students taking between 12 and 18 
credits per semester. For campus-based students taking more than 18 credits, the cost is an additional $458 per credit. For part time, campus-
based students taking 11 credits or less, the cost is $458 per credit.  

Revenue realized from tuition is reduced by the amount of scholarships awarded to students. For the years ended December 31, 2013 , 
2012 and 2011, we recorded institutional scholarships of $113.5 million, $124.7 million and $102.3 million, respectively, to students of our 
institutions.  

Student Financing  

Students finance their education at our institutions through a combination of the following financing options:  

Title IV programs  

If a student attends any institution certified as Title IV eligible by the U.S. Department of Education, or the Department, and meets 
applicable student eligibility standards, that student may receive grants or loans to help fund their education under programs provided for by 
Title IV of the Higher Education Act. An institution participating in Title IV programs must ensure that all program funds are accounted for and 
disbursed properly. To continue receiving program funds, students must demonstrate satisfactory academic progress toward the completion of 
their program of study.  

In the years ended December 31, 2013 , 2012 and 2011, Ashford University derived 85.6% , 86.4% and 86.8% , respectively, and the 
University of the Rockies derived 87.6% , 87.3% and 85.0% , respectively, of their revenues (in each case calculated in accordance with 
applicable Department regulations) from students who participate in Title IV programs administered by the Department.  

Federal Direct Loans . The Federal Direct Loan Program consists of two types of loans: Stafford loans, which are either subsidized or 
unsubsidized, and PLUS loans, which are made available to graduate and professional students, as well as parents of dependent undergraduate 
students.  

With a Federal Direct Subsidized Loan, the federal government pays the interest on the loan while the student is in school and during grace 
periods and any approved periods of deferment, until the student's obligation to repay the loan begins. Federal Direct Unsubsidized Loans are not 
based on financial need, and are available to students who do not qualify for a Direct Subsidized Loan, or in some cases, in addition to a Direct 
Subsidized Loan. Loan funds are paid to our institutions, which in turn credit the student's account for tuition and fees and disburse any amounts 
in excess of tuition and fees to the student. The Budget Control Act of 2011 provided that for loan periods beginning on or after July 1, 2012, 
graduate and professional  
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students are no longer eligible to receive Federal Direct Subsidized Loans; however, graduate and professional students remain eligible for 
Federal Direct Unsubsidized Loans. The Consolidated Appropriations Act of 2012 temporarily eliminated the interest subsidy provided on 
Federal Direct Subsidized Loans during the six-month grace periods provided to students who are no longer enrolled on at least a half-time basis 
effective for new Federal Direct Subsidized Loans for which the first disbursement is made on or after July 1, 2012, and before July 1, 2014.  

On July 6, 2012, President Obama signed into law the Moving Ahead for Progress in the 21 st Century Act, or MAP-21, which provided a 
one-year extension of the 3.4% interest rate that applied to Direct Subsidized Loans made to undergraduate students for loans first disbursed on 
or after July 1, 2012 and before July 1, 2013. MAP-21 added a new provision that limits a first-time borrower’s eligibility for Direct Subsidized 
Loans on or after July 1, 2013 to a period not to exceed 150 percent of the length of the borrower’s program. The law also provides that a 
borrower who reaches the 150 percent limit on or after July 1, 2013 becomes ineligible for interest subsidy benefits on all Direct Subsidized 
Loans.  

Under the Direct Stafford Loan program, a dependent undergraduate student can borrow up to $5,500 for the first academic year, $6,500 
for the second academic year and $7,500 for each of the third and fourth academic years. Students classified as independent, and dependent 
students whose parents have been denied a PLUS loan for undergraduate students, can obtain up to an additional $4,000 for each of the first and 
second academic years and an additional $5,000 for each of the third and fourth academic years. Students enrolled in graduate programs can 
borrow up to $20,500 per academic year.  

On August 9, 2013, President Obama signed into law the Bipartisan Student Loan Certainty Act of 2013, which amended the Direct Loan 
interest rate section of the Higher Education Act of 1965, as amended. Under the law, interest rates will be established each year for Direct 
Subsidized, Direct Unsubsidized, and Direct PLUS loans for which the first disbursement is on or after July 1 through the following June 30. 
The interest rate, once established, will be fixed and apply for the life of the loan. For Direct Subsidized and Direct Unsubsidized loans whose 
first disbursement is on or after July 1, 2013 but before July 1, 2014, the interest rate is 3.86%, for Direct Unsubsidized Loans for 
Graduate/Professional Students, the interest rate is 5.41%, and for Direct PLUS loans, the interest rate is 6.41%.  

Pell . Under the Pell Program, the Department makes grants to undergraduate students who demonstrate financial need. Under the August 
2008 reauthorization of the Higher Education Act, students were able to receive Pell Grant funds for attendance on a year-round basis, and could 
potentially receive more in a given year than the traditionally defined maximum annual amount. However, the U.S. Department of Defense and 
Full-Year Continuing Appropriations Act of 2011 permanently repealed, effective with the 2011-2012 award year, the Pell Grant provision that 
provided an otherwise eligible student with more than one Pell Grant in an award year. The Consolidated Appropriations Act of 2012 preserved 
the maximum Pell Grant at $5,550 for the 2012-2013 award year, but changed the program's eligibility criteria. Beginning with the 2012-2013 
award year, a student's eligibility to receive a Pell Grant has been reduced from 18 semesters (or its equivalent) to 12 semesters (or its 
equivalent). The funding for Labor-HHS-Education appropriations is part of the Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2014 (P.L. 113-73), which 
was signed into law by the President on January 17, 2014 provides for full funding for the Pell Grant award year 2014-2015 of $5,730.  

Federal Work-Study Program. Under the Federal Work-Study Program, or FWS, federal funds are made available to pay up to 75% of the 
cost of part-time employment of eligible students who demonstrate financial need to help meet the costs of a postsecondary education. An 
institution must make FWS jobs reasonably available to all eligible students. To the maximum extent possible, an institution must provide FWS 
jobs that complement and reinforce each recipient’s educational program or career goals. An FWS student may be employed on campus or, may 
be employed off-campus by federal, state, or local public agencies or certain private or for-profit organizations. The Consolidated Appropriations 
Act, 2014, which was signed into law on January 17, 2014, increased FWS funding for the 2014 federal fiscal year.  

Non-Title IV funding sources  

Other funding sources consist of cash, private loans, state grants, corporate reimbursement, military benefits and institutional loans. In the 
years ended December 31, 2013 , 2012 and 2011, Ashford University derived 14.4% , 13.6% and 13.2%, respectively, and the University of the 
Rockies derived 12.4% , 12.7% and 15.0%, respectively, of their revenues (in each case calculated in accordance with applicable Department 
regulations) from these other funding sources.  

Financial aid processing  

Our institutions have engaged Xerox Business Solutions, or XBS, formerly called Affiliated Computer Services, Inc., to provide call center 
and transactional processing services for the online financial aid student populations at our institutions, including services related to 
disbursement eligibility review and Title IV fund returns. We believe the engagement of XBS centralizes these processing services to improve 
student financing outcomes, and enhances efforts to comply with Title IV rules  
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and regulations. If the engagement with XBS were terminated, we would handle these processing services using our own resources or engage 
another third party vendor.  

Curricula and Scheduling  

Our institutions are committed to providing their students with a rigorous and rewarding academic experience, which gives them the 
knowledge and experience necessary to be contributors, educators and leaders in their chosen professions. Our institutions seek to maintain a 
high level of quality in curriculum, faculty and student support services, all of which contribute to the overall student experience. Curriculum is 
reviewed annually to ensure that content is refined and updated as necessary. Our institutions provide extensive student support services, 
including academic, administrative and technology support, to help maximize the success of their students. Additionally, our institutions monitor 
the success of their educational delivery processes through periodic faculty and student assessments. Our institutions believe their commitment 
to quality is evident in the satisfaction and demonstrated proficiency of their students, which is measured at the completion of every course.  

As of December 31, 2013 , our institutions offered approximately 1,570 courses, 80 degree programs and 145 specializations. 
Specialization areas are comprised of a select number of courses within an existing program which supplement that program's required courses. 
Specialization areas focus on one area of study and may also be offered under the designation of concentration, endorsement or track. Our 
institutions offer programs and specialization areas through Ashford University's four colleges: the Forbes School of Business; the College of 
Education; the College of Health, Human Services and Science; and the College of Liberal Arts; and through the University of the Rockies' two 
schools: the School of Organizational Leadership and the School of Professional Psychology.  

Online courses are offered with weekly start dates throughout the year, except for two weeks total in late December and early January. 
Courses typically run five to six weeks and all courses are offered in an asynchronous format so students can complete their coursework as their 
schedule permits. Online students typically enroll in one course at a time. This focused approach to learning allows the student to engage fully in 
each course.  

Our institutions' campus-based courses are typically nine or 16 weeks and have one start per term, with two to five terms per year. 
Undergraduate campus-based students can enroll in up to six concurrent courses at a time and typically enroll in at least four courses in a given 
semester.  

Doctoral students, both online and campus-based, are required to participate in periodic seminars located on campus as well as compose 
and defend a dissertation on an approved topic.  

Program Development  

Our institutions design their academic offerings to meet the needs of a broad cross section of prospective students. In addition to adding 
programs in high-demand disciplines, our institutions intend to enhance their programs through the addition of more specializations in the future. 
Specializations are used to create an offering that is tailored to the specific objectives of a student population and, therefore, is more attractive to 
potential students interested in a particular program. As a result, the addition of specializations represents a cost-effective way to both expand 
our market and to further enhance the differentiation of our institutions' programs in that market. Additionally, our institutions intend to expand 
the portfolio of their master's and doctoral degree programs, consistent with our commitment to a quality academic offering, and to pursue 
graduate students because we believe they represent an attractive segment of the population.  

Our institutions seek to offer programs in disciplines in which there is strong demand for education and significant opportunity for 
employment. Our institutions' current program portfolio includes offerings at the associate's, bachelor's, master's and doctoral levels in the 
disciplines of business, education, psychology, social sciences and health sciences. Our institutions follow a defined process for identifying new 
degree program opportunities that incorporates student, faculty and market feedback, as well as macro trends in the relevant disciplines, to 
evaluate the expected level of demand for a new program prior to developing the content and marketing it to potential students.  

Potential new programs and specializations are determined based on proposals submitted by faculty and staff and on an assessment of 
overall market demand. Our institutions' faculty and academic leadership work in collaboration with our marketing team to research and select 
new programs that are expected to have strong demand and that can be developed at a reasonable cost. Programs are reviewed by the respective 
institution and must also receive approval through the normal governance process at the relevant institution.  

Once a program is selected for development, a subject matter expert is assigned to work with curriculum development staff to define 
measurable program-level student learning objectives. Each course in a program is designed to include learning activities that address the 
program objectives, foster student engagement and assess learning outcomes. All courses undergo  
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extensive quality assurance review before they are offered to students. A new program is reviewed for approval through the appropriate 
governance structures. Following the approval, online programs are conformed to the standards of our online learning management system and 
the marketing department creates a marketing plan for the program. In most cases, the time frame to identify, develop and approve a new 
program is approximately six months.  

Assessment  

Each institution has developed and implemented a comprehensive assessment plan focused on student learning and effective instruction. 
The plans stipulate assessment of learning outcomes at the course, program and institutional levels. Learning outcomes are unique to each 
institution and demonstrate the skills that graduates should be able to demonstrate upon completion of their respective program. With the 
assistance of our dedicated assessment team, our institutions' faculty routinely evaluates and revises courses and learning resources based upon 
outcomes and institutional research data. Using direct and indirect measurements, student performance is assessed on an ongoing basis to ensure 
student success.  

We utilize Waypoint Outcomes, our proprietary assessment platform, which is an innovative, web-based assessment system of interactive 
rubrics, to gather data from specific learning activities. Data results from Waypoint Outcomes are shared with the student and are also accessible 
by the faculty and program administrators.  

In addition to course and program assessments, faculty performance is continuously assessed by the institutional deans and instructional 
specialists and by results of student surveys at the completion of each course. The results of all of our assessment practices are reviewed by an 
assessment team, including faculty, and, based on their conclusions, recommendations may be made to add to or modify our institutions' 
programs.  

Branding and Marketing  

We have invested significant resources in developing processes and implementing technologies that allow us to effectively identify, recruit 
and retain qualified students. We develop and participate in various marketing activities to generate leads for prospective students and to build 
the Bridgepoint Education, Ashford University and University of the Rockies brands. For our institutions' online student population, we align 
ourselves with working adults, many of whom have already completed some postsecondary courses and are seeking an accessible, affordable 
education from a quality institution. The admissions policies that require the minimum age of 22 for online students at Ashford University are 
focused at attracting more mature students with a greater commitment to completing their degrees. The Ashford University campus-based 
student population attracts traditional college students, typically between the ages of 18 and 24.  

Our branding campaign utilizes TV and digital channels to communicate the Ashford University message. Additionally. leads are 
generated from online sources, with the main source of leads being third party online lead aggregators. We also purchase keywords from search 
providers to generate online leads directly, rather than acquiring them through aggregators. Additionally, we have a team internally who focuses 
on generating online leads through search engine optimization techniques.  

Recruiting and Admissions  

Our institutions employ a team structure in their recruiting operations. Each team consists of admissions counselors, financial service 
advisors and academic advisors. The teams provide a single point of contact and facilitate all aspects of enrollment and integration of a 
prospective student into a program of study. The team structure promotes internal accountability among employees involved in identifying, 
recruiting, enrolling and retaining new students.  

All leads are managed through our proprietary customer relations management, or CRM, system, which directs a lead for a prospective 
student to a recruiting team and assigns an admissions counselor within that team to serve as the primary liaison for that prospective student. 
Once contact with a prospective student is established, admissions counselors, along with the academic and financial service advisors, begin an 
assessment process to determine if our institutions' program offerings match the student's needs and objectives. Additionally, admissions 
counselors communicate other criteria, including expected duration and cost of the programs, to prospective students. Through our proprietary 
systems, admissions counselors are able to generate a comparison of tuition levels across our competitors in order for prospective students to 
make more informed decisions.  

Each admissions counselor undergoes a comprehensive training program that addresses our institutions' academic offerings, financial aid 
options and the regulatory environment in which we operate, including the restrictions that regulations impose on the admissions process. We 
place significant emphasis on regulatory requirements and demand an environment of strict compliance.  

Military and corporate channel relationships are developed and managed by channel development teams. Our military development 
specialists and corporate liaisons work with representatives in these organizations to demonstrate the quality, impact and value that our 
institutions' programs can provide to individuals in the organizations, as well as to the organizations  
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themselves. We believe our institutions' educational offerings are attractive to potential students in these markets. Military students may 
frequently change locations or may seek to complete a program intermittently over the course of several years. As of December 31, 2013 , 
approximately 23.6% of our institutions' students were affiliated with the military, being either service members, veterans or their spouses. In the 
corporate channel, employers value our institutions' traditional campus heritage, while our institutions' affordability allows employer tuition 
reimbursement to be used more efficiently.  

The admissions process is designed to offer access to prospective students who seek the benefits of a postsecondary education. Ashford 
University undergraduate students may qualify in various ways, including by having a high school diploma or a General Educational 
Development, or GED, equivalent. Graduate level students at Ashford University and University of the Rockies are required to have an 
undergraduate degree from an accredited college and may be required to have a minimum grade point average or meet other criteria to qualify 
for admission to certain programs.  

Retention  

Once a student enrolls in an online program, the institution provides consistent, ongoing support to assist the student in acclimating to the 
online environment and to address challenges that arise in order to increase the likelihood that the student will persist through graduation.  

Providing a superior learning experience to every student is a key component in retaining students at our institutions. We feel that our 
team-based approach to recruitment and the robust student services we provide enhance retention because of each student's interaction with his 
or her contact in the team and the accountability inherent in the team structure. We also incorporate a systematic approach to contacting students 
at key milestones during their experience at our institutions, providing encouragement and highlighting their progress. Additional contact points 
include quarterly updates on the school and campus life. There are frequent personal interactions between academic advisors and students, which 
we view as a key component to our retention strategy. Additionally, we employ a retention committee that monitors performance metrics and 
other key data to analyze student retention rates, as well as the causes and potential risks for student drops. Also, our dispute resolution 
department serves as a neutral third party for students to raise any concerns or complaints. Such concerns and complaints are then elevated to the 
appropriate department so we may proactively address certain issues potentially affecting retention.  

Beginning in the second half of 2012, Ashford University implemented various new initiatives focused on academic quality and student 
success that we believe will help students succeed in their programs, help retain higher quality students and ultimately increase student retention. 
In the area of academic quality, Ashford University increased the size of its student support team, increased the number of full-time faculty and 
implemented a smaller class size initiative. In the area of student success, Ashford University has expanded its orientation program, broadened 
its refund policy, redefined the minimum age for all students, and has made the decision to eliminate certain associate programs.  

Ashford University previously had a free two-week orientation course, which became mandatory in the fourth quarter of 2012, for all 
incoming students that have not earned any previous college credits. The orientation is designed to provide students with a complete overview of 
the online classroom experience, prepare them for success in their courses, and help them self-evaluate their readiness to succeed in an online 
college setting. The experience provides a realistic, up-front overview of expectations so that students are aware of what is expected of them as 
they prepare for their studies. They also gain an understanding of how to access and navigate within the online classroom, so they can feel 
confident when they move to their first course in their respective programs. Successful completion of all orientation activities is a requirement 
before students can enroll in their first class.  

During the fourth quarter of 2012, Ashford University implemented the “Ashford Promise.” This initiative allows an individual to 
experience the first three weeks of his or her first class before incurring any financial obligation. At any time during these first three weeks, those 
individuals who do not demonstrate satisfactory academic progress, or those who simply opt out, will not be admitted as students into the 
University. Such individual will not be responsible for any tuition or fees, and therefore will not incur any debt. We believe that the Ashford 
Promise initiative will help increase student retention as well as to help improve student loan debt.  

Technology  

We have created a scalable technology system that is secure, reliable and redundant and permits our institutions' courses and support 
services to be offered online.  
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Online course delivery and management  

We use the eCollege online learning platform, provided by Pearson eCollege, a third-party software and services provider, as our online 
platform. The platform provides an online learning management system and provides for the storage, management and delivery of course 
content. The platform includes collaborative spaces for student communication and participation with other students and faculty, grade and 
attendance management for faculty and assessment capabilities to assist us in maintaining quality. Pearson eCollege hosts the software for us in 
its data center to allow us to efficiently scale the applications to meet the needs of our institutions' student population. Access to our systems is 
provided through student portals, an extension of our institutions' respective websites. These portals are dynamic destinations for students to 
securely access personal information and services and also serve as vehicles for student communications, activities and student support services.  

Internal administration  

Ashford University utilizes Talisma, a CRM application from Campus Management Corp., for lead management, workflow, analytics, 
reporting, and a complete view of our students. This tool enables Ashford University to view the entire student history from the lead to 
graduation, individually or in cohorts, and to respond appropriately. University of the Rockies utilizes an internally developed proprietary CRM 
system for lead management, document management, workflow, analytics and reporting. Both institutions utilize online application portals to 
accept, integrate and process student applications.  

Both institutions utilize CampusVue, a student information system provided by Campus Management Corp., to manage student data 
(including grades, attendance, status and financial aid) and to generate periodic management reports. This system interfaces with our online 
learning management system, e-College.  

Constellation  

Constellation is our proprietary learning platform that takes the best features of traditional textbooks and combines them with the best 
features of the Web to create a premium student experience. Constellation gives students access to their digital course materials across platforms 
without sacrificing time-tested studying tools like highlighting and note taking. Constellation includes customized content geared to our 
institutions' courses and students, combined with a robust set of features that make course materials engaging and accessible to students of 
various learning styles and abilities. Constellation is cloud-based and is compatible across operating systems, browsers and mobile technologies. 
We have developed Constellation-enabled courses primarily in core classes to attempt to reach as many students as possible. We plan to 
continually expand the features of Constellation in future releases.  

The editorial team for Constellation consists of editors with extensive experience at leading textbook publishing firms. Highly qualified 
subject matter experts are recruited to author content that addresses course and institutional outcomes. Constellation digital texts are organized 
around our institutions' accelerated courses. As of December 31, 2013 , approximately 83% of our institutions' students have taken a 
Constellation-enabled course. As of December 31, 2013 , we had more than 110 Constellation titles available.  

We have also expanded the features of Constellation to an external learning platform called Thuze, which launched in early 2012. We 
partnered with several leading publishers to offer Thuze to a limited number of students outside of our institutions. Thuze enables students to 
share notes and highlights with their peers, and to utilize the social networking aspect of the platform by having conversations with other 
students and posting their thoughts on discussion boards. The notebook feature within Thuze allows students to create their own study guides 
from their annotations, and to instantly search for key terms.  

Mobile application technology  

Each of our institutions offers mobile applications compatible with most mobile phones and tablet computers in order to increase the 
accessibility of the student learning experience. The applications enable students to use their mobile device to contact support staff, complete 
discussion posts, and review important information regarding their academic status. We have received positive feedback from students indicating 
that these mobile applications further their learning experience and we have incorporated feedback received into the periodic updates to them.  

Employees  

Throughout fiscal year 2013, our institutions have increased the size of their student support teams, and have increased the number of full-
time faculty. As of December 31, 2013 , our institutions had approximately 320 full-time faculty members and approximately 4,300 adjunct 
faculty members. Adjunct faculty are part-time employees engaged on a course-by-course basis. Adjunct faculty are compensated a fixed 
amount per course, which varies among faculty members based on each individual's experience and background. In addition to teaching 
assignments, adjunct faculty may also be asked to serve on student committees, such as comprehensive examination and dissertation committees, 
or assist with course development.  
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As of December 31, 2013 , we, along with our institutions, also employed more than a combined 3,400 non-faculty staff in university 

services, academic advising and academic support, enrollment services, university administration, financial aid, information technology, human 
resources, corporate accounting, finance and other administrative functions. None of our employees is a party to any collective bargaining or 
similar agreement with us.  

Competition  

The postsecondary education market is highly fragmented and competitive, with no private or public institution representing a significant 
market share. Our institutions compete primarily with public and private degree-granting regionally accredited colleges and universities. Many 
colleges and universities enroll working adults in addition to traditional 18 to 24 year-old students. In addition, many of those colleges and 
universities offer a variety of distance education and online initiatives.  

We believe that the competitive factors in the postsecondary education market include the reputation of the college or university among 
students and employers; the number of qualified and experienced faculty; the program costs; the relevant and accredited program offerings; the 
regulatory approvals; the convenient, flexible and dependable access to programs and classes; the relative marketing and selling effectiveness; 
the time necessary to earn a degree; and the level of student support services.  

We do expect to encounter increased competition as a result of new entrants to the online education market, including traditional colleges 
and universities that had not previously offered online education programs.  

Intellectual Property  

We rely on a combination of copyrights, trademarks, service marks, trade secrets, domain names and agreements with third parties to 
protect our intellectual property rights. We have trademark and service mark registrations and pending applications in the United States and 
select foreign jurisdictions. We also own the domain name rights for our institutions, as well as other words and phrases important to our 
business. Additionally, we have applied for patent protection for certain technology developed by us; and registered copyrights for exemplary 
business course materials. In many instances, our institutions' course content is produced by faculty and other content experts under work-for-
hire agreements pursuant to which we own the course content in return for a fixed development fee. In certain limited cases, course content is 
licensed from third parties on a royalty fee basis.  

Environmental Matters  

We believe our facilities are in compliance with federal, state and local laws and regulations that have been enacted or adopted regulating 
the discharge of materials into the environment, or otherwise relating to the protection of the environment. Compliance with these laws and 
regulations has not had, and is not expected to have, a material effect on our capital expenditures, results of operations or competitive position.  

Financial Information about Segments and Geographic Areas  

We operate our business in one reportable segment, and we have no foreign operations or assets located outside of the United States. For 
information about our revenues from external customers, measures of profits and losses and total assets, see our annual consolidated financial 
statements which are included elsewhere in this report.  

Executive Officers of the Registrant  

Our management team possesses extensive experience in postsecondary education, in many cases with other large online postsecondary 
providers. Prior to launching Bridgepoint Education, Andrew Clark, our CEO and President, served in senior management positions at such 
institutions for 12 years and has significant experience with online education businesses. The other members of our executive management team 
also bring a combination of academic, operational, legal, technological and financial expertise that we believe has been critical to our success. 
The continuity of our executive management team demonstrates the strong relationship between functional areas within our business and the 
team's belief in the potential of our business model. Additionally, our executive management team has been critical to establishing and 
maintaining our corporate culture.  
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The names of our executive officers and their ages, titles and biographies as of February 1, 2014, are set forth below:  

Our executive officers are appointed by, and serve at the discretion of, our board of directors. Each executive officer is a full-time 
employee. There is no family relationship between any of our executive officers or directors.  

Andrew S. Clark has served as our Chief Executive Officer and a director since November 2003 and as our President since February 2009. 
Mr. Clark also served from March 2005 to December 2008 on the Board of Trustees for Ashford University and served on the University of the 
Rockies Board of Trustees from September 2007 to August 2010. Prior to joining us in November 2003, Mr. Clark consulted with several 
private equity firms examining the postsecondary education sector. Prior to 2003, Mr. Clark worked for Career Education Corporation as 
Divisional Vice President of Operations and Chief Operating Officer for American InterContinental University in 2002. From 1992 to 2001, 
Mr. Clark worked for Apollo Group, Inc. (University of Phoenix), where he served in various management roles, culminating in his position as 
Regional Vice President for the Mid-West region from 1999 to 2001. Mr. Clark earned an M.B.A. from the University of Phoenix and a B.A. 
from Pacific Lutheran University.  

Daniel J. Devine joined us in January 2004 and currently serves as our Executive Vice President/Chief Financial Officer. Prior to 
Mr. Devine's appointment as Executive Vice President/Chief Financial Officer in January 2011, Mr. Devine served as our Senior Vice 
President/Chief Financial Officer, from November 2008 to December 2010, and as our Chief Financial Officer, from January 2004 to November 
2008. Mr. Devine has over 20 years of senior finance experience. From March 2002 to December 2003, Mr. Devine served as the Chief 
Financial Officer of A-Life Medical. From 1994 to 2000, Mr. Devine served in various management roles for Mitchell International Inc. 
culminating in his position as Chief Financial Officer from 1998 to 2000. From 1987 to 1993, Mr. Devine served in various management roles 
for Foster Wheeler Corporation, culminating in his position of divisional Chief Financial Officer from 1990 to 1993. Mr. Devine earned a B.A. 
from Drexel University and is a certified public accountant.  

Jane McAuliffe joined us in July 2005 and currently serves as our Executive Vice President of External Affairs/Chief Academic Officer. 
Prior to Dr. McAuliffe's appointment as in January 2011, Dr. McAuliffe served as our Senior Vice President/Chief Administrative Officer, from 
November 2008 to December 2010, and as our Vice President of Academic Affairs, from September 2007 to November 2008. Dr. McAuliffe 
also served as Chancellor/President of Ashford University from July 2005 to December 2010. From 2003 to 2005, Dr. McAuliffe served as 
President of Argosy University/Sarasota Campus in Sarasota, Florida. Prior to 2003, Dr. McAuliffe served in various management roles 
including Vice President for Academic Affairs at American InterContinental University in 2002, and prior to that Dean, Associate Dean and 
Program Director in the College of Education at the University of Phoenix from 1996 to 2002. Dr. McAuliffe earned a Ph.D., M.A. and B.A. 
from Arizona State University.  

Rodney T. Sheng joined us in January 2004 and currently serves as our Executive Vice President/Chief Administrative Officer. Prior to 
Mr. Sheng's appointment as Executive Vice President/Chief Administrative Officer in January 2011, Mr. Sheng served as our Senior Vice 
President/Chief Administrative Officer, from November 2008 to December 2010, and as our Vice President of Operations, from January 2004 to 
November 2008. Mr. Sheng has over 20 years of experience in the postsecondary sector, during which time he has worked for four different 
colleges and universities and served in a variety of management roles. From 1995 to 2003, Mr. Sheng worked for Apollo Group, Inc. (University 
of Phoenix). From 2000 to 2002, Mr. Sheng served as Vice President/Campus Director and opened two campuses for the University of Phoenix 
in the state of Ohio. In 2002, Mr. Sheng was responsible for the marketing and recruitment for 12 learning centers throughout the Southern 
California metropolitan area. Mr. Sheng earned an M.A. from the University of Phoenix and a B.A. from San Diego State University.  
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Name    Age    Position  

Andrew S. Clark    48    CEO and President and Director  

Daniel J. Devine    49    Executive Vice President/Chief Financial Officer  

Jane McAuliffe    47    Executive Vice President/Chief Academic Officer  

Rodney T. Sheng    47    Executive Vice President/Chief Administrative Officer  

Ross L. Woodard    48    Senior Vice President/Chief Marketing Officer  

Charlene Dackerman    53    Senior Vice President of Human Resources  

Thomas Ashbrook    49    Senior Vice President/Chief Information Officer  

Diane L. Thompson    58    Senior Vice President, Secretary and General Counsel  

Douglas C. Abts    40    Senior Vice President/Strategy and Corporate Development  

Vickie L. Schray    53    Senior Vice President of Regulatory Affairs and Public Policy  



 
Ross L. Woodard joined us in June 2004 and has served as our Senior Vice President/Chief Marketing Officer since November 2008. From 

June 2004 to February 2005, Mr. Woodard served as our Director of E-Commerce and from March 2005 to October 2008 he served as our Vice 
President of Marketing. From June 1992 to May 2004, Mr. Woodard held multiple senior management positions with Road Runner Sports. From 
1998 to 2004, Mr. Woodard served as Director of E-Commerce for Road Runner Sports and was responsible for the internet sales and marketing 
channel. From 1992 through 1997, Mr. Woodard served in various management roles with Road Runner Sports, including Director of Sales. 
From 1989 to 1992, he served as a Regional Manager for Nike, Inc. in San Diego. Mr. Woodard earned a B.A. from San Diego State University.  

Charlene Dackerman joined us in September 2004 and has served as our Senior Vice President of Human Resources since November 
2008. From September 2004 to December 2005, Ms. Dackerman served as our Director of Human Resources, and from January 2006 to October 
2008, she served as our Vice President of Human Resources. Ms. Dackerman has worked in the postsecondary sector for over 18 years. From 
1986 to 2002, Ms. Dackerman served in various management roles for Kelsey Jenney College, including College Director, Campus Director, 
Dean and Director of Admissions. Ms. Dackerman earned an M.S. from National University and a B.S. from Humboldt State University.  

Thomas Ashbrook joined us in November 2008 and has served as our Senior Vice President/Chief Information Officer since that time. 
From March 2005 to March 2008, Mr. Ashbrook served as the Divisional Information Officer for Fremont Investment & Loan, a California 
industrial bank and lending institution, where he led information technology strategy for the residential business. From 2001 to 2005, 
Mr. Ashbrook served as the Senior Vice President of Technology Solutions for Fidelity National Information Solutions, a subsidiary of Fidelity 
National Financial. Mr. Ashbrook earned a B.S. in Electrical Engineering from California State University, Long Beach and an MBA from 
Ashford University, Clinton Iowa.  

Diane L. Thompson joined us in December 2008 and has served as our Senior Vice President, Secretary and General Counsel since that 
time. From September 1997 to November 2008, Ms. Thompson served in various management roles for Apollo Group, Inc. (University of 
Phoenix). From November 2000 to February 2006, Ms. Thompson served as Vice President/Counsel for Apollo Group, Inc. (University of 
Phoenix) and from March 2006 to November 2008, Ms. Thompson served as Chief Human Resources Officer. From October 1992 to July 1996, 
Ms. Thompson served as an attorney in the Pima County Attorney's Office in Tucson Arizona. Ms. Thompson earned a B.A. from St. Cloud 
University, an M.A. from Antioch University and a J.D. from the University of Arizona College of Law.  

Douglas C. Abts joined us in August 2010 and has served as our Senior Vice President, Strategy and Corporate Development since that 
time. He is responsible for setting the strategic direction of the company, mergers and acquisitions activity, data intelligence capabilities, and 
new learning product development. Previously, Mr. Abts spent seven years at Science Applications International Corporation, most recently 
serving as Corporate Vice President for Mergers and Acquisitions. He earlier held the titles of Vice President for Strategic Development and 
Business Development Manager. For six years, Mr. Abts served with distinction as an Officer in the United States Navy SEAL Teams. Mr. Abts 
holds an M.B.A. from Harvard Business School and a B.A. from Stanford University.  

Vickie L. Schray joined Bridgepoint Education in January 2011 and currently serves as the Senior Vice President, Regulatory Affairs and 
Public Policy. Prior to Ms. Schray's appointment as the Senior Vice President Regulatory Affairs and Public Policy in December 2012, Ms. 
Schray served as the Vice President Regulatory Affairs. Ms. Schray has over 20 years of experience in postsecondary education and has worked 
at the federal, state and institutional level. From 1998 to 2010, Ms. Schray served in various leadership positions with the U.S. Department of 
Education, including Acting Deputy Assistant Secretary in the Office of Postsecondary Education, Senior Policy Analyst in the Office of the 
Under Secretary, and as the Deputy Director for the Secretary of Education's Commission on the Future of Higher Education. Before her work 
with the Department of Education, Ms. Schray consulted for the National School-to-Work Opportunities Office and was Deputy Director of the 
National Skill Standards Board. Ms. Schray earned a M.S. at Portland State University and a B.S. at Oregon State University.  

In June 2003, Mr. Clark acquired and subsequently hired the management to operate Foundation College, an education provider which 
conducted campus-based training programs through the California Employment Training Panel. From November 2003 to August 2004, 
Ms. Dackerman served as President and Chief Financial Officer of Foundation College. Due to a significant decrease in state funding, the 
business filed for bankruptcy in December 2005.  
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Additional Information  

We were incorporated in Delaware in May 1999 under the name TeleUniversity, Inc. and we changed our name to Bridgepoint 
Education, Inc. in February 2004. Our website is located at www.bridgepointeducation.com. We make available free of charge on our website 
our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to those reports filed 
pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such material with, or 
furnish it to, the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). The website for the SEC is located at www.sec.gov. The reference to our 
website is intended to be an inactive textual reference and the contents of our website are not intended to be incorporated into this report.  
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REGULATION  

Ashford University and University of the Rockies are accredited institutions of higher education which are subject to extensive regulation 
by a variety of agencies. These agencies include the Accrediting Commission for Senior Colleges and Universities of the Western Association of 
Schools and Colleges, or WASC, the agency that accredits Ashford University, and the Higher Learning Commission of the North Central 
Association of Colleges and Schools, or HLC, the agency that accredits University of the Rockies. Accrediting agencies provide an independent 
assessment of educational quality. Our institutions are also subject to regulation by educational licensing authorities in states where our 
institutions are physically located or conduct certain operations. We are also subject to regulation by the U.S. Department of Education, referred 
to as the Department, due to our participation in federal student financial aid programs authorized by Title IV of the Higher Education Act of 
1965, as amended (the “Higher Education Act”), which we refer to in this report as Title IV programs. To participate in Title IV programs, a 
school must maintain authorization by the state education agency or agencies where it is physically located, be accredited by an accrediting 
agency recognized by the Department and be certified by the Department as an eligible institution. Institutions that participate in the Title IV 
programs are subject to an extensive set of laws and regulations. The laws, regulations and standards of WASC, HLC, the Department and state 
agencies affect the vast majority of our institutions' operations.  

Accreditation  

From 1950 until being institutionally accredited by WASC in December 2013, Ashford University was accredited by HLC. University of 
the Rockies has been institutionally accredited since 2003 by HLC. WASC and HLC are two of six regional accrediting agencies that accredit 
colleges and universities in the United States. Most traditional, public and private non-profit, degree-granting colleges and universities are 
accredited by one of these six agencies.  

Accreditation by WASC and HLC is recognized by the Department and by prospective students as a reliable indicator of educational 
quality. Accreditation is a private, non-governmental process for evaluating the quality of an educational institution and its programs and an 
institution's effectiveness in carrying out its mission in areas including integrity, student performance, curriculum, educational effectiveness, 
faculty, physical resources, administrative capability and resources, financial stability and governance. To be recognized by the Department, an 
accrediting agency, among other things, must adopt specific standards to be maintained by educational institutions, conduct peer-review 
evaluations of institutions' compliance with those standards, monitor compliance through periodic institutional reporting and the periodic 
renewal process and publicly designate those institutions that meet the agency's criteria. An accredited institution is subject to periodic review by 
its accrediting agency to determine whether it continues to meet the performance, integrity, quality and other standards required for 
accreditation. An institution that is determined not to meet the standards of accreditation may have its accreditation revoked or not renewed.  

Accreditation is important to our institutions as it establishes comprehensive criteria designed to promote educational quality and 
effectiveness. Accreditation also represents a public acknowledgment by a recognized independent agency of the quality and effectiveness of our 
institutions and their programs. It also facilitates the transferability of educational credits when students transfer to or apply for graduate school 
at other regionally accredited colleges and universities. The Department relies on accreditation as an indicator of educational quality and 
effectiveness in determining an institution's eligibility to participate in Title IV programs, as do certain corporate and government sponsors in 
connection with tuition reimbursement and other student aid programs.  

We believe that regional accreditation is viewed favorably by certain students when choosing a school, by other schools when evaluating 
transfer and graduate school applications and by certain employers when evaluating the credentials of candidates for employment.  

In addition, by approving our institutions' offerings of approved campus-based programs through online delivery modalities and by 
approving increased transfer credit allowance and prior learning assessments, accreditation supports our mission of serving students by providing 
innovative online programs and allowing student accessibility through increased transfer of credit for prior traditional and non-traditional 
education.  

Evaluations and renewals of accreditation  

On July 10, 2013, WASC granted Initial Accreditation to Ashford University for five years, until July 15, 2018. As part of a continuing 
WASC monitoring process, Ashford University will host WASC in a special visit in spring 2015. University of the Rockies was granted its 
initial accreditation from HLC in 2003 for a period of five years. Its accreditation was renewed by HLC in 2008 for a period of seven years, with 
a comprehensive evaluation scheduled during the 2015-2016 academic year. In November 2009, as a result of our initial public offering, both 
Ashford University and University of the Rockies participated in a change of control accreditation visit from HLC, which continued the 
accreditation of both institutions at that time. Upon the recommendation of the visiting team, HLC determined that both institutions (i) continued 
to meet the commission's eligibility  
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requirements and accreditation criteria and (ii) should receive their next comprehensive evaluations in 2014-2015, per the commission policy 
that states an institution must have a comprehensive review no later than five years following a change in control visit. University of the Rockies 
will undergo this comprehensive review in September 2014; HLC has informed Ashford University that the 2015-2016 visit will not occur. As 
Ashford University is now accredited by WASC, the institution is only subject to evaluation by WASC.  

Beginning in 2014, WASC will institute “Mid-Cycle Reviews” of its accredited institutions near the midpoint of their periods of 
accreditation. The purpose of the Mid-Cycle Review is to identify problems with an institution's or program's continued compliance with agency 
standards while taking into account institutional or program strengths and stability. The Mid-Cycle Review will focus particularly on student 
achievement, including indications of educational effectiveness, retention and graduation data.  

For information regarding the current status of the accreditation of Ashford University see “WASC Grant of Initial Accreditation of 
Ashford University” below. For information regarding the current status of the accreditation of University of the Rockies see “HLC Notification 
regarding University of the Rockies Non-Financial Indicator Conditions” below.  

WASC Grant of Initial Accreditation of Ashford University  

On July 10, 2013, WASC granted Initial Accreditation to Ashford University for five years, until July 15, 2018. This WASC action 
permitted Ashford University to designate WASC as its accreditor of record for purposes of eligibility to participate in the Title IV programs 
following approval by the Department, the university's withdrawal from HLC and the transfer of relevant records to WASC. Ashford University 
formally submitted its request for such approvals to the Department on July 17, 2013.On November 4, 2013, the Department notified Ashford 
University that the Department would approve the university’s change in accreditor, recognizing WASC as Ashford University’s accreditor, 
along with the renewal of certification for continued participation in the Title IV, HEA programs. In December 2013, Ashford University 
completed its transition to WASC accreditation, received provisional certification from the Department until 2016 and designated its San Diego, 
California facilities as its main campus and its Clinton, Iowa campus as an additional location. As part of a continuing WASC monitoring 
process, Ashford University will host WASC in a special visit in spring 2015.  

Application for Licensure by California BPPE  

To be eligible to participate in Title IV programs, an institution must be legally authorized to offer its educational programs by the states in 
which it is physically located. Effective July 1, 2011, the Department established new requirements to determine if an institution is considered to 
be legally authorized by a state. See “Department Regulation of Title IV Programs - State Authorization” below. In connection with its transition 
to WASC accreditation, Ashford University designated its San Diego, California facilities as its main campus for Title IV purposes. WASC-
accredited institutions operating in California are not required, under state rules, to obtain approval from the State of California, Department of 
Consumer Affairs, Bureau for Private Postsecondary Education, or BPPE, in order to operate in the state. Under the Department’s state 
authorization rule, an institution must be approved or licensed on a basis other than accreditation in instances in which it is not established by 
name as an educational institution by a state through a charter, statute, constitutional provision, or other action issued by an appropriate state 
agency or entity. On May 21, 2013, the Department published a notice stating that it would provide an extension of the effective date of the state 
authorization rule until July 1, 2014 to qualifying institutions that obtain from a state an explanation of how the extension of time would permit 
the state to comply with the regulations. The California Department of Consumer Affairs has issued a letter explaining the need for an extension. 
As it is uncertain how the Department will interpret the state authorization rule or the applicability of the extension of time, the university 
submitted an Application for Approval to Operate an Accredited Institution to BPPE on September 10, 2013. If BPPE approves the university’s 
application, the university will no longer be exempt from certain laws and regulations applicable to private, post-secondary educational 
institutions. These laws and regulations entail certain California reporting requirements, including but not limited to, graduation, employment 
and licensing data, certain changes of ownership and control, faculty and programs, and student refund policies, as well as the triggering of other 
state and federal student employment data reporting and disclosure requirements.  

Negotiated Rulemaking  

The Department held public hearings in May and June 2013 inviting the submission of topics for consideration in a series of rulemaking 
efforts to achieve a long-term agenda in higher education focused on access, affordability, academic quality and completion. Recent hearings 
have focused on topics including, but not limited to, cash management of Title IV program funds, state authorization for programs offering 
distance or correspondence education, gainful employment, credit and clock hour conversions, changes made to the Clery Act by the Violence 
Against Women Act of 2013 (P.L. 113-4), and the definition of “adverse credit” for PLUS borrowers.  
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In June 2013, the Department announced its intention to establish a negotiated rulemaking committee to prepare proposed regulations that 

would establish standards for programs that prepare students for gainful employment in a recognized occupation. The committee met for three 
sessions between September and December 2013, but did not reach consensus on the content of the proposed regulations. On March 14, 2014, 
the Department published proposed regulations for public comment. See “Regulation - Gainful Employment.”  

In January 2014, the Department held the first of three negotiated rulemaking sessions to implement the changes to the Clery Act required 
by the enactment of the Violence Against Women Act, or VAWA. Two other sessions are scheduled for February 2014 and March-April 2014. 
While the final regulations will likely not be implemented prior to July 1, 2015, the Department notified institutions in an Electronic 
Announcement in May 2013 that until the regulations go into effect, it expects institutions to make a good faith effort to comply with the 
statutory requirements. Among other things, VAWA requires institutions to compile statistics for certain crimes reported to campus security 
authorities or local police agencies. Under the statute, an institution must include the new required information in its Annual Security Report 
issued no later than October 1, 2014.  

In February 2014, the Department held the first of three negotiation sessions related to various new program integrity initiatives, including 
the potential reintroduction of the Distance Education Rule (34 C.F.R. § 600.9(c)) which was vacated by a federal court in 2011. The February 
sessions produced no substantive outcomes, but sessions in March 2014 plan to address the Department’s draft of a proposed regulation on 
distance education that could materially impact our business.  

Additional topics to be considered at March and April sessions are expected to include, but may not be limited to, the following: cash 
management of Title IV funds, including the use of debit cards and the handling of Title IV credit balances; state authorization for foreign 
locations; clock to credit hour conversion; the definition of “adverse credit” for borrowers in the Federal Direct PLUS Loan Program; and the 
application of the repeat coursework provisions to graduate and undergraduate programs.  

We cannot predict the scope and content of the regulations that may emerge from these or other rulemaking activities that the Department 
initiates. Compliance with additional regulations, or with modifications to existing regulations, and/or regulatory scrutiny that results in the 
Company's institutions being allegedly out of compliance with these regulations, could result in direct and indirect costs of compliance, fines, 
liabilities, sanctions or lawsuits, which could have a material adverse effect on enrollments, revenues, financial condition, cash flows and results 
of operations.  

HLC Notification regarding University of the Rockies Non-Financial Indicator Conditions  

On July 24, 2012, HLC notified University of the Rockies that it had been identified for further inquiry based on certain non-financial data 
the institution provided in its 2012 Institutional Annual Report. University of the Rockies was identified for further inquiry because it met two of 
the indicator conditions: (1) the number of degrees awarded increased 40% or more compared to the prior year; and (2) the number of full-time 
faculty increased 25% or more compared to the prior year. Accordingly, HLC requested that University of the Rockies provide a report to HLC 
demonstrating the institution's ability to continue meeting the Core Components in light of the conditions at the institution that led to the 
indicators being identified. This report was provided on August 29, 2012. HLC notified the University in 2013 that its staff accepts the 
University’s explanatory report and no further action is needed at this time.  

Authorization by U.S. Congress of Title IV Programs  

The U.S. Congress must periodically reauthorize the Higher Education Act and annually determine the funding level for each Title IV 
program. In 2008, the Higher Education Act was reauthorized through September 2014. The U.S. Congress may propose and pass revisions to 
the Higher Education Act between reauthorizations, by using other legislative vehicles such as budget bills and appropriations bills. The U.S. 
Congress also determines the funding levels for Title IV programs annually through the budget and appropriations process.  

Any action by the U.S. Congress that significantly reduces Title IV program funding or the eligibility of our institutions or students to 
participate in Title IV programs could have a material adverse effect on enrollments, revenues, financial condition, cash flows and results of 
operations. Congressional action could also require us to modify our practices in ways that could increase our administrative costs and reduce 
our profit margin, which could have a material adverse effect on enrollments, revenues, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations.  

For example, as the federal Pell Grant program is one of the largest non-defense discretionary spending programs in the federal budget, it is 
a potential target for reduction as the U.S. Congress addresses unprecedented budget deficits. Under the Pell Grant program, the Department of 
Education makes grants to undergraduate students who demonstrate financial need. On December 23, 2011, the “Consolidated Appropriations 
Act, 2012,” among other provisions, eliminated federal student aid  
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eligibility, with some exceptions, for ability-to-benefit students who first enroll on or after July 1, 2013. The same law limited Pell Grant 
eligibility to 18 semesters or equivalent, a provision that went into effect for all students beginning with the 2012-2013 award year.  

Subsidized Stafford loans are also a potential target for reduction. Subsidized Stafford loans are federally guaranteed loans based on 
financial need. Interest does not accrue on subsidized Stafford loans while a student is in school at least half time, or during any future grace or 
deferment periods; the federal government pays the interest on such loans during these times. However, under the “Budget Control Act of 2011,” 
all subsidized Stafford loans were eliminated for graduate and professional students, who are now only eligible for unsubsidized Stafford loans. 
Further, with the enactment of the “Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2012,” the payment of the interest subsidy to students receiving subsidized 
Stafford loans during the six-month grace period by the federal government was eliminated from July 1, 2012 through June 30, 2014. In 
addition, when the law, “Moving Ahead for Progress in the 21 st Century Act,” was enacted to extend the 3.4% interest rate for subsidized 
Stafford loans for loans first disbursed on or after July 1, 2012 through June 30, 2013, another limitation on subsidized Stafford loans was 
established. For new borrowers on or after July 1, 2013, borrowers will no longer be eligible for subsidized Stafford loans when the borrower 
reaches 150 percent of the published length of the borrower’s program. Moreover, if the borrower continues enrolling in the program beyond the 
150 percent point of the same or a different program, or a shorter program, the borrower will be responsible for any interest that accrues on his or 
her subsidized Stafford loans.  

If in the future, funding is reduced for the Pell Grant program (such as a reduction in the maximum award amount), if fewer students or 
programs are deemed eligible for the Pell Grant Program or if loan interest subsidies are eliminated for Stafford loans (e.g., eligibility for such 
loans has been eliminated for graduate students effective July 1, 2012), our institutions might become less affordable for certain students at our 
institutions, which could negatively impact enrollments, revenue, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations.  

Additionally, there has been increased focus by some in the U.S. Congress on the role that for-profit educational institutions play in higher 
education. In particular, the Health, Education, Labor and Pensions Committee of the U.S. Senate (“HELP Committee”) held a series of hearings 
regarding the for-profit education sector and Title IV programs, including a March 2011 hearing specifically about us and Ashford University 
entitled “Bridgepoint Education, Inc.: A Case Study in For-Profit Education and Oversight.” The hearings, and those of other Congressional 
committees, have focused on various aspects of the for-profit education sector including student debt, recruitment practices, educational quality, 
student outcomes, the effectiveness of accrediting bodies, and the amount of Title IV funding received by the for-profit education sector.  

In connection with these hearings, members of Congress have requested a broad range of detailed information from various for-profit 
institutions, including Ashford University and University of the Rockies. Most recently, on July 29, 2012, the majority staff of the HELP 
Committee issued a report entitled “For Profit Higher Education: The Failure to Safeguard the Federal Investment and Ensure Student Success,” 
which contains the majority staff's findings from the committee's two-year investigation of the for-profit education sector. The report is critical 
of the sector generally and of us and our institutions specifically, expressing concerns surrounding the amount of Title IV and other federal funds 
received, the amount of money spent on marketing and recruiting, student retention and default rates, staffing levels, learning outcomes and 
accreditation, among other items.  

Certain members of Congress have proposed legislation that could have an adverse impact on our institutions. For example, Senators Dick 
Durbin (D-IL), Jack Reed (D-RI), Elizabeth Warren (D-MA), and Barbara Boxer (D-CA) introduced the “Protect Student Borrowers Act,” 
which would assess penalties against institutions if their cohort default rate exceeds 15 percent. A bill introduced by the late Senator Frank 
Lautenberg (D-NJ) and Senator Tom Harkin (D-IA), titled the “Student First Act,” would require Department of Education program reviews of 
institutions engaging in “risky” behavior, such as serial forbearance and default rate manipulation, spending more than 20 percent of revenue on 
recruiting and marketing, and deriving more than 85 percent of revenue from federal student aid sources. Senator Kay Hagan (D-NC) introduced 
the “Protecting Financial Aid for Students and Taxpayers Act,” which would prohibit institutions from using revenues derived from federal 
educational assistance funds for advertising, marketing, or recruiting. While these bills will not likely pass during this session, they may serve as 
a basis of discussion during the reauthorization of the Higher Education Act.  

We cannot predict what legislation, if any, will emanate from the HELP Committee hearings, the reauthorization of the Higher Education 
Act, or other Congressional deliberations, or what impact any such legislation might have on the for-profit education sector and our business in 
particular.  
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Department Regulation of Title IV Programs  

To be eligible to participate in Title IV programs, an institution must comply with the Higher Education Act and regulations thereunder 
that are administered by the Department. Among other things, the law and regulations require that an institution (i) be licensed or authorized to 
offer its educational programs by the states in which it is physically located, (ii) maintain institutional accreditation by an accrediting agency 
recognized for such purposes by the Department and (iii) be certified to participate in Title IV programs by the Department. Our institutions' 
participation in Title IV programs subjects them to extensive oversight and review pursuant to regulations promulgated by the Department. 
Those regulations are subject from time to time to revision and amendment by the Department. The Department's interpretation of its regulations 
likewise is subject to change. As a result, it is difficult to predict how Title IV program requirements will be applied in all circumstances.  

An institution must periodically seek recertification from the Department to continue to participate in Title IV programs and may, in certain 
circumstances, be subject to review by the Department prior to seeking recertification. The current certification for University of the Rockies is 
scheduled to expire on June 30, 2016. Ashford University is provisionally certified until September 30, 2016. The Department typically places 
an institution on provisional certification following a change in ownership resulting in a change of control and also may provisionally certify an 
institution for other reasons including but not limited to failure to comply with certain standards of administrative capability or financial 
responsibility. During the time when an institution is provisionally certified, it may be subject to adverse action with fewer due process rights 
than those afforded to other institutions and must apply for and receive approval from the Department for substantial change, which includes, but 
is not limited to, the establishment of an additional location, an increase in the level of academic offerings, or the addition of any nondegree or 
short-term training programs. However, provisional certification does not otherwise limit an institution's access to Title IV funds.  

The 90/10 rule  

Under the Higher Education Act, a for-profit institution loses its eligibility to participate in Title IV programs if the institution derives more 
than 90% of its revenues (calculated in accordance with applicable Department regulations) from Title IV program funds for two consecutive 
fiscal years. This rule is commonly referred to as the “90/10 rule.” Any institution that violates the 90/10 rule for two consecutive fiscal years 
becomes ineligible to participate in Title IV programs for at least two fiscal years. In addition, an institution whose rate exceeds 90% for any 
single year will be placed on provisional certification and may be subject to other enforcement measures. In the years ended December 31, 
2013 , 2012 and 2011, Ashford University derived 85.6% , 86.4% and 86.8% , respectively, and University of the Rockies derived 87.6% , 
87.3% and 85.0% , respectively, of their respective revenues (calculated in accordance with applicable Department regulations) from students 
who participate in Title IV funds.  

Revenue derived from government tuition assistance for military personnel, including veterans, is considered not to be federal student aid 
for purposes of the 90/10 rule calculation, and accordingly helps our institutions satisfy the 90/10 rule. As of December 31, 2013, approximately 
23.6% of our institutions' students were affiliated with the military, some of whom are eligible to receive tuition assistance from the government 
which they may use to pursue postsecondary degrees.  

Incentive compensation  

The Higher Education Act prohibits an institution from providing any commission, bonus or other incentive payments based directly or 
indirectly on success in securing enrollments or financial aid to any persons or entities engaged in student recruiting or admissions activities, or 
in making decisions about the award of student financial assistance. Under prior Department regulations, there were 12 “safe harbor” provisions. 
The Department eliminated all 12 safe harbors, effective July 1, 2011, taking the position that any commission, bonus or other incentive payment 
based in any part, directly or indirectly, on securing enrollments or awarding financial aid is inconsistent with the incentive payment prohibition 
in the Higher Education Act. The Department issued a Dear Colleague Letter dated March 17, 2012 that attempted to clarify and provide 
interpretive guidance regarding certain aspects of the regulations. There remains uncertainty as to how the Department will interpret them.  

Qui tam complaints against us and our institutions were unsealed on December 26, 2012 and January 2, 2013. These complaints allege, 
among other things, that our institutions violated the Federal False Claims Act by falsely certifying to the Department that Ashford University 
and University of the Rockies, in the case of the qui tam unsealed in 2012, and Ashford University, in the case of the qui tam unsealed in 2013, 
were in compliance with the prior regulations regarding the payment of incentive compensation to enrollment personnel in connection with the 
institutions' participation in student financial aid programs. The U.S. Department of Justice has declined to intervene in the qui tam complaints. 
For more information regarding claims and lawsuits, see the risk factor entitled “ We face litigation and legal proceedings that could have a 
material adverse effect on enrollments, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations ” in Part I, Item 1A of this report and “Legal 
Proceedings” in Part I, Item 3 of this report.  
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Cohort default rate  

For each federal fiscal year, the Department calculates a rate of student defaults over a two-year measuring period for each educational 
institution which is known as a “cohort default rate.” An institution may lose its eligibility to participate in the Direct Loan and Pell programs if, 
for each of the three most recent federal fiscal years for which information is available, 25% or more of its students who became subject to a 
repayment obligation in that federal fiscal year defaulted on such obligation by the end of the following federal fiscal year. In addition, an 
institution may lose its eligibility to participate in the Direct Loan program if its cohort default rate exceeds 40% in the most recent federal fiscal 
year for which default rates have been calculated by the Department. Ashford University's two-year cohort default rates for the 2011, 2010 and 
2009 federal fiscal years, were 10.1% , 10.2% , and 15.3% , respectively. The two-year cohort default rates for University of the Rockies for the 
2011, 2010 and 2009 federal fiscal years, were 4.8% , 4.0% and 3.3% , respectively.  

The August 2008 reauthorization of the Higher Education Act included significant revisions to the requirements concerning cohort default 
rates. Under the revised law, the period for which students' defaults on their loans are included in the calculation of an institution's cohort default 
rate was extended by one additional year, which has increased the cohort default rates for most institutions. That change was effective with the 
calculation of institutions' cohort default rates for the federal fiscal year ending September 30, 2009, which rates were calculated and issued by 
the Department in September 2012. The Department will not impose sanctions based on rates calculated under this new methodology until three 
consecutive years of rates have been calculated, which is expected to occur in September 2014. Until that time, the Department will continue to 
calculate rates under the old calculation method and impose sanctions based on those rates. The revised law also increases the threshold for 
ending an institution's participation in the relevant Title IV programs from 25% to 30%, effective for final three-year cohort default rates 
published on or after the 2012 federal fiscal year. The revised law changes the threshold for placement on provisional certification to 30% for 
two of the three most recent fiscal years for which the Department has published official three-year cohort default rates. Ashford University's 
three-year cohort default rates for the 2010 and 2009 federal fiscal years, were 16.3% and 19.8% , respectively. The draft three-year cohort 
default rate for the 2011 federal fiscal year for Ashford University is 15.4%. The three-year cohort default rates for University of the Rockies for 
the 2010 and 2009 federal fiscal years, were 8.0% and 3.3% , respectively. The draft three-year cohort default rate for the 2011 federal fiscal 
year for University of the Rockies is 7.4%.  

Substantial misrepresentation  

The Higher Education Act prohibits an institution participating in Title IV programs from engaging in substantial misrepresentation of the 
nature of its educational programs, financial charges or graduate employability. Under the Department's rules, a “misrepresentation” is any false, 
erroneous or misleading statement an institution, one of its representatives, or any ineligible institution, organization, or person with whom the 
institution has an agreement to provide educational programs, or marketing, advertising, recruiting, or admissions services makes directly to a 
student or prospective student or any member of the public, or to an accrediting agency, to a state agency or the Department. The Department's 
rules define a “substantial misrepresentation” as any misrepresentation on which the person to whom it was made could reasonably be expected 
to rely, or has reasonably relied, to that person's detriment. Considering the broad definition of “substantial misrepresentation,” it is possible that, 
despite our training efforts and compliance programs, our institutions' employees or service providers may make statements that could be 
construed as substantial misrepresentations. If the Department determines that one of our institutions has engaged in substantial 
misrepresentation, the Department may attempt to revoke the institution's program participation agreement if the institution is provisionally 
certified, impose limitations on the institution's participation in Title IV programs if the institution is provisionally certified, deny applications 
from the institution for approval of new programs or locations or other matters, or initiate proceedings to fine the institution or limit, suspend, or 
terminate its eligibility to participate in Title IV programs. The institution could also be exposed to increased risk of action under the federal 
False Claims Act. The qui tam complaint that was unsealed on December 26, 2012 alleges, among other things, that Ashford University and 
University of the Rockies have failed to make required disclosures readily available to students, have misled students as to the true cost of 
attending the schools, the quality and reputation of their academic programs, and their job placement rates. For more information regarding 
claims and lawsuits, see the risk factor entitled “ We face litigation and legal proceedings that could have a material adverse effect on 
enrollments, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations ” in Part I, Item 1A of this report and “Legal Proceedings” in Part I, Item 3 
of this report.  

Return of Title IV funds for students who withdraw  

If a student who has received Title IV funds withdraws, the institution must determine the amount of Title IV program funds the student 
has earned, pursuant to applicable regulations. If the student withdraws during the first 60% of any payment period (which, for our 
undergraduate online students, typically is a 20-week term consisting of four five-week courses and, for our campus-based students, is a 16-week 
semester), the amount of Title IV funds that the student has earned is equal to a pro rata portion of the funds the student received or for which the 
student would otherwise be eligible for the payment period. If the  
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student withdraws after the 60% threshold, then the student is deemed to have earned 100% of the Title IV funds received. If the student has not 
earned all of the Title IV funds disbursed, the institution must return the unearned funds to the appropriate lender or the Department in a timely 
manner, which is generally no later than 45 days after the date the institution determined that the student withdrew. If an institution's annual 
financial aid compliance audit in either of its two most recently completed fiscal years determines that 5% or more of such returns were not 
timely made, the institution may be required to submit a letter of credit in favor of the Department equal to 25% of the Title IV funds that the 
institution should have returned for withdrawn students in its most recently completed fiscal year. For the year ended December 31, 2013, our 
institutions did not exceed the 5% threshold for late refunds sampled.  

State authorization  

To be eligible to participate in Title IV programs, an institution must be legally authorized to offer its educational programs by the states in 
which it is physically located. Effective July 1, 2011, an institution is considered to be legally authorized by a state if, among other things, it 
meets one of the following sets of requirements:  

The Department has stated that it will not publish a list of states that meet, or fail to meet, the above requirements, and it is uncertain how 
the Department will interpret these requirements in each state.  

The regulations that were scheduled to take effect July 1, 2011, also provide that, if an institution is offering postsecondary education 
through distance or correspondence education to students in a state in which it is not physically located or in which it is otherwise subject to state 
jurisdiction as determined by the state, the institution must meet any state requirements for it to be legally offering postsecondary distance or 
correspondence education to students in that state. Additionally, upon request by the Department, an institution must be able to document that it 
has the applicable state approval. Although our institutions have a process for evaluating the compliance of their online educational programs 
with state requirements regarding distance and correspondence learning, and have experienced no significant restrictions on their educational 
activities to date as a result of such requirements, state regulatory requirements for online education vary among the states, are not well 
developed in many states, are imprecise or unclear in some states and are subject to change. For more information, see “State Education 
Licensure and Regulation” below. Moreover, it is also unclear whether and to what extent state agencies may augment or change their 
regulations in this area as a result of new Department regulations and increased scrutiny. Any failure to comply with state requirements, or any 
new or modified regulations, could result in our inability to enroll students or receive Title IV funds for students in those states and could result 
in restrictions on growth and enrollments.  

On June 5, 2012 the United States Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia Circuit vacated the new state authorization regulation with 
respect to distance and correspondence education. The Court affirmed a 2011 order of a Federal District Court in the District of Columbia 
vacating the regulation requiring an institution to meet state requirements in a state in which it has distance education students, but in which it is 
not physically located or otherwise subject to state jurisdiction. The Department subsequently issued a Dear Colleague Letter acknowledging the 
Court's decision and stating that the Department would not enforce the requirements of the regulation and commenting that institutions continue 
to be responsible for complying with all state laws as they relate to distance education. In February 2014, the Department held the first of three 
negotiation sessions related to various new program integrity initiatives, including the potential reintroduction of the Distance Education Rule 
that was vacated. The February sessions produced no substantive outcomes, but sessions in March 2014 plan to address  
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•  the state establishes the institution by name as an educational institution through a charter, statute, constitutional provision or other 
action issued by an appropriate state agency or state entity and is authorized to operate educational programs beyond secondary 
education, including programs leading to a degree or certificate; the institution complies with any applicable state approval or licensure 
requirements, except that the state may exempt the institution from any state approval or licensure requirement based on the 
institution's accreditation by one or more accrediting agencies recognized by the Department or based upon the institution being in 
operation for at least 20 years; and the state has a process to review and appropriately act on complaints concerning the institution 
including the enforcement of state laws;  

•  the institution is established by the state on the basis of an authorization to conduct business in the state or to operate as a nonprofit 
charitable organization; the institution, by name, is approved or licensed by the state to offer programs beyond secondary education, 
including programs leading to a degree or certificate; and the institution is not exempt from the state's approval or licensure 
requirements based on accreditation, years in operation, or other comparable exemption; and the state has a process to review and 
appropriately act on complaints concerning the institution including the enforcement of state laws; or  

•  the institution is exempt from state authorization as a religious institution under the state constitution or by state law, and the state has 
a process to review and appropriately act on complaints concerning the institution and to enforce applicable state laws.  



 
the Department’s draft of a proposed regulation on distance education that could materially impact our business. See “ Application for Licensure 
by California BPPE ” above for further discussion.  

Ashford University has a campus that is physically located in Iowa. During the time period in which Ashford University was accredited by 
the Higher Learning Commission, the Iowa College Student Aid Commission, or ICSAC, advised Ashford University that the institution was 
exempt from a requirement to register with the State of Iowa to offer postsecondary degree programs in Iowa by virtue of its accreditation by the 
Higher Learning Commission. In anticipation of its transition to WASC accreditation, Ashford University applied for registration with ICSAC. 
In November 2011, ICSAC determined Ashford University met all requirements to offer postsecondary education in Iowa and approved the 
institution's registration in Iowa for a four-year period ending November 2015. However, in light of the findings and recommendations contained 
in the final audit report of the Department's Office of Inspector General, or the OIG, ICSAC stated that it would immediately reconsider the 
institution's registration for possible revocation if the Department ruled to limit, suspend or terminate the institution's participation in Title IV 
programs. For more information about the OIG's final audit report, see “Regulation-Department Regulation of Title IV Programs-Compliance 
reviews, audits and reports” below.  

University of the Rockies is located in the State of Colorado and has Full Authorization by the Colorado Commission on Higher Education. 
Such authorization may be lost or withdrawn if University of the Rockies fails to comply with requirements under Colorado statutes and rules for 
continued authorization.  

Gainful employment  

Under the Higher Education Act, schools operated on a for-profit basis are eligible to participate in Title IV programs only to the extent 
that their educational programs lead to gainful employment in a recognized occupation, with the limited exception of qualified programs leading 
to a bachelor's degree in liberal arts.  

In June 2011, the Department published final regulations to establish minimal debt measures for determining whether certain 
postsecondary educational programs lead to gainful employment in recognized occupations, and the conditions under which such programs are 
eligible for Title IV funding. The debt measures established by these regulations consisted of two debt-to-earnings ratios, based on comparisons 
of graduate earnings with annual loan payments, and an annual loan repayment rate, based on the rate certain borrowers reduced the outstanding 
balances on certain Title IV loans.  

On June 30, 2012, the U.S. District Court for the District of Columbia nullified most of the gainful employment regulations and returned 
the regulations to the Department for further action. On July 6, 2012, the Department issued an electronic announcement acknowledging that the 
Court had vacated the debt measures, that institutions would not be required to comply with related regulations regarding gainful employment 
reporting requirements and adding new gainful employment educational programs, and that institutions would be required to comply with 
requirements to disclose certain information about gainful employment educational programs.  

In June 2013, the Department announced its intention to establish a negotiated rulemaking committee to prepare new gainful employment 
regulations that would replace those vacated by the Court. The Department held negotiating rulemaking sessions with the committee beginning 
in September 2013 and concluding in December 2013. Before each session, the Department distributed draft regulatory language marked as draft 
for discussion purposes.  

The draft regulatory language distributed by the Department to the committee for discussion purposes in December 2013 would require 
each educational program covered by the rule to achieve threshold rates in three debt measure categories related to an annual debt to annual 
earnings ratio, an annual debt to discretionary income ratio, and a program cohort default rate. The various formulas are calculated under 
complex methodologies and definitions outlined in the draft regulatory language and, in some cases, are based on data that may not be readily 
accessible to institutions. The draft language outlines various scenarios under which programs could lose Title IV eligibility for failure to achieve 
threshold rates in one or more measures over certain periods of time ranging from two to four years. The draft language also would require an 
institution to provide warnings to students in programs which may lose Title IV eligibility at the end of an award year, limit its Title IV 
enrollment in these programs, and submit a letter of credit or set aside funds to provide borrower relief to students in the event the programs 
become ineligible. The draft regulatory language contains other provisions that, among other things, include disclosure, reporting and new 
program approval requirements.  

On March 14, 2014, the Department published proposed regulations for comment by the public for a sixty day period. The proposed 
regulatory language released by the Department to the public for comment would cause each educational program covered by the rule to fail if 
their graduates’ student-loan debt payments exceeded 12% of their incomes and 30% of their discretionary incomes, the same ratios as in the 
original rule and the draft considered by negotiators in the fall of 2013.  Also unchanged from the 2013 draft, programs whose graduates have 
debt-to-income ratios of 8% to 12% or debt-to-discretionary-income ratios of 20% to 30% would fall in a “zone”, and the institution would have 
to warn students that they might become  
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ineligible for aid. Programs that fail both debt-to-income tests twice in any three-year period or are in the zone for four consecutive years would 
be ineligible for federal student aid. Different from the draft 2013 rule and in response to the 2 012 Court ruling, the Department now proposes 
programmatic cohort default rates rather than loan-repayment rates as an additional test. Programs whose borrower cohort default rates exceed 
30% for three consecutive years would be ineligible for federal student aid.   

The various formulas are calculated under complex methodologies and definitions outlined in the proposed regulatory language and, in 
some cases, are based on data that may not be readily accessible to institutions. The proposed language contains other provisions that, among 
other things, include disclosure, reporting and certification requirements. We cannot predict the ultimate content or effective date of any new 
regulations that may emerge from this process or the potential impact of such regulations on us or our institutions and have had minimal time to 
review and analyze the proposed regulation. Any new regulations that reduce or eliminate our students’ access to Title IV federal student aid, 
that require us to change or eliminate certain programs, or that increase our costs of compliance could have an adverse effect on our business.  

Financial responsibility  

The Higher Education Act and Department regulations establish standards of financial responsibility which an institution must satisfy to 
participate in Title IV programs. The Department evaluates compliance with these standards annually upon receipt of an institution's annual 
audited financial statements and also when an institution applies to the Department to reestablish its eligibility to participate in Title IV programs 
following a change in ownership. One financial responsibility standard is based on the institution's composite score, which is derived from a 
formula established by the Department. The composite score is a number between negative 1.0 and positive 3.0. It must be at least 1.5 for the 
institution to be deemed financially responsible without the need for further Department financial oversight. In addition to having an acceptable 
composite score, an institution must, among other things, meet all of its financial obligations (including required refunds to students and any 
Title IV liabilities and debts), be current in its debt payments and not receive an adverse, qualified or disclaimed opinion by its accountants in its 
audited financial statements.  

For the fiscal year ended Decemb er 31, 2012, the composite score calculated was 3.0 , satisfying the composite score requirement of the 
Department's financial responsibility test, which institutions must satisfy in order to participate in Title IV programs. We expect the consolidated 
composite score to be 3.0 for the year ended December 31, 2013 . However, the consolidated calculation is subject to determination by the 
Department once it receives and reviews our audited financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2013 .  

Administrative capability  

The Department specifies extensive criteria by which an institution must establish that it has the requisite administrative capability to 
participate in Title IV programs. To meet the admini strative capability standards, an institution must, among other things: comply with all 
applicable Title IV program requirements; have an adequate number of qualified personnel to administer Title IV programs; have acceptable 
standards for measuring the satisfactory academic progress of its students; have procedures in place for awarding, disbursing and safeguarding 
Title IV funds and for maintaining required records; administer Title IV programs with adequate checks and balances in its system of internal 
control over financial reporting; not be, and not have any principal or affiliate who is, debarred or suspended from federal contracting or 
engaging in activity that is cause for debarment or suspension; provide financial aid counseling to its students; refer to the OIG any credible 
information indicating that any student, parent, employee, third-party servicer or other agent of the institution has engaged in any fraud or other 
illegal conduct involving Title IV programs; timely submit all required reports and financial statements; and not otherwise appear to lack 
administrative capability.  

Potential effect of noncompliance with Title IV regulations  

The Department can impose sanctions for violating the statutory and regulatory requirements of Title IV programs, including:  
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•  transferring an institution from the advance method or the heightened cash monitoring level one method of Title IV payment, which 
permit the institution to receive Title IV funds before or concurrently with disbursing them to students, to the heightened cash 
monitoring level two method of payment or to the reimbursement method of payment, which delay an institution's receipt of Title IV 
funds until student eligibility has been verified by the Department;  

•  imposing a monetary liability against an institution in an amount equal to any funds determined to have been improperly disbursed or 
improperly not to have been returned upon student withdrawal;  



 

If sanctions were imposed resulting in a substantial curtailment or termination of our institutions' participation in Title IV programs, 
enrollments, revenues, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations would be materially and adversely affected. If our institutions 
lost their eligibility to participate in Title IV programs, or if the amount of available Title IV program funds were reduced, we would seek to 
arrange or provide alternative sources of financial aid for students. There is no assurance that any private organizations would be willing to 
provide financial assistance to our institutions' students. Additionally, the interest rate and other terms of such financial aid would likely not be 
as favorable as those for Title IV program funds, and we might be required to guarantee all or part of such alternative assistance or might incur 
other additional costs in connection with securing such alternative assistance. It is unlikely that we would be able to arrange alternative funding 
to replace all the Title IV funding our institutions' students receive.  

In addition to the actions that may be brought against us as a result of participation in Title IV programs, we are also subject to complaints 
and lawsuits relating to regulatory compliance brought not only by the regulatory agencies that oversee our institutions but also by other federal 
and state governmental agencies and third parties, such as current or former students or employees and other members of the public, including 
lawsuits filed pursuant to the federal False Claims Act and similar state laws. For more information regarding claims and lawsuits, see the risk 
factor entitled “ We face litigation and legal proceedings that could have a material adverse effect on enrollments, financial condition, cash 
flows and results of operations ” in Part I, Item 1A of this report and “Legal Proceedings” in Part I, Item 3 of this report.  

Compliance reviews, audits and reports  

Our institutions are subject to reviews in connection with periodic renewals of certification to participate in Title IV programs, as well as 
announced and unannounced compliance reviews and audits by various external agencies, including the Department and the OIG. State licensing 
agencies, the U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs and accrediting bodies may also conduct audits and reviews of a similar fashion. In addition, 
as part of the Department's ongoing monitoring of institutions' administration of Title IV programs, the Higher Education Act requires 
institutions to submit to the Department an annual Title IV compliance audit conducted by an independent certified public accounting firm. In 
addition, to enable the Department to make a determination of an institution's financial responsibility, each institution must annually submit 
audited financial statements prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the U.S. and Department regulations.  

The OIG is responsible for, among other things, promoting the effectiveness and integrity of the Department's programs and operations. 
With respect to educational institutions that participate in Title IV programs, the OIG conducts its work primarily through an audit services 
division and an investigations division. The audit services division typically conducts general audits of institutions to assess their administration 
of federal funds in accordance with applicable rules and regulations. The investigation services division typically conducts focused 
investigations of particular allegations of fraud, abuse or other wrongdoing against institutions by third parties, such as a lawsuit filed under seal 
pursuant to the federal False Claims Act.  

In January 2011, Ashford University received a final audit report from the OIG regarding the compliance audit commenced in May 2008 
and covering the period July 1, 2006 through June 30, 2007. The audit covered Ashford University's administration of Title IV program funds, 
including compliance with regulations governing institutional and student eligibility, awards and disbursements of Title IV program funds, 
verification of awards and returns of unearned funds during that period, and its compensation of financial aid and recruiting personnel during the 
period May 10, 2005 through June 30, 2009.  

The final audit report contained audit findings, in each case for the period July 1, 2006 through June 30, 2007 (award year 2006-2007), 
which are summarized as follows:  
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•  requiring an institution to post a letter of credit in favor of the Department as a condition for continued Title IV eligibility; 

•  initiating proceedings to impose a fine or to limit, suspend or terminate an institution's participation in Title IV programs; 

•  referring a matter for possible civil or criminal investigation; 

•  failing to grant an institution's application for renewal of its certification to participate in Title IV programs or imposing conditions on 
its participation in Title IV programs; or  

•  taking emergency action to suspend an institution's participation in Title IV programs without prior notice or a prior opportunity for a 
hearing.  

•  Finding 1-The university designed a compensation plan for enrollment advisors that provided incentive payments based on success in 
securing enrollments and did not establish that its plan and practices qualified for the regulatory safe harbors.  



 

Each finding was accompanied by one or more recommendations to the Department's Office of Federal Student Aid, or FSA, as 
summarized below:  

The findings and recommendations of the final audit report represent the opinions of the OIG, and the issuance of final audit 
determinations and corrective action to be taken, if any, will be made by the FSA.  

Ashford University expects that the FSA will consider the findings and recommendations in the final audit report and engage in a dialog 
with the university prior to determining what, if any, action to take and issuing a Final Audit Determination Letter concluding the audit. The OIG 
requested that Ashford University provide a response to the FSA regarding the final audit report, and the university responded in a timely 
manner.  

In June 2011, in connection with Findings 2 and 3, the FSA requested that Ashford University conduct a file review of the return to Title 
IV calculations for all Title IV recipients who withdrew from distance education programs during the 2006-2007 award year. The institution 
cooperated with the request and supplied the information within the time frame required.  

If the FSA were to determine to assess a monetary liability or commence an action under Subpart G or other procedures, Ashford 
University would have an opportunity to contest the assessment or proposed action through administrative proceedings, with the right to seek 
review of any final administrative action in the federal courts. Although we believe Ashford University operates in substantial compliance with 
Department regulations that are applicable to the areas under review, we cannot predict the ultimate findings, potential liabilities or remedial 
actions, if any, that the FSA may include in the Final Audit Determination Letter, or the result of any administrative proceedings, including 
Subpart G or other proceedings, that may arise out of the Final Audit Determination Letter.  

FSA periodically reviews institutions participating in Title IV programs for compliance with applicable standards and regulations. On July 
25, 2012, FSA notified University of the Rockies that it had scheduled an on-site program review, which took place August 20, 2012 through 
August 24, 2012. In June 2013, University of the Rockies was provided with FSA’s preliminary program review report and has filed a timely 
response. Following consideration of the response, the FSA will issue a Final Program Review Determination, or FPRD, letter. If the FPRD were 
to include findings of non-compliance, University  
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•  Finding 2-The university did not always perform return of Title IV aid calculations properly, resulting in the improper retention of a 
total of $29,036 of Title IV program funds for 38 students in the OIG's sample sets of 85 students.  

•  Finding 3-The university did not in all instances return Title IV program funds timely for Title IV students who withdrew or went on a 
leave of absence from school.  

•  Finding 4-The form formerly used by the university to obtain authorizations to retain student credit balances did not comply with 
applicable regulations.  

•  Finding 5-The university did not in all instances disburse Title IV program funds in accordance with applicable regulations or 
university policy because they were made prior to the students being eligible to receive them.  

•  Finding 6-The university did not in all instances maintain documentation to support online students' leaves of absence due to the lack 
of support for the start dates for 19 leaves of absence.  

•  For Finding 1, the OIG recommended that the FSA require the university to provide records of all salary adjustments made to 
enrollment advisors during award year 2006-2007 and any documentation, not disclosed to the OIG, that demonstrates that any 
specific adjustments made during that period qualified for the regulatory safe harbors.  

•  For Findings 2 and 5, the OIG recommended that the FSA require the university (i) to remit to the Department and appropriate lenders 
certain amounts identified by the OIG ($29,036 for Finding 2) and (ii) undertake a file review for award year 2006-2007 to identify the 
amount of Title IV funds that were improperly retained or disbursed and to remit such amounts to the Department or appropriate 
lenders.  

•  For Finding 4, the OIG recommended that the FSA require the university to cease drawing, disbursing and holding credit balances of 
Title IV program funds for which there are no currently assessed institutional charges.  

•  For Findings 2, 3, 5 and 6, the OIG recommended that the FSA require the university to develop and implement certain remedial 
policies and procedures.  

•  For Findings 2, 3 and 5 generally, and for Finding 1 in the event the university cannot establish that its salary adjustments for 
enrollment advisors qualified for the safe harbor, the OIG recommended that the FSA consider whether to take appropriate action 
under Subpart G of 34 C.F.R. Part 668. Under Subpart G, the FSA may seek to impose a fine against the university or to limit, suspend 
or terminate the university's participation in Title IV programs.  



 
of the Rockies could be required, subject to administrative review procedures, to pay a fine, return Title IV funds previously received, or be 
subjected to other administrative sanctions. While we cannot currently predict the final outcome of the Department review, any such final 
adverse finding could damage the institution's reputation in the industry and negatively impact enrollment, revenues, financial condition, cash 
flows and results of operations.  

Adding teaching locations and implementing new educational programs  

The requirements and standards of accrediting agencies, state education agencies and the Department limit our institutions' ability in certain 
instances to establish additional teaching locations or implement new educational programs. WASC, the HLC and state education agencies that 
may authorize or accredit our institutions or their programs generally require institutions to notify them in advance of adding certain new 
locations or implementing certain new programs, and upon notification may undertake a review of the quality of the facility or the program and 
the financial, academic and other qualifications of the institution. If an institution participating in Title IV programs plans to add a new location 
or educational program, the institution must apply under certain circumstances to the Department to have the additional location or educational 
program designated as within the scope of the institution's Title IV eligibility.  

Ashford University is provisionally certified for Title IV eligibility until September 30, 2016. The Department typically places an 
institution on provisional certification following a change in ownership resulting in a change of control and also may provisionally certify an 
institution for other reasons including but not limited to failure to comply with certain standards of administrative capability or financial 
responsibility. During the time when an institution is provisionally certified, it may be subject to adverse action with fewer due process rights 
than those afforded to other institutions and must apply for and receive approval from the Department for any substantial change, which 
includes, but is not limited to, the establishment of an additional location, an increase in the level of academic offerings, or the addition of any 
nondegree or short-term training programs. However, provisional certification does not otherwise limit an institution's access to Title IV funds.  

Change in ownership resulting in a change of control  

The Department and most state and accrediting agencies require institutions of higher education to report or obtain approval of certain 
changes of control and changes in other aspects of institutional organization or operations. Transactions or events that constitute a change of 
control may include significant acquisitions or dispositions of an institution's common stock and significant changes in the composition of an 
institution's governing board. The types of thresholds for such reporting and approval vary among the states and among accrediting agencies. 
The Department regulations provide that a change of control occurs for a publicly traded corporation if either (i) a person acquires such 
ownership and control of the corporation so that the corporation is required to file a current report on Form 8-K with the SEC disclosing a 
change of control, or (ii) the corporation's largest stockholder who owns at least 25% of the total outstanding voting stock of the corporation, 
ceases to own at least 25% of such stock or ceases to be the largest stockholder owning at least 25% of the total stock. A significant purchase or 
disposition of our voting stock, including a disposition of voting stock by Warburg Pincus, could be determined by the Department to be a 
change of control under this standard. In such event, the regulatory procedures applicable to a change in ownership and control would have to be 
followed in connection with the transaction. Similarly if such a disposition were deemed a change of control by the applicable accreditor or state 
educational licensing agency, any required regulatory notifications and approvals would have to be made or obtained.  

Privacy of student records  

The Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act of 1974, or FERPA, and the Department's FERPA regulations require educational 
institutions to protect the privacy of students' educational records by limiting an institution's disclosure of a student's personally identifiable 
information without the student's prior written consent. FERPA also requires institutions to allow students to review and request changes to their 
educational records maintained by the institution, to notify students at least annually of this inspection right and to maintain records in each 
student's file listing requests for access to and disclosures of personally identifiable information and the interest of such party in that information. 
If an institution fails to comply with FERPA, the Department may require corrective actions by the institution or may terminate an institution's 
receipt of further federal funds. In addition, educational institutions are obligated to safeguard student information pursuant to the Gramm-
Leach-Bliley Act, or GLBA, a federal law designed to protect consumers' personal financial information held by financial institutions and other 
entities that provide financial services to consumers. The applicable GLBA regulations require an institution to, among other things, develop and 
maintain a comprehensive, written information security program designed to protect against the unauthorized disclosure of personally 
identifiable financial information of students, parents or other individuals with whom such institution has a customer relationship. If an 
institution fails to comply with the applicable GLBA requirements, it may be required to take corrective actions, be subject to monitoring and 
oversight by the Federal Trade Commission, or the FTC, and be subject to fines or penalties imposed by the FTC. For-profit educational 
institutions are also subject to the general deceptive practices jurisdiction of the FTC and the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB). 
The FTC and CFPB are intensifying  
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their regulatory scrutiny of our industry and related vendors, sometimes in coordination with the US Department of Education and state 
Attorneys General.  

State Education Licensure and Regulation  

California, Iowa and Colorado  

Our campuses are located in California, Iowa, and Colorado. We do not have campuses in any other states. Ashford University has 
designated its San Diego, California facilities as its main campus for Title IV purposes. The university submitted an Application for Approval to 
Operate an Accredited Institution to BPPE on September 10, 2013. See “ Application for Licensure by California BPPE ” above for further 
discussion.  

The University also has a campus located in Iowa. Ashford University is registered as a postsecondary school in the state of Iowa by 
ICSAC. To maintain our Iowa registration, we must comply with applicable requirements under Iowa statutes and rules.  

University of the Rockies' campus is located in Colorado. The University is authorized to operate by the Colorado Commission on Higher 
Education. To maintain our Colorado authorization, we must comply with applicable requirements under Colorado statutes and rules.  

The Higher Education Act requires Ashford University and the University of Rockies to be legally authorized in the states in which they 
are physically located in order to participate in Title IV programs. Effective July 1, 2011, the Department regulations imposed new Title IV 
program requirements for an institution to be considered legally authorized by a state. Our failure to hold required authorizations in California, 
Iowa, or Colorado could cause Ashford University or University of the Rockies, as applicable, to lose their authorization to deliver educational 
programs and to grant degrees and other credentials and lose their eligibility to participate in Title IV programs. See “Department Regulation of 
Title IV Programs-State authorization” above.  

Request for information from Ashford University by Iowa College Student Aid Commission  

On September 22, 2012, the Iowa College Student Aid Commission requested that Ashford University provide the commission with certain 
information and documentation related to, among other matters, the denial of Ashford University's application for WASC accreditation, the 
university's compliance with HLC criteria and policies, a teach-out plan in the event that Ashford University were to be unsuccessful in 
obtaining a WASC accreditation and sanctioned by HLC, and information relating to admissions employees, receipt of financial aid, availability 
of books, credit balance authorizations, and academic and financial support and advisement services to students. The commission requested that 
Ashford University provide the requested information by November 12, 2012 and make an in-person presentation during the commission's 
meeting on November 16, 2012. Ashford University made the presentation and has notified the commission of its successful accreditation by 
WASC.  

Additional state regulation  

Most state education agencies impose regulatory requirements on educational institutions operating within their boundaries. Some states 
have sought to assert jurisdiction over out-of-state educational institutions offering online programs that have no physical location or other 
presence in the state but that have some activity in the state, such as enrolling or offering educational services to students who reside in the state, 
employing faculty who reside in the state or advertising to or recruiting prospective students in the state. In addition to California, Iowa and 
Colorado, we have determined that our activities in certain states constitute a presence requiring licensure or authorization under the 
requirements of the state education agency in those states, and in other states we have obtained state education agency approvals as we have 
determined necessary in connection with our marketing and recruiting activities. We review state licensure requirements when appropriate to 
determine whether our activities in those states constitute a presence or otherwise require licensure or authorization. Because we enroll students 
from all 50 states and from the District of Columbia, we may have to seek licensure or authorization in additional states in the future. State 
regulatory requirements for online education vary among the states, are not well developed in many states, are imprecise or unclear in some 
states and are subject to change. Consequently, a state education agency could disagree with our conclusion that we are not required to obtain a 
license or authorization in the state and could restrict one or more of our business activities in the state, including the ability to recruit or enroll 
students in that state or to continue providing services or advertising in that state. If we fail to comply with state licensing or authorization 
requirements for any state, we may be subject to the loss of state licensure or authorization by that state, or be subject to other sanctions, 
including restrictions on our activities in that state, fines and penalties. The loss of any required license or authorization in states other than 
California, Iowa and Colorado could prohibit us from recruiting prospective students or from offering services to current students in those states. 
Effective July 1, 2011, the Department regulations imposed new Title IV state authorization requirements for institutions that offer 
postsecondary education through distance education to students in states in which it is not physically located or in which it is otherwise subject  
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to state jurisdiction as determined by the state. The regulations have been the subject of a federal court challenge and a subsequent 
announcement by the Department regarding their enforcement. See “Department Regulation of Title IV Programs-State authorization” above.  

Consumer Financial Protection Bureau  

The Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010, or Dodd-Frank, created the Consumer Financial Protection 
Bureau, or the CFPB, to implement various federal consumer financial laws, and granted direct supervisory authority to the CFPB over, among 
others, providers of private education loans as that term is defined in the Truth in Lending Act. Dodd-Frank also expands existing prohibitions 
against unfair or deceptive practices in the Federal Trade Commission Act to prohibit abusive practices. Ashford University and University of 
the Rockies offer institutional loans that may be deemed private education loans as defined in the Truth in Lending Act. As non-depository 
institution private educational loan lenders, Ashford University and University of the Rockies may be deemed covered persons under the Dodd-
Frank Act and subject to the CFPB's supervisory authority, which includes the authority to require reports and compliance examinations.  

The Iran Threat Reduction and Syria Human Rights Act of 2012  

In 2013, Endurance International Group (“EIG”) and Santander Asset Management Investment Holdings Limited, (“SAMIH”), engaged in 
certain activities that are subject to disclosure pursuant to Section 219 of the Iran Threat Reduction and Syria Human Rights Act of 2012 and 
Section 13(r) of the Exchange Act and which are disclosed in Exhibit 99.1 to this annual report. Affiliates of Warburg Pincus, LLC: (i) 
beneficially own more than 10% of our outstanding common stock and are members of our board of directors and (ii) beneficially own more 
than 10% of the equity interests of, and have the right to designate members of the board of directors of, EIG and SAMIH. We will be required 
to separately file, concurrently with this annual report, a notice that such activities have been disclosed in this annual report, which notice must 
also contain the information required by Section 13(r) of the Exchange Act.  

Department of Justice  

On October 10, 2012, we received a letter from the U.S. Department of Justice, Civil Division, Commercial Litigation Branch, or the 
Justice Department, informing us that the Justice Department was investigating the compensation of our admissions personnel. In November 
2012, we met with the Justice Department in connection with their investigation. In December 2012 and January 2013, we were notified that the 
Justice Department had declined to intervene in two separate qui tam complaints filed by private relators under the Federal False Claims Act and 
unsealed on December 26, 2012 and January 2, 2013. For more information regarding claims and lawsuits, see the risk factor entitled “ We face 
litigation and legal proceedings that could have a material adverse effect on enrollments, financial condition, cash flows and results of 
operations ” in Part I, Item 1A of this report and “Legal Proceedings” in Part I, Item 3 of this report.  
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Item 1A. Risk Factors.  

Investing in our common stock involves risk. Before making an investment in our common stock, you should carefully consider the 
following risks, as well as the other information contained in this report, including our annual consolidated financial statements and Part II, 
Item 7, “Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.” The risks described below are those which 
we believe are the material risks we face. Any of the risks described below could significantly and adversely affect our business, prospects, 
financial condition, cash flows and results of operations. As a result, the trading price of our common stock could decline and you could lose 
part or all of your investment. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or not believed by us to be material could also impact 
us.  

Risks Related to Material Weaknesses In Internal Control Over Financial Reporting  

We have identified material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting which have resulted in material misstatements in our 
previously issued financial statements. If our remedial measures are insufficient to address the material weaknesses, or if additional material 
weaknesses or significant deficiencies in our internal control over financial reporting are discovered or occur in the future, our consolidated 
financial statements may contain material misstatements and we could be required to further restate our financial results, which could 
adversely affect our stock price and result in an inability to maintain compliance with applicable stock exchange listing requirements.  

We have concluded that there are material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting, as we did not maintain effective 
controls over the selection and application of accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (“GAAP”), related to revenue 
recognition and restricted cash. Specifically, the members of our management team with the requisite level of accounting knowledge, experience 
and training commensurate with our financial reporting requirements did not analyze certain accounting issues at the level of detail required to 
ensure the proper application of GAAP in certain circumstances. One material weakness related to our failure to maintain effective internal 
controls over the accounting for revenue recognition. Specifically, the process for analyzing the collectibility criterion for revenue recognition 
was not designed to reassess collectibility, on a student-by-student basis, throughout the period revenue was recognized by the Company's 
institutions. The other material weakness related to our failure to maintain effective internal controls over the presentation of certain funds as 
restricted cash. These material weaknesses have resulted in the restatement of our financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2013, as 
well as for the interim periods included in that fiscal year (the “Restated Periods”), and the revision of our financial statements for the the years 
ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, as well as for each of the interim periods during 2012 (the “Revised Periods”). Our management concluded 
that the Company’s previously issued financial statements for the Restated Periods should no longer be relied upon. In light of the errors, 
management re-evaluated its assessment of our disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting as of December 
31, 2013 and concluded each was ineffective as of December 31, 2013. Our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013 
has been amended by this Amendment No. 1 on Form 10-K/A to reflect the restatement of our financial statements for the Restated Periods and 
the change in management’s conclusion regarding the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial 
reporting as of December 31, 2013.  

A material weakness is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such that there is a 
reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of our annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected and corrected 
on a timely basis. See also “ Item 9A. Controls and Procedures. ” The existence of this issue could adversely affect us, our reputation or 
investors' perceptions of us. We plan to take additional measures to remediate the underlying causes of the material weaknesses. We plan to 
achieve this primarily through additional training efforts regarding reassessing the collectibility of funds owed by students during the period of 
revenue recognition and the definition of restricted cash by the members of management with the requisite level of knowledge, experience and 
training to appropriately apply GAAP. However, we have not completed all of the corrective processes, procedures and related evaluation or 
remediation that we believe are necessary. As we continue to evaluate and work to remediate the material weaknesses, we may determine to 
implement measures to address the control deficiencies. The actions that we are taking are subject to ongoing senior management review, as well 
as audit committee oversight.  

Although we plan to complete this remediation process as quickly as possible, we cannot at this time estimate how long it will take, and 
our measures may not prove to be successful in remediating these material weaknesses. If our remedial measures are insufficient to address the 
material weaknesses, or if additional material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in our internal control over financial reporting are 
discovered or occur in the future, our consolidated financial statements may contain material misstatements and we could be required to further 
restate our financial results. In addition, if we are unable to successfully remediate the material weaknesses in our internal controls and if we are 
unable to produce accurate or timely financial statements, our stock price may be adversely affected and we may be unable to maintain 
compliance with applicable stock exchange listing requirements.  
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Risks Related to the Extensive Regulation of Our Business  

If our institutions fail to comply with applicable regulatory requirements, they could face monetary liabilities or penalties, operational 
restrictions, or loss of access to Title IV programs from which we derive most of our revenue.  

In the years ended December 31, 2013 , 2012 and 2011, Ashford University derived 85.6% , 86.4% and 86.8% , respectively, and 
University of the Rockies derived 87.6% , 87.3% and 85.0% , respectively, of their revenues (in each case calculated in accordance with 
applicable regulations of the U.S. Department of Education, which we refer to as the Department) from federal student aid programs 
administered by the Department, which programs we refer to as Title IV programs. If our institutions were to lose eligibility to participate in 
Title IV programs or were to have such participation substantially curtailed, enrollments, revenues, financial condition, cash flows and results of 
operations would be materially and adversely affected.  

To participate in Title IV programs, an institution must be (1) legally authorized to operate in the state in which it is physically located, (2) 
accredited by an accrediting agency recognized by the Department as a reliable indicator of educational quality, and (3) certified as an eligible 
institution by the Department. As a result, we are subject to extensive regulation by state education agencies, our institutions' accrediting 
agencies and the Department. These regulatory requirements cover many aspects of our operations; they also restrict our ability to acquire or 
open new schools, to add new or expand existing educational programs, to change our corporate structure or ownership, and to make other 
substantive changes. If one of our institutions fails to comply with these regulatory requirements, the Department could impose sanctions on that 
institution, including (depending on the nature of the noncompliance):  

Given that state education agencies, the Department and our institutions' accrediting agencies, the Accrediting Commission for Senior 
Colleges and Universities of the Western Association of Schools and Colleges, or WASC, and the Higher Learning Commission of the North 
Central Association of Colleges and Schools, or HLC, periodically revise their requirements and modify their interpretations of existing 
requirements, we cannot predict with certainty how all of these regulatory requirements will be applied or whether we will be able to comply 
with all of the requirements. In the following paragraphs, we have described some of the most significant risks related to our ability and that of 
our institutions to comply with regulations issued by state education agencies, the Department, WASC and HLC.  

The Department's Office of Inspector General conducted a compliance audit of Ashford University and issued a final audit report that 
contains findings of noncompliance and recommendations for certain administrative remedies.  

On January 21, 2011, Ashford University received a final audit report from the Department's Office of Inspector General, or the OIG, 
regarding the compliance audit commenced in May 2008 and covering the period July 1, 2006 through June 30, 2007. The audit covered 
Ashford University's administration of Title IV program funds, including compliance with regulations governing institutional and student 
eligibility, awards and disbursements of Title IV program funds, verification of awards and returns of unearned funds during that period, and its 
compensation of financial aid and recruiting personnel during the period May 10, 2005 through June 30, 2009.  
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•  transferring an institution from the advance method or the heightened cash monitoring level one method of Title IV payment, which 
permit the institution to receive Title IV funds before or concurrently with disbursing them to students, to the heightened cash 
monitoring level two method of payment or to the reimbursement method of payment, which delay an institution's receipt of Title IV 
funds until student eligibility has been verified;  

•  imposing monetary liability against the institution in an amount equal to any funds determined to have been improperly disbursed or 
improperly not to have been returned upon student withdrawal;  

•  requiring the institution to post a letter of credit in favor of the Department as a condition for continued Title IV eligibility; 

•  initiating proceedings to impose a fine or to limit, suspend or terminate the institution's participation in Title IV programs; 

•  referring a matter for possible civil or criminal investigation; 

•  failing to grant the institution's application for renewal of its certification to participate in Title IV programs or imposing conditions on 
its participation in Title IV programs; or  

•  taking emergency action to suspend the institution's participation in Title IV programs without prior notice or a prior opportunity for a 
hearing.  



 
The final audit report contained audit findings, in each case for the period July 1, 2006 through June 30, 2007 (award year 2006-2007), and 

related recommendations to the Department's Office of Federal Student Aid, or the FSA. For more information regarding the OIG's final audit 
report and the findings and recommendations contained therein, see “Regulation-Department Regulation of Title IV Programs-Compliance 
reviews, audits and reports” in Part I, Item 1 of this report.  

Ashford University expects that the FSA will consider the findings and recommendations in the final audit report and engage in a dialog 
with the university prior to determining what, if any, action to take. In June 2011, in connection with Findings 2 and 3, the FSA requested that 
Ashford University conduct a review of the return to Title IV calculations for all Title IV recipients who withdrew from distance education 
programs during the 2006-2007 award year. Ashford cooperated with the FSA's request and supplied information within the time frame required. 
If the FSA were to determine to assess a monetary liability or commence an action to limit, suspend or terminate the university's participation in 
Title IV programs, Ashford University would have an opportunity to contest the assessment or proposed action through a series of administrative 
proceedings, with the right to seek review of any final administrative action in the federal courts. Although we believe Ashford University 
operates in substantial compliance with Department regulations that are applicable to the areas under review, we cannot predict the ultimate 
extent of the potential liability or remedial actions, if any, that might result from the recommendations by the OIG in the final audit report. Such 
findings and related remedial action could have a material adverse effect on our reputation in the industry, our financial condition, cash flows 
and results of operations, the ability to recruit students and our business.  

Our institutions' failure to maintain accreditation would denigrate the value of our institutions’ educational programs and result in a loss of 
eligibility to participate in Title IV programs.  

An institution must be accredited by an accrediting agency recognized by the Department to participate in Title IV programs. Ashford 
University is accredited by WASC and University of the Rockies is accredited by HLC. Each of WASC and HLC is recognized by the 
Department as a reliable authority regarding the quality of education and training provided by the institutions it accredits. To remain accredited, 
our institutions must continuously meet accreditation standards relating to, among other things, performance, governance, institutional integrity, 
educational quality, faculty, administrative capability, resources and financial stability. If either of our institutions fails to satisfy any of the 
standards of their respective accrediting agencies, it could lose its accreditation.  

As part of a continuing monitoring process relating to WASC's grant of initial accreditation to Ashford University, the university will host 
WASC in a special visit in spring 2015. University of the Rockies will host HLC for a comprehensive visit in September 2014.  

On July 24, 2012, HLC notified University of the Rockies that it had been identified for further inquiry based on certain non-financial data 
the institution provided in its 2012 Institutional Annual Report. Under HLC's Institutional Update process, all accredited and candidate 
institutions are required to provide certain financial and non-financial data to the commission annually; the commission then screens the non-
financial data for seven indicator conditions and requests an institutional report from institutions that meet certain of these conditions. The 
purpose of the screening process is to identify institutions that may be at risk of not meeting certain of HLC's Criteria for Accreditation. HLC has 
requested that University of the Rockies provide a report to the commission demonstrating the institution's ability to continue meeting the Core 
Components in light of the conditions at the institution that led to the indicators being identified. This report was provided on August 29, 2012. 
HLC notified University of the Rockies in 2013 that its staff accepts the institutions' explanatory report and no further action is needed at this 
time.  

Loss of accreditation would denigrate the value of our institutions' educational programs and would cause them to lose their eligibility to 
participate in Title IV programs, which would have a material adverse effect on enrollment, revenues, financial condition, cash flows and results 
of operations.  

In connection with its transition to WASC accreditation, Ashford University has submitted an application to the California Bureau for 
Private Postsecondary Education. Denial or undue delay of the application could have a material adverse effect on enrollments, Title IV 
eligibility, revenues, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations. Approval of the application will entail a greater reporting 
burden on the university and could result in increased regulatory or political scrutiny of the university.  

To be eligible to participate in Title IV programs, an institution must be legally authorized to offer its educational programs by the states in 
which it is physically located. Effective July 1, 2011, the Department established new requirements to determine if an institution is considered to 
be legally authorized by a state. See “Regulation - State Authorization” in Part I, Item 1 of this report. In connection with its transition to WASC 
accreditation, Ashford University has designated its San Diego, California facilities as its main campus for Title IV purposes. WASC-accredited 
institutions operating in California are not required to obtain approval from the State of California, Department of Consumer Affairs, Bureau for 
Private Postsecondary  
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Education, or BPPE, in order to operate in the state. Under the Department’s state authorization rule, an institution must be approved or licensed 
on a basis other than accreditation in instances in which it is not established by name as an educational institution by a state through a charter, 
statute, constitutional provision, or other action issued by an appropriate state agency or entity. On May 21, 2013, the Department published a 
notice stating that it would provide an extension of the effective date of the state authorization rule until July 1, 2014 to qualifying institutions 
that obtain from a state an explanation of how the extension of time would permit the state to comply with the regulations. The California 
Department of Consumer Affairs has issued a letter explaining the need for an extension. It is uncertain how the Department will interpret the 
state authorization rule or the applicability of the extension of time. The university submitted an Application for Approval to Operate an 
Accredited Institution to BPPE on September 10, 2013. If the university’s licensing application were denied or subject to undue delay, either 
event could have a material adverse effect on enrollments, revenues, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations.  

If the application is granted, the university will no longer be exempt from certain laws and regulations applicable to private, post-secondary 
educational institutions. These laws and regulations entail certain California reporting requirements, including but not limited to, graduation, 
employment and licensing data, certain changes of ownership and control, faculty and programs, and student refund policies, as well as the 
triggering of other state and federal student employment data reporting and disclosure requirements. The additional reporting and disclosure 
could result in material additional costs to comply with regulatory requirements and increased regulatory or political scrutiny of the university.  

As a result of changes that have been made, or may be required by the accreditors of our institutions, to our operational relationships with 
our institutions and to their operations and business models, our historical financial and business results may not necessarily be 
representative of future results.  

In connection with the transition of Ashford University to WASC accreditation and our efforts to structure our operations to meet evolving 
regulatory expectations, our institutions have made operational changes and launched various new business initiatives, and additional changes 
may be required. These changes and initiatives included hiring new leadership, implementing smaller class sizes, requiring minimum age-levels 
for students, implementing the Ashford Promise (an initiative that allows students a full refund for all tuition and fees through the third week of a 
student's first class), hiring additional full-time faculty, and implementing new program review models. Many of these initiatives result in higher 
expense to the organization, primarily in the areas of instructional costs and services. In addition, we have made changes in our organizational 
structure and operational relationships with our academic institutions to ensure their academic independence and satisfaction of accreditation-
related requirements. Some of these changes and initiatives have contributed to declines in new student enrollments. Accordingly, our historical 
results and trends, including enrollments, admissions advisory and marketing expenses and instructional costs and services, may not be 
indicative of our future results and there can be no assurance that changes to our operational relationship with our institutions or other changes 
we have made, or may make in the future, will not have an adverse impact on regulatory compliance, satisfaction of accreditation-related 
standards, or our financial condition, cash flows and results of operations.  

The Department of Education is conducting a program review of University of the Rockies, which may result in the repayment of Title IV 
funds and may lead to fines, penalties, or other sanctions, and damage to the institution's reputation in the industry.  

The Department periodically reviews institutions participating in Title IV programs for compliance with applicable standards and 
regulations. On July 25, 2012, the Department notified University of the Rockies that it had scheduled an on-site program review. This review 
occurred from August 20, 2012 through August 24, 2012. The review is to assess the institution's administration of Title IV programs and 
initially covers the 2010-2011 and 2011-2012 award years, but may be expanded if deemed appropriate by the Department. The Department has 
begun this review and University of the Rockies was provided with the Department's initial Program Review Report and has responded. 
Following consideration of the response, the FSA will issue a Final Program Review Determination (“FPRD”) letter. If the FPRD were to 
include significant findings of non-compliance, University of the Rockies could be required, subject to administrative review procedures, to pay 
a fine, return Title IV funds previously received, or be subjected to other administrative sanctions. While we cannot currently predict the final 
outcome of the Department review, any such final adverse finding could damage the institution's reputation in the industry and negatively impact 
enrollment, revenues, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations.  

Additional regulations or regulatory scrutiny resulting from negotiated rulemaking by the Department of Education could result in increased 
compliance costs, fines, sanctions or lawsuits, which could have a material adverse effect on enrollments, revenues, financial condition, cash 
flows and results of operations.  

The Department held public hearings in May and June 2013 inviting the submission of topics for consideration in a series of rulemaking 
efforts to achieve a long-term agenda in higher education focused on access, affordability, academic quality and  
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completion. Recent hearings have focused on topics including, but not limited to, cash management of Title IV program funds, state 
authorization for programs offering distance or correspondence education, gainful employment, credit and clock hour conversions, changes made 
to the Clery Act by the Violence Against Women Act of 2013 (P.L. 113-4), and the definition of “adverse credit” for PLUS borrowers.  

In June 2013, the Department announced its intention to establish a negotiated rulemaking committee to prepare proposed regulations that 
would establish standards for programs that prepare students for gainful employment in a recognized occupation. The committee met for three 
sessions between September and December 2013, but did not reach consensus on the content of the proposed regulations. On March 14, 2014, 
the Department published proposed regulations for public comment. See “Regulation - Gainful Employment.”  

In January 2014, the Department held the first of three negotiated rulemaking sessions to implement the changes to the Clery Act required 
by the enactment of the Violence Against Women Act, or VAWA. Two other sessions are scheduled for February 2014 and March-April 2014. 
While the final regulations will likely not be implemented prior to July 1, 2015, the Department notified institutions in an Electronic 
Announcement in May 2013 that until the regulations go into effect, it expects institutions to make a good faith effort to comply with the 
statutory requirements. Among other things, VAWA requires institutions to compile statistics for certain crimes reported to campus security 
authorities or local police agencies. Under the statute, an institution must include the new required information in its Annual Security Report 
issued no later than October 1, 2014.  

In February 2014, the Department held the first of three negotiation sessions related to various new program integrity initiatives, including 
the potential reintroduction of the Distance Education Rule (34 C.F.R. § 600.9(c)) that was vacated by a federal court in 2011. The February 
sessions produced no substantive outcomes, but sessions in March 2014 plan to address the Department’s draft of a proposed regulation on 
distance education that could materially impact our business.  

Additional topics to be considered at March and April sessions are expected to include, but may not be limited to, the following: cash 
management of Title IV funds, including the use of debit cards and the handling of Title IV credit balances; state authorization for foreign 
locations; clock to credit hour conversion; the definition of “adverse credit” for borrowers in the Federal Direct PLUS Loan Program; and the 
application of the repeat coursework provisions to graduate and undergraduate programs.  

We cannot predict the scope and content of the regulations that may emerge from these or other rulemaking activities that the Department 
initiates. Compliance with additional regulations, or with modifications to existing regulations, and/or regulatory scrutiny that results in the 
Company's institutions being allegedly out of compliance with these regulations, could result in direct and indirect costs of compliance, fines, 
liabilities, sanctions or lawsuits, which could have a material adverse effect on enrollments, revenues, financial condition, cash flows and results 
of operations.  

Action by the U.S. Congress to revise the laws governing Title IV programs or to reduce funding for these programs could negatively impact 
our business.  

The U.S. Congress must periodically reauthorize the Higher Education Act and annually determine the funding level for each Title IV 
program. In 2008, the Higher Education Act was reauthorized through September 2014. The U.S. Congress may propose and pass revisions to 
the Higher Education Act between reauthorizations, by using other legislative vehicles such as budget bills and appropriations bills. The U.S. 
Congress also determines the funding levels for Title IV programs annually through the budget and appropriations process.  

Any action by the U.S. Congress that significantly reduces Title IV program funding or the eligibility of our institutions or students to 
participate in Title IV programs could have a material adverse effect on enrollments, revenues, financial condition, cash flows and results of 
operations. Congressional action could also require us to modify our practices in ways that could increase our administrative costs and reduce 
our profit margin, which could have a material adverse effect on enrollments, revenues, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations.  

For example, as the federal Pell Grant program is one of the largest non-defense discretionary spending programs in the federal budget, it is 
a potential target for reduction as the U.S. Congress addresses unprecedented budget deficits. Under the Pell Grant program, the Department of 
Education makes grants to undergraduate students who demonstrate financial need. On December 23, 2011, the “Consolidated Appropriations 
Act, 2012,” among other provisions, eliminated federal student aid eligibility, with some exceptions, for ability-to-benefit students who first 
enroll on or after July 1, 2013. The same law limited Pell Grant eligibility to 18 semesters or equivalent, a provision that went into effect for all 
students beginning with the 2012-2013 award year.  
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Subsidized Stafford loans are also a potential target for reduction. Subsidized Stafford loans are federally guaranteed loans based on 

financial need. Interest does not accrue on subsidized Stafford loans while a student is in school at least half time, or during any future grace or 
deferment periods; the federal government pays the interest on such loans during these times. However, under the “Budget Control Act of 2011,” 
all subsidized Stafford loans were eliminated for graduate and professional students, who are now only eligible for unsubsidized Stafford loans. 
Further, with the enactment of the “Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2012,” the payment of the interest subsidy to students receiving subsidized 
Stafford loans during the six-month grace period by the federal government was eliminated from July 1, 2012 through June 30, 2014. In 
addition, when the law, “Moving Ahead for Progress in the 21 st Century Act,” was enacted to extend the 3.4% interest rate for subsidized 
Stafford loans for loans first disbursed on or after July 1, 2012 through June 30, 2013, another limitation on subsidized Stafford loans was 
established. For new borrowers on or after July 1, 2013, borrowers will no longer be eligible for subsidized Stafford loans when the borrower 
reaches 150 percent of the published length of the borrower’s program. Moreover, if the borrower continues enrolling in the program beyond the 
150 percent point of the same or a different program, or a shorter program, the borrower will be responsible for any interest that accrues on his or 
her subsidized Stafford loans.  

If in the future, funding is reduced for the Pell Grant program (such as a reduction in the maximum award amount), if fewer students or 
programs are deemed eligible for the Pell Grant Program or if loan interest subsidies are eliminated for Stafford loans (e.g., eligibility for such 
loans has been eliminated for graduate students effective July 1, 2012), our institutions might become less affordable for certain students at our 
institutions, which could negatively impact enrollments, revenue, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations.  

Additionally, there has been increased focus by some in the U.S. Congress on the role that for-profit educational institutions play in higher 
education. In particular, the Health, Education, Labor and Pensions Committee of the U.S. Senate, referred to as the HELP Committee, held a 
series of hearings regarding the for-profit education sector and Title IV programs, including a March 2011 hearing specifically about us and 
Ashford University entitled “Bridgepoint Education, Inc.: A Case Study in For-Profit Education and Oversight.” The hearings, and those of other 
Congressional committees, have focused on various aspects of the for-profit education sector including student debt, recruitment practices, 
educational quality, student outcomes, the effectiveness of accrediting bodies, and the amount of Title IV funding received by the for-profit 
education sector.  

In connection with these hearings, members of Congress have requested a broad range of detailed information from various for-profit 
institutions, including Ashford University and University of the Rockies. Most recently, on July 29, 2012, the majority staff of the HELP 
Committee issued a report entitled “For Profit Higher Education: The Failure to Safeguard the Federal Investment and Ensure Student Success,” 
which contains the majority staff's findings from the committee's two-year investigation of the for-profit education sector. The report is critical 
of the sector generally and of us and our institutions specifically, expressing concerns surrounding the amount of Title IV and other federal funds 
received, the amount of money spent on marketing and recruiting, student retention and default rates, staffing levels, learning outcomes and 
accreditation, among other items.  

Certain members of Congress have proposed legislation that could have an adverse impact on our institutions. For example, Senators Dick 
Durbin (D-IL), Jack Reed (D-RI), Elizabeth Warren (D-MA), and Barbara Boxer (D-CA) introduced the “Protect Student Borrowers Act,” 
which would assess penalties against institutions if their cohort default rate exceeds 15 percent. A bill introduced by the late Senator Frank 
Lautenberg (D-NJ) and Senator Tom Harkin (D-IA), titled the “Student First Act,” would require Department of Education program reviews of 
institutions engaging in “risky” behavior, such as serial forbearance and default rate manipulation, spending more than 20 percent of revenue on 
recruiting and marketing, and deriving more than 85 percent of revenue from federal student aid sources. Senator Kay Hagan (D-NC) introduced 
the “Protecting Financial Aid for Students and Taxpayers Act,” which would prohibit institutions from using revenues derived from federal 
educational assistance funds for advertising, marketing, or recruiting. While these bills will not likely pass during this session, they may serve as 
a basis of discussion during the reauthorization of the Higher Education Act.  

We cannot predict what legislation, if any, will emanate from the HELP Committee hearings, the reauthorization of the Higher Education 
Act, or other Congressional deliberations, or what impact any such legislation might have on the for-profit education sector and our business in 
particular. Congressional action could also require us to modify our practices in ways that could increase our administrative costs and reduce our 
profit margin, which could have a material adverse effect on enrollments, revenues, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations.  

If WASC or the Higher Learning Commission lose recognition by the Department, our institutions could lose their ability to participate in 
Title IV programs.  

In order to participate in the Title IV programs, an institution must be accredited by an accrediting body recognized by the Department. 
Both WASC and HLC are recognized by the Department. If the Department ceased to recognize WASC or HLC  
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for any reason, Ashford University and University of the Rockies, respectively, would not be eligible to participate in Title IV programs unless 
the Department continued to certify the eligibility of the institutions to participate in the Title IV programs. The Department may continue to 
certify an institution for a period not later than 18 months after the date such recognition ceased. The ineligibility of our institutions to participate 
in Title IV programs would have a material adverse effect on enrollments, revenues, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations.  

Our institutions could lose eligibility to participate in Title IV programs or face other sanctions if they derive more than 90% of their 
respective revenues from these programs.  

Under the Higher Education Act, a proprietary institution loses eligibility to participate in Title IV programs if the institution derives more 
than 90% of its revenues (calculated in accordance with the Higher Education Act) from Title IV programs for two consecutive fiscal years. This 
rule is commonly referred to as the “90/10 rule.” Any institution that violates the 90/10 rule for two consecutive fiscal years becomes ineligible 
to participate in Title IV programs for at least two fiscal years. In addition, an institution whose rate exceeds 90% for any single year will be 
placed on provisional certification and may be subject to other enforcement measures. In the years ended December 31, 2013 , 2012 and 2011, 
Ashford University derived 85.6% , 86.4% and 86.8% , respectively, and University of the Rockies derived 87.6% , 87.3% and 85.0% , 
respectively, of their respective revenues (calculated in accordance with applicable Department regulations) from Title IV funds.  

Recent changes in federal law that increased Title IV grant and loan limits, and any additional increases in the future, may result in an 
increase in the revenues we receive from Title IV programs, which could make it more difficult for our institutions to satisfy the 90/10 rule.  

Revenue derived from government tuition assistance for military personnel, including veterans, is considered not to be federal student aid 
for purposes of the 90/10 rule calculation, and accordingly helps our institutions satisfy the 90/10 rule. As of December 31, 2013 , approximately 
23.6% of our institutions' students were affiliated with the military, some of whom are eligible to receive tuition assistance from the government 
which they may use to pursue postsecondary degrees. If there were a reduction in funding in government tuition assistance for military 
personnel, including veterans, if revenue derived from such funding were otherwise to decrease significantly, or if there were changes in the 
treatment of such funding for purposes of the 90/10 rule calculation, it could be significantly more difficult for our institutions to satisfy the 
90/10 rule, which could result in our institutions losing eligibility to participate in Title IV programs.  

Congress also could propose and adopt legislation that amends the 90/10 rule in ways that make it more difficult for our institutions to 
satisfy the 90/10 rule. For example, in late 2011, the “Ensuring Quality Education for Veterans Act,” was introduced, which proposes to treat 
government tuition assistance for military personnel, including veterans, as federal student aid for purposes of calculations under the 90/10 rule. 
Similarly, in January 2012, Sen. Richard Durbin introduced the “The Protecting Our Students and Taxpayers Act,” which proposes to have a 
proprietary institution lose eligibility to participate in Title IV programs if the institution derives more than 85% its revenues (calculated in 
accordance with applicable Department regulations) from federal funds (including Title IV programs, government tuition assistance for military 
personnel, including veterans, and other sources of federal funds) for one fiscal year; the bill would also make it harder for institutions to use 
institutional loans (i.e., loans they make themselves to students) to help satisfy the 90/10 rule. Most recently, on November 6, 2013, Senators 
Dick Durbin and Tom Harkin re-introduced “The Protecting Students and Taxpayers Act of 2013,” which proposes to have a for-profit 
institution lose eligibility to participate in Title IV funds if the institution derives more than 85% of its revenues from federal funds, including 
Title IV programs, revenue from the GI Bill and Department of Defense Tuition Assistance funds. If one or more of these or similar bills were to 
be enacted and signed into law, it could be significantly more difficult for our institutions to satisfy the 90/10 rule (or, potentially, 85/15 rule), 
which could result in our institutions losing eligibility to participate in Title IV programs.  

Our institutions could lose eligibility to participate in Title IV programs or face other sanctions if they pay incentive compensation to persons 
or entities involved in certain recruiting, admissions or financial aid awarding activities.  

The Higher Education Act prohibits an institution from making any commission, bonus or other incentive payment based directly or 
indirectly on securing enrollments or financial aid to any persons or entities involved in student recruiting or admissions activities, or in making 
decisions about the award of student financial assistance. For more information, see “Regulation-Department Regulation of Title IV Programs-
Incentive compensation” in Part I, Item 1 of this report. The criteria for compliance with the Department's rules prohibiting incentive 
compensation are not clear in all circumstances, and the Department will not review or approve compensation plans prior to their 
implementation.  

In Finding 1 of the OIG's final audit report related to its compliance audit of Ashford University, the OIG asserted that Ashford University, 
during the 2006-2007 award year, designed a compensation plan for admissions counselors that provided incentive payments based on success in 
securing enrollments and did not establish that its plan and practices qualified for certain regulatory safe harbors. To the extent Ashford 
University cannot establish that its salary adjustments for admissions  
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counselors in the 2006-2007 award year qualified for the regulatory safe harbors, the OIG recommended that the FSA take appropriate action to 
impose a fine on the university or to limit, suspend or terminate the institution's eligibility for Title IV programs. For more information regarding 
the OIG's final audit report, see “Regulation-Department Regulation of Title IV Programs-Compliance reviews, audits and reports” in Part I, 
Item 1 of this report.  

On October 10, 2012, we received a letter from the U.S. Department of Justice, Civil Division, Commercial Litigation Branch, or the 
Justice Department, informing us that the Justice Department was investigating the compensation of our admissions personnel. In December 
2012 and January 2013, we were notified that the Justice Department had declined to intervene in separate qui tam complaints unsealed on 
December 26, 2012 and January 2, 2013. The qui tam complaints allege, among other things, that our institutions violated the Federal False 
Claims Act by falsely certifying to the Department that, Ashford University and University of the Rockies, in the case of the qui tam unsealed in 
2012, and Ashford University, in the case of the qui tam unsealed in 2013, were in compliance with various regulations regarding the payment of 
incentive compensation to enrollment personnel in connection with the institutions' participation in student financial aid programs. The qui tam 
complaint unsealed in December 2012 was voluntarily dismissed on June 12, 2013. The qui tam complaint unsealed in January 2013 is 
proceeding to discovery.  

If one of our institutions were to be determined to have violated the incentive compensation rule, it could be subject to monetary liabilities 
or to administrative action to impose a fine or to limit, suspend or terminate its eligibility to participate in Title IV programs, which could have a 
material adverse effect on enrollment, revenues, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations.  

Changes in compensation practices for admissions counselors and other covered employees may negatively impact our business and growth 
prospects.  

Effective July 1, 2011, the Department eliminated 12 safe harbors which described compensation arrangements not violating the incentive 
compensation rule, including the payment and adjustment of salaries and bonuses under certain conditions. For more information regarding the 
elimination of the safe harbors, see “Regulation-Department Regulation of Title IV Programs-Incentive compensation” in Part I, Item 1 of this 
report. Our institutions modified some of their compensation practices as a result of the elimination of the safe harbors. These changes have 
affected, and may continue to affect, the ability of our institutions to compensate admissions counselors and other covered employees in a 
manner that appropriately reflects their relative merit, which in turn (1) has reduced, and may continue to reduce, employee effectiveness and our 
ability to attract and retain staff with the desired talent and motivation to succeed and (2) has impaired, and may continue to impair, our ability to 
sustain and grow our business, either of which could have a material adverse effect on enrollments, revenues, financial condition, cash flows and 
results of operations.  

Our institutions may lose eligibility to participate in Title IV programs if too many students default on their loans.  

For each federal fiscal year, the Department calculates a rate of student defaults for each educational institution which is known as a 
“cohort default rate.” An institution may lose its eligibility to participate in the Direct Loan and Pell programs if, for each of the three most 
recent federal fiscal years for which information is available, 25% or more of its students who became subject to a repayment obligation in that 
federal fiscal year defaulted on such obligation by the end of the following federal fiscal year. In addition, an institution may lose its eligibility to 
participate in the Direct Loan Program if its cohort default rate exceeds 40% in the most recent federal fiscal year for which default rates have 
been calculated by the Department. Ashford University's two-year cohort default rates for the 2011, 2010 and 2009 federal fiscal years, were 
10.1% , 10.2% , and 15.3% , respectively. The two-year cohort default rates for University of the Rockies for the 2011, 2010 and 2009 federal 
fiscal years, were 4.8% , 4.0% and 3.3% , respectively. An institution with a cohort default rate that equals or exceeds 25% in any one of the 
three most recent fiscal years for which rates have been issued by the Department may be placed on provisional certification by the Department.  

The August 2008 reauthorization of the Higher Education Act included significant revisions to the requirements concerning cohort default 
rates. Under the revised law, the period for which students' defaults on their loans are included in the calculation of an institution's cohort default 
rate was extended by one additional year, which is expected to increase the cohort default rates for most institutions. That change was effective 
with the calculation of institutions' cohort default rates for the federal fiscal year ending September 30, 2009. The Department will not impose 
sanctions based on rates calculated under this new methodology until three consecutive years of rates have been calculated, which is expected to 
occur in September 2014. Until that time, the Department will continue to calculate rates under the old calculation method and impose sanctions, 
if necessary, based on those rates. The revised law also increases the threshold for ending an institution's participation in the relevant Title IV 
programs from 25% to 30%, effective for final three-year cohort default rates published on or after the 2012 federal fiscal year. The revised law 
changes the threshold for placement on provisional certification to 30% for two of the three most recent fiscal years for which the Department 
has published official three-year cohort default rates. Ashford University's  
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three-year cohort default rates for the 2010 and 2009 federal fiscal years, were 16.3% and 19.8% , respectively. The three-year cohort default 
rates for University of the Rockies for the 2010 and 2009 federal fiscal years, were 8.0% and 3.3% , respectively.  

Loss of eligibility to participate in Title IV programs would have a material adverse effect on enrollment, revenues, financial condition, cash 
flows and results of operations.  

Our institutions may lose eligibility to participate in Title IV programs or face other sanctions if the Department or other federal agencies 
determine they have misrepresented the nature of educational programs, financial charges or graduate employability.  

The Higher Education Act prohibits an institution participating in Title IV programs from engaging in substantial misrepresentation of the 
nature of its educational programs, financial charges or graduate employability. Under the Department's rules, a “misrepresentation” is any false, 
erroneous or misleading statement an institution, one of its representatives, or any ineligible institution, organization, or person with whom the 
institution has an agreement to provide educational programs, or marketing, advertising, recruiting, or admissions services makes directly to a 
student or prospective student or any member of the public, or to an accrediting agency, to a state agency or the Department. The Department's 
rules define a “substantial misrepresentation” as any misrepresentation on which the person to whom it was made could reasonably be expected 
to rely, or has reasonably relied, to that person's detriment. Considering the broad definition of “substantial misrepresentation,” it is possible that, 
despite our training efforts and compliance programs, our institutions' employees or service providers may make statements that could be 
construed as substantial misrepresentations. For-profit educational institutions are also subject to the general deceptive practices jurisdiction of 
the Federal Trade Commission, or the FTC and the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, or CFPB. The FTC and CFPB are intensifying their 
regulatory scrutiny of our industry and related vendors, sometimes in coordination with the Department and state Attorneys General. If the 
Department determines that one of our institutions has engaged in substantial misrepresentation, the Department may attempt to revoke the 
institution's program participation agreement if the institution is provisionally certified, impose limitations on the institution's participation in 
Title IV programs if the institution is provisionally certified, deny applications from the institution for approval of new programs or locations or 
other matters, or initiate proceedings to fine the institution or limit, suspend, or terminate its eligibility to participate in Title IV programs. The 
loss of eligibility to participate in Title IV programs would have a material adverse effect on enrollment, revenues, financial condition, cash 
flows and results of operations.  

The institution could also be exposed to increased risk of additional private actions under the federal False Claims Act. The qui tam 
complaint that was unsealed on December 26, 2012 alleges, among other things, that Ashford University and University of the Rockies have 
failed to make required disclosures readily available to students, have misled students as to the true cost of attending the schools, the quality and 
reputation of their academic programs, and their job placement rates. For more information regarding claims and lawsuits, see the risk factor 
below entitled “ We face litigation and legal proceedings that could have a material adverse effect on enrollments, financial condition, cash 
flows and results of operations ” and “Legal Proceedings” in Part I, Item 3 of this report.  

Our institutions may lose eligibility to participate in Title IV programs or face other sanctions if they fail to correctly calculate and return 
Title IV program funds timely for students who withdraw before completing their educational program.  

An institution participating in Title IV programs must correctly calculate the amount of unearned Title IV program funds that have been 
disbursed to students who withdraw from their educational programs before completion and must return those unearned funds in a timely 
manner, generally within 45 days of the date the school determines that the student has withdrawn. For more information, see “Regulation-
Department Regulation of Title IV Programs-Return of Title IV funds for students who withdraw” in Part I, Item 1 of this report. Failure to make 
timely returns of Title IV program funds for 5% or more of students sampled in the institution's annual compliance audit in either of its two most 
recently completed fiscal years can result in an institution having to post a letter of credit in an amount equal to 25% of its prior year returns of 
Title IV program funds. If unearned funds are not properly calculated and returned in a timely manner, an institution is also subject to monetary 
liabilities or an action to impose a fine or to limit, suspend or terminate its participation in Title IV programs.  

In Finding 3 of the OIG's final audit report pertaining to its compliance audit of Ashford University, the OIG asserted that Ashford 
University, during the 2006-2007 award year, did not in all instances return Title IV funds timely for students who withdrew or went on a leave 
of absence from school. Accordingly, the OIG recommended that the FSA (1) require Ashford University to develop and implement certain 
remedial policies and procedures and (2) take appropriate action to impose a fine on the university or to limit, suspend or terminate the 
institution's eligibility for Title IV programs. For more information about the OIG's final audit report, see “Regulation-Department Regulation of 
Title IV Programs-Compliance reviews, audits and reports” in Part I, Item 1 of this report.  
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Our institutions may lose eligibility to participate in Title IV programs or face other sanctions if they are not legally authorized to operate in 
the states in which they are physically located.  

To be eligible to participate in Title IV programs, an institution must be legally authorized to offer its educational programs by the states in 
which it is physically located. For more information, see “Regulation-State authorization” in Part I, Item 1 of this report. Although our 
institutions have a process for evaluating the compliance of their online educational programs with state requirements regarding distance and 
correspondence learning, and have experienced no material restrictions on their educational activities to date as a result of such requirements, 
state regulatory requirements for online education vary among the states, are not well developed in many states, are imprecise or unclear in some 
states and are subject to change. For more information, see “Regulation-State Education Licensure and Regulation” in Part I, Item 1 of this 
report. Moreover, it is also unclear whether and to what extent state agencies may augment or change their regulations in this area as a result of 
new Department regulations and increased scrutiny. Any failure to comply with state requirements, or any new or modified regulations, could 
result in our inability to enroll students or receive Title IV funds for students in those states and could result in restrictions on growth and 
enrollments.  

Ashford University has a campus that is physically located in Iowa. During the time period in which Ashford University was accredited by 
the Higher Learning Commission, the Iowa College Student Aid Commission, or ICSAC, advised Ashford University that the institution was 
exempt from a requirement to register with the State of Iowa to offer postsecondary degree programs in Iowa by virtue of its accreditation by the 
Higher Learning Commission. In anticipation of its transition to WASC accreditation, Ashford University applied for registration with ICSAC. 
In November 2011, ICSAC determined Ashford University met all requirements to offer postsecondary education in Iowa and approved the 
institution's registration in Iowa for a four-year period ending November 2015. However, in light of the findings and recommendations contained 
in the final audit report of the Department's Office of Inspector General, or the OIG, ICSAC stated that it would immediately reconsider the 
institution's registration for possible revocation if the Department ruled to limit, suspend or terminate the institution's participation in Title IV 
programs. For more information about the OIG's final audit report, see “Regulation-Department Regulation of Title IV Programs-Compliance 
reviews, audits and reports” in Part I, Item 1 of this report.  

University of the Rockies is located in the State of Colorado and has Full Authorization by the Colorado Commission on Higher Education. 
Such authorization may be lost or withdrawn if University of the Rockies fails to comply with requirements under Colorado statutes and rules for 
continued authorization.  

Our institutions may be required to modify or eliminate certain programs if they do not lead to gainful employment in a recognized 
occupation, as determined by the Department.  

Under the Higher Education Act, schools operated on a for-profit basis are eligible to participate in Title IV programs only to the extent 
that their educational programs lead to gainful employment in a recognized occupation, with the limited exception of qualified programs leading 
to a bachelor's degree in liberal arts.  

In June 2011, the Department published final regulations to establish minimal debt measures for determining whether certain 
postsecondary educational programs lead to gainful employment in recognized occupations, and the conditions under which such programs are 
eligible for Title IV funding. The debt measures established by these regulations consisted of two debt-to-earnings ratios, based on comparisons 
of graduate earnings with annual loan payments, and an annual loan repayment rate, based on the rate certain borrowers reduced the outstanding 
balances on certain Title IV loans.  

On June 30, 2012, the U.S. District Court for the District of Columbia nullified most of the gainful employment regulations and returned 
the regulations to the Department for further action. On July 6, 2012, the Department issued an electronic announcement acknowledging that the 
Court had vacated the debt measures, that institutions would not be required to comply with related regulations regarding gainful employment 
reporting requirements and adding new gainful employment educational programs, and that institutions would be required to comply with 
requirements to disclose certain information about gainful employment educational programs.  

In June 2013, the Department announced its intention to establish a negotiated rulemaking committee to prepare new gainful employment 
regulations that would replace those vacated by the Court. The Department held negotiating rulemaking sessions with the committee beginning 
in September 2013 and concluding in December 2013. Before each session, the Department distributed draft regulatory language marked as draft 
for discussion purposes.  

The draft regulatory language distributed by the Department to the committee for discussion purposes in December 2013 would require 
each educational program covered by the rule to achieve threshold rates in three debt measure categories related to an annual debt to annual 
earnings ratio, an annual debt to discretionary income ratio, and a program cohort default rate. The various formulas are calculated under 
complex methodologies and definitions outlined in the draft regulatory language and, in some cases, are based on data that may not be readily 
accessible to institutions. The draft language outlines various scenarios  
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under which programs could lose Title IV eligibility for failure to achieve threshold rates in one or more measures over certain periods of time 
ranging from two to four years. The draft language also would require an institution to provide warnings to students in programs which may lose 
Title IV eligibility at the end of an award year, limit its Title IV enrollment in these programs, and submit a letter of credit or set aside funds to 
provide borrower relief to students in the event the programs become ineligible. The draft regulatory language contains other provisions that, 
among other things, include disclosure, reporting and new program approval requirements.  

On March 14, 2014, the Department published proposed regulations for comment by the public for a sixty day period. The proposed 
regulatory language released by the Department to the public for comment would cause each educational program covered by the rule to fail if 
their graduates’ student-loan debt payments exceeded 12% of their incomes and 30% of their discretionary incomes, the same ratios as in the 
original rule and the draft considered by negotiators in the fall of 2013.  Also unchanged from the 2013 draft, programs whose graduates have 
debt-to-income ratios of 8% to 12% or debt-to-discretionary-income ratios of 20% to 30% would fall in a “zone”, and the institution would have 
to warn students that they might become ineligible for aid. Programs that fail both debt-to-income tests twice in any three-year period or are in 
the zone for four consecutive years would be ineligible for federal student aid. Different from the draft 2013 rule and in response to the 2 012 
Court ruling, the Department now proposes programmatic cohort default rates rather than loan-repayment rates as an additional test. Programs 
whose borrower cohort default rates exceed 30% for three consecutive years would be ineligible for federal student aid.   

The various formulas are calculated under complex methodologies and definitions outlined in the proposed regulatory language and, in 
some cases, are based on data that may not be readily accessible to institutions. The proposed language contains other provisions that, among 
other things, include disclosure, reporting and certification requirements. We cannot predict the ultimate content or effective date of any new 
regulations that may emerge from this process or the potential impact of such regulations on us or our institutions and have had minimal time to 
review and analyze the proposed regulation. Any new regulations that reduce or eliminate our students’ access to Title IV federal student aid, 
that require us to change or eliminate certain programs, or that increase our costs of compliance could have an adverse effect on our business.  

The failure of our institutions to demonstrate financial responsibility may result in a loss of eligibility to participate in Title IV programs or 
require the posting of a letter of credit in order to maintain eligibility to participate in Title IV programs.  

To participate in Title IV programs, an eligible institution must, among other things, satisfy specific measures of financial responsibility 
prescribed by the Department or post a letter of credit in favor of the Department and possibly accept other conditions to the institution's 
participation in Title IV programs. For more information regarding the Department's financial responsibility requirements, see “Regulation-
Department Regulation of Title IV Programs-Financial responsibility” in Part I, Item 1 of this report. If our institutions are found not to have 
satisfied the Department's financial responsibility requirements, they could be limited in their access to, or lose, Title IV program funding, which 
could have a material adverse effect on enrollment, revenues, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations.  

The failure of our institutions to demonstrate administrative capability may result in a loss of eligibility to participate in Title IV programs.  

Department regulations specify extensive criteria by which an institution must establish that it has the requisite administrative capability to 
participate in Title IV programs. For more information regarding the Department's administrative capability standards, see “Regulation-
Department Regulation of Title IV Programs-Administrative capability” in Part I, Item 1 of this report. If we are found not to have satisfied the 
Department's administrative capability requirements, we could be limited in our access to, or lose, Title IV program funding, which could have a 
material adverse effect on enrollment, revenues, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations.  

Our institutions must periodically seek recertification to participate in Title IV programs and may, in certain circumstances, be subject to 
review by the Department prior to seeking recertification.  

An institution must periodically seek recertification from the Department to continue to participate in Title IV programs and may, in certain 
circumstances, be subject to review by the Department prior to seeking recertification. The current certification for University of the Rockies is 
scheduled to expire on June 30, 2016. Ashford University is provisionally certified until September 30, 2016. The Department typically places 
an institution on provisional certification following a change in ownership resulting in a change of control and also may provisionally certify an 
institution for other reasons including but not limited to failure to comply with certain standards of administrative capability or financial 
responsibility. During the time when an institution is provisionally certified, it may be subject to adverse action with fewer due process rights 
than those afforded to other institutions and must apply for and receive approval from the Department for expansion or of any substantial 
change. Substantial change includes, but is not limited to, the establishment of an additional location, an increase in the level of academic 
offerings, or the addition of any nondegree or short-term training programs.  
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The Department may also review our institutions' continued certification to participate in Title IV programs if we undergo a change of 

control. In addition, the Department may take emergency action to suspend an institution's certification without advance notice if it determines 
the institution is violating Title IV requirements and determines that immediate action is necessary to prevent misuse of Title IV funds. If the 
Department did not renew or if it withdrew our institutions' certifications to participate in Title IV programs, their students would no longer be 
able to receive Title IV funds, which would have a material adverse effect on enrollment, revenues, financial condition, cash flows and results of 
operations.  

Governmental proceedings or other claims and lawsuits asserting regulatory noncompliance could result in monetary liabilities or penalties, 
injunctions, or loss of Title IV programs for students at our institutions.  

Because we operate in a highly regulated industry, we and our institutions are subject to compliance reviews and claims of noncompliance 
and lawsuits by government agencies, regulatory agencies and third parties, including claims brought by third parties on behalf of the federal 
government under the federal False Claims Act. If the results of these reviews or proceedings are unfavorable to us or if we are unable to defend 
successfully against such lawsuits or claims, we may be required to pay money damages or be subject to fines, limitations, loss of Title IV 
funding, injunctions or other penalties. Even if we adequately address issues raised by an agency review or successfully defend a lawsuit or 
claim, we may have to divert significant financial and management resources from our ongoing business operations to address issues raised by 
those reviews or to defend against those lawsuits or claims. Claims and lawsuits brought against us may damage our reputation or adversely 
affect our stock price, even if such claims and lawsuits are eventually determined to be without merit.  

As discussed in the risk factors above entitled “ Our institutions could lose eligibility to participate in Title IV programs or face other 
sanctions if they pay incentive compensation to persons or entities involved in certain recruiting, admissions or financial aid awarding activities 
” and “ Our institutions may lose eligibility to participate in Title IV programs or face other sanctions if the Department determines they have 
substantially misrepresented the nature of educational programs, financial charges or graduate employability ,” we have been named in two qui 
tam complaints that allege we and our institutions violated the Federal False Claims Act. Defending a federal False Claims Act lawsuit can be 
costly and divert management's time and attention from our business, regardless of whether the claim has merit. The adverse resolution of such a 
lawsuit could lead to monetary liability, including treble damages and attorneys' fees, and other sanctions, which could have a material adverse 
effect on our business, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations.  

For more information regarding the incentive compensation rule, see “Regulation-Department Regulation of Title IV Programs-Incentive 
compensation” in Part I, Item 1 of this report. For more information regarding claims and lawsuits, see the risk factor below entitled “ We face 
litigation and legal proceedings that could have a material adverse effect on enrollments, financial condition, cash flows and results of 
operations ” and “Legal Proceedings” in Part I, Item 3 of this report.  

If we fail to maintain adequate systems and processes to detect and prevent fraudulent activity in student enrollment and financial aid, our 
business could be adversely impacted.  

We are susceptible to an increased risk of fraudulent activity by outside parties with respect to student enrollment and student financial aid 
programs. We cannot be certain that our systems and processes will always be adequate in the face of increasingly sophisticated and ever-
changing fraud schemes. The potential for outside parties to perpetrate fraud in connection with the award and disbursement of Title IV program 
funds, including as a result of identity theft, may be heightened due to our nature as an online education provider. We must maintain systems and 
processes to identify and prevent fraudulent applications for enrollment and financial aid.  

The Department's regulations require institutions that participate in Title IV programs to refer to the OIG credible information indicating 
that any applicant, employee, third-party servicer or agent of the institution that acts in a capacity that involves administration of the Title IV 
programs has been engaged in any fraud or other illegal conduct involving Title IV programs. If the systems and processes that we have 
established to detect and prevent fraud are inadequate, the Department may find that we do not satisfy its “administrative capability” 
requirements. This could result in our being limited in our access to, or our losing, Title IV program funding, which would adversely affect 
enrollment, revenues, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations. In addition, our institutions' ability to participate in Title IV 
programs is conditioned on their maintaining accreditation by an accrediting agency that is recognized by the Secretary of Education. Any 
significant failure to adequately detect fraudulent activity related to student enrollment and financial aid could cause them to fail to meet their 
accrediting agencies' standards. Furthermore, under the Higher Education Act, accrediting agencies that evaluate institutions that offer distance 
learning programs, as our institutions do, must require such institutions to have processes through which the institution establishes that a student 
who registers for a distance education program is the same student who participates in and receives credit for the program. Failure to meet 
applicable accrediting agencies' standards could result in the loss of accreditation at the discretion of such accrediting agencies, which could 
result in a loss of our institutions' eligibility to participate in Title IV programs and adversely affect our business, financial condition, cash flows 
and results of operations.  
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Our institutions cannot offer new programs, expand their physical operations into certain states or acquire additional schools if such actions 
are not approved in a timely fashion by the applicable regulatory agencies, and Title IV funds disbursed to students enrolled in any such 
programs, states or acquired schools may have to be repaid if prior approval is not obtained.  

Our plans may include our institutions offering new educational programs, some of which may require regulatory approval. In addition, we 
or our institutions may increase physical operations in additional states or seek to acquire additional schools. If we or our institutions are unable 
to obtain the necessary approvals for such new programs, operations or acquisitions from the Department, WASC, HLC or any applicable state 
education agency or other accrediting agency, or if we or our institutions are unable to obtain such approvals in a timely manner, the ability to 
consummate such actions and provide Title IV funds to any affected students would be impaired, which could have a material adverse effect on 
our plans. If we or our institutions were to determine erroneously that any such action did not need approval or have all required approvals, our 
institutions could be liable for repayment of the Title IV program funds provided to students in that program or at that location.  

If regulators do not approve or if they delay their approval of transactions involving a change of control of our company, our ability to 
participate in Title IV programs may be impaired.  

If we or either of our institutions undergoes a change of control under the standards of applicable state education agencies, WASC, HLC or 
the Department, we must seek the approval of each such regulatory agency. For more information, see “Regulation-Department Regulation of 
Title IV Programs-Change in ownership resulting in a change of control” in Part I, Item 1 of this report. A failure by us or one of our institutions 
to reestablish its state authorization, accreditation or Department certification, as applicable, following a change of control could result in a 
suspension or loss of operating authority or the ability to participate in Title IV programs, which would have a material adverse effect on 
enrollments, revenues, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations.  

Our failure to comply with regulations of various states could preclude us from recruiting or enrolling students in those states or result in 
such students being ineligible for Title IV financial aid.  

Various states impose regulatory requirements on educational institutions operating within their boundaries. Several states have sought to 
assert jurisdiction over online educational institutions that have no physical location or other presence in the state but that offer educational 
services to students who reside in the state or that advertise to or recruit prospective students in the state. State regulatory requirements for online 
education are inconsistent between states and are not well developed in many jurisdictions. As such, these requirements are subject to change 
and in some instances are unclear or are left to the discretion of state employees or agents. Our changing business and the constantly changing 
regulatory environment require us to regularly evaluate our state regulatory compliance activities. If we are found not to be in compliance and a 
state seeks to restrict one or more of our business activities within that state, we may not be able to recruit students from that state and may have 
to cease recruiting or enrolling students in that state. See “Regulation-Department Regulation of Title IV Programs-State authorization” in Part I, 
Item 1 of this report. Our failure to comply with these requirements in one or more states could result in our inability to provide Title IV funds to 
students in those states.  

Our regulatory environment and our reputation may be negatively influenced by the actions of other postsecondary institutions.  

In recent years, Congressional, federal, state and accrediting agency investigations and civil litigation have been commenced against 
several postsecondary educational institutions. These investigations and lawsuits have alleged, among other things, deceptive trade practices and 
noncompliance with Department regulations. These allegations have attracted adverse media coverage and have been the subject of federal and 
state legislative hearings. Although the media, regulatory and legislative focus has been primarily on the allegations made against these specific 
companies, broader allegations against the overall postsecondary sector may negatively impact public perceptions of postsecondary educational 
institutions, including Ashford University and University of the Rockies. Such allegations could result in increased scrutiny and regulation by 
the Department, Congress, accrediting bodies, state legislatures or other governmental authorities on all postsecondary institutions, including 
ours.  

Risks Related to Our Business  

Our financial performance depends on our ability to continue to develop awareness among, to recruit and to retain students; adverse 
publicity may negatively impact demand for our institutions' programs.  

Building awareness among potential students of Ashford University and University of the Rockies and the programs they offer is critical to 
their ability to attract prospective students. It is also critical to our success that these prospective students are  
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converted to enrolled students in a cost-effective manner and that these enrolled students remain active in our institutions' programs. Some of the 
factors that could prevent the successful recruiting and retention of students in their programs include:  

We face litigation and legal proceedings that could have a material adverse effect on enrollments, financial condition, cash flows and results 
of operations.  

We and our institutions are subject to lawsuits, investigations and claims covering a wide range of matters. We are the subject of 
complaints alleging violations of various laws, including but not limited to federal securities laws, including a securities class action, the federal 
False Claims Act and state employment laws, as well as investigations by state attorneys general in California, Iowa, New York and North 
Carolina. Derivative shareholder complaints have also been asserted on our behalf against certain of our current and former officers and directors 
alleging breaches of fiduciary duties, waste of corporate assets and unjust enrichment. We could incur significant defense costs related to these 
or other matters and, in the event of adverse outcomes, monetary losses or restrictions on our business could result, any of which could have a 
material adverse effect on enrollments, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations.  

For more information regarding current material legal proceedings involving us and our institutions, including investigations by state 
attorneys general in California, Iowa, New York and North Carolina, see “Legal Proceedings” in Part I, Item 3 of this report.  

Our bad debt expense as a percentage of revenues is high relative to our competitors. If we are unable to remedy the underlying causes, our 
bad debt expense could increase, which could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, cash flows and results of operations.  

Our bad debt expense is high relative to our competitors and has increased from 5.6% of revenues for the year ended December 31, 2012 to 
6.3% for the year ended December 31, 2013. We believe our bad debt expense is primarily driven by operational policies, timing of financial aid 
processing and collection management. If we are unable to make appropriate changes, or if our changes are not as effective as anticipated, our 
bad debt expense could increase, which could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, cash flows and results of operations.  

Our growth may place a strain on our resources.  

We experienced significant growth from the time of our initial public offering through 2012. Such historical growth, as well as any further 
growth that we may experience, may place a significant strain on our resources. Such growth increased demands on our management 
information and reporting systems, data analytics, and financial management controls. If we are unable to maintain appropriate internal controls, 
we may experience operating inefficiencies that could increase our costs. Additionally, if we and our institutions fail to hire and retain 
appropriate levels of personnel in critical areas, we could experience increased student complaints, delays in completing critical business 
projects, system down-time for both internal and student-facing applications, and potential regulatory noncompliance, any of which could 
materially and adversely affect our business and prospects.  
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•  the emergence of more and better competitors; 

•  factors related to our marketing efforts, including the costs of Internet advertising and broad-based branding campaigns; 

•  performance problems with our online systems; 

•  our institutions' failure to maintain accreditation, state licensure and eligibility for Title IV programs; 

•  student dissatisfaction with our institutions' services and programs; 

•  a decrease in the perceived or actual economic benefits that students derive from our institutions' programs or programs provided by 
private sector postsecondary education companies generally;  

•  adverse publicity regarding us or online or private sector postsecondary education generally; 

•  price reductions by competitors that we are unwilling or unable to match; and 

•  a decline in the acceptance of online education or education provided by private sector postsecondary education companies. 



 
A failure of our information systems to properly store, process and report relevant data may reduce our management’s effectiveness, 
interfere with our regulatory compliance and increase our operating expenses.  

We are heavily dependent on the integrity of our data management systems. If these systems do not effectively collect, store, process and 
report relevant data for the operation of our business, whether due to equipment malfunction or constraints, software deficiencies, or human 
error, our ability to effectively plan, forecast and execute our business plan and comply with applicable laws and regulations will be impaired, 
perhaps materially. Any such impairment could materially and adversely affect our financial condition, cash flows and results of operations.  

Our institutions rely on a third party vendor for financial aid processing and are responsible for any errors, delays or instances of regulatory 
noncompliance which may be made by this vendor.  

Our institutions have engaged Xerox Business Services, LLC, or XBS, formerly called Affiliated Computer Services, Inc., to provide call 
center and transactional processing services for their online financial aid student populations, including services related to disbursement 
eligibility review and Title IV fund returns. Although our institutions monitor the work done by XBS for quality assurance and compliance with 
Department regulations, our institutions are ultimately responsible for any errors, delays or instances of regulatory noncompliance which may be 
made by XBS, some of which could potentially affect the eligibility of our institutions to participate in Title IV programs. Additionally, if XBS 
ceases to operate or is unwilling or unable to work with our institutions, or if the engagement with XBS is otherwise terminated, our institutions 
would be required either to handle financial aid processing services using their own resources or to engage another third party vendor, which 
transition could be economically disadvantageous, present a distraction to management and applicable business units, and increase the risk of 
errors and regulatory noncompliance during the transition period, any of which could negatively impact our business.  

Our institutions rely on a third-party vendor to provide the online learning platform for students and related support and hosting.  

We have a license agreement with Pearson eCollege, or eCollege, pursuant to which we agreed to license from eCollege an online learning 
platform for students at our institutions. The eCollege platform is an online learning management system which provides for the storage, 
management and delivery of course content. This platform also includes collaborative spaces for student communication and participation with 
other students and faculty as well as grade and attendance management for faculty and assessment capabilities to assist us in maintaining quality. 
Our institutions rely on eCollege for administrative support and hosting of the applicable systems. If eCollege ceases to operate or is or is 
unwilling or unable to work with our institutions, or if the license agreement with eCollege and related agreements were otherwise to be 
terminated, the online learning platform for students at our institutions and related administrative support and hosting could be interrupted or 
become unavailable, any of which could have a material and adverse effect on our business.  
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We are subject to laws and regulations as a result of our collection and use of personal information, and any violations of such laws or 
regulations, or any breach, theft or loss of such information, could adversely affect us.  

Possession and use of personal information in our operations subjects us to risks and costs that could harm our business. We collect, use 
and retain large amounts of personal information regarding our applicants, students, faculty, staff and their families. We also collect and 
maintain personal information about our employees in the ordinary course of our business. Our services can be accessed globally through the 
Internet. Therefore, we may be subject to the application of national privacy laws in countries outside the United States from which applicants 
and students access our services. Such privacy laws could impose conditions that limit the way we market and provide our services. Our 
computer networks and the networks of certain of our vendors that hold and manage confidential information on our behalf may be vulnerable to 
unauthorized access, employee theft or misuse, computer hackers, computer viruses and other security threats. Confidential information may also 
inadvertently become available to third parties when we integrate systems or migrate data to our servers following an acquisition of a school or 
in connection with periodic hardware or software upgrades. Due to the sensitive nature of the personal information stored on our servers, our 
networks may be targeted by hackers seeking to access this data. A user who circumvents security measures could misappropriate sensitive 
information or cause interruptions or malfunctions in our operations. Although we use security and business controls to limit access and use of 
personal information, a third party may be able to circumvent those security and business controls, which could result in a breach of student or 
employee privacy. In addition, errors in the storage, use or transmission of personal information could result in a breach of privacy for current or 
prospective students or employees. Possession and use of personal information in our operations also subjects us to legislative and regulatory 
burdens that could require notification of data breaches and could restrict our use of personal information, and a violation of any laws or 
regulations relating to the collection or use of personal information could result in the imposition of fines against us or lawsuits brought against 
us. As a result, we may be required to expend significant resources to protect against the threat of these security breaches or to alleviate problems 
caused by these breaches. A major breach, theft or loss of personal information regarding our institutions' students and their families or our 
employees that is held by us or our vendors, or a violation of laws or regulations relating to the same, could have a material adverse effect on our 
reputation, result in lawsuits and could result in further regulation and oversight by federal and state authorities and increased costs of 
compliance.  

System disruptions and vulnerability from security risks to our technology infrastructure could damage the reputation of our institutions and 
negatively impact our business.  

The performance and reliability of our technology infrastructure (including the software and related hosting and maintenance services for 
our online learning platform, student information system, and lead management system) is critical to our reputation and the ability to attract and 
retain students. Any system error or failure, or a sudden and significant increase in bandwidth usage, could result in the unavailability of systems 
to us or our institutions' students and negatively impact our business and reputation. Our computer networks may also be vulnerable to 
unauthorized access, computer hackers, computer viruses, denial of service attacks and other security problems. Although we continually 
monitor the security of our technology infrastructure and take proactive measures to prevent potential threats, we cannot assure you that these 
efforts will protect our computer networks against all threats of security breaches, which could damage the reputation of our institutions and 
negatively impact our business and prospects.  

Our expenses may cause us to incur operating losses if we do not realize our expected revenues.  

Our spending is based, in significant part, on our estimates of future revenue and is largely fixed in the short term. As a result, we may be 
unable to adjust our spending in a timely manner if our revenue falls short of our expectations. Accordingly, any significant shortfall in revenues 
in relation to our expectations would have an immediate and material adverse effect on our profitability. In addition, we anticipate increasing 
operating expenses to expand program offerings and marketing initiatives. Any such expansion could cause material losses to the extent we do 
not generate additional revenues sufficient to cover those expenses.  

Strong competition in the postsecondary education market, especially in the online education market, could decrease our market share, 
increase our cost of recruiting students and put downward pressure on our tuition rates.  

Postsecondary education is highly competitive. We compete with traditional public and private two- and four-year colleges as well as with 
other postsecondary schools. Traditional colleges and universities may offer programs similar to those offered by our institutions at lower tuition 
levels as a result of government subsidies, government and foundation grants, tax-deductible contributions and other financial sources not 
available to for-profit postsecondary institutions. In addition, our institutions face continued scrutiny from their accreditors, and some of our 
competitors, including both traditional colleges and universities, have substantially greater brand recognition and financial and other resources 
than we have, which may enable them to compete more effectively for potential students. We also expect to face increased competition as a 
result of new  
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entrants to the online education market, including traditional colleges and universities that had not previously offered online education programs. 

We may not be able to compete successfully against current or future competitors and may face competitive pressures that could adversely 
affect our business. We may be required to reduce our tuition or increase marketing spending in order to retain or to attract students or to pursue 
new market opportunities. We may also face increased competition in maintaining and developing new marketing relationships with 
corporations, particularly as corporations become more selective as to which online universities they will encourage their employees to attend 
and from which they will hire prospective employees.  

We may not be able to retain our key personnel or hire and retain the personnel we need to sustain and grow our business.  

Our success depends largely on the skills, efforts and motivations of our executive officers, who generally have significant experience with 
our company and within the education industry. Due to the nature of our business, we face significant competition in attracting and retaining 
personnel who possess the skill sets we seek. In addition, key personnel may leave us and may subsequently compete against us. We do not carry 
life insurance on our key personnel for our benefit. The loss of the services of any of our key personnel, or our failure to attract and retain other 
qualified and experienced personnel on acceptable terms, could impair our ability to sustain and grow our business. In addition, because we 
operate in a highly competitive industry, our hiring of qualified executives or other personnel may cause us or such persons to be subject to 
lawsuits alleging misappropriation of trade secrets, improper solicitation of employees or other claims.  

If we are unable to hire and to continue to develop new and existing employees responsible for student recruitment, the effectiveness of our 
student admissions efforts would be adversely affected.  

We intend to (i) hire, develop and train additional employees responsible for student admissions and (ii) retain and continue to develop and 
train our current student admissions personnel. Our ability to develop and maintain a strong student admissions function may be affected by a 
number of factors, including our ability to integrate and motivate our admissions counselors, our ability to effectively train our admissions 
counselors, the length of time it takes those new counselors to become productive, regulatory restrictions on the method of compensating 
admissions counselors and the competition in hiring and retaining them.  

Enrollment and revenues could decrease if government tuition assistance offered to military personnel is suspended, or if such assistance is 
reduced or eliminated, if scholarships which we offer to military personnel are reduced or eliminated or if our relationships with military 
bases deteriorate.  

As of December 31, 2013, approximately 23.6% of our institutions' students were affiliated with the military, some of whom are eligible to 
receive tuition assistance from the government, which they may use to pursue postsecondary degrees. From October 1, 2013 until October 16, 
2013, the U.S. federal government entered into shutdown resulting in the suspension of military tuition assistance. In response, Ashford 
University implemented a Military Tuition Assistance Grant that covered the equivalent of tuition assistance payments for impacted students 
starting courses during that period. Although governmental tuition assistance programs were resumed following the shutdown, if such programs 
are again suspended or otherwise reduced or eliminated, or if our relationship with any military base deteriorates, enrollment could suffer, which 
could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, cash flows and results of operations. Reductions in tuition assistance could also 
negatively affect our compliance with the 90/10 rule. See the risk factor entitled, “ Our institutions could lose eligibility to participate in Title IV 
programs or face other sanctions if they derive more than 90% of their respective revenues from these programs ” above. Additionally, if in 
response to future reductions or suspensions in military tuition assistance, we determine to reinstitute our Military Tuition Assistance Grant or a 
similar program, our per student revenue from military affiliated personnel would decline.  

We also provide scholarships to students who are affiliated with the military. If we reduce or eliminate our scholarships, enrollment by 
military personnel may suffer. Conversely, if we increase our scholarships, our per student revenue from military affiliated personnel will 
decline.  

A decline in the overall growth of enrollment in postsecondary institutions, or in the number of students seeking degrees online or in our 
core disciplines, could cause us to experience a further decline in enrollment at our schools.  

We have experienced overall growth in institutional enrollments and revenues since we acquired Ashford University in 2005. However, 
enrollment at our institutions declined to 63,624 at December 31, 2013 as compared to 81,810 at December 31, 2012. Additionally, the growth 
rate of our revenues has declined in recent periods and may continue to decline in the future. In order to maintain the current growth rate of our 
revenues and increase enrollment at our institutions, our institutions will need to attract and retain a larger percentage of students in existing 
markets and expand their markets by creating new academic  
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programs. In addition, if job growth in the fields related to their core disciplines is weaker than expected, fewer students may seek the types of 
degrees that our institutions offer.  

Our success depends in part on our institutions' ability to update and expand the content of existing programs and to develop new programs 
and specializations on a timely basis and in a cost-effective manner.  

The updates and expansions of existing programs and the development of new programs and specializations may not be accepted by 
existing or prospective students or employers. If we do not adequately respond to changes in market requirements, our business will be adversely 
affected. Even if our institutions are able to develop acceptable new programs, they may not be able to introduce these new programs as quickly 
as students require or as quickly as our competitors introduce competing programs. To offer a new academic program, our institutions may be 
required to obtain appropriate federal, state and accrediting agency approvals, which may be conditioned or delayed in a manner that could 
significantly affect our plans. In addition, to be eligible for federal student financial aid programs, a new academic program may need to be 
approved by the Department.  

Establishing new academic programs or modifying existing programs requires investments in management and capital expenditures, 
additional marketing expenses and reallocation of other resources. We and our institutions may have limited experience with the programs in 
new disciplines and may need to modify existing systems and strategy or enter into arrangements with other educational institutions to provide 
new programs effectively and profitably. If our institutions are unable to increase enrollment in new programs, offer new programs in a cost-
effective manner or are otherwise unable to manage effectively the operations of newly established academic programs, our revenues, financial 
condition, cash flows and results of operations could be adversely affected.  

Our failure to keep pace with changing market needs could harm our institutions' ability to attract students.  

Our success depends to a large extent on the willingness of employers to hire, promote or increase the pay of our institutions' graduates. 
Increasingly, employers demand that their new employees possess appropriate technical and analytical skills and also appropriate interpersonal 
skills, such as communication and teamwork. These skills can evolve rapidly in a changing economic and technological environment. 
Accordingly, it is important that our institutions' educational programs evolve in response to those economic and technological changes.  

The expansion of existing academic programs and the development of new programs may not be accepted by current or prospective 
students or by the employers of our institutions' graduates. Even if our institutions develop acceptable new programs, they may not be able to 
begin offering those new programs in a timely fashion or as quickly as our competitors offer similar programs. If we are unable to adequately 
respond to changes in market requirements due to regulatory or financial constraints, unusually rapid technological changes or other factors, the 
rates at which our institutions' graduates obtain jobs in their fields of study could suffer, the ability to attract and retain students could be 
impaired and our business could be adversely affected.  

We may be unable to protect our proprietary rights sufficiently and we may encounter disputes from time to time relating to our use of the 
intellectual property of third parties.  

We rely on a combination of copyrights, trademarks, service marks, trade secrets, domain names and agreements with third parties to 
protect our proprietary rights. We have trademark and service mark registrations and pending applications in the United States and select foreign 
jurisdictions. We also own the domain name rights for our institutions, as well as other words and phrases important to our business. 
Additionally, we have applied for patent protection for certain technology developed by us; and registered copyrights for exemplary business 
course materials. Nonetheless, as new challenges arise in protecting these proprietary rights online, we cannot assure you that these measures 
will be adequate to protect our proprietary rights, that we have secured, or will be able to secure, appropriate protections for all of our proprietary 
rights in the United States or select foreign jurisdictions or that third parties will not infringe upon or violate our proprietary rights. Despite our 
efforts to protect these rights, unauthorized third parties may attempt to duplicate or copy the proprietary aspects of our technology, curricula, 
and online resource material, among others. Our management's attention may be diverted by these attempts, and we may need to use funds in 
litigation to prevent the potential for all occurrences and protect our proprietary rights against any infringement or violation.  

We may also encounter disputes from time to time over rights and obligations concerning intellectual property, and we may not prevail in 
these disputes. In certain instances, we may not have obtained sufficient rights in the content of a course. Third parties may raise a claim against 
us alleging an infringement or violation of the intellectual property of that third party. Some third party intellectual property rights may be 
extremely broad, and it may not be possible for us to conduct our operations in such a way as to avoid those intellectual property rights. Any 
such intellectual property claim could subject us to costly litigation and impose a significant strain on our financial resources and management 
personnel regardless of whether  
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such claim has merit. Our insurance may not cover potential claims of this type adequately or at all, and we may be required to pay monetary 
damages, which may be significant, or our institutions may be required to alter the content of their classes to be non-infringing.  

We may incur liability for the unauthorized duplication or distribution of class materials posted online for class discussions.  

In some instances our institutions' faculty members or students may post various articles or other third-party content on class discussion 
boards. We may incur liability for the unauthorized duplication or distribution of this material posted online for class discussions. Third parties 
may raise claims against us for the unauthorized duplication of this material. Any such claims could subject us to costly litigation and could 
impose a significant strain on our financial resources and management personnel regardless of whether the claims have merit. Our general 
liability insurance may not cover potential claims of this type adequately or at all, and we may be required to alter the content of our courses or 
pay monetary damages.  

Government regulations relating to the Internet could increase our cost of doing business, affect our ability to grow or otherwise have a 
material adverse effect on our business.  

The increasing popularity and use of the Internet and other online services has led and may lead to the adoption of new laws and regulatory 
practices in the United States or in foreign countries and to new interpretations of existing laws and regulations. These new laws and 
interpretations may relate to issues such as online privacy, copyrights, trademarks and service marks, sales taxes, fair business practices and the 
requirement that online education institutions qualify to do business as foreign corporations or be licensed in one or more jurisdictions where 
they have no physical location or other presence. New laws, regulations or interpretations related to doing business over the Internet could 
increase our costs and materially and adversely affect enrollments.  

Failure to comply with the terms of our Credit Agreement with Comerica Bank could impair our rights to the assets we pledged as collateral 
under this agreement.  

On April 13, 2012, we entered into a $50 million revolving line of credit, or the Facility, pursuant to an Amended and Restated Revolving 
Credit Agreement, or the Revolving Credit Agreement, with the lenders signatory thereto and Comerica Bank, as administrative agent for the 
lenders. At our option, we may increase the size of the Facility up to $100 million (in certain minimum increments), subject to the terms and 
conditions of the Revolving Credit Agreement. Additionally, we may request swing-line advances under the Facility up to $3 million in the 
aggregate.  

To secure our obligations under the Credit Agreement (and related documents), we granted Comerica Bank a first priority security interest 
in substantially all of our assets, including our real property. If an event of default occurs or if we otherwise fail to comply with any of the 
negative or affirmative covenants of the Credit Agreement (and related documents), including the failure of either of our institutions to maintain 
Title IV eligibility, Comerica Bank may declare all of the obligations and indebtedness under the Credit Agreement (and related documents) due 
and payable.  

For more information about the Credit Agreement and related documents, see Note  11 , “ Credit Facilities ,” to our annual consolidated 
financial statements, which are included elsewhere in this report. In such a scenario, we may lose our right, title and interest in the property that 
secures such obligations and indebtedness.  

We may require additional financing in the future and if such financing is not available on terms acceptable to us, it could adversely affect 
our ability to grow.  

We believe that cash flow from operations will be adequate to fund our current operating plans for the foreseeable future. However, we 
may need additional financing in order to finance our plans, particularly if we pursue any acquisitions. The amount, timing and terms of such 
additional financing will vary principally depending on the timing and size of new program offerings, the timing and size of acquisitions we may 
seek to consummate and the amount of cash flows from our operations. To the extent that we require additional financing in the future, such 
financing may not be available on terms acceptable to us or at all and, consequently, we may not be able to fully implement our plans.  

A protracted economic slowdown and rising unemployment could harm our business.  

We believe that many students pursue postsecondary education to be more competitive in the job market. However, a protracted economic 
slowdown could increase unemployment and diminish job prospects generally. Diminished job prospects and heightened financial worries could 
affect the willingness of students to incur loans to pay for postsecondary education and to pursue postsecondary education in general. As a result, 
enrollment could suffer.  

In addition, many of our institutions' students borrow Title IV loans to pay for tuition, fees and other expenses. A protracted economic 
slowdown could negatively impact their ability to repay those loans which would negatively impact our  
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institutions' cohort default rates. Our institutions' students also are frequently able to borrow Title IV loans in excess of their tuition. The excess 
is received by such students as a stipend. However, if a student withdraws, we must return any unearned Title IV funds including stipends. A 
protracted economic slowdown could negatively impact such students' ability to repay those stipends. As a result, the amount of Title IV funds 
we would have to return without reimbursement from students could increase, and our results could suffer.  

If we fail to effectively identify, pursue and consummate acquisitions, either in the U.S. or outside of the U.S., our ability to grow could be 
impacted and our profitability may be adversely affected.  

Acquisitions are one component of our overall long-term growth strategy. From time to time, we engage in evaluations of, and discussions 
with, possible domestic and international acquisition candidates. We may not be able to identify suitable acquisition opportunities, complete 
acquisitions on favorable terms, or successfully integrate or profitably operate acquired institutions or businesses. If we use debt to finance future 
acquisitions or issue securities in connection with future acquisitions, such actions could dilute the holdings of our stockholders.  

An acquisition related to an institution or other educational business often requires one or multiple regulatory approvals. If we are unable to 
obtain approvals, or receive them on unfavorable terms, our ability to consummate transactions may be impaired or we may be unable to operate 
the acquired entity in a manner that it to our favor.  

 We may acquire in international markets in the future. There may be difficulties and complexities (regulatory or otherwise) associated 
with our expansion into international markets, and our strategies may not succeed beyond our current markets. If we do not effectively address 
these risks, our ability to grow and compete may be impaired.  

If we are not able to integrate or grow acquired institutions or businesses, our business could be harmed.  

Integrating acquired operations into our business involves significant risks and uncertainties, including:  

An increase in interest rates could adversely affect our institutions' ability to attract and retain students.  

Interest rates have reached relatively low levels in recent years, creating a favorable borrowing environment for students. However, if 
Congress increases interest rates on Title IV loans, or if private loan interest rates rise, our institutions' students would have to pay higher interest 
rates on their loans. Any future increase in interest rates will result in a corresponding increase in educational costs to existing and prospective 
students. Higher interest rates could also contribute to higher default rates with respect to students' repayment of their education loans. Higher 
default rates may in turn adversely impact our institutions' eligibility to participate in some or all Title IV programs, which could have a material 
adverse effect on enrollment, revenues, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations.  

We face risk in connection with institutional loan programs implemented at our academic institutions. If students participating in such 
programs fail to repay their loans timely, our business will be negatively impacted.  

Both Ashford University and University of the Rockies have institutional loan programs for their online student population. At 
December 31, 2013 , there was $12.8 million of net outstanding institutional loans combined. Under these programs, our institutions loan money 
directly to eligible and qualifying students. If students participating in these programs fail to repay their loans timely, it could have a negative 
impact on our financial condition, cash flows and results of operations.  
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•  inability to maintain uniform standards, controls, policies and procedures; 

•  distraction of management's attention from normal business operations during the integration process; 

•  inability to attract and/or retain management talent to operate the acquired entity; 

•  inability to obtain, or delay in obtaining, regulatory or other approvals necessary to operate the business; 

•  inability to correctly estimate the size of a target market or accurately assess market dynamics; 

•  expenses associated with the integration efforts; and 

•  unidentified issues not discovered in our due diligence process, including legal contingencies. 



 
We may not earn enough revenue from Constellation, Thuze, Waypoint Outcomes and our other technologies to offset the costs of 
innovating, developing, deploying and marketing these technologies.  

In recent periods, we have devoted increasing amounts of resources to innovating, developing and marketing new technologies such as 
Constellation, Thuze, Waypoint Outcomes, and the mobile application technology for our institutions. If we are unable to earn revenue sufficient 
to offset the costs of innovating, developing and marketing such technologies, our financial condition, cash flows and results of operations could 
be negatively impacted.  

Our failure to comply with environmental laws and regulations governing our activities could result in financial penalties and other costs.  

We use hazardous materials at our ground campuses and generate small quantities of waste, such as used oil, antifreeze, paint, car batteries 
and laboratory materials. Additionally, we purchased real property nearby our Ashford University campus in Clinton, Iowa, for purposes of 
future campus expansion and student housing at which we have identified minor environmental issues. We are subject to a variety of 
environmental laws and regulations governing, among other things, the use, storage and disposal of solid and hazardous substances and waste 
and the clean-up of contamination at our facilities or off-site locations to which we send or have sent waste for disposal. If we do not maintain 
compliance with any of these laws and regulations, or are responsible for a spill or release of hazardous materials, we could incur significant 
costs for clean-up, damages and fines or penalties.  

Our corporate headquarters are located in a high brush fire danger area and near major earthquake fault lines.  

Our corporate headquarters are located in San Diego, California in a high brush fire danger area and near major earthquake fault lines. We 
could be materially and adversely affected in the event of a brush fire or major earthquake, either of which could significantly disrupt our 
business.  

We have a limited operating history. Accordingly, our historical and recent financial and business results may not necessarily be 
representative of what such results will be in the future.  

We have a limited operating history on which you can evaluate our business strategy, our financial results and trends in our business. As a 
result, our historical results and trends, including bad debt expense and our institutions' enrollments and cohort default rates, may not be 
indicative of future results.  

Risk Related to Our Common Stock  

The price of our common stock has fluctuated significantly and you could lose all or part of your investment.  

Volatility in the market price of our common stock may prevent you from being able to sell your shares at or above the price you paid for 
your shares. The market price of our common stock has fluctuated significantly in the past, and there is no assurance it will not continue to 
fluctuate significantly for a variety of different reasons, including, without limitation:  
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•  a failure to remediate the control deficiencies that constitute the material weaknesses in our internal controls discussed in “ Item 9A. 
Controls and Procedures ”;  

•  developments regarding the accreditation or state licensing of our academic institutions, particularly Ashford University; 

•  our quarterly or annual earnings or those of other companies in our industry; 

•  public reaction to our press releases, corporate communications and SEC filings; 

•  changes in earnings estimates or recommendations by research analysts who track our common stock or the stocks of other companies 
in our industry;  

•  seasonal variations in our student enrollment; 

•  new laws or regulations or new interpretations of laws or regulations applicable to our industry or business; 

•  negative publicity, including government hearings and other public lawmaker or regulator criticism, regarding our industry or 
business;  

•  changes in enrollment; 

•  changes in accounting standards, policies, guidance, interpretations or principles; 



 

In addition, in recent years, the stock market has experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations. This volatility has had a significant 
impact on the market price of securities issued by many companies, including companies in our industry. Changes may occur without regard to 
the operating performance of these companies. The price of our common stock could fluctuate based upon factors that have little or nothing to do 
with our company.  

Sales of outstanding shares of our stock into the market in the future could cause the market price of our stock to drop significantly, even if 
our business is doing well.  

If our stockholders sell, or indicate an intention to sell, substantial amounts of our common stock in the public market, the trading price of 
our common stock could decline. At December 31, 2013 , 44.8 million shares of our common stock were outstanding.  

In addition, as of December 31, 2013 , there were 5.5 million shares underlying outstanding options and 1.1 million shares underlying 
restricted stock units. All shares subject to outstanding options are eligible for sale in the public market to the extent permitted by the provisions 
of various option agreements and Rule 144 under the Securities Act. If these additional shares are sold, or if it is perceived that they will be sold 
in the public market, the trading price of our stock could decline. Under Rule 144, shares held by non-affiliates for more than six months may 
generally be sold without restriction, other than a current public information requirement, and may be sold freely without any restrictions after 
one year. Shares held by affiliates may also be sold under Rule 144, subject to applicable restrictions, including volume and manner of sale 
limitations.  

If securities or industry analysts change their recommendations regarding our stock adversely or if our operating results do not meet their 
expectations, our stock price could decline.  

The trading market for our common stock is influenced by the research and reports that industry or securities analysts publish about us or 
our business or industry. If one or more of these analysts ceases coverage of our company or fail to publish reports on us regularly, we could lose 
visibility in the financial markets, which in turn could cause our stock price or trading volume to decline. Moreover, if one or more of the 
analysts who cover our company downgrades our stock, whether as a result of any material weakness in our internal controls or other factors, or 
if our operating results do not meet their expectations, our stock price could decline.  

Our principal stockholder has significant influence over matters requiring stockholder approval and access to our management.  

As of December 31, 2013 , Warburg Pincus beneficially owned 61.9% of our outstanding common stock. Accordingly, Warburg Pincus 
may exercise significant influence over the election of our directors, amendments to our certificate of incorporation and bylaws and other actions 
requiring the vote or consent of our stockholders, including mergers, going private transactions and other extraordinary transactions. The 
ownership position of Warburg Pincus may have the effect of delaying, deterring or preventing a change of control or a change in the 
composition of our board of directors.  

In February 2009, we entered into a nominating agreement with Warburg Pincus. Under the nominating agreement, as long as Warburg 
Pincus beneficially owns at least 15% of the outstanding shares of common stock, we will, subject to our fiduciary obligations, nominate and 
recommend to our stockholders that two individuals designated by Warburg Pincus be elected to our board of directors. Additionally, if Warburg 
Pincus beneficially owns less than 15% but more than 5% of the outstanding shares of common stock, we will, subject to our fiduciary 
obligations, nominate and recommend to our stockholders that one individual designated by Warburg Pincus be elected to our board of directors. 
Two directors affiliated with Warburg Pincus, Patrick T. Hackett and Adarsh Sarma, currently serve on our board of directors.  

We currently do not intend to pay dividends on our common stock and, consequently, your only opportunity to achieve a return on your 
investment is if the price of our common stock appreciates.  

We do not expect to pay dividends on shares of our common stock in the foreseeable future and we intend to use our cash position to grow 
our business. Consequently, your only opportunity to achieve a positive return on your investment in us will be if the market price of our 
common stock appreciates.  
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•  litigation involving our company or investigations or audits by regulators into the operations of our company or our competitors; 

•  sales of common stock by our directors, executive officers and significant stockholders; and 

•  changes in general conditions in the United States and global economies or financial markets, including those resulting from war, 
incidents of terrorism or responses to such events.  



 
Your percentage ownership in us may be diluted by future issuances of capital stock, which could reduce your influence over matters on 
which stockholders vote.  

Subject to NYSE rules, our board of directors has the authority, without action or vote of our stockholders, to issue all or any part of our 
authorized but unissued shares of capital stock. At December 31, 2013 , 300.0 million shares of common stock were authorized for issuance 
under our certificate of incorporation, 44.8 million shares of which were outstanding. At December 31, 2013 , 20.0 million shares of preferred 
stock were authorized for issuance under our certificate of incorporation, no shares of which were outstanding. Issuances of common stock or 
voting preferred stock would reduce your influence over matters on which our stockholders vote and, in the case of issuances of preferred stock, 
likely would result in your interest in us being subject to the prior rights of holders of that preferred stock.  

Provisions in our certificate of incorporation and bylaws and Delaware law may discourage, delay or prevent a change of control of our 
company or changes in our management and, therefore, may depress the trading price of our stock.  

Our certificate of incorporation and bylaws contain provisions that could depress the trading price of our stock by acting to discourage, 
delay or prevent a change of control of our company or changes in our management that the stockholders of our company may deem 
advantageous. These provisions:  

Additionally, we are subject to Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, which generally prohibits a Delaware corporation 
from engaging in any of a broad range of business combinations with any “interested” stockholder for a period of three years following the date 
on which the stockholder became an “interested” stockholder.  

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.  

None.  

Item 2. Properties.  

We own over 160 acres of property in Clinton, Iowa, on which various academic, athletic, administrative, housing and student services 
buildings are situated, comprising 475,000 square feet of space. The properties we own in Iowa are used for campus operations.  

We also lease property in California, Colorado, Iowa, Pennsylvania and Washington D.C. for campus operations, corporate functions, 
enrollment services and student support services. Below is a table summarizing our leased properties:  
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•  authorize the issuance of “blank check” preferred stock that our board of directors could issue to increase the number of outstanding 
shares to discourage a takeover attempt;  

•  provide for a classified board of directors (three classes); 

•  provide that stockholders may only remove directors for cause; 

•  provide that any vacancy on our board of directors, including a vacancy resulting from an increase in the size of the board, may only 
be filled by the affirmative vote of a majority of our directors then in office, even if less than a quorum;  

•  provide that a special meeting of stockholders may only be called by our board of directors or by our chief executive officer; 

•  provide that action by written consent of the stockholders may be taken only if the board of directors first approves such action, except 
that if Warburg Pincus holds at least 50% of our outstanding capital stock on a fully diluted basis, whenever the vote of stockholders is 
required at a meeting for any corporate action, the meeting and vote of stockholders may be dispensed with, and the action taken 
without such meeting and vote, if a written consent is signed by the holders of outstanding stock having not less than the minimum 
number of votes that would be necessary to authorize or take such action at the meeting of stockholders; provided that, 
notwithstanding the foregoing, we will hold an annual meeting of stockholders in accordance with NYSE rules, for so long as our 
shares are listed on the NYSE, and as otherwise required by the bylaws;  

•  provide that the board of directors is expressly authorized to make, alter or repeal our bylaws; and 

•  establish advance notice requirements for nominations for elections to our board of directors or for proposing matters that can be acted 
upon by stockholders at stockholder meetings.  



 

As security for the performance of our obligations under the loan documents in connection with our $50 million revolving line of credit 
with Comerica Bank, we granted the lenders a first priority security interest in substantially all of the Company's assets, including its real 
property, having a book value of $7.1 million as of December 31, 2013. For more information regarding this line of credit, see Note  11 , “ 
Credit Facilities ,” to our annual consolidated financial statements, which are included elsewhere in this report.  

Our facilities are utilized consistent with management's expectations and we believe such facilities are suitable and adequate for current 
requirements, and that additional space can be obtained on commercially reasonable terms to meet future requirements.  

Item 3. Legal Proceedings.  

Refer to Note 20, "Commitments and Contingencies" and Note 23, "Subsequent Events," to our annual consolidated financial statements 
included in Part II, Item 8 of this report, for legal proceedings, which notes are incorporated by reference into this Item 3 of Part I.  

Item 4. Not Applicable.  
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Number of 
Buildings    Location    

Total 
Square 
Footage    

Lease 
Expiration    Primary Use  

5    San Diego, CA    625,000    2017-2020    Enrollment services, student support services and corporate functions  

2    Denver, CO    260,000    2021-2023    Enrollment services, student support services and corporate functions  

2    Colorado Springs, CO    34,000    2015    Campus operations  

2    Clinton, IA    37,000    2016    Campus operations, enrollment services and student support services  

1    Philadelphia, PA    3,000    2015    Corporate functions  

1    Washington, D.C.    2,000    2014    Corporate functions  



 
PART II  

Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases  
of Equity Securities.  

Market Information  

Our common stock is listed on the NYSE under the symbol “BPI.” The following table sets forth, for each full quarterly period in 2013 and 
2012, the high and low sale prices of our common stock as reported on the NYSE.  

Holders of Record  

As of March 10, 2014 , the closing sales price of our common stock on the NYSE was $19.01 per share and there were 18 holders of record 
of our common stock, including the Depository Trust Company, which holds shares on behalf of an indeterminate number of beneficial owners.  

Dividend Policy  

We have not yet declared a cash dividend and do not anticipate paying a cash dividend in the foreseeable future. Any future determination 
to pay cash dividends will be at the discretion of our board of directors and will depend upon our financial condition, operating results, capital 
requirements, any contractual restrictions and such other factors as our board of directors may deem appropriate.  

In connection with our $50 million revolving credit agreement with the lenders signatory thereto and Comerica Bank, as administrative 
agent for the lenders, we are not permitted to make dividend payments, stock redemptions, permitted acquisitions and other specified cash 
expenditures exceeding an aggregate of $300 million during the term of the agreement. For more information regarding this line of credit, see 
Note  11 , “ Credit Facilities ,” to our annual consolidated financial statements, which are included elsewhere in this report.  

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities  

On November 8, 2013, we issued 666 shares of common stock to an investor upon the exercise of a warrant to purchase common stock at 
an exercise price of $1.125 per share for total proceeds to us of $749.25. The shares were offered and sold in reliance on the exemption from 
registration provided by Section 4(2) of the Securities Act and Rule 506 of Regulation D promulgated thereunder. An appropriate restrictive 
legend was placed on the stock certificate.  

On November 13, 2013, we issued 11,111 shares of common stock to an investor upon the exercise of a warrant to purchase common stock 
at an exercise price of $1.125 per share for total proceeds to us of $12,499.88. The shares were offered and sold in reliance on the exemption 
from registration provided by Section 4(2) of the Securities Act and Rule 506 of Regulation D promulgated thereunder. An appropriate 
restrictive legend was placed on the stock certificate.  

On November 14, 2013, we issued 1,111 shares of common stock to an investor upon the exercise of a warrant to purchase common stock 
at an exercise price of $1.125 per share for total proceeds to us of $1,249.88. The shares were offered and sold in reliance on the exemption from 
registration provided by Section 4(2) of the Securities Act and Rule 506 of Regulation D promulgated thereunder. An appropriate restrictive 
legend was placed on the stock certificate.  

On November 26, 2013, we issued 666 shares of common stock to an investor upon the exercise of a warrant to purchase common stock at 
an exercise price of $1.125 per share for total proceeds to us of $749.25. The shares were offered and sold in  
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   High ($)    Low ($)  

2012          

First Quarter  27.26    20.31  
Second Quarter  25.56    17.87  
Third Quarter  22.19    8.11  
Fourth Quarter  11.44    8.51  
2013          

First Quarter  11.38    9.51  
Second Quarter  13.32    9.62  
Third Quarter  18.13    11.89  
Fourth Quarter  20.33    15.64  



 

reliance on the exemption from registration provided by Section 4(2) of the Securities Act and Rule 506 of Regulation D promulgated 
thereunder. An appropriate restrictive legend was placed on the stock certificate.  

Purchases of Equity Securities  

For information regarding our tender offer authorized by a special committee of our board of directors, see Note 16, “Stock Repurchase 
Programs,” to our annual consolidated financial statements, which are included elsewhere in this report. Other than as set forth in the table and 
discussed in footnote 1 below, we repurchased no common stock during the fourth quarter of 2013.  

(1) In December 2013, we repurchased 10,249,766 shares of our common stock, including all “odd lots” properly tendered, shares tendered through the conditional exercise 
of options and shares tendered by Warburg Pincus Private Equity VIII, L.P. and its affiliates, the Company’s major stockholder, at a purchase price of $19.50 per share, for a total 
cost of approximately $199.9 million. Shares tendered through the conditional exercise of options represented 173,409 of the number of shares accepted for purchase. Our board of 
directors created and empowered a special committee to review and decide upon, with the assistance of management, alternatives for using the Company’s available financial 
resources. The special committee, consisting of independent directors Dale Crandall, Marye Anne Fox and Robert Hartman, considered the Company’s existing and anticipated 
capital structure and financial position, including the Company’s outstanding common stock, financial ratios, the market price of its common stock and the Company’s operations, 
strategy and expectations for the future. The tender offer was approved by the special committee of our board of directors.  
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Period  
Total Number of Shares 

Purchased (1)  
Average Price Paid per 

Share  

Total Number of Shares 
Purchased as Part of 

Publicly Announced Plans 
or Programs  

Approximate Dollar 
Value of Shares that May 
Be Purchased Under the 

Plans or Programs  

October 1, 2013 through October 31, 2013  — — — — 
November 1, 2013 through November 30, 
2013  — — — — 
December 1, 2013 through December 31, 
2013  10,249,766  $19.50 — — 

Total  10,249,766  $19.50 — — 



 
Performance Graph  

The following graph compares the cumulative total return provided to stockholders on Bridgepoint Education Inc.'s common stock relative 
to the cumulative total returns of the Russell 3000 Index, and a customized peer group of four postsecondary education companies that includes: 
American Public Education, Inc., Capella Education Company, Grand Canyon Education, Inc. and Strayer Education, Inc. An investment of 
$100 (with reinvestment of all dividends) is assumed to have been made in our common stock, in the peer group, and in the index, on April 15, 
2009 (the date our stock began trading on the NYSE), and the investment's relative performance is tracked through December 31, 2013 .  
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*  This performance graph shall not be deemed “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act, or incorporated by reference into any 
filing of Bridgepoint Education, Inc. under the Securities Act, or the Exchange Act, except as shall be expressly set forth by specific 
reference in such filing.  



 
Item 6. Selected Consolidated Financial Data.  

The Company is restating its consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2013, and its consolidated statement of income, consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of stockholders' equity and consolidated statement of cash flow for the year ended 
December 31, 2013, as well as the quarterly periods during that fiscal year. The Company is also revising its consolidated balance sheet as of 
December 31, 2012, and its consolidated statements of income, consolidated statements of comprehensive income, consolidated statements of 
stockholders' equity and consolidated statements of cash flow for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, as well as for all the quarterly 
periods included in 2012.  

The following selected consolidated financial and other data should be read in conjunction with Part II, Item 7, “Management's Discussion 
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” and our audited consolidated financial statements, which are included elsewhere 
in this report. The consolidated statement of income data, consolidated balance sheet data, and consolidated other data set forth below as of and 
for the years ended December 31, 2013 , 2012 , 2011 , 2010 , and 2009 , have been derived from our consolidated financial statements. 
Historical results are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected for future periods; the risk factors set forth in Part I, Item 1A, “Risk 
Factors,” of this report also discuss material uncertainties that could cause the data reflected below not to be indicative of our future financial 
condition or results of operations. We declared no cash dividends during the periods presented.  
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   Year Ended December 31,  

   2013    2012    2011    2010    2009  

   (Restated)                      
Consolidated Statement of Income Data:  (In thousands, except per share data)  

Revenue  $ 751,449    $ 943,405    $ 915,247    $ 699,894    $ 445,507  
Operating income(1)  68,463    191,627    270,953    213,833    79,422  
Net income  45,883    121,146    171,078    125,835    45,717  
Accretion of preferred dividends(2)  —   —   —   —   (645 )  

Net income available to common stockholders  45,883    121,146    171,078    125,835    45,072  
Earnings per common share:                         

Basic  $ 0.85    $ 2.29    $ 3.27    $ 2.34    $ 0.82  
Diluted  0.83    2.17    2.99    2.11    0.72  

   As of December 31,  

   2013    2012    2011    2010    2009  

   (Restated)                      
Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:  (In thousands)  

Cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash and investments  $ 356,435    $ 514,671    $ 407,232    $ 299,153    $ 170,575  
Total assets  570,012    742,413    607,537    466,811    292,563  
Total indebtedness (including short-term indebtedness)  —   —   —   —   635  
Total stockholders' equity  344,538    483,196    347,549    233,828    131,940  

   Year Ended December 31,  

   2013    2012    2011    2010    2009  

   (Restated)                      
Consolidated Other Data:  (In thousands, except enrollment data)  

Cash flows provided by (used in):                         

Operating activities  $ 85,586    $ 149,905    $ 215,954    $ 176,995    $ 116,054  
Investing activities  115,196    (23,009 )    (208,048 )    (94,472 )    (70,030 )  

Financing activities  (197,227 )    1,868    (67,357 )    (32,521 )    7,382  
Period-end enrollment (unaudited)(3):                         

Online  62,668    80,791    85,527    77,033    53,048  
Campus-based  956    1,019    1,115    859    640  

Total  63,624    81,810    86,642    77,892    53,688  
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(1)  In 2009, we recorded (i) an expense of $11.1 million related to the settlement of a stockholder claim (of which $10.6 million was non-cash) 
and (ii) we recorded a non-cash expense of $30.4 million related to the acceleration of exit options which occurred in connection with our 
initial public offering.  

(2)  The holders of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock earned preferred dividends, accreting at the rate of 8% per year, compounding 
annually.  

(3)  We define enrollments as the number of active students on the last day of the financial reporting period. Prior to July 1, 2011, a student was 
considered active if the student had attended a class within the prior 30 days unless the student had graduated or had provided us with 
notice of withdrawal. Effective July 1, 2011, a student is considered active if the student has attended a class within the prior 15 days or is 
on an institutionally-approved break not to exceed 45 days, unless the student has graduated or has provided us with notice of withdrawal.  



 
Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.  

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with our annual consolidated financial statements, which are included elsewhere in 
this report. In addition to historical information, this discussion includes forward-looking information that involves risks and assumptions which 
could cause actual results to differ materially from management's expectations. See Part I, Item 1A, “Risk Factors,” and “Special Note 
Regarding Forward-Looking Statements” at the beginning of this report.  

Overview  

We are a provider of postsecondary education services. Our academic institutions, Ashford University and University of the Rockies, offer 
associate's, bachelor's, master's and doctoral programs online as well as at their traditional campuses located in Iowa and Colorado, respectively. 
As of December 31, 2013 , our institutions offered approximately 1,570 courses, 80 degree programs and 145 specializations. We are also 
focused on developing innovative new technologies to improve the way students learn, such as the mobile learning platforms for our institutions, 
Constellation, Thuze and Waypoint Outcomes. For more information on our business, see “Business-Overview” in Part I, Item 1 of this report.  

Restatement/Revision of Previously Issued Consolidated Financial Statements  

The Company is restating its consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2013, and its consolidated statement of income, consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of stockholders' equity and consolidated statement of cash flow for the year ended 
December 31, 2013, as well as the quarterly periods during that fiscal year. The Company is also revising its consolidated balance sheet as of 
December 31, 2012, and its consolidated statements of income, consolidated statements of comprehensive income, consolidated statements of 
stockholders' equity and consolidated statements of cash flow for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, as well as for all the quarterly 
periods included in 2012.  

During the reporting of the first quarter of 2014, as part of a comment letter process with the Securities and Exchange Commission 
(“SEC”), the Company identified misapplications of GAAP as it related to the accounting for revenue recognition and the classification of 
restricted cash. Specifically on the revenue recognition, the process for analyzing the collectibility assertion was not designed to reassess 
collectibility on a student-by-student basis throughout the period revenue was recognized by the Company's institutions. As a result, the 
Company has changed its revenue recognition policy and has identified adjustments, relating to revenue, provision for bad debts, accounts 
receivable, which should have been recognized during the prior periods, and restricted cash balances, which should have been presented 
differently during the prior periods.  

Key operating data  

In evaluating our operating performance, our management focuses in large part on (i) revenue, (ii) operating income and (iii) period-end 
enrollment at our academic institutions (online and campus-based). The following table, which you should read in conjunction with our annual 
consolidated financial statements, contained elsewhere in this report, presents our key operating data for the years ended December 31, 2013 , 
2012 and 2011 (in thousands, except for enrollment data):  
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   Year Ended December 31,  

   2013    2012    2011  

   (Restated)            

Consolidated Statement of Income Data:               

Revenue  $ 751,449    $ 943,405    $ 915,247  
Operating Income  68,463    191,627    270,953  
Consolidated Other Data:               

Period-end enrollment (unaudited)(1)               

Online  62,668    80,791    85,527  
Campus-based  956    1,019    1,115  

Total  63,624    81,810    86,642  

(1)  We define enrollments as the number of active students on the last day of the financial reporting period. A student is considered active if 
the student has attended a class within the prior 15 days or is on an institutionally-approved break not to exceed 45 days, unless the student 
has graduated or has provided us with notice of withdrawal.  



 
Key enrollment trends  

Since our acquisition of Ashford University in March 2005, we have experienced overall growth in enrollments, revenue and operating 
income. However, in 2013 , enrollment at our institutions declined to 63,624 at December 31, 2013 as compared to 81,810 at December 31, 
2012 , representing a decrease of 22.2% .  

The following table presents new student enrollments for each quarter in 2013 , with comparisons to the same periods in 2012 :  

In recent quarters, we have generally experienced a decline in new student enrollments. We believe a primary driver for the recent decline 
is lower productivity levels of our admissions counselors and student inquiry coordinators, as a result of our various operational changes and 
business initiatives. We believe that the new student enrollment has been negatively impacted by the student quality and preparedness initiatives 
we added during fiscal year 2013. Lastly, we believe that the negative media scrutiny of the private sector postsecondary education industry in 
general has had a negative impact on new enrollments.  

Trends and uncertainties regarding revenue and continuing operations  

Ashford University made changes to its operations and business initiatives as part of its reapplication for initial accreditation from WASC. 
These initiatives included hiring new leadership, implementing smaller class sizes, expanding minimum age-levels for students, implementing 
the Ashford Promise (an initiative that allows online students a full refund for all tuition and fees through the third week of a student's first 
class), hiring additional full-time faculty, and implementing new program review models. Many of these initiatives have resulted in higher 
expense to the organization, primarily in the areas of instructional costs and services, as well as contributed to the recent decline in new 
enrollment and resulting decline in revenue.  

There was a reduction in force during the second quarter of 2013 to help better align personnel resources with the impact of previously 
announced institutional initiatives regarding enrollments. We recognized $5.9 million of severance costs for wages and benefits during the 
second quarter for this reduction in force. The total severance amount was charged as $4.8 million to instructional costs and services, $0.3 
million to admissions advisory and marketing expenses, and $0.8 million to general and administrative expenses. These costs were fully paid 
during the third quarter of 2013 from existing cash on hand.  

Although we continue to see a demand for postsecondary education and Title IV funds continue to be available to current and prospective 
students, our historical results and trends, including enrollments, instructional costs and services, and admissions advisory and marketing 
expenses may not be indicative of our future results.  

Liquidity and capital resources and anticipated capital expenditures  

We financed our operating activities and capital expenditures during 2013 and 2012 primarily through cash provided by operating 
activities. At December 31, 2013 , we had cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash and investments totaling $356.4 million and no long-term debt. 
Based on our current level of operations, we believe that our cash flows from operating activities, our cash and cash equivalents and other 
sources of liquidity will provide adequate funds for ongoing operations, planned capital expenditures and working capital requirements for at 
least the next 12 months. For the year ending December 31, 2014, we expect capital expenditures to be approximately $20.0 million.  

We also repurchased stock under our authorized stock repurchase programs. For more information about stock repurchases, see “Liquidity 
and Capital Resources - Stock Repurchase Programs” below.  

Key Financial Metrics  

Revenue  

Revenue consists principally of tuition, technology fees and other miscellaneous fees and is shown net of scholarships and refunds. Factors 
affecting our revenue include: (i) the number of students who enroll and who remain enrolled in our courses; (ii) our degree and program mix; 
(iii) changes in our tuition rates; and (iv) the amount of the scholarships that we offer.  
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   Q1    Q2    Q3    Q4    Total  

Current period  13,300    10,600    12,500    10,200    46,600  
Prior year period  24,275    19,300    20,500    9,260    73,335  
Percentage change  (45.2 )%   (45.1 )%   (39.0 )%   10.2 %   (36.5 )% 



 
Enrollments  

We define enrollments as the number of active students on the last day of the financial reporting period. A student is considered active if 
the student has attended a class within the prior 15 days or is on an institutionally-approved break not to exceed 45 days, unless the student has 
graduated or has provided us with notice of withdrawal.  

Enrollments are a function of the number of continuing students at the beginning of each period and new enrollments during the period, 
which are offset by students who either graduated or withdrew during the period. Our online courses are typically five or six weeks in length and 
have weekly start dates through the year, with the exception of a two-week break during the holiday period in late December and early January. 
Our campus-based courses have one start per term, with two to five terms per year.  

Costs and expenses  

Effective in 2012, we made changes in the presentation of our operating expenses and have reclassified prior periods to conform to that 
new presentation. Management determined that these changes would better reflect industry practices and would provide more meaningful 
information as well as increased transparency to our operations. We believe that the reclassification better represents the operational changes and 
the business initiatives that have been implemented. These reclassifications had no effect on previously reported total operating expenses or 
retained earnings. The following is a description of the nature of the costs included in each of our current expense categories.  

Instructional costs and services. Instructional costs and services consist primarily of costs related to the administration and delivery of our 
institutions' educational programs. This expense category includes compensation for campus-based faculty and administrative personnel, costs 
associated with online faculty, curriculum and new program development costs, financial aid processing costs, technology license costs, bad debt 
expense and costs associated with other support groups that provide services directly to the students. Instructional costs and services also include 
an allocation of information technology, facility, depreciation and amortization costs.  

Admissions advisory and marketing. Admissions advisory and marketing costs include compensation of personnel engaged in marketing 
and recruitment, as well as costs associated with purchasing leads and producing marketing materials. Our admissions advisory and marketing 
expenses are generally affected by the cost of advertising media and leads, the efficiency of our marketing and recruiting efforts, salaries and 
benefits for our enrollment personnel and expenditures on advertising initiatives for new and existing academic programs. Advertising costs, 
consisting primarily of marketing leads, are expensed as incurred or the first time the advertising takes place, depending on the type of 
advertising activity. Admissions advisory and marketing costs also include an allocation of information technology, facility, depreciation and 
amortization costs.  

General and administrative. General and administrative expenses include compensation of employees engaged in corporate management, 
finance, human resources, compliance and other corporate functions. General and administrative expenses also include professional services 
fees, travel and entertainment expenses and an allocation of information technology, facility, depreciation and amortization costs.  

Factors Affecting Comparability  

We believe the following factors have had, or can be expected to have, a significant effect on the comparability of recent or future results 
of operations:  

Stock repurchase programs  

See “Liquidity and Capital Resources - Stock Repurchase Programs” below.  

Seasonality  

Our operations are generally subject to seasonal trends. As our growth rate declines, we expect seasonal fluctuations in results of operations 
to become more apparent as a result of changes in the level of student enrollment. While we enroll students throughout the year, our fourth 
quarter revenue generally is lower than other quarters due to the holiday break in December. We generally experience a seasonal increase in new 
enrollments in August and September of each year when most other colleges and universities begin their fall semesters.  
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Critical Accounting Policies and Use of Estimates  

Critical accounting policies are those policies that, in management's view, are most important in the portrayal of our financial condition and 
results of operations. The footnotes to the consolidated financial statements also include disclosure of significant accounting policies. The 
methods, estimates and judgments that we use in applying our accounting policies have a significant impact on the results that we report in our 
financial statements. These critical accounting policies require us to make difficult and subjective judgments, often as a result of the need to 
make estimates regarding matters that are inherently uncertain.  

The discussion of our financial condition and results of operations is based upon our consolidated financial statements, which have been 
prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. The preparation of these financial 
statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues, costs and expenses. On 
an ongoing basis, we evaluate our estimates and assumptions. These estimates are based on historical experience and on various other 
assumptions that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances. The results of our analysis form the basis for making assumptions about the 
carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates under 
different assumptions or conditions, and the impact of such differences may be material to our consolidated financial statements.  

Revenue recognition  

We recognize revenue when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, services have been rendered or delivery has occurred, our fees 
or price is fixed or determinable, and collectibility is reasonably assured. The majority of our revenue comes from tuition revenue and is shown 
net of scholarships and refunds. Tuition revenue is recognized on a straight-line basis over the applicable period of instruction, with the 
exception of an online student's first course, per degree level, at Ashford University. Effective in the fourth quarter of 2012, an online student's 
first course per degree level at Ashford University falls under a three-week conditional admission period in which the revenue is deferred until 
the student matriculates into the course.  

Our institutions' online students generally enroll in a program that encompasses a series of five to six-week courses that are taken 
consecutively over the length of the program. With the exception of those students under conditional admission, online students are billed on a 
payment period basis on the first day of a class. Our institutions' traditional campus-based students enroll in a program that encompasses a series 
of nine-week or 16-week courses. These students are billed at the beginning of each term. We assess collectibility at the start of a student’s 
payment period (generally five courses for undergraduates and four courses for graduates) for the courses in that payment period.  

Deferred revenue and student deposits represents unearned tuition and fees as well as student payments in excess of charges. We record an 
account receivable and corresponding deferred revenue for the amount of tuition and fees for enrolled courses when a student is billed for a 
payment period. Payments that are received either directly from the student or from the student's source of funding that exceed amounts billed 
are recorded as student deposits. At the end of each accounting period, the deferred revenue and student deposits and related account receivable 
balances are reduced to present amounts attributable to the current course.  

If a student withdraws from a program prior to certain dates, the student is entitled to a refund of a portion of tuition, depending on the date 
the student last attended a class. For those students under conditional admission, the student is not obligated for payment until after their 
conditional admission period has lapsed, so there is no required refund. For all subsequent courses, if an online student drops a class and the 
student's last date of attendance was in the first week of class, the student receives a full refund of the tuition for that class. If an online student 
drops a class and the last date of attendance was in the second week of the class, the student receives a refund of 50% of the tuition for that class. 
If an online student drops a class and the student's last date of attendance was after the second week of the class, the student is not entitled to a 
refund. We monitor student attendance in online courses through activity in the online program associated with that course. After two weeks 
have passed without attendance in a class by the student, the student is presumed to have dropped the course as of the last date of attendance, and 
the student's tuition is automatically refunded to the extent the student is entitled to a refund based on the refund policy above, subject to certain 
state requirements which require a pro rata refund. We estimate expected refunds based on historical refund rates and record a provision to 
reduce revenue for the amount that is expected to be refunded. Refunds issued by us for services that have been provided in a prior period have 
not historically been material. Future changes in the rate of student withdrawals may result in a change to expected refunds and would be 
accounted for prospectively as a change in estimate. We reassess collectibility throughout the period revenue is recognized by the Company's 
institutions, on a student-by-student basis. We reassess collectibility based upon new information and changes in facts and circumstances 
relevant to a student's ability to pay. For example, we reassess collectibility when a student drops from the institution (i.e., is no longer enrolled) 
and when a student attends a course that was not included in the initial assessment at the start of a student’s payment period.  
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We also record revenue from technology fees that are one-time start up fees charged to each new online student, other than military, 

scholarship students or certain corporate reimbursement students. Technology fee revenue is recognized ratably over the average expected 
enrollment of a student. The average expected enrollment of the student is estimated each quarter based upon historical duration of attendance 
and qualitative factors as deemed necessary. Effective January 1, 2013, Ashford University eliminated the one-time technology fee and replaced 
it with a per course charge. The per course technology fee revenue is recognized on a straight-line basis over the applicable period of instruction. 

Allowance for doubtful accounts  

Accounts receivable consists of student accounts receivable, which represent amounts due for tuition, course digital materials, technology 
fees and other fees from currently enrolled and former students. Students generally fund their education through grants and/or loans under 
various Title IV programs, tuition assistance from military and corporate employers or personal funds. Payments are due on the respective course 
start date and are considered past due subsequent to the respective course start date. An account is considered delinquent 120 days subsequent to 
the course start date.  

Accounts receivable are stated at the amount management expects to collect from outstanding balances. For accounts receivable, an 
allowance for doubtful accounts is estimated by management and is principally based on historical collection experience as well as (i) an 
assessment of individual accounts receivable over a specific aging and amount, (ii) consideration of the nature of the receivable accounts and 
(iii) potential changes in the business or economic environment. The provision for bad debts is recorded within the instructional costs and 
services line in the consolidated statements of income. We charge off uncollectable accounts receivable when the student account is deemed 
uncollectable by internal collection efforts or by a third party collection agency.  

Loan loss reserves  

Student loans receivable consist of loans to qualified students and have a repayment period of 10 years from the date of graduation or 
withdrawal from the Company's institutions. The interest rate charged on student loans is a fixed rate of either 4.5% or 0.0% depending upon the 
repayment plan selected. If the student selects the rate of 0.0% , the student must pay $50 per month on the loan while enrolled in school and 
during the six months of grace period (after graduation or withdrawal) before the repayment period begins. On the 0.0% student loans, we 
impute interest using the rate that would be used in a market transaction with similar terms. Interest income on student loans is recognized using 
the effective interest method and is recorded within other income in the consolidated statements of income.  

Student loans receivable are stated at the amount management expects to collect from outstanding balances. For tuition related student loan 
receivables, we estimate an allowance for doubtful accounts, similar to that of accounts receivable, based on (i) an assessment of individual loans 
receivable over a specific aging and amount, (ii) consideration of the nature of the receivable accounts, (iii) potential changes in the business or 
economic environment and (iv) related FICO scores and other industry metrics. The related provision for bad debts is recorded within the 
instructional costs and services line in the consolidated statements of income.  

For non-tuition related student loans, we utilize an impairment methodology. Under this methodology, management determines whether a 
loan would be impaired if we will be unable to collect all amounts due in accordance with the contractual terms of the individual loan agreement. 
This assessment is based on an analysis of several factors including aging history and delinquency trending, the risk characteristics and loan 
performance of the specific loans, as well as current economic conditions and industry trends. Credit quality is assessed at the outset of a loan, 
based upon FICO score during the loan application process. We consider loans to be impaired when they reach a delinquency status that requires 
specialized collection efforts. We define delinquency for loans as being for students who are no longer active, having amounts that are past due 
and having the last activity more than 120 days old. We record a loss reserve for the full book value of the impaired loans. The loan loss reserve 
is maintained at a level deemed adequate by management based on a periodic analysis of the individual loans and is recorded within the 
instructional costs and services line in the consolidated statements of income.  

Impairments of intangible assets  

We test indefinite-lived intangible assets for impairment annually, in the fourth quarter of each fiscal year, or more frequently if events and 
circumstances warrant. To evaluate the impairment of the indefinite-lived intangible assets, we assessed the fair value of the assets to determine 
whether they were in excess of the carrying values. Determining the fair value of indefinite-lived intangible asset is judgmental in nature and 
involves the use of significant estimates and assumptions. These estimates and assumptions are inherently uncertain, and can include such items 
as growth rates used to calculate projected future cash flows, risk-adjusted discount rates, future economic and market conditions, as well as 
determination of appropriate market comparables. Our assessment of indefinite-lived intangible assets during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2013 
did not result in any impairment. There have been no impairment losses recognized by us for any periods presented.  
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We have definite-lived intangible assets, which primarily consist of purchased intangibles and capitalized curriculum development costs. 

The definite-lived intangible assets are recognized at cost less accumulated amortization. Amortization is computed using the straight-line 
method based on estimated useful lives of the related assets when there is evidence that events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. We estimate that the useful life of the capitalized curriculum development costs is three 
years and that the useful life of the purchased intangibles is the life of the related contract.  

Impairments of long-lived assets  

We assess potential impairment to our long-lived assets when there is evidence that events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Factors we consider important which could cause us to assess potential impairment include 
significant changes in the manner of our use of the acquired assets or the strategy for our overall business and significant negative industry or 
economic trends. An impairment loss is recorded when the carrying amount of the long-lived asset is not recoverable and exceeds its fair value. 
The carrying amount of a long-lived asset is not recoverable if it exceeds the sum of the undiscounted cash flows expected to result from the use 
and eventual disposition of the asset. Any required impairment loss is measured as the amount by which the carrying amount of a long-lived 
asset exceeds its fair value and is recorded as a reduction in the carrying value of the related asset and an expense to operating results.  

We use various assumptions in determining undiscounted cash flows expected to result from the use and eventual disposition of the asset, 
including assumptions regarding revenue growth rates, operating costs, certain capital additions, assumed discount rates, disposition or terminal 
value and other economic factors. These variables require management judgment and include inherent uncertainties such as continuing 
acceptance of our institutions' education offerings by prospective students, our ability to manage operating costs and the impact of changes in the 
economy on our business. A variation in the assumptions used could lead to a different conclusion regarding the realizability of an asset and, 
thus, could have a significant effect on our conclusions regarding whether an asset is impaired and the amount of impairment loss recorded in the 
consolidated financial statements.  

Income taxes  

We utilize the liability method of accounting for income taxes. Significant judgments are required in determining the consolidated 
provision for income taxes. During the ordinary course of business, there are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax 
settlement is uncertain. As a result, we recognize tax liabilities based on estimates of whether additional taxes and interest will be due. These tax 
liabilities are recognized when, despite our belief that our tax return positions are supportable, we believe that it is more likely than not that those 
positions may not be fully sustained upon review by tax authorities. We believe that our accruals for tax liabilities are adequate for all open audit 
years based on our assessment of many factors including past experience and interpretations of tax law. This assessment relies on estimates and 
assumptions and may involve a series of complex judgments about future events. To the extent that the final tax outcome of these matters differs 
from our expectations, such differences will impact income tax expense in the period in which such determination is made.  

We evaluate and account for uncertain tax positions using a two-step approach. Recognition (step one) occurs when we conclude that a tax 
position, based solely on its technical merits, is more-likely-than-not to be sustained upon examination. Measurement (step two) determines the 
amount of benefit that is greater than 50% likely to be realized upon ultimate settlement with a taxing authority that has full knowledge of all 
relevant information. Derecognition of a tax position that was previously recognized would occur when we subsequently determine that a tax 
position no longer meets the more-likely-than-not threshold of being sustained.  

We are required to file income tax returns in the United States and in various state income tax jurisdictions. The preparation of these 
income tax returns requires us to interpret the applicable tax laws and regulations in effect in such jurisdictions, which could affect the amount of 
tax paid by us. The income tax returns, however, are subject to audits by the various federal and state taxing authorities. As part of these reviews, 
the taxing authorities may disagree with our tax positions. The ultimate resolution of these tax positions is often uncertain until the audit is 
complete and any disagreements are resolved. We therefore record an amount for our estimate of the additional tax liability, including interest 
and penalties, for any uncertain tax positions taken or expected to be taken in an income tax return. We review and update the accrual for 
uncertain tax positions as more definitive information becomes available from taxing authorities, completion of tax audits and expiration of 
statutes of limitations. We record interest and penalties related to income tax matters in income tax expense.  

In addition to estimates inherent in the recognition of current taxes payable, we estimate the likelihood that we will be able to recover our 
deferred tax assets each reporting period. Realization of our deferred tax assets is dependent upon future taxable income. To the extent we 
believe it is more-likely-than-not that some portion or all of our net deferred tax assets will not be realized, we establish a valuation allowance 
recorded against deferred tax assets. Significant judgment is required in  
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determining any valuation allowance recorded against deferred tax assets. In assessing the need for a valuation allowance, we consider all 
available evidence including past operating results, estimates of future taxable income and the feasibility of ongoing tax planning strategies. We 
recognize windfall tax benefits associated with the exercise of stock options directly to stockholders' equity only when realized. A windfall tax 
benefit occurs when the actual tax benefit realized by us upon an employee's disposition of a share-based award exceeds the deferred tax asset, if 
any, associated with the award that we had recorded. When assessing whether a tax benefit relating to share-based compensation has been 
realized, we follow the tax law ordering method, under which current year share-based compensation deductions are assumed to be utilized 
before net operating loss carryforwards and other tax attributes.  

Stock-based compensation  

We grant options to purchase our common stock and restricted stock units to eligible persons under our equity incentive plans. The benefits 
provided under these plans are share-based payments and are recorded in our consolidated statement of income based upon their fair values.  

Stock-based compensation cost is measured using the grant date fair value of the award and is expensed over the vesting period. The fair 
value of restricted stock units is the stock price on the date of grant multiplied by the number of units awarded. We estimate the fair value of 
stock options awards on the grant date using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. Determining the fair value of stock options at the grant 
date under this model requires judgment, including estimating our volatility, employee stock option exercise behaviors and forfeiture rates. The 
assumptions used in calculating the fair value of stock options represent our best estimates, but these estimates involve inherent uncertainties and 
the application of management judgment.  

The risk-free interest rate is based on the U.S. Treasury yield of those maturities that are consistent with the expected term of the stock 
option in effect on the grant date of the award. Dividend rates are based upon historical dividend trends and expected future dividends. As we 
have never declared or paid any cash dividends and do not presently plan to pay cash dividends in the foreseeable future, a zero dividend rate is 
assumed in our calculation. We have determined that we now have enough historical option exercise information to be able to accurately 
compute an expected term for use as an assumption in the Black-Scholes option pricing model. As such, our computation of expected term was 
calculated using our own historical data.  

We do not have enough historical data on the volatility of our stock to use as a direct assumption in the Black-Scholes option pricing 
model. As such, we supplement our own stock volatility data with historical volatility data of comparable public companies, which we refer to as 
guideline companies, in order to calculate a volatility estimate for the number of years commensurate with our expected term assumption. In 
evaluating the comparability of the guideline companies, we consider factors such as industry, stage of life cycle, size and financial leverage. 
Options awarded under our equity incentive plans have an exercise price that equals or exceeds the closing price of our common stock on the 
date of grant.  

The amount of stock-based compensation expense we recognize during a period is based on the portion of the awards that are ultimately 
expected to vest. We estimate option forfeitures at the time of grant and revise those estimates in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ 
from those estimates. The effect of a 10% change in estimates to any of the individual inputs to the Black-Scholes option pricing model would 
not have a material impact to our consolidated financial statements.  
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Results of Operations  

The following table sets forth our consolidated statements of income data as a percentage of revenue for each of the periods indicated:  

Year Ended December 31, 2013 , Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2012  

Revenue. Our revenue for 2013 was $751.4 million , a decrease of $192.0 million , or 20.3% , as compared to $943.4 million for 2012 . The 
decrease between periods was primarily due to the decrease in average weekly enrollment between fiscal year 2012 and fiscal year 2013 . Ending 
student enrollment at our academic institutions decreased 22.2% , from 81,810 to 63,624 as of December 31, 2012 and 2013 , respectively. The 
average enrollment during fiscal year 2013 decreased to 72,500 from 90,838, or by 20.2% over the same period in the prior year, which resulted 
in an decrease in tuition revenue of approximately $155.7 million. Additionally, revenue generated from Constellation was $20.8 million in 
2013 , compared to $22.4 million in 2012 , which resulted in a decrease in revenue of approximately $1.6 million. The decrease in revenue was 
partially offset by the 2.75% tuition increase effective April 1, 2013, which resulted in an increase in revenue of approximately $20.9 million. 
The overall decrease in revenue was also impacted by a decrease in technology fees of $44.9 million and a decrease in institutional scholarships 
of $11.2 million. We provided institutional scholarships of $113.5 million in 2013 , compared to $124.7 million in 2012 . We earned technology 
fees of $15.7 million in 2013 , compared to $60.6 million in 2012 . The decline of $44.9 million in technology fees between periods is primarily 
due to the decline in new student enrollments as well as the change in technology fee structure for Ashford University. Effective January 1, 
2013, Ashford University eliminated the one-time technology fee of $1,290 it charged online students, and replaced it with a $50 per course 
charge.  

Instructional costs and services. Our instructional costs and services for 2013 were $370.7 million , an increase of $27.7 million , or 8.1% , 
as compared to $343.1 million for 2012 . In the second half of 2012, the Company began to increase its instructional costs and services costs in 
direct response to WASC accreditation efforts. These additional costs and services included hiring new leadership, implementing smaller class 
sizes, hiring additional full-time faculty and implementing new program review models. The Company continued these efforts and related 
changes to the cost structure throughout 2013. These increases were partially offset by decreases in enrollment. Student enrollment at our 
academic institutions decreased by 22.2% from 81,810 to 63,624 as of December 31, 2012 and 2013 , respectively. The average weekly 
enrollment during fiscal year 2013 also decreased to 72,500 from 90,838, or by 20.2%, over the same period in the prior year. Specific increases 
between periods include increases in corporate support services of $20.7 million, direct compensation in the areas of academic management, 
financial aid support and student services of $17.6 million (including $4.8 million of severance charges from the second quarter of 2013), 
facilities costs of $6.5 million, loan impairment of $2.0 million and amortization of $1.7 million. These increases are offset by decreases in 
instructor fees of $9.6 million, bad debt expense of $5.7 million, and financial aid processing fees of $3.0 million. Instructional costs and 
services increase d, as a percentage of revenue, to 49.3% for 2013 , as compared to 36.4% for 2012 , primarily as a result of the decreased 
revenue. The increase of 12.9% as a percentage of revenue included increases in direct compensation of 5.1%, corporate support services of 
3.3%, facilities costs of 1.6%, information technology costs of 0.8%, bad debt expense of 0.7%, instructor fees of 0.3%, loan impairment of 
0.3% and amortization of 0.3%. As a percentage of revenue, bad debt expense was 6.3% for 2013 , compared to 5.6% for 2012 . Although we 
resolved the accounts receivable aging issue, which resulted in the revision of bad debt for fiscal year 2012, we continued to be indirectly 
impacted within fiscal year 2013. As a result of the prior aging issue and the prior financial aid packaging issues, a backlog of work resulted for 
our  
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   Year Ended December 31,  

   2013    2012    2011  

   (Restated)            

Revenue  100.0 %   100.0 %   100.0 % 

Costs and expenses:               

Instructional cost and services  49.3 %   36.4 %   31.6 % 

Admissions advisory and marketing  31.3 %   36.0 %   32.5 % 

General and administrative  10.3 %   7.4 %   6.3 % 

Total costs and expenses  90.9 %   79.8 %   70.4 % 

Operating income  9.1 %   20.2 %   29.6 % 

Other income, net  0.4 %   0.4 %   0.3 % 

Income before income taxes  9.5 %   20.6 %   29.9 % 

Income tax expense  3.4 %   7.8 %   11.2 % 

Net income  6.1 %   12.8 %   18.7 % 



 
financial aid and collections departments. Due to this backlog, the ability to package or collect prospective accounts throughout 2013 was 
reduced and resulted in higher bad debt. Additionally, due to the timing of the aging issue, in certain cases this resulted in the inability to 
package students timely in the first half of 2013. Lastly, we had reductions in our collections department workforce which also resulted in higher 
bad debt. Although we cannot be certain that these changes will decrease bad debt expense in the future, we continue to focus on enhancing our 
processes and procedures around our accounts receivable, including improvements and efficiencies in financial aid processing in order to reduce 
the processing timeline, improved collection efforts on accounts receivable, and improved counseling to students about the financial aid process 
and related eligibility and amounts due from the student.  

Admissions advisory and marketing. Our admissions advisory and marketing expenses for 2013 were $235.4 million , a decrease of $103.9 
million , or 30.6% , as compared to $339.2 million for 2012 . Specific factors contributing to the overall decrease between periods were 
decreases in related compensation of $39.5 million due to fewer admissions and related personnel, advertising costs of $27.2 million, corporate 
support services of $25.1 million, facilities costs of $5.6 million, and information technology costs of $5.4 million. Our admissions advisory and 
marketing expenses, as a percentage of revenue, decrease d to 31.3% for 2013 from 36.0% for 2012 . The decrease of 4.7% as a percentage of 
revenue was primarily due to the decreases in corporate support services of 3.0%, selling compensation of 1.0%, and advertising costs of 0.8%.  

General and administrative. Our general and administrative expenses for 2013 were $76.9 million , an increase of $7.4 million , or 10.6% , 
as compared to $69.5 million for 2012 . The overall increase between periods was due to increases in administrative compensation of $6.4 
million, corporate support services of $4.4 million, depreciation of $2.4 million, information technology costs of $0.7 million, and professional 
fees of $0.5 million. These increases were offset by decreases in other administrative costs of $4.1 million, legal of $1.7 million and facilities 
costs of $1.1 million. Our general and administrative expenses, as a percentage of revenue, increase d to 10.3% for 2013 from 7.4% for 2012 . 
The 2.9% increase as a percentage of revenue included increases in administrative compensation of 1.9%, depreciation of 0.7%, and professional 
fees of 0.4%. These increases were primarily offset by a decrease in corporate support services of 0.4%.  

Other income, net. Our other income, net, for 2013 was $3.1 million , a decrease of $0.4 million as compared to $3.5 million for 2012 , as a 
result of decrease d interest income due to changes in levels of average cash and cash equivalents and investment balances. We believe that other 
income, net, will be lower in 2014 due to lower levels of cash and cash equivalents and investment balances.  

Income tax expense. Income tax expense for 2013 was $25.7 million , a decrease of $48.3 million from $74.0 million for 2012 , at effective 
tax rates of 35.9% and 37.9% for 2013 and 2012 , respectively. The decrease in our effective tax rate between periods was primarily due to the 
expiration of the statute of limitations on a prior tax year which triggered the release of $1.9 million of tax reserve.  

Net income. Our net income for 2013 was $45.9 million , a decrease of $75.3 million , as compared to net income of $121.1 million for 
2012 , due to the factors discussed above.  

Year Ended December 31, 2012 , Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2011  

Revenue. Our revenue for 2012 was $943.4 million , an increase of $28.2 million , or 3.1% , as compared to $915.2 million for 2011 . The 
increase between periods was primarily due to the increase in average weekly enrollment between fiscal year 2011 and fiscal year 2012 . Ending 
student enrollment at our academic institutions decreased 5.6% , from 86,642 to 81,810 as of December 31, 2011 and 2012 , respectively. 
However, the average enrollment during fiscal year 2012 actually increased to 90,838 from 87,559, or by 3.7% over the same period in the prior 
year, which resulted in an increase in revenue of approximately $56.7 million. The increase in revenue was also attributable to the 3% tuition 
increase effective April 1, 2012, which resulted in an increase in revenue of approximately $30.0 million. Additionally, revenue generated from 
Constellation was $22.4 million in 2012 , compared to $17.3 million in 2011 , which resulted in an increase in revenue of approximately $5.1 
million. These increases in revenue were partially offset by an increase in institutional scholarships of $22.4 million and a decrease in technology 
fees of $10.7 million. We provided institutional scholarships of $124.7 million in 2012, compared to $102.3 million in 2011 . We earned 
technology fees of $60.6 million in 2012 , compared to $71.3 million in 2011 . The decline of $10.7 million in technology fees between periods 
is primarily due to the decline in new student enrollments. Although average enrollment was up, new enrollment declined between periods.  

Instructional costs and services. Our instructional costs and services for 2012 were $343.1 million, an increase of $54.2 million, or 18.8%, 
as compared to $288.9 million for 2011 . This increase was primarily due to $34.4 million of additional instructional costs and services put into 
place in direct response to WASC accreditation efforts. These additional costs and services included hiring new leadership, implementing 
smaller class sizes, hiring additional full-time faculty and implementing new program review models. Additionally, this increase was also due to 
costs to support the higher average weekly student enrollment and bad debt expense. Although student enrollment at our academic institutions 
decreased by 5.6% from 86,642 to  
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81,810 as of December 31, 2011 and 2012, respectively, the average weekly enrollment during fiscal year 2012 actually increased to 90,838 
from 87,559, or by 3.7%, over the same period in the prior year, which had an impact of approximately $9.1 million. Specific increases between 
periods include increases in direct compensation of $20.6 million (which include the areas of academic management, financial aid support and 
student services), bad debt expense of $9.6 million, information technology costs of $9.3 million, facilities costs of $7.3 million, instructor fees 
of $6.9 million, and support services of $1.9 million. These increases are offset by decreases in financial aid processing fees of $5.5 million. 
Instructional costs and services increased, as a percentage of revenue, to 36.4% for 2012, as compared to 31.6% for 2011. The increase of 4.8% 
as a percentage of revenue included increases in direct compensation of 1.9%, bad debt expense of 0.9%, information technology costs of 0.9%, 
facilities costs of 0.7%, instructor fees of 0.6% and support services of 0.1%, offset by decreases in financial aid processing of 0.7%. As a 
percentage of revenue, bad debt expense was 5.6% for 2012, compared to 4.8% for 2011. The increase in bad debt expense as a percentage of 
revenue is primarily due to internal processing issues involving existing students and the timeliness of their financial aid packaging for their new 
academic years.  

Admissions advisory and marketing. Our admissions advisory and marketing expenses for 2012 were $339.2 million , an increase of $41.6 
million , or 14.0% , as compared to $297.6 million for 2011 . The increase was primarily due to the costs incurred for expanded marketing and 
branding efforts, as well as costs incurred to purchase additional leads. Specific factors contributing to the overall increase between periods were 
increases in the branding of Ashford University of $16.6 million, selling compensation of $13.8 million, facilities costs of $5.7 million, 
advertising costs of $3.1 million and support services of $1.8 million. Our admissions advisory and marketing expenses, as a percentage of 
revenue, increased to 36.0% for 2012 from 32.5% for 2011 . The increase of 3.5% as a percentage of revenue was mainly driven by the increase 
in branding efforts of 1.8%, selling compensation of 1.0% and facilities of 0.5%.  

General and administrative. Our general and administrative expenses for 2012 were $69.5 million , an increase of $11.7 million , or 
20.3% , as compared to $57.8 million for 2011 . The increase was primarily due to the $10.8 million legal expense in 2012, as well as increases 
in administrative labor of $4.1 million, professional fees of $1.5 million and facilities costs of $1.0 million. This was primarily offset by 
decreases due to a higher support service costs allocation of $3.8 million, and other administrative costs of $1.2 million. Our general and 
administrative expenses, as a percentage of revenue, increased to 7.4% for 2012 from 6.3% for 2011 . The 1.1% increase as a percentage of 
revenue was primarily due to the increase in the legal expense of 1.1%, administrative labor of 0.3% and professional fees of 0.1%. These 
increases were primarily offset by decreases due to support service costs allocation of 0.3% and other administrative costs of 0.2%.  

Other income, net. Our other income, net, for 2012 was $3.5 million , an increase of $0.7 million as compared to $2.9 million for 2011 , as 
a result of increase d interest income from increased levels of cash, cash equivalents and investments.  

Income tax expense. Income tax expense for 2012 was $74.0 million , a decrease of $28.7 million from $102.7 million for 2011 , at 
effective tax rates of 37.9% and 37.5% for 2012 and 2011 , respectively. The increase in our effective tax rate between periods was primarily due 
to an expanded presence in the state of Colorado.  

Net income. Our net income for 2012 was $121.1 million , a decrease of $49.9 million , as compared to net income of $171.1 million for 
2011 , due to the factors discussed above.  

Liquidity and Capital Resources  

Liquidity  

We financed our operating activities and capital expenditures during the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 , primarily through cash 
provided by operating activities. Our cash and cash equivalents were $212.5 million at December 31, 2013 , and $209.0 million at December 31, 
2012 . In addition, at December 31, 2013 and 2012 , we had total investments of $107.0 million and $258.7 million , respectively.  

We manage our excess cash pursuant to the quantitative and qualitative operational guidelines of our cash investment policy. Our cash 
investment policy, which is managed by our chief financial officer, has the following primary objectives: preserving principal, meeting our 
liquidity needs, minimizing market and credit risk, and providing after-tax returns. Under the policy's guidelines, we invest our excess cash 
exclusively in high-quality, U.S. dollar-denominated financial instruments. For a discussion of the measures we use to mitigate the exposure of 
our cash investments to market risk, credit risk and interest rate risk, see Part II, Item 7A, “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About 
Market Risk.”  

Stock repurchase programs  

In 2010, our board of directors authorized the repurchase of up to $60.0 million of our outstanding common stock. In 2011, the board of 
directors authorized up to an additional $75.0 million of our outstanding common stock, for a total of $135.0  
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million . The repurchase programs were authorized by our board of directors with the intention of creating additional value for stockholders. 
Since the inception of the repurchase programs, we have repurchased 7.3 million shares at a weighted average price of $18.62 per share for a 
total cost of $135.0 million , substantially completing both programs. During 2011, we repurchased 4.2 million shares at a weighted average 
price of $21.84 per share for a total cost of $92.8 million . As a result of the 2011 repurchases, diluted earnings per common share increased 
$0.11, or 3.8%, as a result of the fewer shares outstanding.  

On April 30, 2012, our board of directors authorized the repurchase of up to $75.0 million of our outstanding shares of common stock over 
the following 12 months. The repurchase program was authorized by our board of directors with the intention of creating additional value for 
stockholders. Under the repurchase program, we were authorized to purchase shares from time to time in the open market, through block trades 
or otherwise.  

In December 2012, we repurchased 0.1 million shares of our common stock from certain senior executives for a cost of $0.6 million. This 
repurchase was approved by our board of directors. The shares were repurchased at a price equal to the closing price of our common stock on the 
New York Stock Exchange on the day the repurchase was approved by our board of directors. No shares were sold into the market in connection 
with this share repurchase.  

On November 10, 2013, a special committee of our board of directors approved a plan to purchase up to 10,250,000 shares of our common 
stock through a tender offer. In December 2013, we repurchased shares of our common stock through the tender offer at a price of $19.50 per 
share. The tender offer commenced on November 13, 2013 and expired on December 11, 2013. The tender offer was oversubscribed, resulting in 
the purchase of 10.25 million shares, including 0.2 million shares underlying previously unexercised stock options, for a total cost of $199.9 
million, exclusive of fees. The repurchased shares were added to treasury stock.  

Available borrowing facilities  

On April 13, 2012, we entered into a $50 million revolving line of credit (“Facility”) pursuant to an Amended and Restated Revolving 
Credit Agreement (“Revolving Credit Agreement”) with the lenders signatory thereto and Comerica Bank (“Comerica”), as administrative agent 
for the lenders. At our option, we may increase the size of the Facility up to $100 million (in certain minimum increments), subject to the terms 
and conditions of the Revolving Credit Agreement. Additionally, we may request swing-line advances under the Facility up to $3 million in the 
aggregate.  

Under the Revolving Credit Agreement and the documents executed in connection therewith (collectively, the “Facility Loan Documents”), 
the lenders have agreed to make loans to us and issue letters of credit on our behalf, subject to the terms and conditions of the Facility Loan 
Documents. The Facility has a term of three years and matures on April 13, 2015. Interest and fees accruing under the Facility are payable 
quarterly in arrears and principal is payable at maturity. We may terminate the Facility upon five days notice, without premium or penalty, other 
than customary breakage fees.  

The Facility Loan Documents contain other customary affirmative, negative and financial maintenance covenants, representations and 
warranties, events of default, and remedies upon an event of default, including the acceleration of debt and the right to foreclose on the collateral 
securing the Facility. As security for the performance of our obligations under the Facility Loan Documents, we granted the lenders a first 
priority security interest in substantially all of our assets, including our real property.  

As of December 31, 2013 , we used the availability under the revolving credit facility to issue letters of credit aggregating $5.8 million . 
We were in compliance with all financial covenants in the Loan Documents and had no borrowings outstanding under the revolving credit 
facility as of December 31, 2013 .  

For more information about the Loan Documents, see Note  11 , “ Credit Facilities ,” to our annual consolidated financial statements, 
which are included elsewhere in this report.  

Title IV funding  

Our institutions derive the substantial majority of their respective revenues from students who enroll and are eligible for various federal 
student financial assistance programs under Title IV of the Higher Education Act of 1965, as amended. In the years ended December 31, 2013 , 
2012 and 2011 , Ashford University derived 85.6% , 86.4% and 86.8% , respectively, and University of the Rockies derived 87.6% , 87.3% and 
85.0% , respectively, of their respective revenues (calculated on a cash basis in accordance with applicable statutory provisions and Department 
regulations) from Title IV funds. Our institutions are subject to significant regulatory scrutiny on the basis of numerous standards that the 
institutions must satisfy in order to participate in Title IV programs. For more information regarding Title IV programs and the regulation 
thereof, see “Regulation” in Part I, Item 1 of this report. The balance of revenues derived by our institutions is from government tuition 
assistance programs for military personnel, including veterans, cash pay and corporate reimbursement, private loans and internal loan  
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programs. For more information regarding these student financing options, see “Business-Student Financing” in Part I, Item 1 of this report.  

If we were ineligible to receive Title IV funding, our liquidity would be significantly impacted. The timing of disbursements under Title IV 
programs is based on federal regulations and our ability to successfully and timely arrange financial aid for our institutions' students. Title IV 
funds are generally provided in multiple disbursements before we earn a significant portion of tuition and fees and incur related expenses over 
the period of instruction. Students must apply for new loans and grants each academic year. These factors, together with the timing of our 
institutions' students beginning their programs, affect our operating cash flow.  

Financial responsibility  

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2012, the composite score calculated was 3.0 , satisfying the composite score requirement of the 
Department's financial responsibility test, which institutions must satisfy in order to participate in Title IV programs. We expect the consolidated 
composite score to be 3.0 for the year ended December 31, 2013 . However, the consolidated calculation is subject to determination by the 
Department once it receives and reviews our audited financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2013 . For more information, see 
“Regulation-Department Regulation of Title IV Programs-Financial responsibility” in Part I, Item 1 of this report.  

Internal loan program  

We have implemented programs at both of our institutions in which the institution provides direct loans to students. For University of the 
Rockies, the total amount of financing provided during 2013 , 2012 and 2011 , was $0.8 million, $2.7 million and $3.1 million, respectively. For 
Ashford University there was no additional new internal loan financing to students in 2013, and the total amount of financing provided during 
2012 and 2011 , was $6.9 million and $5.8 million, respectively.  

Operating activities  

Net cash provided by operating activities was $85.6 million , $149.9 million and $216.0 million for 2013 , 2012 and 2011 , respectively. 
The decrease of $64.3 million from 2012 to 2013 was primarily related to the decrease of $75.3 million in net income between periods. 
Additionally, there was cash used between periods due to a decrease in deferred revenue and student deposits of $37.7 million , primarily offset 
by cash provided between periods due to an overall decrease in accounts receivable of $46.4 million , as well as due to an decrease in the change 
in restricted cash of $3.3 million . We expect to continue to generate cash from our operating activities for the foreseeable future.  

Investing activities  

Net cash provided by investing activities was $115.2 million for 2013 , compared to net cash used in investing activities of $23.0 million 
and $208.0 million for 2012 and 2011 , respectively. Our cash used in investing activities is primarily related to the purchases of property and 
equipment, leasehold improvements, capitalized costs for intangible assets and purchases of investments. Our cash provided by investing 
activities is primarily related to sales and maturities of investments. Capital expenditures were $14.8 million , $25.3 million and $34.5 million 
for 2013 , 2012 and 2011 , respectively. For the year ending December 31, 2014 , we expect capital expenditures to be approximately $20.0 
million.  

During 2013 , we purchased $26.8 million of investments and there were sales and maturities of $176.3 million . This is compared to 
purchases of $179.4 million and sales and maturities of $186.9 million in 2012 , and purchases of $337.1 million and maturities of $167.0 
million in 2011 . The decrease of net purchases of investments in the current year compared to 2012 was due primarily to cash requirements for 
the stock repurchase which occurred in the fourth quarter of the current year.  

Financing activities  

Net cash used in financing activities was $197.2 million for 2013 , compared to net cash provided by financing activities of $1.9 million for 
2012 and net cash used in financing activities of $67.4 million for 2011 . During 2013 , net cash used in financing activities primarily reflects our 
repurchase of approximately 10.2 million shares of common stock at $19.50 per share under a tender offer for a total of $199.9 million, partially 
offset by the cash provided by option exercises, net of any tax withholdings related to net exercise of stock options, as well as the cash provided 
by the tax benefit of the option exercises. During 2012 , net cash provided by financing activities primarily reflects the cash provided by option 
exercises, net of any tax withholdings related to net exercise of stock options, as well as the cash provided by the tax benefit of the option 
exercises. During 2011 , net cash used in financing activities was primarily related to our repurchase of approximately 4.2 million shares of 
common stock at a weighted average cost of $21.84 per share, for a total of $92.8 million . The cash used in the repurchase of common stock in 
2011 was partially offset by $24.0 million of cash provided by stock option exercises and the tax benefit from those exercises.  
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We may utilize commercial financing and lines of credit for the purpose of expansion of our online business infrastructure and to expand 

and improve our ground campuses in Iowa and Colorado. We believe that our credit facilities are sufficient for our current level of operations. 
Based on our current level of operations, we believe that our cash flow from operations, existing cash and cash equivalents and other sources of 
liquidity will provide adequate funds for ongoing operations, planned capital expenditures and working capital requirements for at least the next 
12 months.  

Significant Cash and Contractual Obligations  

The following table sets forth, as of December 31, 2013 , certain significant cash and contractual obligations that will affect our future 
liquidity:  

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements  

As part of our normal business operations, we are required to provide surety bonds in certain states where we do business. In May 2009, we 
entered into a surety bond facility with an insurance company to provide such bonds when required. As of December 31, 2013 , our total 
available surety bond facility was $12.0 million and the surety had issued bonds totaling $6.5 million on our behalf under such facility.  

Segment Information  

We operate in one reportable segment as a single educational delivery operation using a core infrastructure that serves the curriculum and 
educational delivery needs of both our campus-based and online students regardless of geography. Our chief operating decision maker, our CEO 
and President, manages our operations as a whole, and no expense or operating income information is evaluated by our chief operating decision 
maker on any component level.  

Recent Accounting Pronouncements  

None.  

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.  

Market and credit risk  

Pursuant to our cash investment policy, we attempt to mitigate the exposure of our cash and investments to market and credit risk by 
(i) diversifying concentration risk to ensure that we are not overly concentrated in a limited number of financial institutions, (ii) monitoring and 
managing the risks associated with the national banking and credit markets, (iii) investing in U.S. dollar-denominated assets and instruments 
only, (iv) diversifying account structures so that we maintain a decentralized account portfolio with numerous stable, highly-rated and liquid 
financial institutions and (v) ensuring that our investment procedures maintain a defined and specific scope such that we will not invest in 
higher-risk investment accounts, including financial swaps or derivative and corporate equities. Accordingly, under the guidelines of the policy, 
we invest our excess cash exclusively in high-quality, U.S. dollar-denominated financial instruments.  

Despite the investment risk mitigation strategies we employ, we may incur investment losses as a result of unusual and unpredictable 
market developments and we may experience reduced investment earnings if the yields on investments deemed to be low risk remain low or 
decline further in this time of economic uncertainty. In addition, unusual and unpredictable market developments may also create liquidity 
challenges for certain of the assets in our investment portfolio.  

We have no derivative financial instruments or derivative commodity instruments.  
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   Payments Due by Period  

   Total    2014    2015    2016    2017    2018    Thereafter  

   (In thousands)  

Operating lease obligations  $ 224,638    $ 36,962    $ 37,226    $ 37,293    $ 37,363    $ 34,072    $ 41,722  
Other contractual obligations  43,781    12,410    5,618    3,253    2,500    2,500    17,500  
Uncertain tax positions  7,466    —   7,466    —   —   —   — 

Total  $ 275,885    $ 49,372    $ 50,310    $ 40,546    $ 39,863    $ 36,572    $ 59,222  



 
Interest rate risk  

To the extent we borrow funds under our lines of credit with Comerica, we would be subject to fluctuations in interest rates. See Part II, 
Item 7, “Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations-Liquidity and Capital Resources.” As of 
December 31, 2013 , we had no borrowings under the line of credit with Comerica.  

Our future investment income may fall short of expectations due to changes in interest rates. At December 31, 2013 , a 10% increase or 
decrease in interest rates would not have a material impact on our future earnings, fair value or cash flows related to interest earned from cash, 
cash equivalents or investments.  
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.  

INDEX TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
BRIDGEPOINT EDUCATION, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES  
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm  

 
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Bridgepoint Education, Inc.:  
 
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and the related consolidated statements of income, of comprehensive income, of stockholders' 
equity and of cash flows present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Bridgepoint Education, Inc. and its subsidiaries at December 31, 2013 
and 2012, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2013 in conformity with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Management and we previously concluded that the Company maintained effective 
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2013. However, management has subsequently determined that material weaknesses in internal 
control over financial reporting related to the selection and application of generally accepted accounting principles related to revenue recognition and restricted 
cash existed as of that date. Accordingly, management’s report was restated and our present opinion on internal control over financial reporting, as presented 
herein, is different from that expressed in our original report. Also in our opinion, the Company did not maintain, in all material respects, effective internal 
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2013, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (1992) issued by the 
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) because material weaknesses in internal control over financial reporting related 
to the selection and application of generally accepted accounting principles for revenue recognition and restricted cash existed as of that date. A material 
weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material 
misstatement of the annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. The material weaknesses referred to above are 
described in Management's Restated Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting appearing under Item 9A. We considered these material weaknesses in 
determining the nature, timing, and extent of audit tests applied in our audit of the consolidated financial statements, and our opinion regarding the effectiveness 
of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting does not affect our opinion on those consolidated financial statements. The Company's management is 
responsible for these financial statements, for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal 
control over financial reporting included in management's report referred to above. Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements and on 
the Company's internal control over financial reporting based on our integrated audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public 
Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material 
respects. Our audits of the financial statements included examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, 
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. Our audit of 
internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material 
weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audit also included 
performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.  

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company has restated its 2013 financial statements to correct certain errors.  

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and 
the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over 
financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the 
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of 
financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in 
accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of 
unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.  

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of 
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance 
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.  
 

 

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP  
Los Angeles, California  
 
 
March 17, 2014, except for effects of the restatement and revisions described in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements and the matter described in the 
penultimate paragraph of Management's Restated Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting, as to which the date is August 1, 2014  
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BRIDGEPOINT EDUCATION, INC.  

Notes to Annual Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)  

 
BRIDGEPOINT EDUCATION, INC.  

Consolidated Balance Sheets  
(In thousands, except par value) 

   As of December 31,  

   2013    2012  

   (Restated)       

ASSETS          

Current assets:          

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 212,526    $ 208,971  
Restricted cash  36,946    46,994  
Investments  65,901    136,967  
Accounts receivable, net  22,953    54,487  
Student loans receivable, net  1,043    556  
Deferred income taxes  16,683    15,490  
Prepaid expenses and other current assets  21,563    20,053  

Total current assets  377,615    483,518  
Property and equipment, net  91,425    95,966  
Investments  41,062    121,738  
Student loans receivable, net  11,785    14,416  
Goodwill and intangibles, net  26,878    10,739  
Deferred income taxes  18,507    13,706  
Other long-term assets  2,740    2,330  
Total assets  $ 570,012    $ 742,413  

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY          

Current liabilities:          

Accounts payable  $ 5,195    $ 4,588  
Accrued liabilities  54,290    44,640  
Deferred revenue and student deposits  132,791    175,057  

Total current liabilities  192,276    224,285  
Rent liability  23,927    25,173  
Other long-term liabilities  9,271    9,759  
Total liabilities  225,474    259,217  
Commitments and contingencies (see Note 20)      

Stockholders' equity:          

Preferred stock, $0.01 par value:          
20,000 shares authorized; zero shares issued and outstanding at both December 31, 2013, and 
December 31, 2012  —   — 

Common stock, $0.01 par value:          
300,000 shares authorized; 62,331 issued and 44,774 outstanding at December 31, 2013; 61,406 issued 
and 54,099 outstanding at December 31, 2012  623    614  

Additional paid-in capital  168,829    151,709  
Retained earnings  512,107    466,224  
Accumulated other comprehensive gain  48    222  
Treasury stock, 17,557 shares at cost at December 31, 2013, and 7,307 shares at cost at December 31, 
2012  (337,069 )    (135,573 )  

Total stockholders' equity  344,538    483,196  

Total liabilities and stockholders' equity  $ 570,012    $ 742,413  



The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.  
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BRIDGEPOINT EDUCATION, INC.  
Consolidated Statements of Income  

(In thousands, except per share amounts)  
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.  
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   Year Ended December 31,  

   2013    2012    2011  

   (Restated)            

Revenue  $ 751,449    $ 943,405    $ 915,247  
Costs and expenses:               

Instructional costs and services  370,734    343,072    288,882  
Admissions advisory and marketing  235,358    339,209    297,619  
General and administrative  76,894    69,497    57,793  

Total costs and expenses  682,986    751,778    644,294  
Operating income  68,463    191,627    270,953  
Other income, net  3,082    3,531    2,871  
Income before income taxes  71,545    195,158    273,824  
Income tax expense  25,662    74,012    102,746  

Net income  $ 45,883    $ 121,146    $ 171,078  

Earnings per common share:               

Basic  $ 0.85    $ 2.29    $ 3.27  
Diluted  0.83    2.17    2.99  

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding used in computing earnings per 
common share:               

Basic  53,923    52,947    52,291  
Diluted  55,487    55,946    57,133  



 
BRIDGEPOINT EDUCATION, INC.  

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income  
(In thousands)  

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.  
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   Year Ended December 31,  

   2013    2012    2011  

   (Restated)            

Net income  $ 45,883    $ 121,146    $ 171,078  
Other comprehensive gain (loss), net of tax:               

     Unrealized gains (losses) on investments  (174 )   817    (595 ) 

Comprehensive income  $ 45,709    $ 121,963    $ 170,483  



 
BRIDGEPOINT EDUCATION, INC.  

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity  
(In thousands)  

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.  
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   Common Stock    Additional  
Paid-in  
Capital    

Retained  
Earnings    

Accumulated 
Other  

Comprehensive  
 Gain/(Loss)    

Treasury  
Stock    

   

   Shares    Par Value    Total  

Balance at December 31, 2010  55,801    $ 558    $ 101,463    $ 174,000    $ —   $ (42,193 )    $ 233,828  
Stock-based compensation  —   —   10,595    —   —   —   10,595  
Exercise of stock options  3,070    31    4,858    —   —   —   4,889  
Excess tax benefit of option exercises  —   —   19,096    —   —   —   19,096  
Stock issued under employee stock purchase plan  67    1    1,329    —   —   —   1,330  
Exercise of warrants  43    —   106    —   —   —   106  
Repurchase of common stock  —   —   —   —   —   (92,778 )    (92,778 )  

Net income  —   —   —   171,078    —   —   171,078  
Unrealized losses on investments, net of tax  —   —   —   —   (595 )    —   (595 )  

Balance at December 31, 2011  58,981    590    137,447    345,078    (595 )    (134,971 )    347,549  
Stock-based compensation  —   —   13,729    —   —   —   13,729  
Exercise of stock options  2,212    22    2,235    —   —   —   2,257  
Tax withholdings related to net exercise of stock 
options  —   —   (10,418 )    —   —   —   (10,418 )  

Excess tax benefit of option exercises  —   —   8,145    —   —   —   8,145  
Stock issued under employee stock purchase plan  99    1    1,339    —   —   —   1,340  
Stock issued under restricted stock plan  33    —   (313 )    —   —   —   (313 )  

Exercise of warrants  81    1    489    —   —   —   490  
Tax withholdings related to net exercise of 
warrants  —   —   (944 )    —   —   —   (944 )  

Repurchase of common stock  —   —   —   —   —   (602 )    (602 )  

Net income  —   —   —   121,146    —   —   121,146  
Unrealized gains on investments, net of tax  —   —   —   —   817    —   817  
Balance at December 31, 2012  61,406    614    151,709    466,224    222    (135,573 )    483,196  
Stock-based compensation  —   —   13,934    —   —   —   13,934  
Exercise of stock options  590    6    10,458    —   —   —   10,464  
Tax withholdings related to net exercise of stock 
options  —   —   (9,170 )    —   —   —   (9,170 )  

Excess tax benefit of option exercises and 
restricted stock, net of tax shortfall  —   —   1,516    —   —   —   1,516  
Stock issued under employee stock purchase plan  116    1    1,233    —   —   —   1,234  
Stock issued under restricted stock plan  115    1    (1,081 )    —   —   —   (1,080 )  

Exercise of warrants  104    1    230    —   —   —   231  
Repurchase of common stock  —   —   —   —   —   (201,496 )    (201,496 )  

Net income (as restated)  —   —   —   45,883    —   —   45,883  
Unrealized losses on investments, net of tax  —   —   —   .    (174 )    —   (174 )  

Balance at December 31, 2013 (as restated)  62,331    $ 623    $ 168,829    $ 512,107    $ 48    $ (337,069 )    $ 344,538  



 
BRIDGEPOINT EDUCATION, INC.  

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows  
(In thousands) 

   Year Ended December 31,  

   2013    2012    2011  

Cash flows from operating activities  (Restated)            

Net income  $ 45,883    $ 121,146    $ 171,078  
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:           

Provision for bad debts  47,119    52,767    43,203  
Depreciation and amortization  21,666    17,424    12,743  
Amortization of premium/discount  2,624    8,992    3,969  
Deferred income taxes  (6,962 )    (11,373 )    5,601  
Stock-based compensation  13,934    13,729    10,595  
Excess tax benefit of option exercises  (2,590 )    (10,058 )    (19,096 )  

Loss on impairment of student loans receivable  1,998    —   — 
Net realized gain on sale of marketable securities  (63 )    —   — 
Loss on termination of leased space  328    —   — 
Loss on disposal of fixed assets  751    1,153    13  

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:           

Restricted cash  10,048    6,721    (4,855 )  

Accounts receivable  (15,973 )    (62,333 )    (43,300 )  

Prepaid expenses and other current assets  (2,607 )    (2,387 )    (3,547 )  

Student loans receivable  291    (5,742 )    (6,021 )  

Other long-term assets  (412 )    2,131    253  
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  13,220    12,100    27,509  
Deferred revenue and student deposits  (41,607 )    (3,921 )    11,870  
Other liabilities  (184 )    8,772    5,882  
Uncertain tax position  (1,878 )    784    57  

Net cash provided by operating activities  85,586    149,905    215,954  
Cash flows from investing activities               

Capital expenditures  (14,825 )    (25,296 )    (34,492 )  

Purchases of investments  (26,759 )    (179,387 )    (337,084 )  

Restricted cash  —   25    — 
Capitalized costs for intangible assets  (19,563 )    (5,262 )    (3,521 )  

Sales and maturities of investments  176,343    186,911    167,049  
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities  115,196    (23,009 )    (208,048 )  

Cash flows from financing activities               

Proceeds from exercise of stock options  10,464    2,257    4,889  
Tax withholdings related to net exercise of stock options  (9,170 )    (10,418 )    — 
Excess tax benefit of option exercises  2,590    10,058    19,096  
Proceeds from the issuance of stock under employee stock purchase plan  1,234    1,340    1,330  
Proceeds from the exercise of warrants  231    490    106  
Tax withholdings related to net exercise of warrants  —   (944 )    — 
Issuance of restricted stock  (1,080 )    (313 )    — 
Repurchase of common stock  (201,496 )    (602 )    (92,778 )  

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities  (197,227 )    1,868    (67,357 )  

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  3,555    128,764    (59,451 )  

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period  208,971    80,207    139,658  
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period  $ 212,526    $ 208,971    $ 80,207  

            

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information               

Cash paid for interest  $ 146    $ 130    $ 56  
Cash paid for income taxes  $ 38,642    $ 65,075    $ 76,731  



The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.  
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Supplemental disclosure of non-cash transactions:               

Purchase of equipment included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities  $ 136    $ 509    $ 2,489  



 

 
BRIDGEPOINT EDUCATION, INC.  

Notes to Annual Consolidated Financial Statements  
 

 
1. Nature of Business  

Bridgepoint Education, Inc. (together with its subsidiaries, the “Company”), incorporated in 1999, is a provider of postsecondary education 
services. Its wholly-owned subsidiaries, Ashford University and University of the Rockies, are regionally accredited academic institutions that 
offer associate's, bachelor's, master's and doctoral programs online, as well as at their traditional campuses located in Iowa and Colorado, 
respectively.  

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies  

Principles of Consolidation  

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Bridgepoint Education, Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. Intercompany 
transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.  

Use of Estimates  

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America (“GAAP”) requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts in the consolidated financial 
statements. Actual results could differ from those estimates.  

Restatement/Revision of Previously Issued Consolidated Financial Statements  

The Company has restated its consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2013, and its consolidated statement of income, consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income and consolidated statement of cash flow for the year ended December 31, 2013, as well as for the quarterly 
periods during that fiscal year. The Company has also revised its consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2012, and its consolidated 
statements of income, consolidated statements of comprehensive income and consolidated statements of cash flow for the years ended December 
31, 2012 and 2011, as well as for the quarterly periods during 2012. During the reporting of the first quarter of 2014, as part of a comment letter 
process with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”), the Company identified misapplications of GAAP as it related to the accounting 
for revenue recognition and the classification of restricted cash. Specifically on the revenue recognition, the process for analyzing the 
collectibility assertion was not designed to reassess collectibility on a student-by-student basis throughout the period revenue was recognized by 
the Company's institutions. As a result, the Company identified adjustments, relating to revenue, provision for bad debts, accounts receivable, 
which should have been recognized during the prior periods, and restricted cash balances, which should have been presented differently during 
the prior periods.  

The Company evaluated the cumulative impact of these items on prior periods under the guidance in ASC 250-10, relating to SEC Staff 
Accounting Bulletin (“SAB”) No. 99, “ Materiality .” The Company also evaluated the impact of correcting these items through an adjustment to 
its financial statements for the three months ended March 31, 2014 and concluded, based on the guidance within ASC 250-10 relating to SAB 
No. 108, “ Considering the Effects of Prior Year Misstatements when Quantifying Misstatements in Current Year Financial Statements ,” that a 
restatement to its previously issued 2013 financial statements, and a revision to its previously issued 2012 and 2011 financial statements, would 
be necessary to reflect the impact of these corrections.  

The following tables present the impact of the restatement and revisions on the previously issued financial statements. The “As Restated” 
column for 2013 and the “As Revised” column for 2012 reflects final adjusted balances after the related restatement or revision, as well as 
previously identified immaterial adjustments. The following tables are presented in thousands, except per share data:  
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   As Reported    As Restated     As Reported    As Revised             

Consolidated balance sheet data:  December 31, 2013     December 31, 2012        

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 249,472    $ 212,526     $ 255,965    $ 208,971           

Restricted cash  $ —   $ 36,946     $ —   $ 46,994           

Accounts receivable, net  $ 28,565    $ 22,953     $ 67,371    $ 54,487           

Deferred income taxes, current  $ 15,232    $ 16,683     $ 10,936    $ 15,490           

Prepaid expenses and other current assets  $ 21,369    $ 21,563     $ 19,810    $ 20,053           

Total current assets  $ 381,582    $ 377,615     $ 491,605    $ 483,518           

Student loans receivable, net, non-current  -   -    $ 15,143    $ 14,416           

Deferred income taxes, non-current  -   -    $ 13,266    $ 13,706           

Total assets  $ 573,979    $ 570,012     $ 750,787    $ 742,413           

Accrued liabilities  $ 54,756    $ 54,290     -   -            

Total current liabilities  $ 192,742    $ 192,276     -   -            

Total liabilities  $ 255,940    $ 225,474     -   -            

Retained earnings  $ 515,608    $ 512,107     $ 474,598    $ 466,224           

Total stockholders’ equity  $ 348,039    $ 344,538     $ 491,570    $ 483,196           

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity  $ 573,979    $ 570,012     $ 750,787    $ 742,413           

   Year to Date Period Ended  

   As Reported    As Restated     As Reported    As Revised     As Reported    As Revised  

Consolidated statement of income data:  December 31, 2013     December 31, 2012     December 31, 2011  

Revenue  $ 768,623    $ 751,449     $ 968,171    $ 943,405     $ 933,349    $ 915,247  
Instructional costs and services  $ 395,928    $ 370,734     $ 364,001    $ 343,072     $ 304,190    $ 288,882  
Total costs and expenses  $ 708,180    $ 682,986     $ 772,707    $ 751,778     $ 659,602    $ 644,294  
Operating income  $ 60,443    $ 68,463     $ 195,464    $ 191,627     $ 273,747    $ 270,953  
Other income, net  $ 3,346    $ 3,082     $ 3,370    $ 3,531     $ 2,768    $ 2,871  
Income before income taxes  $ 63,789    $ 71,545     $ 198,834    $ 195,158     $ 276,515    $ 273,824  
Income tax expense  $ 22,779    $ 25,662     $ 75,413    $ 74,012     $ 103,751    $ 102,746  
Net income  $ 41,010    $ 45,883     $ 123,421    $ 121,146     $ 172,764    $ 171,078  
Basic earnings per share  $ 0.76    $ 0.85     $ 2.33    $ 2.29     $ 3.30    $ 3.27  
Diluted earnings per share  $ 0.74    $ 0.83     $ 2.21    $ 2.17     $ 3.02    $ 2.99  
Consolidated statement of cash flow data:                                

Net income  $ 41,010    $ 45,883     $ 123,421    $ 121,146     $ 172,764    $ 171,078  
Provision for bad debts  $ 72,313    $ 47,119     $ 73,696    $ 52,767     $ 58,511    $ 43,203  
Amortization of premium/ discount  $ 3,559    $ 2,624     $ 6,805    $ 8,992     -   - 
Deferred income taxes  $ (10,506 )    $ (6,962 )     $ (9,972 )    $ (11,373 )     $ 6,606    $ 5,601  
Restricted cash  $ —   $ 10,048     $ —   $ 6,721     $ —   $ (4,855 )  

Accounts receivable  $ (34,348 )    $ (15,973 )     $ (81,577 )    $ (62,333 )     $ (60,587 )    $ (43,300 )  

Prepaid expenses and other current assets  $ (2,411 )    $ (2,607 )     $ (1,056 )    $ (2,387 )     $ (2,104 )    $ (3,547 )  

Student loan receivable, net  -   -    $ (3,778 )    $ (5,742 )     $ (8,177 )    $ (6,021 )  

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  $ 13,687    $ 13,220     -   -    -   - 
Deferred revenue and student deposits  -   -    $ (10,389 )    $ (3,921 )     -   - 
Cash flows from operating activities  $ 75,538    $ 85,586     $ 143,185    $ 149,905     $ 220,808    $ 215,954  
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Cash and Cash Equivalents  

Cash and cash equivalents is comprised of cash and other short-term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into known 
amounts of cash. The Company considers all highly liquid investments with maturities of three months or less at the time of purchase to be cash 
equivalents.  

Restricted Cash  

Restricted cash primarily represents funds held for students from Title IV financial aid program funds that result in credit balances on a 
student’s account. Restricted cash is excluded from cash and cash equivalents on our consolidated balance sheets and statements of cash flows. 
Changes in restricted cash are included in cash flows from operating activities on our consolidated statements of cash flows, as these restricted 
funds are closely related to the Company's operational activity. Our restricted cash is primarily held in money market accounts.  

Investments  

As of December 31, 2013 , the Company held short and long-term investments which consisted of demand notes, corporate notes and 
bonds and certificates of deposit. The Company's investments are denominated in U.S. dollars, investment grade and readily marketable. The 
Company considers as current assets those investments which will mature or are likely to be sold in less than one year.  

The Company has classified its investments as either available-for-sale or held-to-maturity. Available-for-sale securities are carried at fair 
value as determined by quoted market prices, with unrealized gains and losses, net of tax, reported as a separate component of comprehensive 
income and stockholders’ equity. Held-to-maturity securities are carried at amortized cost. Amortization of premiums, accretion of discounts, 
interest and realized gains and losses are included in other income, net in the consolidated statement of income.  

The Company regularly monitors and evaluates the realizable value of its investments. If events and circumstances indicate that a decline 
in the value of these assets has occurred and is other-than-temporary, the Company would record a charge to other income, net in the 
consolidated statement of income.  

Fair Value Measurements  

The Company uses the three-tier fair value hierarchy which prioritizes the inputs used in measuring fair value. These tiers include: Level 1, 
defined as observable inputs such as quoted prices in active markets; Level 2, defined as inputs other than quoted prices in active markets that 
are either observable directly or indirectly, through market corroboration, for substantially the full term of the financial instrument; and Level 3, 
defined as unobservable inputs in which little or no market data exists, therefore requiring an entity to develop its own assumptions. The 
Company's Level 2 investments are valued using readily available pricing sources which utilize market observable inputs, including the current 
interest rate for similar types of instruments. During the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 , there were no transfers in or out of any fair 
value level of measurement.  

Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts  

Accounts receivable consists of student accounts receivable, which represent amounts due for tuition, course digital materials, technology 
fees and other fees from currently enrolled and former students. Students generally fund their education through grants and/or loans under 
various Title IV programs, tuition assistance from military and corporate employers or personal funds. Payments are due on the respective course 
start date and are considered past due subsequent to the respective course start date. An account is considered delinquent 120 days subsequent to 
the course start date.  

Accounts receivable are stated at the amount management expects to collect from outstanding balances. For accounts receivable, an 
allowance for doubtful accounts is estimated by management and is principally based on historical collection experience as well as (i) an 
assessment of individual accounts receivable over a specific aging and amount, (ii) consideration of the nature of the receivable accounts and 
(iii) potential changes in the business or economic environment. The provision for bad debts is recorded within the instructional costs and 
services line in the consolidated statements of income. The Company  
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charges off uncollectable accounts receivable when the student account is deemed uncollectable by internal collection efforts or by a third party 
collection agency.  

Student Loans Receivable and Loan Loss Reserves  

Student loans receivable consist of loans to qualified students and have a repayment period of 10 years from the date of graduation or 
withdrawal from the Company's institutions. The interest rate charged on student loans is a fixed rate of either 4.5% or 0.0% depending upon the 
repayment plan selected. If the student selects the rate of 0.0% , the student must pay $50 per month on the loan while enrolled in school and 
during the six months of grace period (after graduation or withdrawal) before the repayment period begins. On the 0.0% student loans, the 
Company imputes interest using the rate that would be used in a market transaction with similar terms. Interest income on student loans is 
recognized using the effective interest method and is recorded within other income, net in the consolidated statements of income. Revenue 
recognized related to student loans was immaterial during each of the years ended December 31, 2013 , 2012 and 2011 , respectively.  

Student loans receivable are stated at the amount management expects to collect from outstanding balances. For tuition related student loan 
receivables, the Company estimates an allowance for doubtful accounts, similar to that of accounts receivable, based on (i) an assessment of 
individual loans receivable over a specific aging and amount, (ii) consideration of the nature of the receivable accounts, (iii) potential changes in 
the business or economic environment and (iv) related FICO scores and other industry metrics. The related provision for bad debts is recorded 
within the instructional costs and services line in the consolidated statements of income.  

For non-tuition related student loans, the Company utilizes an impairment methodology. Under this methodology, management determines 
whether a loan would be impaired if the Company will be unable to collect all amounts due in accordance with the contractual terms of the 
individual loan agreement. This assessment is based on an analysis of several factors including aging history and delinquency trending, the risk 
characteristics, credit quality and loan performance of the specific loans, as well as current economic conditions and industry trends. Credit 
quality is assessed at the outset of a loan, based upon FICO score during the loan application process. The Company considers loans to be 
impaired when they reach a delinquency status that requires specialized collection efforts. The Company defines delinquency for loans as being 
for students who are no longer active, having amounts that are past due and having the last activity more than 120 days old. The Company 
records a loss reserve for the full book value of the impaired loans. For the year ended December 31, 2013 , there was $2.0 million recorded for 
loan loss reserves. The loan loss reserve is maintained at a level deemed adequate by management based on a periodic analysis of the individual 
loans and is recorded within the instructional costs and services line in the consolidated statements of income.  

Property and Equipment  

Property and equipment are recognized at cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method 
based on estimated useful lives of the related assets as follows:  

Leasehold improvements are amortized using the straight-line method over the shorter of the lease term or the estimated useful lives of the 
assets. Upon the retirement or disposition of property and equipment, the related cost and accumulated depreciation is removed and a gain or loss 
is recorded in the consolidated statements of income. Repairs and maintenance costs are expensed in the period incurred.  
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Buildings  39 years 

Furniture and office equipment  3 - 7 years 

Software  3 years 

Vehicles  5 years 
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Leases  

Leases are evaluated and classified as either operating or capital leases. Leased property and equipment meeting certain criteria are 
capitalized, and the present value of the related lease payments is recognized as a liability on the consolidated balance sheets. Amortization of 
capitalized leased assets is computed on the straight-line method over the term of the lease or the life of the related asset, whichever is shorter.  

If the Company receives tenant allowances from the lessor for certain improvements made to the leased property, these allowances are 
capitalized as leasehold improvements and a long-term liability is established. The long-term liability is amortized on a straight-line basis over 
the corresponding lease term. The Company records rent expense on a straight-line basis over the initial term of a lease. The difference between 
the rent payment and the straight-line rent expense is recorded as either a short-term or long-term liability.  

The Company recognizes liabilities for exit and disposal activities on non-cancelable lease obligations at fair value in the period the 
liability is incurred. For the non-cancelable lease obligations, the Company records the obligation when the contract is terminated in accordance 
with the contract terms. For the year ended December 31, 2013 , there was $1.1 million recorded for lease exit costs.  

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets  

The Company tests goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets for impairment annually, in the fourth quarter of each fiscal year, or 
more frequently if events and circumstances warrant.  

The Company adopted accounting guidance which simplifies how an entity tests goodwill for impairment. The Company first assesses 
qualitative factors, such as deterioration in general economic conditions or negative company financial performance, to determine whether it is 
more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount. The Company's assessment of goodwill during the 
fourth quarter of fiscal 2013 indicated that there were no significant negative qualitative indicators, and therefore, goodwill was not impaired. 
There have been no impairment losses recognized by the Company for any periods presented. If negative qualitative indicators had been noted 
above, the Company would then need to assess the fair value of its reporting units to determine whether they were in excess of the carrying 
values.  

To evaluate the impairment of the indefinite-lived intangible assets, the Company assessed the fair value of the assets to determine whether 
they were in excess of the carrying values. Determining the fair value of indefinite-lived intangible asset is judgmental in nature and involves the 
use of significant estimates and assumptions. These estimates and assumptions are inherently uncertain, and can include such items as growth 
rates used to calculate projected future cash flows, risk-adjusted discount rates, future economic and market conditions, as well as determination 
of appropriate market comparables. The Company's assessment of indefinite-lived intangible assets during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2013 did 
not result in any impairment. There have been no impairment losses recognized by the Company for any periods presented.  

The Company also has definite-lived intangible assets, which primarily consist of purchased intangibles and capitalized curriculum 
development costs. The definite-lived intangible assets are recognized at cost less accumulated amortization. Amortization is computed using the 
straight-line method based on estimated useful lives of the related assets.  

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets  

The Company assesses potential impairment to its long-lived assets when there is evidence that events or changes in circumstances indicate 
that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recorded when the carrying amount of the long-lived asset is 
not recoverable and exceeds its fair value. The carrying amount of a long-lived asset is not recoverable if it exceeds the sum of the undiscounted 
cash flows expected to result from the use and eventual disposition of the asset. Any required impairment loss is measured as the amount by 
which the carrying amount of a long-lived asset exceeds fair value and is recorded as a reduction in the carrying value of the related asset and an 
expense to operating results. During the fourth quarter of 2013 , the Company recognized an impairment charge of $0.7 million to write-off 
certain fixed assets as part of lease exit costs.  
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Revenue and Deferred Revenue  

The Company recognizes revenue when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, services have been rendered or delivery has 
occurred, our fees or price is fixed or determinable, and collectibility is reasonably assured. The Company's revenue consists of tuition, 
technology fees, course digital materials and other miscellaneous fees. Tuition revenue is deferred and recognized on a straight-line basis over 
the applicable period of instruction net of scholarships and expected refunds, with the exception of an online student's first course, per degree 
level, at Ashford University. Effective in the fourth quarter of 2012, an online student's first course per degree level at Ashford University falls 
under a three -week conditional admission period in which the revenue is deferred until the student matriculates into the course.  

The Company's institutions' online students generally enroll in a program that encompasses a series of five to six -week courses which are 
taken consecutively over the length of the program. With the exception of those students under conditional admission, the online students are 
billed on a payment period basis on the first day of class. The Company's institutions' campus-based students enroll in a program that 
encompasses a series of nine -week or 16 -week courses. Campus-based students are billed at the beginning of each term. The Company assesses 
collectibility at the start of a student’s payment period (generally five courses for undergraduates and four courses for graduates) for the courses 
in that payment period.  

If a student's attendance in a class precedes the receipt of cash from the student's source of funding, the Company establishes an account 
receivable and corresponding deferred revenue in the amount of the tuition due for that payment period. Cash received either directly from the 
student or from the student's source of funding reduces the balance of accounts receivable due from the student. Financial aid from sources such 
as the federal government's Title IV programs pertains to the online student's award year and is generally divided into two disbursement periods. 
As such, each disbursement period may contain funding for up to four courses. Financial aid disbursements are typically received during the 
online student's attendance in the first or second course. Since the majority of disbursements cover more courses than for which a student is 
currently enrolled, the amount received in excess effectively represents a prepayment from the online student for up to four courses. At the end 
of each accounting period, the deferred revenue and student deposits and related account receivable balances are reduced to present amounts 
attributable to the current course.  

For those students under conditional admission, the student is not obligated for payment until after their conditional admission period has 
lapsed, so there is no required refund. For all subsequent courses, the Company records a provision for expected refunds and reduces revenue for 
the amount that is expected to be subsequently refunded. Provisions for expected refunds have not been material to any period presented. If a 
student withdraws from a program prior to a specified date, a portion of such student's tuition is refunded, subject to certain state requirements 
which require a pro rata refund. The Company reassess collectibility throughout the period revenue is recognized by the Company's institutions, 
on a student-by-student basis. The Company reassess collectibility based upon new information and changes in facts and circumstances relevant 
to a student's ability to pay. For example, the Company reassesses collectibility when a student drops from the institution (i.e., is no longer 
enrolled) and when a student attends a course that was not included in the initial assessment at the start of a student’s payment period.  

The Company records technology fees, which are one-time start up fees charged to each new online student, other than military, 
scholarship students or certain corporate reimbursement students. Technology fee revenue is recognized ratably over the average expected 
enrollment of a student. Effective January 1, 2013, Ashford University eliminated the one-time technology fee charged students and replaced it 
with a per course charge. The per course technology fee revenue is recognized on a straight-line basis over the applicable period of instruction. 
Other miscellaneous fees include fees for course content and textbooks and other services, such as commencements, and are recognized upon 
delivery of the goods or when the related service is performed.  

Workers Compensation  

The Company records a gross liability for estimated workers compensation claims, incurred but not yet reported, as of each balance sheet 
date. The Company also records the gross insurance recoverable due for individual claim amounts.  This is recorded as an other asset and as an 
equal accrued liability. The stop-loss premium is determined annually, but invoiced and paid on a quarterly basis. The related insurance 
premiums are expensed ratably over the coverage period.  
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Income Taxes  

The Company accounts for its income taxes using the liability method whereby deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on 
temporary differences between the bases used for financial reporting and income tax reporting purposes. Deferred income taxes are provided 
based on the enacted tax rates expected to be in effect at the time such temporary differences are expected to reverse. A valuation allowance is 
provided for deferred tax assets if it is more likely than not that the Company will not realize those tax assets through future operations.  

The Company evaluates and accounts for uncertain tax positions using a two-step approach. Recognition (step one) occurs when the 
Company concludes that a tax position, based solely on its technical merits, is more-likely-than-not to be sustained upon examination. 
Measurement (step two) determines the amount of benefit that is greater than 50% likely to be realized upon ultimate settlement with a taxing 
authority that has full knowledge of all relevant information. Derecognition of a tax position that was previously recognized would occur when 
the Company subsequently determines that a tax position no longer meets the more-likely-than-not threshold of being sustained.  

Stock-Based Compensation  

Stock-based compensation expense is measured at the grant date fair value of the award and is expensed over the vesting period. The 
Company estimates the fair value of stock options on the grant date using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. Determining the fair value of 
stock-based awards at the grant date under this model requires judgment, including estimating volatility, employee stock option exercise 
behaviors and forfeiture rates. The assumptions used in calculating the fair value of stock-based awards represent the Company's best estimates, 
but these estimates involve inherent uncertainties and the application of management judgment. The fair value of the Company's restricted stock 
units is based on the market price of its common stock on the date of grant.  

The amount of stock-based compensation expense recognized during a period is based on the portion of the awards that are ultimately 
expected to vest. The Company estimates award forfeitures at the time of grant and revises those estimates in subsequent periods if actual 
forfeitures differ from those estimates. The Company's equity plans require that option awards have an exercise price that equals or exceeds the 
closing price of the Company's common stock, as reported by the NYSE, on the date of grant.  

Stock-based compensation expense for stock awards is recorded in the consolidated statement of income, net of estimated forfeitures, using 
the graded vesting method over the requisite service periods of the respective stock awards.  

Instructional Costs and Services  

Instructional costs and services consist primarily of costs related to the administration and delivery of the Company's educational programs. 
This expense category includes compensation for campus-based faculty and administrative personnel, costs associated with online faculty, 
curriculum and new program development costs, financial aid processing costs, technology license costs, bad debt expense and costs associated 
with other support groups that provide services directly to the students. Instructional costs and services also include an allocation of information 
technology, facility, depreciation and amortization costs.  

Admissions Advisory and Marketing  

Admissions advisory and marketing costs include compensation of personnel engaged in marketing and recruitment, as well as costs 
associated with purchasing leads and producing marketing materials. Such costs are generally affected by the cost of advertising media and 
leads, the efficiency of the Company's marketing and recruiting efforts, compensation for the Company's enrollment personnel and expenditures 
on advertising initiatives for new and existing academic programs. Admissions advisory and marketing costs also include an allocation of 
information technology, facility, depreciation and amortization costs.  

Advertising costs, a subset of admissions advisory and marketing costs, consists primarily of marketing leads and other branding and 
promotional activities. These advertising activities are expensed as incurred, or the first time the advertising takes  
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place, depending on the type of advertising activity. Advertising costs were $76.5 million , $103.7 million and $84.0 million for the years ended 
December 31, 2013 , 2012 and 2011 , respectively.  

General and Administrative  

General and administrative expenses include compensation of employees engaged in corporate management, finance, human resources, 
compliance and other corporate functions. General and administrative expenses also include professional services fees, travel and entertainment 
expenses and an allocation of information technology, facility, depreciation and amortization costs.  

Earnings Per Share  

Basic earnings per common share is calculated by dividing net income available to common stockholders by the weighted average number 
of common shares outstanding for the period. Diluted earnings per common share is calculated by dividing net income available to common 
stockholders by the sum of (i) the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period and (ii) potentially dilutive 
securities outstanding during the period, if the effect is dilutive. Potentially dilutive common shares consist of incremental shares of common 
stock issuable upon the exercise of the stock options and warrants and upon the settlement of restricted stock units.  

Segment Information  

The Company operates in one reportable segment as a single educational delivery operation using a core infrastructure that serves the 
curriculum and educational delivery needs of both its campus-based and online students regardless of geography. The Company's chief operating 
decision maker, its CEO and President, manages the Company's operations as a whole, and no revenue, expense or operating income information 
is evaluated by the chief operating decision maker on any component level.  

Comprehensive Income  

Comprehensive income consists of net income and other gains and losses affecting stockholders’ equity that, under GAAP, are excluded 
from net income. For the year ended December 31, 2013 , such items consisted of unrealized gains and losses on investments.  

The following table summarizes the components of other comprehensive gain (loss) and the related tax effects for the years ended 
December 31, 2013 , 2012 and 2011 (in thousands):  

The Company reclassed $63 thousand out of other comprehensive income for the year ended December 31, 2013 , relating to the net 
realized gain on the sale of securities.  
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December 31, 2013  

   Before-Tax Amount    Tax Effect    Net-of-Tax Amount  

Unrealized losses on investments  $ (280 )   $ 106    $ (174 ) 

            

   
December 31, 2012  

   Before-Tax Amount    Tax Effect    Net-of-Tax Amount  

Unrealized gains on investments  $ 1,300    $ (483 )   $ 817  
            

   
December 31, 2011  

   Before-Tax Amount    Tax Effect    Net-of-Tax Amount  

Unrealized losses on investments  $ (946 )   $ 351    (595 ) 
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Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements  

In July 2013, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2013-11, “ Incomes 
Taxes (Topic 740): Presentation of an Unrecognized Tax Benefit When a Net Operating Loss Carryforward, a Similar Tax Loss, or a Tax Credit 
Carryforward Exists. ” ASU 2013-11 addresses the diversity in practice regarding financial statement presentation of an unrecognized tax 
benefit when a net operating loss carryforward, a similar tax loss, or a tax credit carryforward exists. The guidance requires an unrecognized tax 
benefit, or a portion of, to be presented in the financial statements as a reduction to the related deferred tax asset for a net operating loss 
carryforward, a similar tax loss, or a tax credit carryforward. To the extent the net operating loss carryforward, a similar tax loss, or a tax credit 
carryforward is not available at the reporting date to settle any additional income taxes that would result from the disallowance of a tax position. 
The unrecognized tax benefit should be presented in the financial statements as a liability and not as a reduction of the related deferred tax asset. 
The amendments in this standard are effective for reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2013, with early adoption permitted. The 
Company adopted ASU 2013-11, effective January 1, 2014, and does not believe that such adoption will have a material effect on its 
consolidated financial statements.  

3. Investments  

The following table summarizes the fair value information of short and long-term investments as of December 31, 2013 and 2012 , 
respectively (in thousands):  

The tables above include amounts related to investments classified as other investments, such as certificates of deposit, which are carried at 
amortized cost. The amortized cost of such investments approximated fair value at each balance sheet date. The assumptions used in these fair 
value estimates are considered as other observable inputs and are therefore categorized as Level 2 measurements under the accounting guidance. 
The balances of such other investments were $90.0 million and $109.5 million as of December 31, 2013 , and December 31, 2012 , respectively.  

The following table summarizes the differences between amortized cost and fair value of short and long-term investments as of 
December 31, 2013 and 2012 , respectively (in thousands):  
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   December 31, 2013  

   Level 1    Level 2    Level 3    Total  

Demand notes  $ —   $ 719    $ —   $ 719  
Corporate notes and bonds  —   16,244    —   16,244  
Certificates of deposit  —   90,000    —   90,000  

Total  $ —   $ 106,963    $ —   $ 106,963  

   December 31, 2012  

   Level 1    Level 2    Level 3    Total  

Demand notes  $ —   $ 415    $ —   $ 415  
Corporate notes and bonds  —   148,801    —   148,801  
Certificates of deposit  —   109,489    —   109,489  

Total  $ —   $ 258,705    $ —   $ 258,705  
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As of December 31, 2013 , there were no investments that were in an unrealized loss position for either less than, or greater than, 12 
months. There was no impairment considered other-than-temporary as it is more likely than not the Company will hold the securities until 
maturity or a recovery of the cost basis. The Company accumulates unrealized gains and losses on the available-for-sale debt securities, net of 
tax, in accumulated other comprehensive gain (loss) in the stockholders’ equity section of the Company's balance sheets. As of December 31, 
2012 , six of the Company's investments were in an unrealized loss position for less than 12 months. There were no investments that were in an 
unrealized loss position for greater than 12 months.  

4. Accounts Receivable  

Accounts receivable, net, consist of the following (in thousands):  

There are an immaterial amount of accounts receivable at each balance sheet date with a payment due date of greater than one year.  

 
 

90  

   December 31, 2013  

             Gross unrealized       

   Maturities in Years    Amortized Cost    Gain    Loss    Fair Value  

Short-term                         

Demand notes  1 year or less   $ 719    $ —   $ —   $ 719  
Corporate notes and bonds  1 year or less   5,132    50    —   5,182  
Certificates of deposit  1 year or less   60,000    —   —   60,000  

Long-term                         

Corporate notes and bonds  3 years or less   11,037    25    —   11,062  
Certificates of deposit  3 years or less   30,000    —   —   30,000  

Total       $ 106,888    $ 75    $ —   $ 106,963  

   December 31, 2012  

             Gross unrealized       

   Maturities in Years    Amortized Cost    Gain    Loss    Fair Value  

Short-term                         

Demand notes  1 year or less   $ 415    $ —   $ —   $ 415  
Corporate notes and bonds  1 year or less   126,806    282    (25 )   127,063  
Certificate of deposit  1 year or less   9,489    —   —   9,489  

Long-term                         

Corporate notes and bonds  3 years or less   21,641    117    (20 )   21,738  
Certificate of deposit  3 years or less   100,000    —   —   100,000  

Total       $ 258,351    $ 399    $ (45 )   $ 258,705  

   As of December 31,  

   2013    2012  

   (As restated)       

Accounts receivable  $ 49,854    $ 85,953  
Less allowance for doubtful accounts  26,901    31,466  

Accounts receivable, net  $ 22,953    $ 54,487  
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The following table presents the changes in the allowance for doubtful accounts for accounts receivable for the periods indicated (in 

thousands):  

5. Student Loan Receivables  

Student loans receivable, net, consist of the following (in thousands):  

Student loans receivable is presented net of any related discount, and the balances approximated fair value at each balance sheet date. The 
Company estimated the fair value of the student loans receivable by discounting the future cash flows using current rates for similar 
arrangements. The assumptions used in this estimate are considered unobservable inputs and are therefore categorized as Level 3 measurements 
under the accounting guidance.  

The following table presents the changes in the allowance for doubtful accounts for student loans receivable (tuition related) for the periods 
indicated (in thousands):  

 

   
Beginning  
Balance    

Charged to  
Expense    Deductions(1)    

Ending  
Balance  

Allowance for doubtful accounts receivable:                    

For the year ended December 31, 2013  $ 31,466    $ 46,851    $ (51,416 )   $ 26,901  
For the year ended December 31, 2012  24,688    52,794    (46,016 )   31,466  
For the year ended December 31, 2011  19,783    42,077    (37,172 )   24,688  

(1)  Deductions represent accounts written off, net of recoveries. 

   As of December 31,  

Short-term:  2013    2012  

   Student loans receivable (non-tuition related)  $ 587    $ 428  
   Student loans receivable (tuition related)  621    167  
   Current student loans receivable  1,208    595  
Less allowance for doubtful accounts  165    39  

Student loans receivable, net  $ 1,043    $ 556  

        

   As of December 31,  

Long-term:  2013    2012  

   Student loans receivable (non-tuition related)  $ 7,347    $ 8,101  
   Student loans receivable (tuition related)  6,417    8,171  
   Non-current student loans receivable  13,764    16,272  
Less allowance for doubtful accounts  1,979    1,856  

Student loans receivable, net  $ 11,785    $ 14,416  

   
Beginning  
Balance    

Charged to  
Expense    Deductions(1)    

Ending  
Balance  

Allowance for doubtful student loans receivable:                    

For the year ended December 31, 2013  $ 1,895    $ 268    $ (19 )   $ 2,144  
For the year ended December 31, 2012  2,070    (27 )   (148 )   1,895  
For the year ended December 31, 2011  930    1,126    14    2,070  

(1)  Deductions represent accounts written off, net of recoveries. 
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For the non-tuition related student loans receivable, the Company monitors the credit quality using credit scores, aging history and 

delinquency trending. The loan reserve methodology is reviewed on a quarterly basis. Delinquency is the main factor in determining if a loan is 
impaired. If a loan were determined to be impaired, interest would no longer accrue. For the year ended December 31, 2013 there was $2.0 
million of loans that were impaired, and for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 , respectively, no loans were impaired. As of 
December 31, 2013 , an immaterial amount of loans had been placed on non-accrual status.  

As of December 31, 2013 , the delinquency status of gross student loans receivable was as follows (in thousands):  

6. Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets  

Prepaid expenses and other current assets consist of the following (in thousands):  
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Less than 120 days  $ 16,998  
From 120 - 269 days  1,238  
Greater than 270 days  2,132  
Total gross student loans receivable  20,368  
Less: Amounts reserved or impaired  (4,143 ) 

Less: Discount on student loans receivable  (3,397 ) 

Total student loans receivable, net  $ 12,828  

   As of December 31,  

   2013    2012  

   (As restated)       

Prepaid expenses  $ 10,814    $ 9,367  
Prepaid licenses  5,833    5,864  
Prepaid income taxes  195    — 
Prepaid insurance  1,131    1,134  
Interest receivable  86    2,221  
Other current assets  3,504    1,467  

Total prepaid expenses and other current assets  $ 21,563    $ 20,053  
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7. Property and Equipment, Net  

Property and equipment, net, consist of the following (in thousands):  

Depreciation and amortization expense associated with property and equipment totaled $ 18.2 million , $ 15.9 million and $ 12.1 million 
for the years ended December 31, 2013 , 2012 and 2011 , respectively.  

8. Goodwill and Intangibles, Net  

Goodwill and intangibles, net, consist of the following (in thousands):  

In addition to capitalized curriculum development costs in 2013, on October 31, 2013, the Company entered into an agreement (the 
“Forbes Agreement”) to license certain trademarks and print and online content, as well as other intellectual property, for use in Ashford 
University's bachelor’s and master’s business programs. The Forbes Agreement has an initial 12 -year term, with an option to renew. During the 
fourth quarter of 2013, the Company made a payment of $15 million as an intangible asset as of December 31, 2013 which will be amortized 
over the life of the agreement. Additionally, the Company will pay royalties beginning 2014, based on a percentage of annual revenues 
attributable to Ashford University’s business-  

   As of December 31,  

   2013    2012  

Land  $ 7,091    $ 7,091  
Buildings  28,916    25,430  
Furniture and office equipment  84,852    79,656  
Software  10,075    6,053  
Leasehold improvements  24,360    23,756  
Vehicles  147    147  

Total property and equipment  155,441    142,133  
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization  (64,016 )   (46,167 ) 

Total property and equipment, net  $ 91,425    $ 95,966  

   December 31, 2013  

Definite-lived intangible assets:  Gross Carrying Amount    
Accumulated 
Amortization    Net Carrying Amount  

Capitalized curriculum costs  $ 14,540    $ (5,035 )   $ 9,505  
Purchased intangible assets  15,857    (1,051 )   14,806  

     Total definite-lived intangible assets  $ 30,397    $ (6,086 )   $ 24,311  

Goodwill and indefinite-lived intangibles            2,567  

Total goodwill and intangibles, net            $ 26,878  

            

   December 31, 2012  

Definite-lived intangible assets:  Gross Carrying Amount    
Accumulated 
Amortization    Net Carrying Amount  

Capitalized curriculum costs  $ 9,977    $ (1,823 )   $ 8,154  
Purchased intangible assets  857    (839 )   18  

     Total definite-lived intangible assets  $ 10,834    $ (2,662 )   $ 8,172  

Goodwill and indefinite-lived intangibles            2,567  

Total goodwill and intangibles, net            $ 10,739  
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related programs, subject to a $2.5 million annual minimum. The Company does not plan to capitalize any future costs to renew or extend the 
term of the acquired intangible assets.  

 

For the years ended December 31, 2013 , 2012 , and 2011 , amortization expense was $3.4 million , $1.6 million , and $0.6 million 
respectively. The following table summarizes the estimated remaining amortization expense as of each fiscal year ended below (in thousands):  

9. Accrued Liabilities  

Accrued liabilities consist of the following (in thousands):  

There was a reduction in force during the second quarter of 2013 to help better align personnel resources with the impact of previously 
announced institutional initiatives regarding enrollments. We recognized $5.9 million of severance costs for wages and benefits during the 
second quarter for this reduction in force. The total severance amount was charged as $4.8 million to instructional costs and services, $0.3 
million to admissions advisory and marketing expenses, and $0.8 million to general and administrative expenses. These costs were fully paid 
during the third quarter of 2013 from existing cash on hand.  

10. Deferred Revenue and Student Deposits  

Deferred revenue and student deposits consist of the following (in thousands):  

 

Year Ended December 31,        

2014  $ 5,143  
2015  3,995  
2016  2,234  
2017  1,232  
2018  1,232  
Thereafter  10,475  

Total future amortization expense  $ 24,311  

   As of December 31,  

   2013    2012  

   (As restated)       

Accrued salaries and wages  $ 12,790    $ 11,585  
Accrued bonus  2,277    1,603  
Accrued vacation  9,696    8,993  
Accrued litigation and fees  8,000    — 
Accrued expenses  19,081    15,924  
Rent liability  2,446    — 
Accrued income taxes payable  —   6,535  

Total accrued liabilities  $ 54,290    $ 44,640  

   As of December 31,  

   2013    2012  

Deferred revenue  $ 29,279    $ 44,967  
Student deposits  103,512    130,090  

Total deferred revenue and student deposits  $ 132,791    $ 175,057  
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11 . Credit Facilities  

On April 13, 2012, the Company entered into a $50 million revolving line of credit (“Facility”) pursuant to an Amended and Restated 
Revolving Credit Agreement (“Revolving Credit Agreement”) with the lenders signatory thereto and Comerica Bank (“Comerica”), as 
administrative agent for the lenders. At the Company's option, the Company may increase the size of the Facility up to $100 million (in certain 
minimum increments), subject to the terms and conditions of the Revolving Credit Agreement. Additionally, the Company may request swing-
line advances under the Facility up to $3 million in the aggregate.  

Under the Revolving Credit Agreement and the documents executed in connection therewith (collectively, the “Facility Loan Documents”), 
the lenders have agreed to make loans to the Company and issue letters of credit on the Company's behalf, subject to the terms and conditions of 
the Facility Loan Documents. The Facility has a term of three years and matures on April 13, 2015. Interest and fees accruing under the Facility 
are payable quarterly in arrears and principal is payable at maturity. The Company may terminate the Facility upon five days notice, without 
premium or penalty, other than customary breakage fees.  

For any advance under the Facility, interest will accrue at either the “Base Rate” or the “Eurodollar-based Rate,” at the Company's option. 
The Base Rate means, for any day, 0.5% plus the greatest of: (1) the prime rate for such day, (2) the Federal Funds Effective Rate in effect on 
such day, plus 1.0% , and (3) the daily adjusting LIBOR rate, plus 1.0% . The Eurodollar-based Rate means, for any day, 1.5% plus the quotient 
of (1) the LIBOR Rate, divided by (2) a percentage equal to 100% minus the maximum rate on such date at which the Agent is required to 
maintain reserves on “Eurocurrency Liabilities” as defined in Regulation D of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System. For any 
advance under the swing line, interest will accrue at either the Base Rate or, if made available to the Company by the swing line lender, at the 
lender's option, a different rate quoted by such lender. For any letter of credit issued on the Company's behalf under the New Facility, the 
Company is required to pay a fee of 1.50% of the undrawn amount of such letter of credit plus a letter of credit facing fee. The Company is also 
required to pay a facility fee of 0.25% of the aggregate commitment then in effect under the Facility, whether used or unused.  

The Facility Loan Documents contain other customary affirmative, negative and financial maintenance covenants, representations and 
warranties, events of default, and remedies upon an event of default, including the acceleration of debt and the right to foreclose on the collateral 
securing the Facility. The Company was in compliance with all financial covenants in the Loan Documents as of December 31, 2013 and 2012 .  

As security for the performance of the Company's obligations under the Facility Loan Documents, the Company granted the lenders a first 
priority security interest in substantially all of the Company's assets, including its real property which is worth $7.1 million as of December 31, 
2013 .  

As of December 31, 2013 , and up through the date of filing, the Company had no borrowings outstanding under the line of credit. As of 
December 31, 2013 , the Company used the availability under the line of credit to issue letters of credit aggregating $5.8 million .  

Surety Bond Facility  

As part of its normal business operations, the Company is required to provide surety bonds in certain states in which the Company does 
business. As of December 31, 2013 , the Company's total available surety bond facility was $12.0 million and the surety had issued bonds under 
the facility totaling $6.5 million on the Company's behalf.  

12. Lease Obligations  

Operating leases  

The Company leases certain office facilities and office equipment under non-cancelable lease arrangements that expire at various dates 
through 2023. The office leases contain certain renewal options. Rent expense under non-cancelable operating lease arrangements is accounted 
for on a straight-line basis and totaled $37.1 million , $36.8 million and $31.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2013 , 2012 and 2011 , 
respectively.  
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The following table summarizes the future minimum rental payments under non-cancelable operating lease arrangements in effect at 

December 31, 2013 (in thousands):  

13. Earnings Per Share  

Basic earnings per common share is calculated by dividing net income available to common stockholders by the weighted average number 
of common shares outstanding for the period.  

Diluted earnings per common share is calculated by dividing net income available to common stockholders by the sum of (i) the weighted 
average number of common shares outstanding for the period and (ii) potentially dilutive securities outstanding during the period, if the effect is 
dilutive. Potentially dilutive securities for the periods presented may include incremental shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of 
options and warrants and upon the settlement of restricted stock units.  

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings per common share for the periods indicated (in thousands, 
except per share data):  

For the periods indicated, the computation of dilutive common shares outstanding excludes certain stock options to purchase shares of 
common stock for the periods indicated because their effect was anti-dilutive.  
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Year Ended December 31,        

2014  $ 36,962  
2015  37,226  
2016  37,293  
2017  37,363  
2018  34,072  
Thereafter  41,722  

Total minimum payments  $ 224,638  

   Year Ended December 31,  

   2013    2012    2011  

   (As restated)            

Numerator:               

Net income  $ 45,883    $ 121,146    $ 171,078  
Denominator:               

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding  53,923    52,947    52,291  
Effect of dilutive options and restricted stock units  1,482    2,762    4,572  
Effect of dilutive warrants  82    237    270  

Diluted weighted average number of common shares outstanding  55,487    55,946    57,133  

Earnings per common share:               

Basic earnings per common share  $ 0.85    $ 2.29    $ 3.27  
Diluted earnings per common share  0.83    2.17    2.99  

   Year Ended December 31,  

(in thousands)  2013    2012    2011  

Options  3,004    2,524    1,332  
Restricted stock units  3    —   — 
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14 . Stock-Based Compensation  

Stock Options  

The Company grants stock options from its 2009 Stock Incentive Plan (“2009 Plan”). The compensation committee of the Company's 
board of directors, or the full board of directors, determines eligibility, vesting schedules and exercise prices for awards granted under the 2009 
Plan. Options granted under the 2009 Plan typically have a maximum contractual term of 10 years , subject to continuing service to the 
Company. Options are generally granted with a four -year vesting requirement, under which the option holder must continue providing service to 
the Company at each vesting period. All options granted in 2013 , 2012 and 2011 , were awarded pursuant to the 2009 Plan. Under the 2009 
Plan, the number of authorized shares is subject to automatic increase, without the need for further approval by the Company's board of directors 
and stockholders each January 1, through and including January 1, 2019, pursuant to a formula contained in the plan.  

Before the adoption of the 2009 Plan, the Company awarded options pursuant to the Company's Amended and Restated 2005 Stock 
Incentive Plan (“2005 Plan”). Effective upon the closing of the Company's initial public offering, the 2005 Plan was terminated and no further 
options may be issued under that plan, provided that all options then outstanding under the 2005 Plan will continue to remain outstanding 
pursuant to the terms of the 2005 Plan and applicable award agreements.  

The following table presents a summary of the stock option activity in 2013 , 2012 and 2011 (in thousands, except for exercise prices and 
contractual terms):  

The Company has reserved 10.0 million shares of common stock for issuance upon the exercise of stock options and settlement of 
restricted stock units (“RSUs”) (including outstanding stock awards) under the Company's equity incentive plans as of December 31, 2013 . 
Shares issued from option exercises and settlements of RSUs are drawn from the authorized but unissued shares of common stock. During the 
year ended December 31, 2013 , there were 1.1 million stock options exercised with an intrinsic value of $9.4 million . The actual tax benefit 
realized from these exercises was $2.1 million . The Company also recognized a tax benefit shortfall of $0.6 million related to stock options 
exercised at values lower than the related compensation expense, and $0.5 million related to stock options that expired unexercised during the 
year. During the year  
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Options  

Outstanding    

Weighted-  
Average  
Exercise  

Price    

Weighted-  
Average  

Remaining  
Contractual  

Term  
(in years)    

Aggregate  
Intrinsic Value  

December 31, 2010  10,195    $ 4.76    5.47   $ 147,545  
Granted  1,294    17.41            

Exercised  (3,070 )   1.59            

Forfeitures and expired  (139 )   17.65            

December 31, 2011  8,280    7.70    5.90   127,308  
Granted  1,595    22.59            

Exercised  (3,128 )   0.72            

Forfeitures and expired  (335 )   19.79            

December 31, 2012  6,412    14.17    7.21   $ 9,010  
Granted  483    10.23            

Exercised  (1,060 )   9.87            

Forfeitures and expired  (345 )   20.65            

December 31, 2013  5,490    $ 14.25    6.52   $ 28,769  
Vested and expected to vest at December 31, 2013  5,435    $ 14.22    6.50   $ 28,588  
Exercisable at December 31, 2013  3,809    $ 12.82    5.80   $ 23,827  
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ended December 31, 2012 , there were 3.1 million stock options exercised, with an intrinsic value of $45.2 million . The actual tax benefit 
realized from these exercises was $10.1 million . The Company also recognized a tax benefit shortfall of $1.5 million related to stock options 
exercised at values lower than the related compensation expense, and $0.2 million related to stock options that expired unexercised during the 
year. During the year ended December 31, 2011 , there were 3.1 million stock options exercised, with an intrinsic value of $58.4 million . The 
actual tax benefit realized from these exercises was $19.1 million .  

During the year ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 , approximately 137,000 and 53,000 stock options expired.  

The fair value of each option award granted during the years ended December 31, 2013 , 2012 and 2011 , was estimated on the date of 
grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The Company's determination of the fair value of share-based awards is affected by the 
Company's common stock price as well as assumptions regarding a number of complex and subjective variables. Below is a summary of the 
assumptions used for the options granted in the years indicated:  

The risk-free interest rate is based on the currently available rate on a U.S. Treasury zero-coupon issue with a remaining term equal to the 
expected term of the option converted into a continuously compounded rate. The dividend yield reflects the fact that the Company has never 
declared or paid any cash dividends on its common stock and does not currently anticipate paying cash dividends in the future. The volatility of 
the Company's common stock is based upon a blended rate of the Company's historical volatility and that of publicly-traded securities of a peer 
group of comparable companies in the Company's industry. The peer group volatility supplements the Company's historical volatility in order to 
calculate a volatility that approximates the expected term used in the Black-Scholes option pricing model. In evaluating comparability, the 
Company considered factors such as industry, stage of life cycle and size. The Company now has enough historical option exercise information 
to be able to accurately compute an expected term for use as an assumption in the Black-Scholes option pricing model, and as such, its 
computation of expected term was calculated using its own historical data.  

The Company recorded $13.9 million , $13.7 million and $10.6 million of compensation expense related to equity awards for the years 
ended December 31, 2013 , 2012 and 2011 , respectively. The related income tax benefit was $5.2 million , $5.1 million and $3.9 million for the 
years ended December 31, 2013 , 2012 and 2011 , respectively.  

As of December 31, 2013 , 2012 and 2011 , there was $5.6 million , $12.9 million and $10.6 million , respectively, of unrecognized 
compensation costs related to unvested options.  

The Company records stock-based compensation expense over the vesting term using the graded-vesting method. At December 31, 2013 , 
the unrecognized compensation costs of stock options are expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 1.1 years.  

Restricted Stock Units  

In 2011, the Company began granting RSUs under the 2009 Plan. The Company now primarily grants RSUs to its employees. Each RSU 
represents a future issuance of one share of common stock contingent upon the recipient's continued service to the Company through the vesting 
date. Upon the vesting date, RSUs are automatically settled for shares of the Company's common stock unless the applicable award agreement 
provides for delayed settlement. If, prior to the vesting date, the employee's status as a full-time employee is terminated, then the RSU is 
automatically canceled on the employment  
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   2013    2012    2011  

Weighted average exercise price per share  $ 10.23    $ 22.59    $ 17.41  
Risk-free interest rate  1.0 %   1.2 %   2.5 % 

Expected dividend yield  —   —   — 
Expected volatility  58.9 %   54.6 %   52.7 % 

Expected life (in years)  5.85    5.67    6.12  
Forfeiture rate  5.0 %   4.0 %   4.0 % 

Weighted average grant date fair value per share  $ 5.48    $ 11.26    $ 9.07  
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termination date. The fair value of an RSU is calculated based on the market value of the common stock on the grant date and is amortized over 
the applicable vesting period using the graded-vesting method.  

A summary of the Company’s RSU activity and related information is as follows:  

As of December 31, 2013 and 2012 , there was $6.5 million and $2.6 million , respectively, of unrecognized compensation costs related to 
unvested RSUs. The unrecognized compensation costs of RSUs are expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 1.6 years.  

During the year ended December 31, 2013 , 181,104 RSU's vested and were released with a market value of $3.0 million . The actual tax 
benefit realized from these RSU's released was $0.5 million . During the year ended December 31, 2012 , 56,855 RSU's vested and were released 
with a market value of $0.8 million . The Company recognized a tax benefit shortfall of $0.2 million related to restricted stock vesting at values 
lower than the related compensation expense. No RSUs vested during the year ended December 31, 2011. There were not any RSUs granted 
prior to 2011.  

15. Warrants  

The Company had issued warrants to purchase common stock to various employees, consultants, licensors and lenders. Each warrant 
represented the right to purchase one share of common stock. No warrants were issued during the years ended December 31, 2013 , 2012 and 
2011 . During the years ended December 31, 2013 , 2012 and 2011 , approximately 104,000 , 174,000 and 43,000 warrants to purchase shares of 
common stock were exercised, respectively. As of December 31, 2013 , all outstanding warrants were expired.  
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Restricted Stock 

Units    

Weighted 
Average  

Grant Date  
Fair Value  

Balance at December 31, 2010  —   $ — 
Awarded  56,855    23.97  
Vested  —   — 
Canceled  —   — 

Balance at December 31, 2011  56,855    23.97  
Awarded  362,199    9.72  
Vested  (56,855 )   23.97  
Canceled  —   — 

Balance at December 31, 2012  362,199    9.72  
Awarded  1,016,035    10.50  
Vested  (181,104 )   9.72  
Canceled  (98,613 )   10.39  

Balance at December 31, 2013  1,098,517    $ 10.38  
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The following table summarizes information with respect to all warrants outstanding as of December 31, 2012 (in thousands, except 
exercise prices):  

16 . Stock Repurchase Programs  

The Company's Board of Directors has authorized us to repurchase outstanding shares of our common stock from time to time in the open 
market through block trades or otherwise depending on market conditions and other considerations, pursuant to the applicable Securities and 
Exchange Commission Rules. The Company's policy is to retain these repurchased shares as treasury shares and not to retire them. The amount 
and timing of future share repurchases, if any, will be made as market and business conditions warrant.  

In July 2010, the Company's board of directors authorized the repurchase of up to $60.0 million of the Company's outstanding shares of 
common stock over the following 12 months (the “2010 Repurchase Program”), and in May 2011, the Company's board of directors authorized 
the repurchase of up to an additional $75.0 million of the Company's outstanding shares of common stock over the following 12 months (the 
“2011 Repurchase Program”). Both of these repurchase programs were authorized with the intention of creating additional value for 
stockholders. Under the repurchase programs, the Company was authorized to purchase shares from time to time in the open market, through 
block trades or otherwise. The Company repurchased a total of 7.3 million shares at a weighted average cost of $18.62 , for a total cost of $135.0 
million .  

On April 30, 2012, the Company's board of directors authorized the repurchase of up to an additional $75.0 million of the Company's 
outstanding shares of common stock over the following 12 months . The repurchase program was authorized with the intention of creating 
additional value for stockholders. Under the repurchase program, the Company is authorized to purchase shares from time to time in the open 
market, through block trades or otherwise. As of December 31, 2013 , the Company had completed this authorized repurchase program, and no 
shares were repurchased under this program.  

In December 2012, we repurchased 0.1 million shares of our common stock from certain senior executives in the amount of $0.6 million . 
The repurchase was approved by our board of directors following its approval and recommendation by the compensation committee and the 
audit committee. The shares were repurchased at a price equal to the closing price of our common stock on the New York Stock Exchange on the 
day the repurchase was approved by our board of directors. No shares were sold into the market in connection with the share repurchase. The 
repurchase related to tax withholding requirements on stock options exercised and are not part of the repurchase programs described above.  

On November 10, 2013, a special committee of our board of directors approved a plan to purchase up to 10,250,000 shares of our common 
stock through a tender offer. The tender offer commenced on November 13, 2013 and expired on December 11, 2013. On December 18, 2013, 
we repurchased shares of our common stock through the tender offer at a price of $19.50 per share. The tender offer was oversubscribed, 
resulting in the purchase of 10.2 million shares, including 0.2 million shares underlying previously unexercised stock options, for a total cost of 
$199.9 million , exclusive of fees. The repurchased shares were added to treasury stock.  
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Exercise Price     
December 31,  

2012  

$1.125  41  
$2.250  55  
$2.835  — 
$2.925  19  
$9.000  3  

Total  118  
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17. Income Taxes  

The Company uses the asset and liability method to account for taxes. Under this method, deferred income tax assets and liabilities result 
from temporary differences between the tax basis of assets and liabilities and their reported amounts in the financial statements that will result in 
tax and deductions in future years.  

The components of income tax expense are as follows (in thousands):  

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are comprised of the following (in thousands):  

   Year Ended December 31,  

   2013    2012    2011  

   (As restated)            

Current:               

Federal  $ 29,456    $ 77,720    $ 88,513  
State  3,168    7,665    8,632  

   32,624    85,385    97,145  
Deferred:               

Federal  (5,952 )   (10,470 )   6,089  
State  (1,010 )   (903 )   (488 ) 

   (6,962 )   (11,373 )   5,601  

Total  $ 25,662    $ 74,012    $ 102,746  

   As of December 31,  

   2013    2012  

   (As restated)       

Deferred tax assets:          

Net operating loss  $ 235    $ 258  
Fixed assets  214    233  
Bad debt  463    1,632  
Vacation accrual  2,762    2,815  
Stock-based compensation  15,341    13,299  
Deferred rent  9,944    9,404  
State tax  2,310    2,541  
Bonus accrual  849    599  
Unearned interest  1,281    1,081  
Accrued expenses  4,377    196  
Revenue reserves  8,992    10,681  

Total deferred tax assets  46,768    42,739  
Valuation allowance  —   — 
Net deferred tax assets  46,768    42,739  
Deferred tax liabilities:          

Fixed assets and intangibles  (11,550 )   (13,411 ) 

Unrealized gain on investments  (28 )   (132 ) 

Total deferred tax liabilities  (11,578 )   (13,543 ) 

Total net deferred tax assets  $ 35,190    $ 29,196  
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The current year change in net deferred tax assets of $6.0 million is comprised of net deferred expense of $7.0 million recorded through 

income tax expense, offset by the $1.1 million tax benefit shortfall recorded to additional paid in capital, net of the $0.1 million tax effect of 
unrealized loss on investments recorded through other comprehensive income.  

Deferred taxes are reflected in the balance sheet as follows (in thousands):  

The Company periodically assesses the likelihood that it will be able to recover its deferred tax assets. The Company considers all available 
evidence, both positive and negative, including historical levels of income, expectations and risks associated with estimates of future taxable 
income and ongoing prudent and feasible profits. Based on the Company's history of earnings, the Company concluded that it is more likely than 
not that the Company will fully utilize the deferred tax assets. Accordingly, the Company has not provided any valuation allowance against the 
deferred tax assets.  

At December 31, 2013 , the Company had federal net operating loss carry forwards of $0.7 million , which are available to offset future 
taxable income. The federal net operating loss carry forwards will begin to expire in 2022 . Pursuant to Internal Code Section 382, use of the net 
operating loss carryforwards may be limited if a cumulative change in ownership of more than 50% occurs within a three-year period. The 
Company has performed a Section 382 analysis and has determined that there is no material effect on the net operating loss carryforwards.  

A reconciliation of the income tax expense computed using the U.S. federal statutory tax rate of 35% and the Company's provision for 
income taxes follows (in thousands):  

The Company evaluates and accounts for uncertain tax positions using a two-step approach. Recognition (step one) occurs when the 
Company concludes that a tax position, based solely on its technical merits, is more-likely-than-not to be sustained upon examination. 
Measurement (step two) determines the amount of benefit that is greater than 50% likely to be realized upon ultimate settlement with the taxing 
authority that has full knowledge of all relevant information. Derecognition of a tax position that was previously recognized would occur when 
the Company subsequently determines that a tax position no longer meets the more-likely-than-not threshold of being sustained.  

The accrual for uncertain tax positions can result in a difference between the estimated benefit recorded in the Company's financial 
statements and the benefit taken or expected to be taken in the Company's income tax returns. This difference is generally referred to as an 
“unrecognized tax benefit.”  

   As of December 31,  

   2013    2012  

   (As restated)       

Current deferred tax assets  $ 16,683    $ 15,490  
Current deferred tax liabilities  —   — 
Noncurrent deferred tax assets  18,507    13,706  
Noncurrent deferred tax liabilities  —   — 

Total  $ 35,190    $ 29,196  

   Year Ended December 31,  

   2013    2012    2011  

   (As restated)            

Computed expected federal tax expense  $ 25,041  35.0  %   $ 68,305  35.0 %   $ 95,839  35.0  % 

State taxes, net of federal benefit  1,351  1.9    4,586  2.4    5,370  2.0  
Permanent differences  917  1.3    1,074  0.5    1,601  0.6  
Uncertain tax positions  (1,647 ) (2.3 )    31  —   (192 ) (0.1 )  

Other  — —   16  —   128  — 

Income tax expense  $ 25,662  35.9  %   $ 74,012  37.9 %   $ 102,746  37.5  % 
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The Company has analyzed filing positions in all of the federal and state jurisdictions where it is required to file income tax returns, as well 

as all open tax years in these jurisdictions.  

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows (in thousands):  

Included in the amount of unrecognized tax benefits at both December 31, 2013 and 2012 is $4.8 million and $6.6 million , respectively, of 
tax benefits that, if recognized, would affect the Company's effective tax rate. Also included in the balance of unrecognized tax benefits at both 
December 31, 2013 and 2012 is $2.6 million and $2.7 million , respectively, of tax benefits that, if recognized, would result in adjustments to 
other tax accounts, primarily deferred tax assets.  

The Company recognizes interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions in income tax expense. At both December 31, 2013 and 
2012 , the Company had approximately $1.7 million respectively, of accrued interest, before any tax benefit, related to uncertain tax positions.  

The tax years 2002-2013 are open to examination by major taxing jurisdictions to which the Company is subject. The California Franchise 
Tax Board is auditing the Company's 2008 and 2009 California income tax returns. The Company does not expect any significant adjustments 
resulting from this audit. It is reasonably possible that the total amount of the unrecognized tax benefit will change during the next 12 months, 
however the Company does not expect the potential change to have a material effect on the results of operations or financial position in the next 
year.  

The Company's continuing practice is to recognize interest and penalties related to income tax matters in income tax expense.  

18 . Regulatory  

The Company is subject to extensive regulation by federal and state governmental agencies and accrediting bodies. In particular, the 
Higher Education Act of 1965, as amended (the “Higher Education Act”), and the regulations promulgated thereunder by the U.S. Department of 
Education (the “Department”) subject the Company to significant regulatory scrutiny on the basis of numerous standards that institutions of 
higher education must satisfy in order to participate in the various federal student financial assistance programs under Title IV of the Higher 
Education Act.  

Ashford University is regionally accredited by the Accrediting Commission for Senior Colleges and Universities of the Western 
Association of Schools and Colleges (“WASC”) and University of the Rockies is regionally accredited by the Higher Learning Commission of 
the North Central Association of Colleges and Schools (“HLC”).  
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Unrecognized tax benefits at December 31, 2011  $ 8,070  
Gross increases-tax positions in prior period  965  
Gross decreases-tax positions in prior period  — 
Gross increases-current period tax positions  231  
Settlements  — 
Lapse of statute of limitations  — 
Unrecognized tax benefits at December 31, 2012  9,266  
Gross increases-tax positions in prior period  — 
Gross decreases-tax positions in prior period  (5 ) 

Gross increases-current period tax positions  100  
Settlements  — 
Lapse of statute of limitations  (1,974 ) 

Unrecognized tax benefits at December 31, 2013  $ 7,387  
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WASC Grant of Initial Accreditation of Ashford University  

On July 10, 2013, WASC granted Initial Accreditation to Ashford University for five years, until July 15, 2018. This WASC action 
permitted Ashford University to designate WASC as its accreditor of record for purposes of eligibility to participate in the Title IV programs 
following approval by the Department, the university's withdrawal from HLC and the transfer of relevant records to WASC. Ashford University 
formally submitted its request for such approvals to the Department on July 17, 2013.On November 4, 2013, the Department notified Ashford 
University that the Department would approve the university’s change in accreditor, recognizing WASC as Ashford University’s accreditor, 
along with the renewal of certification for continued participation in the Title IV, HEA programs. On December 13, 2013, the university effected 
its transition to WASC accreditation and designated its San Diego, California facilities as its main campus and its Clinton, Iowa campus as an 
additional location. As part of a continuing WASC monitoring process, the university will host WASC in a special visit in spring 2015.  

Beginning in 2014, WASC will institute “Mid-Cycle Reviews” of its accredited institutions near the midpoint of their periods of 
accreditation. The purpose of the Mid-Cycle Review is to identify problems with an institution's or program's continued compliance with agency 
standards while taking into account institutional or program strengths and stability. The Mid-Cycle Review will focus particularly on student 
achievement, including indications of educational effectiveness, retention and graduation data.  

Application for Licensure by California BPPE  

To be eligible to participate in Title IV programs, an institution must be legally authorized to offer its educational programs by the states in 
which it is physically located. Effective July 1, 2011, the Department established new requirements to determine if an institution is considered to 
be legally authorized by a state. In connection with its transition to WASC accreditation, Ashford University designated its San Diego, California 
facilities as its main campus for Title IV purposes. WASC-accredited institutions operating in California are not required to obtain approval from 
the State of California, Department of Consumer Affairs, Bureau for Private Postsecondary Education, or BPPE, in order to operate in the state. 
Under the Department’s state authorization rule, an institution must be approved or licensed on a basis other than accreditation in instances in 
which it is not established by name as an educational institution by a state through a charter, statute, constitutional provision, or other action 
issued by an appropriate state agency or entity. On May 21, 2013, the Department published a notice stating that it would provide an extension 
of the effective date of the state authorization rule until July 1, 2014 to qualifying institutions that obtain from a state an explanation of how the 
extension of time would permit the state to comply with the regulations. The California Department of Consumer Affairs has issued a letter 
explaining the need for an extension. As it is uncertain how the Department will interpret the state authorization rule or the applicability of the 
extension of time, the university submitted an Application for Approval to Operate an Accredited Institution to BPPE on September 10, 2013. If 
BPPE approves the university’s application, the university will no longer be exempt from certain laws and regulations applicable to private, post-
secondary educational institutions. These laws and regulations entail certain California reporting requirements, including but not limited to, 
graduation, employment and licensing data, certain changes of ownership and control, faculty and programs, and student refund policies, as well 
as the triggering of other state and federal student employment data reporting and disclosure requirements.  

Request for information from Ashford University by Iowa College Student Aid Commission  

On September 22, 2012, the Iowa College Student Aid Commission requested that Ashford University provide the commission with certain 
information and documentation related to, among other matters, the denial of Ashford University's application for WASC accreditation, the 
university's compliance with HLC criteria and policies, a teach-out plan in the event that Ashford University is unsuccessful in obtaining WASC 
accreditation and is sanctioned by HLC, and information relating to admissions employees, receipt of financial aid, availability of books, credit 
balance authorizations, and academic and financial support and advisement services to students. The commission requested that Ashford 
University provide the requested information by November 12, 2012 and make an in-person presentation during the commission's meeting on 
November 16, 2012. The university made the presentation and has notified the commission of its successful accreditation by WASC.  

 
 

104  



 

 
BRIDGEPOINT EDUCATION, INC.  

Notes to Annual Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)  

 
Negotiated Rulemaking  

The Department held public hearings in May and June 2013 inviting the submission of topics for consideration in a series of rulemaking 
efforts to achieve a long-term agenda in higher education focused on access, affordability, academic quality and completion. Recent hearings 
have focused on topics including, but not limited to, cash management of Title IV program funds, state authorization for programs offering 
distance or correspondence education, gainful employment, credit and clock hour conversions, changes made to the Clery Act by the Violence 
Against Women Act of 2013 (P.L. 113-4), and the definition of “adverse credit” for PLUS borrowers.  

In June 2013, the Department announced its intention to establish a negotiated rulemaking committee to prepare proposed regulations that 
would establish standards for programs that prepare students for gainful employment in a recognized occupation. The committee met for three 
sessions between September and December 2013, but did not reach consensus on the content of the proposed regulations. On March 14, 2014, 
the Department published proposed regulations for comment by the public for a sixty day period.  

In January 2014, the Department held the first of three negotiated rulemaking sessions to implement the changes to the Clery Act required 
by the enactment of the Violence Against Women Act, or VAWA. Two other sessions are scheduled for February 2014 and March-April 2014. 
While the final regulations will likely not be implemented prior to July 1, 2015, the Department notified institutions in an Electronic 
Announcement in May 2013 that until the regulations go into effect, it expects institutions to make a good faith effort to comply with the 
statutory requirements. Among other things, VAWA requires institutions to compile statistics for certain crimes reported to campus security 
authorities or local police agencies. Under the statute, an institution must include the new required information in its Annual Security Report 
issued no later than October 1, 2014.  

In February 2014, the Department held the first of three negotiation sessions related to various new program integrity initiatives, including 
the potential reintroduction of the Distance Education Rule (34 C.F.R. § 600.9(c)) that was vacated by a federal court in 2011. The February 
sessions produced no substantive outcomes, but sessions in March 2014 plan to address the Department’s draft of a proposed regulation on 
distance education that could materially impact our business.  

Additional topics to be considered at March and April sessions are expected to include, but may not be limited to, the following: cash 
management of Title IV funds, including the use of debit cards and the handling of Title IV credit balances; state authorization for foreign 
locations; clock to credit hour conversion; the definition of “adverse credit” for borrowers in the Federal Direct PLUS Loan Program; and the 
application of the repeat coursework provisions to graduate and undergraduate programs.  

We cannot predict the scope and content of the regulations that may emerge from these or other rulemaking activities that the Department 
initiates. Compliance with additional regulations, or with modifications to existing regulations, and/or regulatory scrutiny that results in the 
Company's institutions being allegedly out of compliance with these regulations, could result in direct and indirect costs of compliance, fines, 
liabilities, sanctions or lawsuits, which could have a material adverse effect on enrollments, revenues, financial condition, cash flows and results 
of operations.  

The “90/10” Rule  

Under the Higher Education Act, a for-profit institution loses its eligibility to participate in Title IV programs if the institution derives more 
than 90% of its revenues (calculated in accordance with applicable Department regulations) from Title IV program funds for two consecutive 
fiscal years. This rule is commonly referred to as the “90/10 rule.” Any institution that violates the 90/10 rule for two consecutive fiscal years 
becomes ineligible to participate in Title IV programs for at least two fiscal years. In addition, an institution whose rate exceeds 90% for any 
single year will be placed on provisional certification and may be subject to other enforcement measures.  

For the years ended December 31, 2013 , 2012 and 2011 , Ashford University derived 85.6% , 86.4% and 86.8% , respectively, and 
University of the Rockies derived 87.6% , 87.3% and 85.0% , respectively, of their respective revenues (calculated in accordance with applicable 
Department regulations) from students whose source of funding is through Title IV funds.  
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Cohort Default Rate  

For each federal fiscal year, the Department calculates a rate of student defaults over a two-year measuring period for each educational 
institution which is known as a “cohort default rate.” An institution may lose its eligibility to participate in the Direct Loan and Pell programs if, 
for each of the three most recent federal fiscal years for which information is available, 25% or more of its students who became subject to a 
repayment obligation in that federal fiscal year defaulted on such obligation by the end of the following federal fiscal year. In addition, an 
institution may lose its eligibility to participate in the Direct Loan program if its cohort default rate exceeds 40% in the most recent federal fiscal 
year for which default rates have been calculated by the Department. Ashford University's two-year cohort default rates for the 2011, 2010 and 
2009 federal fiscal years, were 10.1% , 10.2% , and 15.3% , respectively. The two-year cohort default rates for University of the Rockies for the 
2011, 2010 and 2009 federal fiscal years, were 4.8% , 4.0% and 3.3% , respectively.  

The August 2008 reauthorization of the Higher Education Act included significant revisions to the requirements concerning cohort default 
rates. Under the revised law, the period for which students' defaults on their loans are included in the calculation of an institution's cohort default 
rate was extended by one additional year, which is expected to increase the cohort default rates for most institutions. That change was effective 
with the calculation of institutions' cohort default rates for the federal fiscal year ending September 30, 2009, which rates were calculated and 
issued by the Department in September 2012. The Department will not impose sanctions based on rates calculated under this new methodology 
until three consecutive years of rates have been calculated, which is expected to occur in 2014. Until that time, the Department will continue to 
calculate rates under the old calculation method and impose sanctions based on those rates. The revised law also increases the threshold for 
ending an institution's participation in the relevant Title IV programs from 25% to 30%, effective for final three-year cohort default rates 
published on or after the 2012 federal fiscal year. The revised law changes the threshold for placement on provisional certification to 30% for 
two of the three most recent fiscal years for which the Department has published official three-year cohort default rates. Ashford University's 
three-year cohort default rates for the 2010 and 2009 federal fiscal years, were 16.3% and 19.8% , respectively. The three-year cohort default 
rates for University of the Rockies for the 2010 and 2009 federal fiscal years, were 8.0% and 3.3% , respectively.  

Return of Title IV Funds  

An institution participating in Title IV programs must correctly calculate the amount of unearned Title IV program funds that have been 
disbursed to students who withdraw from their educational programs before completion and must return those unearned funds in a timely 
manner, generally within 45 days of the date the school determines that the student has withdrawn. Under Department regulations, failure to 
make timely returns of Title IV program funds for 5% or more of students sampled on the institution's annual compliance audit in either of its 
two most recently completed fiscal years can result in the institution having to post a letter of credit in an amount equal to 25% of its required 
Title IV returns during its most recently completed fiscal year. If unearned funds are not properly calculated and returned in a timely manner, an 
institution is also subject to monetary liabilities or an action to impose a fine or to limit, suspend or terminate its participation in Title IV 
programs. For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 , the Company's institutions did not exceed the 5% threshold for late refunds 
sampled.  

Financial Responsibility  

The Department calculates an institution's composite score for financial responsibility based on its (i) equity ratio, which measures the 
institution's capital resources, ability to borrow and financial viability; (ii) primary reserve ratio, which measures the institution's ability to 
support current operations from expendable resources; and (iii) net income ratio, which measures the institution's ability to operate at a profit. An 
institution that does not meet the Department's minimum composite score may demonstrate its financial responsibility by posting a letter of 
credit in favor of the Department and possibly accepting other conditions on its participation in the Title IV programs.  

For the fiscal year ended Decembe r 31, 2012, the consolidated composite score calculated was 3.0 , satisfying the composite score 
requirement of the Department's financial responsibility test, which institutions must satisfy in order to participate in Title IV programs. We 
expect the consolidated composite score to be 3.0 for the year ended December 31, 2013 . However, the consolidated calculation is subject to 
determination by the Department once it receives and reviews our audited financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2013 .  
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19. Retirement Plans  

The Company maintains an employee savings plan that qualifies as a deferred salary arrangement under Section 401(k) of the Internal 
Revenue Code. Under the savings plan, participating employees may contribute a portion of their pre-tax earnings up to the Internal Revenue 
Service annual contribution limit. Additionally, the Company may elect to make matching contributions into the savings plan in its sole 
discretion. The Company's total expense related to the 401(k) plan was $3.3 million , $3.3 million and $2.2 million for the years ended 
December 31, 2013 , 2012 and 2011 , respectively.  

20. Commitments and Contingencies  

Litigation  

From time to time, the Company is a party to various lawsuits, claims and other legal proceedings that arise in the ordinary course of 
business. When the Company becomes aware of a claim or potential claim, it assesses the likelihood of any loss or exposure. In accordance with 
authoritative guidance, the Company records loss contingencies in its financial statements only for matters in which losses are probable and can 
be reasonably estimated. Where a range of loss can be reasonably estimated with no best estimate in the range, the Company records the 
minimum estimated liability. If the loss is not probable or the amount of the loss cannot be reasonably estimated, the Company discloses the 
nature of the specific claim if the likelihood of a potential loss is reasonably possible and the amount involved is material. The Company 
continuously assesses the potential liability related to the Company’s pending litigation and revises its estimates when additional information 
becomes available. Below is a list of material legal proceedings to which the Company or its subsidiaries is a party.  

Compliance Audit by the Department's Office of the Inspector General (“OIG”)  

In January 2011, Ashford University received a final audit report from the OIG regarding the compliance audit commenced in May 2008 
and covering the period July 1, 2006 through June 30, 2007. The audit covered Ashford University's administration of Title IV program funds, 
including compliance with regulations governing institutional and student eligibility, awards and disbursements of Title IV program funds, 
verification of awards and returns of unearned funds during that period, and its compensation of financial aid and recruiting personnel during the 
period May 10, 2005 through June 30, 2009.  

The final audit report contained audit findings, in each case for the period July 1, 2006 through June 30, 2007, which are applicable to 
award year 2006-2007. Each finding was accompanied by one or more recommendations to the Department's Office of Federal Student Aid (the 
“FSA”). Ashford University provided the FSA a detailed response to OIG’s final audit report in February 2011. In June 2011, in connection with 
two of the six findings, the FSA requested that Ashford University conduct a file review of the return to Title IV calculations for all Title IV 
recipients who withdrew from distance education programs during the 2006-2007 award year. The institution cooperated with the request and 
supplied the information within the time frame required. If the FSA were to determine to assess a monetary liability or commence other 
administrative action, Ashford University would have an opportunity to contest the assessment or proposed action through administrative 
proceedings, with the right to seek review of any final administrative action in the federal courts.  

The outcome of this audit is uncertain at this point because of the many questions of fact and law that may arise. At present, the Company 
cannot reasonably estimate a range of loss for this action based on the information available to the Company. Accordingly, the Company has not 
accrued any liability associated with this matter.  

Iowa Attorney General Civil Investigation of Ashford University  

In February 2011, Ashford University received from the Attorney General of the State of Iowa (“Iowa Attorney General”) a Civil 
Investigative Demand and Notice of Intent to Proceed (“CID”) relating to the Iowa Attorney General’s investigation of whether certain of the 
university's business practices comply with Iowa consumer laws. Pursuant to the CID, the Iowa Attorney General has requested documents and 
detailed information for the time period January 1, 2008 to present. On June 24, 2013, October 25, 2013, and February 10, 2014, representatives 
from the Company and Ashford University met with the Iowa Attorney General to discuss the status of the investigation and the Iowa Attorney 
General’s allegations against the Company which had been communicated to the Company several weeks prior to the June 24th meeting. During 
these meetings, the Iowa Attorney General and Ashford University also discussed the general framework of a potential resolution of the Iowa 
Attorney General’s allegations, which involves several components including injunctive relief, nonmonetary remedies and restitution. Ashford 
University is cooperating with the investigation and continuing to discuss the potential resolution of the Iowa Attorney  
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General’s allegations. Accordingly, the Company estimates that a reasonable range of loss for this matter is between $6.2 million and $9.5 
million . The Company has accrued $9.0 million , which represents its best estimate of a potential resolution, including restitution, the cost of 
non-monetary remedies and future legal costs.  

New York Attorney General Investigation of Bridgepoint Education, Inc.  

In May 2011, the Company received from the Attorney General of the State of New York (“NY Attorney General”) a Subpoena relating to 
the NY Attorney General's investigation of whether the Company and its academic institutions have complied with certain New York state 
consumer protection, securities and finance laws. Pursuant to the Subpoena, the NY Attorney General has requested from the Company and its 
academic institutions documents and detailed information for the time period March 17, 2005 to present. The Company is cooperating with the 
investigation and cannot predict the eventual scope, duration or outcome of the investigation at this time.  

North Carolina Attorney General Investigation of Ashford University  

In September 2011, Ashford University received from the Attorney General of the State of North Carolina (“NC Attorney General”) an 
Investigative Demand relating to the NC Attorney General's investigation of whether the university's business practices complied with North 
Carolina consumer protection laws. Pursuant to the Investigative Demand, the NC Attorney General has requested from Ashford University 
documents and detailed information for the time period January 1, 2008 to present. Ashford University is cooperating with the investigation and 
cannot predict the eventual scope, duration or outcome of the investigation at this time.  

California Attorney General Investigation of For-Profit Educational Institutions  

In January 2013, the Company received from the Attorney General of the State of California (“CA Attorney General”) an Investigative 
Subpoena relating to the CA Attorney General’s investigation of for-profit educational institutions. Pursuant to the Investigative Subpoena, the 
CA Attorney General has requested documents and detailed information for the time period March 1, 2009 to present. On July 24, 2013, the CA 
Attorney General filed a petition to enforce certain categories of the Subpoena related to recorded calls and electronic marketing data. On 
September 25, 2013, we reached an agreement with the CA Attorney General to produce certain categories of the documents requested in the 
petition and stipulated to continue the hearing on the petition to enforce from October 3, 2013 to January 9, 2014. On January 13, 2014, the 
Company received a second Investigative Subpoena from the CA Attorney General requesting additional documents and information for the 
time period March 1, 2009 through the current date. The Company cannot predict the eventual scope, duration or outcome of the investigation at 
this time. As a result, the Company cannot reasonably estimate a range of loss for this action and accordingly has not accrued any liability 
associated with this action.  

Stevens v. Bridgepoint Education, Inc.  

In February 2011, the Company received a copy of a complaint filed as a class action lawsuit naming the Company, Ashford 
University, LLC, and certain employees as defendants. The complaint was filed in the Superior Court of the State of California in San Diego and 
was captioned Stevens v. Bridgepoint Education, Inc. The complaint generally alleged that the plaintiffs and similarly situated employees were 
improperly denied certain wage and hour protections under California law.  

In April 2011, the Company received a copy of a complaint filed as a class action lawsuit naming the Company and Ashford 
University, LLC, as defendants. The complaint was filed in the Superior Court of the State of California in San Diego, and was captioned 
Moore v. Ashford University, LLC. The complaint generally alleged that the plaintiff and similarly situated employees were improperly denied 
certain wage and hour protections under California law.  

In May 2011, the Company received a copy of a complaint filed as a class action lawsuit naming the Company as a defendant. The 
complaint was filed in the Superior Court of the State of California in San Diego on May 6, 2011, and was captioned Sanchez v. Bridgepoint 
Education, Inc. The complaint generally alleged that the plaintiff and similarly situated employees were improperly denied certain wage and 
hour protections under California law.  

In October 2011, the above named cases were consolidated because they involved common questions of fact and law, with Stevens v. 
Bridgepoint Education, Inc. designated as the lead case.  
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In April 2012, the Company entered into a settlement agreement with the plaintiffs of the above named cases to settle the claims on a class-

wide basis. Under the terms of the settlement agreement, the Company agreed to pay an amount to settle the plaintiffs' claims, plus any related 
payroll taxes. The Company accrued a $10.8 million expense in connection with the settlement agreement during the year ending December 31, 
2012. On August 24, 2012, the Court granted final approval of the class action settlement and entered a final judgment in accordance with the 
terms of the settlement agreement. This settlement was paid out prior to December 31, 2012.  

Securities Class Action  

On July 13, 2012, a securities class action complaint was filed in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of California by Donald 
K. Franke naming the Company, Andrew Clark, Daniel Devine and Jane McAuliffe as defendants for allegedly making false and materially 
misleading statements regarding the Company’s business and financial results, specifically the concealment of accreditation problems at Ashford 
University. The complaint asserts a putative class period stemming from May 3, 2011 to July 6, 2012. A substantially similar complaint was also 
filed in the same court by Luke Sacharczyk on July 17, 2012 making similar allegations against the Company, Andrew Clark and Daniel Devine. 
The Sacharczyk complaint asserts a putative class period stemming from May 3, 2011 to July 12, 2012. Finally, on July 26, 2012, another 
purported securities class action complaint was filed in the same court by David Stein against the same defendants based upon the same general 
set of allegations and class period. The complaints allege violations of Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and Rule 
10b-5 promulgated thereunder and seek unspecified monetary relief, interest, and attorneys’ fees.  

On October 22, 2012, the Sacharczyk and Stein actions were consolidated with the Franke action and the Court appointed the City of 
Atlanta General Employees Pension Fund and the Teamsters Local 677 Health Services & Insurance Plan as lead plaintiffs. A consolidated 
complaint was filed on December 21, 2012 and the Company filed a motion to dismiss on February 19, 2013. On September 13, 2013, the Court 
granted the motion to dismiss with leave to amend for alleged misrepresentations relating to Ashford University’s quality of education, the 
WASC accreditation process, and the Company’s financial forecasts. The Court denied the motion to dismiss for alleged misrepresentations 
concerning Ashford University’s persistence rates. The plaintiff did not file an amended complaint by the October 31, 2013 deadline and 
therefore the case is now proceeding to discovery.  

The outcome of this legal proceeding is uncertain at this point because of the many questions of fact and law that may arise. At present, the 
Company cannot reasonably estimate a range of loss for this action based on the information available to the Company. Accordingly, the 
Company has not accrued any liability associated with this action.  

Shareholder Derivative Actions  

In re Bridgepoint, Inc. Shareholder Derivative Action  

On July 24, 2012, a shareholder derivative complaint was filed in California Superior Court by Alonzo Martinez. In the complaint, the 
plaintiff asserts a derivative claim on the Company's behalf against certain of its current and former officers and directors. The complaint is 
entitled Martinez v. Clark, et al. , and generally alleges that the individual defendants breached their fiduciary duties of candor, good faith and 
loyalty, wasted corporate assets and were unjustly enriched. The complaint seeks unspecified monetary relief and disgorgement on behalf of the 
Company, as well as other equitable relief and attorneys' fees. On September 28, 2012, a substantially similar shareholder derivative complaint 
was filed in California Superior Court by David Adolph-Laroche. In the complaint, the plaintiff asserts a derivative claim on the Company's 
behalf against certain of its current and former officers and directors. The complaint is entitled Adolph-Laroche v. Clark, et al. , and generally 
alleges that the individual defendants breached their fiduciary duties of candor, good faith and loyalty, wasted corporate assets and were unjustly 
enriched.  

On October 11, 2012, the Adolph-Laroche action was consolidated with the Martinez action and the case is now entitled In re Bridgepoint, 
Inc. Shareholder Derivative Action . A consolidated complaint was filed on December 18, 2012 and the defendants filed a motion to stay the 
case while the underlying securities class action is pending. The motion was granted by the Court on April 11, 2013. A status conference was 
held on October 10, 2013, during which the Court ordered the stay  
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continued for the duration of discovery in the securities class action, but permitted the plaintiff to receive copies of any discovery responses 
served in the underlying securities class action.  

Cannon v. Clark, et al.  

On November 1, 2013, a shareholder derivative complaint was filed in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of California by 
James Cannon. In the complaint, the plaintiff asserts a derivative claim on the Company's behalf against certain of its current officers and 
directors. The complaint is entitled  Cannon v. Clark, et al . and is substantially similar to the previously filed California State Court derivative 
action now entitled In re Bridgepoint, Inc. Shareholder Derivative Action . In the complaint, plaintiff generally alleges that the individual 
defendants breached their fiduciary duties of candor, good faith and loyalty, wasted corporate assets and were unjustly enriched. The complaint 
seeks unspecified monetary relief and disgorgement on behalf of the Company, as well as other equitable relief and attorneys' fees. Pursuant to a 
stipulation among the parties, on January 6, 2014, the Court ordered the case stayed during discovery in the underlying securities class action, 
but permitted the plaintiff to receive copies of any discovery responses served in the underlying securities class action.  

Di Giovanni v. Clark, et al. , and Craig-Johnston v. Clark, et al .  

On December 9, 2013, two nearly identical shareholder derivative complaints were filed in the United States District Court for the 
Southern District of California. The complaints assert derivative claims on our behalf against the members of our board of directors as well as 
against Warburg Pincus & Co., Warburg Pincus LLC, Warburg Pincus Partners LLC, and Warburg Pincus Private Equity VIII, L.P. The two 
lawsuits are captioned Di Giovanni v. Clark, et al. , and Craig-Johnston v. Clark, et al . The complaints allege that all of the defendants breached 
their fiduciary duties and were unjustly enriched and that the individual defendants wasted corporate assets in connection with the tender offer 
commenced by the Company on November 13, 2013. The lawsuits seek unspecified monetary relief and disgorgement, as well as other equitable 
relief and attorneys’ fees.  

Klein v. Clark, et al.  

On January 9, 2014, a shareholder derivative complaint was filed in the Superior Court of the State of California in San Diego. The 
complaint asserts derivative claims on our behalf against the members of our board of directors as well as against Warburg Pincus & Co., 
Warburg Pincus LLC, Warburg Pincus Partners LLC, and Warburg Pincus Private Equity VIII, L.P. The lawsuit is captioned Klein v. Clark, et 
al. The complaint alleges that all of the defendants breached their fiduciary duties and were unjustly enriched and that the individual defendants 
wasted corporate assets in connection with the tender offer commenced by the Company on November 13, 2013. The lawsuit seeks unspecified 
monetary relief and disgorgement, as well as other equitable relief and attorneys’ fees.  

Guzman v. Bridgepoint Education, Inc.  

In January 2011, Betty Guzman filed a class action lawsuit against the Company, Ashford University and University of the Rockies in the 
U.S. District Court for the Southern District of California. The complaint is entitled Guzman v. Bridgepoint Education, Inc., et al. , and alleges 
that the defendants engaged in misrepresentation and other unlawful behavior in their efforts to recruit and retain students. The complaint asserts 
a putative class period of March 1, 2005 through the present. In March 2011, the defendants filed a motion to dismiss the complaint, which was 
granted by the Court with leave to amend in October 2011.  

In January 2012, the plaintiff filed a first amended complaint asserting similar claims and the same class period, and the defendants filed 
another motion to dismiss. In May 2012, the Court granted University of the Rockies’ motion to dismiss and granted in part and denied in part 
the motion to dismiss filed by the Company and Ashford University. The Court also granted the plaintiff leave to file a second amended 
complaint. In August 2012, the plaintiff filed a second amended complaint asserting similar claims and the same class period. The second 
amended complaint seeks unspecified monetary relief, disgorgement of all profits, various other equitable relief, and attorneys’ fees. The 
defendants filed a motion to strike portions of the second amended complaint, which was granted in part and denied in part. On March 14, 2013, 
the Company filed a motion to deny class certification for students enrolled on or after May 2007 when Ashford University adopted a binding 
arbitration policy. On August 23, 2013, the Court denied the motion finding that although “some” absent class members in this case may have 
signed an enforceable arbitration agreement, this does not demonstrate an overbroad or  
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unascertainable class that forecloses certification at this stage of the proceedings. On September 23, 2013, the Court entered an order bifurcating 
discovery and permitting only class certification discovery to take place until the plaintiff’s motion for class certification, which is due to be filed 
on or before April 30, 2014, is decided.  

The outcome of this legal proceeding is uncertain at this point because of the many questions of fact and law that may arise. At present, the 
Company cannot reasonably estimate a range of loss for this action based on the information available to the Company. Accordingly, the 
Company has not accrued any liability associated with this action.  

Qui Tam Complaints  

In December 2012, the Company received notice that the U.S. Department of Justice had declined to intervene in a qui tam complaint filed 
in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of California by Ryan Ferguson and Mark T. Pacheco under the Federal False Claims Act on 
March 10, 2011 and unsealed on December 26, 2012. The case is entitled United States of America, ex rel., Ryan Ferguson and Mark T. Pacheco 
v. Bridgepoint Education, Inc., Ashford University and University of the Rockies . The qui tam complaint alleges, among other things, that since 
March 10, 2005, the Company caused its institutions, Ashford University and University of the Rockies, to violate the Federal False Claims Act 
by falsely certifying to the U.S. Department of Education that the institutions were in compliance with various regulations governing the Title IV 
programs, including those that require compliance with federal rules regarding the payment of incentive compensation to enrollment personnel, 
student disclosures, and misrepresentation in connection with the institutions' participation in the Title IV programs. The complaint seeks 
significant damages, penalties and other relief. On April 30, 2013, the relators petitioned the Court for voluntary dismissal of the complaint 
without prejudice. The U.S. Department of Justice filed a notice stipulating to the dismissal and the Court granted the dismissal on June 12, 
2013.  

In January 2013, the Company received notice that the U.S. Department of Justice had declined to intervene in a qui tam complaint filed in 
the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of California by James Carter and Roger Lengyel under the Federal False Claims Act on July 2, 
2010 and unsealed on January 2, 2013. The case is entitled United States of America, ex rel., James Carter and Roger Lengyel v. Bridgepoint 
Education, Inc., Ashford University . The qui tam complaint alleges, among other things, that since March 2005, the Company and Ashford 
University have violated the Federal False Claims Act by falsely certifying to the U.S. Department of Education that Ashford University was in 
compliance with federal rules regarding the payment of incentive compensation to enrollment personnel in connection with the institution's 
participation in Title IV programs. Pursuant to a stipulation between the parties, the relators filed an amended complaint on May 10, 2013. The 
amended complaint is substantially similar to the original complaint and seeks significant damages, penalties and other relief. On January 8, 
2014, the Court denied the Company's motion to dismiss and the case is proceeding to discovery.  

The outcome of this legal proceeding is uncertain at this point because of the many questions of fact and law that may arise. At present, the 
Company cannot reasonably estimate a range of loss for this action based on the information available to the Company. Accordingly, the 
Company has not accrued any liability associated with this action.  

Employee Class Actions  

On October 24, 2012, a class action complaint was filed in California Superior Court by former employee Marla Montano naming the 
Company and Ashford University as defendants. The case is entitled Marla Montano v. Bridgepoint Education and Ashford University . The 
complaint asserts a putative class consisting of former employees who were terminated in January 2012 and July 2012 as a result of a mass 
layoff, relocation or termination and alleges that the defendants failed to comply with the notice and payment provisions of the California 
WARN Act. A substantially similar complaint, entitled Dilts v. Bridgepoint Education and Ashford University , was also filed in the same court 
on the same day by Austin Dilts making similar allegations and asserting the same putative class. The complaints seek back pay, the cost of 
benefits, penalties and interest on behalf of the putative class members, as well as other equitable relief and attorneys' fees.  

On January 25, 2013, the Company filed motions to compel binding arbitration with the Court, which were granted on May 20, 2013. The 
parties subsequently agreed to settle all of the claims for an immaterial amount and as a result the cases are now concluded.  
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21. Concentration of Risk  

Concentration of Revenue  

In 2013 , Ashford University derived 85.6% and University of the Rockies derived 87.6% of their respective revenues (in each case 
calculated on a cash basis in accordance with applicable Department regulations) from students whose source of funding is through Title IV 
programs. See Note  18 , “Regulatory-The “90/10” Rule.” Title IV programs are subject to political and budgetary considerations and are subject 
to extensive and complex regulations. The Company's administration of these programs is periodically reviewed by various regulatory agencies. 
Any regulatory violation could be the basis for the initiation of potentially adverse actions including a suspension, limitation, or termination 
proceeding, which could have a material adverse effect on the Company's enrollments, revenues and results of operations.  

Students obtain access to federal student financial aid through a Department prescribed application and eligibility certification process. 
Student financial aid funds are generally made available to students at prescribed intervals throughout their expected length of study. Students 
typically apply the funds received from the federal financial aid programs first to pay their tuition and fees. Any remaining funds are distributed 
directly to the student.  

Concentration of Credit Risk  

The Company maintains its cash and cash equivalents accounts in financial institutions. Accounts at these institutions are insured by the 
Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) up to $250,000 . The Company performs ongoing evaluations of these institutions to limit its 
concentrations risk exposure.  

Concentration of Sources of Supply  

The Company is dependent on a third party provider for its online platform, which includes a learning management system, which stores, 
manages and delivers course content, enables assignment uploading, provides interactive communication between students and faculty and 
supplies online assessment tools. The partial or complete loss of this source may have an adverse effect on enrollments, revenues and results of 
operations.  

22. Quarterly Results of Operations (Unaudited)  

The following tables set forth unaudited results of operations and certain operating results for each quarter during 2013 and 2012 . The 
Company believes that the information reflects all adjustments necessary to present fairly the information below. Basic and diluted earnings per 
common share are computed independently for each of the quarters presented. Therefore, the sum of quarterly basic and diluted per common 
share information may not equal annual basic and diluted earnings per common share. 
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First  
Quarter (as 
Restated)    

Second  
Quarter (as 
Restated)    

Third  
Quarter (as 
Restated)    

Fourth  
Quarter (as 
Restated)  

   (In thousands, except per share data)  

2013                    

Revenue  $ 212,986    $ 193,470    $ 182,768    $ 162,225  
Operating income (loss)  39,676    19,133    19,524    (9,870 ) 

Net income (loss)  24,667    12,114    14,211    (5,109 ) 

Earnings (loss) per common share:                    

Basic  $ 0.46    $ 0.22    $ 0.26    $ (0.10 ) 

Diluted  0.45    0.22    0.25    (0.10 ) 
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The Company has restated its consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2013, and its consolidated statement of income, consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income and consolidated statement of cash flow for the year ended December 31, 2013, as well as for the quarterly 
periods during that fiscal year. The Company has also revised its consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2012, and its consolidated 
statements of income, consolidated statements of comprehensive income and consolidated statements of cash flow for the years ended December 
31, 2012 and 2011, as well as for the quarterly periods during 2012. During the reporting of the first quarter of 2014, the Company identified 
misapplications of GAAP as it related to the accounting for revenue recognition and the classification of restricted cash. Specifically on the 
revenue recognition, the process for analyzing the collectibility assertion was not designed to reassess collectibility on a student-by-student basis 
throughout the period revenue was recognized by the Company's institutions. As a result, the Company identified adjustments, relating to 
revenue, provision for bad debts, accounts receivable, which should have been recognized during the prior periods, and restricted cash balances, 
which should have been presented differently during the prior periods.  

The following tables present the impact of the corrections on the previously reported unaudited consolidated quarterly financial 
information for each of the quarters in the fiscal years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012. The “As Reported” column in the tables below 
reflects balances previously reported by the Company in its quarterly reports on Form 10-Q or annual report on Form 10-K for fiscal year 2013, 
which include revised 2012 balances. The “As Reclassified” column shows the impact of immaterial reclassifications made by the Company to 
reflect changes in presentation retrospectively, including (i) the reclassification of amortization for capitalized curriculum costs from general and 
administrative costs to instructional costs and services on its consolidated statements of income and (ii) the reclassification of current net student 
loans receivable to its own line item on the consolidated balance sheets. The “As Restated” column for 2013 and the “As Revised” column for 
2012 reflects final adjusted balances after the related restatement or revision, as well as previously identified immaterial adjustments.  
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First  

Quarter    
Second  
Quarter    

Third  
Quarter    

Fourth  
Quarter  

   (In thousands, except per share data)  

2012                    

Revenue  $ 241,433    $ 249,534    $ 245,917    $ 206,521  
Operating income  44,875    67,874    47,647    31,231  
Net income  28,434    42,708    30,179   19,825  
Earnings per common share:                    

Basic  $ 0.55    $ 0.81    $ 0.57    $ 0.37  
Diluted  0.51    0.76    0.54    0.36  
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The following tables for fiscal year 2013 are presented in thousands, except per share data:  
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   As Reported  As Reclassified  As Restated     As Reported  As Reclassified  As Restated  

Consolidated balance sheet data:  March 31, 2013     June 30, 2013  

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 316,267  - $ 275,533     $ 363,121  - $ 322,578  
Restricted cash  $ — - $ 41,094     $ — - $ 40,543  
Accounts receivable, net  $ 69,352  $ 68,472  $ 51,835     $ 60,502  $ 58,895  $ 43,393  
Student loans receivable, net, current  $ — $ 880  $ 880     $ — $ 1,607  $ 1,607  
Deferred income taxes, current  $ 10,970  - $ 15,524     $ 11,020  - $ 15,573  
Prepaid expenses and other current assets  $ 21,445  - $ 25,245     $ 20,294  - $ 23,891  
Total current assets  $ 530,232  - $ 521,949     $ 541,747  - $ 534,395  
Student loans receivable, net, non-current  $ 14,524  - $ 13,788     - - - 
Deferred income taxes, non-current  $ 13,262  - $ 13,701     $ 13,306  - $ 13,746  
Total assets  $ 763,100  - $ 754,520     $ 761,992  - $ 755,080  
Accrued liabilities  $ 56,707  - $ 58,801     $ 45,089  - $ 48,336  
Deferred revenue and student deposits  - - -    $ 135,865  - $ 134,634  
Total current liabilities  $ 204,577  - $ 206,671     $ 188,315  - $ 190,331  
Total liabilities  $ 240,985  - $ 243,079     $ 225,222  - $ 227,238  
Retained earnings  $ 501,565  - $ 490,891     $ 511,933  - $ 503,005  
Total stockholders’ equity  $ 522,115  - $ 511,441     $ 536,770  - $ 527,842  
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity  $ 763,100  - $ 754,520     $ 761,992  - $ 755,080  

   As Reported  As Reclassified  As Restated     As Reported  As Reclassified  As Restated  

Consolidated balance sheet data:  September 30, 2013     December 31, 2013  

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 431,762  - $ 392,299     $ 249,472  - $ 212,526  
Restricted cash  $ — - $ 39,463     $ — - $ 36,946  
Accounts receivable, net  $ 51,123  $ 49,441  $ 41,842     $ 28,565  - $ 22,953  
Student loans receivable, net, current  $ — $ 1,682  $ 1,682     - - - 
Deferred income taxes, current  $ 11,033  - $ 15,586     $ 15,232  - $ 16,683  
Prepaid expenses and other current assets  $ 16,057  - $ 19,072     $ 21,369  - $ 21,563  
Total current assets  $ 545,196  - $ 545,165     $ 381,582  - $ 377,615  
Deferred income taxes, non-current  $ 13,284  - $ 13,724     - - - 
Total assets  $ 765,190  - $ 765,599     $ 573,979  - $ 570,012  
Accrued liabilities  $ 43,567  - $ 48,828     $ 54,756  - $ 54,290  
Total current liabilities  $ 179,336  - $ 184,597     $ 192,742  - $ 192,276  
Total liabilities  $ 214,375  - $ 219,636     $ 225,940  - $ 225,474  
Retained earnings  $ 522,068  - $ 517,216     $ 515,608  - $ 512,107  
Total stockholders’ equity  $ 550,815  - $ 545,963     $ 348,039  - $ 344,538  
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity  $ 765,190  - $ 765,599     $ 573,979  - $ 570,012  



 

 
BRIDGEPOINT EDUCATION, INC.  

Notes to Annual Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)  

 

 
 

115  

   As Reported  As Reclassified  As Restated     As Reported  As Reclassified  As Restated  

   Three Months Ended  

Consolidated statement of income data:  March 31, 2013     June 30, 2013  

Revenue  $ 221,984  - $ 212,986     $ 197,574  - $ 193,470  
Instructional costs and services  $ 101,646  $ 102,282  $ 97,028     $ 106,045  $ 106,812  $ 99,603  
General and administrative  $ 19,375  $ 18,739  $ 18,739     $ 17,919  $ 17,152  $ 17,152  
Total costs and expenses  $ 178,564  - $ 173,310     $ 181,546  - $ 174,337  
Operating income  $ 43,420  - $ 39,676     $ 16,028  - $ 19,133  
Other income, net  $ 818  - $ 837     $ 1,031  - $ 748  
Income before income taxes  $ 44,238  - $ 40,513     $ 17,059  - $ 19,881  
Income tax expense  $ 17,271  - $ 15,846     $ 6,691  - $ 7,767  
Net income  $ 26,967  - $ 24,667     $ 10,368  - $ 12,114  
Basic earnings per share  $ 0.50  - $ 0.46     $ 0.19  - $ 0.22  
Diluted earnings per share  $ 0.49  - $ 0.45     $ 0.19  - $ 0.22  

   As Reported  As Reclassified  As Restated     As Reported  As Reclassified  As Restated  

   Three Months Ended  

Consolidated statement of income data:  September 30, 2013     December 31, 2013  

Revenue  $ 185,612  - $ 182,768     $ 163,453  - $ 162,225  
Instructional costs and services  $ 92,204  $ 93,079  $ 83,562     $ 93,755  - $ 90,541  
General and administrative  $ 16,050  $ 15,175  $ 15,175     - - - 
Total costs and expenses  $ 172,761  - $ 163,244     $ 175,309  - $ 172,095  
Operating income (loss)  $ 12,851  - $ 19,524     $ (11,856 )  - $ (9,870 )  

Income (loss) before income taxes  $ 13,638  - $ 20,310     $ (11,146 )  - $ (9,159 )  

Income tax expense (benefit)  $ 3,503  - $ 6,099     $ (4,686 )  - $ (4,050 )  

Net income (loss)  $ 10,135  - $ 14,211     $ (6,460 )  - $ (5,109 )  

Basic earnings (loss) per share  $ 0.19  - $ 0.26     $ (0.12 )  - $ (0.10 )  

Diluted earnings (loss) per share  $ 0.18  - $ 0.25     $ (0.12 )  - $ (0.10 )  
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   As Reported  As Reclassified  As Restated     As Reported  As Reclassified  As Restated  

   Year to Date Period Ended  

Consolidated statement of income data:  March 31, 2013     June 30, 2013  

Revenue  $ 221,984  - $ 212,986     $ 419,558  - $ 406,456  
Instructional costs and services  $ 101,646  $ 102,282  $ 97,028     $ 207,691  $ 209,094  $ 196,631  
General and administrative  $ 19,375  $ 18,739  $ 18,739     $ 37,294  $ 35,891  $ 35,891  
Total costs and expenses  $ 178,564  - $ 173,310     $ 360,110  - $ 347,647  
Operating income  $ 43,420  - $ 39,676     $ 59,448  - $ 58,809  
Other income, net  $ 818  - $ 837     $ 1,849  - $ 1,585  
Income before income taxes  $ 44,238  - $ 40,513     $ 61,297  - $ 60,394  
Income tax expense  $ 17,271  - $ 15,846     $ 23,962  - $ 23,613  
Net income  $ 26,967  - $ 24,667     $ 37,335  - $ 36,781  
Basic earnings per share  $ 0.50  - $ 0.46     $ 0.69  - $ 0.68  
Diluted earnings per share  $ 0.49  - $ 0.45     $ 0.67  - $ 0.66  
Consolidated statement of cash flow data:                       

Net income  $ 26,967  - $ 24,667     $ 37,335  - $ 36,781  
Provision for bad debts  $ 18,294  - $ 13,040     $ 36,865  - $ 24,403  
Amortization of premium/ discount  $ 1,005  - $ 1,407     $ 3,100  - $ 2,165  
Restricted cash  $ — - $ 5,900     $ — - $ 6,451  
Accounts receivable  $ (19,381 )  - $ (10,229 )     $ (28,744 )  - $ (13,222 )  

Prepaid expenses and other current assets  $ (1,635 )  - $ (5,656 )     $ (96 )  - $ (4,110 )  

Student loan receivable  $ 281  - $ (133 )     - - - 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  $ 14,119  - $ 16,213     $ 2,153  - $ 5,400  
Deferred revenue and student deposits  $ (34,088 )  - $ (33,747 )     $ (39,192 )  - $ (39,996 )  

Cash flows from operating activities  $ 15,616  - $ 21,516     $ 32,273  - $ 38,724  
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   As Reported  As Reclassified  As Restated     As Reported  As Reclassified  As Restated  

   Year to Date Period Ended  

Consolidated statement of income data:  September 30, 2013     December 31, 2013  

Revenue  $ 605,170  - $ 589,224     $ 768,623  - $ 751,449  
Instructional costs and services  $ 299,895  $ 302,173  $ 280,193     $ 395,928  - $ 370,734  
General and administrative  $ 53,344  $ 51,066  $ 51,066     - - - 
Total costs and expenses  $ 532,871  - $ 510,891     $ 708,180  - $ 682,986  
Operating income  $ 72,299  - $ 78,333     $ 60,443  - $ 68,463  
Other income, net  $ 2,636  - $ 2,371     $ 3,346  - $ 3,082  
Income before income taxes  $ 74,935  - $ 80,704     $ 63,789  - $ 71,545  
Income tax expense  $ 27,465  - $ 29,712     $ 22,779  - $ 25,662  
Net income  $ 47,470  - $ 50,992     $ 41,010  - $ 45,883  
Basic earnings per share  $ 0.88  - $ 0.94     $ 0.76  - $ 0.85  
Diluted earnings per share  $ 0.85  - $ 0.91     $ 0.74  - $ 0.83  
Consolidated statement of cash flow data:                       

Net income  $ 47,470  - $ 50,992     $ 41,010  - $ 45,883  
Provision for bad debts  $ 53,649  - $ 31,670     $ 72,313  - $ 47,119  
Amortization of premium/discount  $ 3,596  - $ 2,662     $ 3,559  - $ 2,624  
Deferred income taxes  - - -    $ (10,506 )  - $ (6,962 )  

Restricted cash  $ — - $ 7,531     $ — - $ 10,048  
Accounts receivable  $ (36,056 )  - $ (18,826 )     $ (34,348 )  - $ (15,973 )  

Prepaid expenses and other current assets  $ 3,395  - $ (155 )     $ (2,411 )  - $ (2,607 )  

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  $ 3,699  - $ 8,960     $ 13,687  - $ 13,220  
Deferred revenue and student deposits  $ (48,610 )  - $ (48,160 )     - - - 
Cash flows from operating activities  $ 54,277  - $ 61,808     $ 75,538  - $ 85,586  
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The following tables for fiscal year 2012 are presented in thousands, except per share data:  
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   As Reported  As Reclassified  As Revised     As Reported  As Reclassified  As Revised  

Consolidated balance sheet data:  March 31, 2012     June 30, 2012  

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 162,148  - $ 103,405     $ 180,425  - $ 123,901  
Restricted cash  $ 25  - $ 58,768     $ — - $ 56,524  
Accounts receivable, net  $ 91,129  $ 90,708  $ 75,846     $ 91,139  $ 90,620  $ 74,826  
Student loan receivables, net, current  $ — $ 421  $ 421     $ — $ 519  $ 519  
Deferred income taxes, current  $ 5,441  - $ 8,235     $ 5,442  - $ 8,235  
Prepaid expenses and other current assets  $ 17,864  - $ 18,367     22,966  - 25,105  
Total current assets  $ 441,169  - $ 429,604     $ 459,764  - $ 448,902  
Student loan receivables, net, non-current  $ 12,065  - $ 11,035     $ 14,998  - $ 14,232  
Deferred income taxes, non-current  $ 10,805  - $ 11,604     $ 10,810  - $ 11,608  
Total assets  $ 682,447  - $ 670,651     $ 723,119  - $ 712,289  
Accrued liabilities  $ 66,755  - $ 64,595     $ 54,650  - $ 54,006  
Total current liabilities  $ 260,575  - $ 258,415     $ 248,012  - $ 247,368  
Total liabilities  $ 289,296  - $ 287,136     $ 279,333  - $ 278,689  
Retained earnings  $ 383,148  - $ 373,512     $ 426,406  - $ 416,220  
Total stockholders’ equity  $ 393,151  - $ 383,515     $ 443,786  - $ 433,600  
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity  $ 682,447  - $ 670,651     $ 723,119  - $ 712,289  

   As Reported  As Reclassified  As Revised     As Reported  As Reclassified  As Revised  

Consolidated balance sheet data:  September 30, 2012     December 31, 2012  

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 181,577  - $ 131,501     $ 255,965  - $ 208,971  
Restricted cash  $ — - $ 50,076     $ — - $ 46,994  
Accounts receivable, net  $ 99,919  $ 99,386  $ 84,178     $ 67,371  - $ 54,487  
Student loan receivables, net, current  $ — $ 533  $ 533     - - - 
Deferred income taxes, current  $ 5,313  - $ 8,106     $ 10,936  - $ 15,490  
Prepaid expenses and other current assets  $ 22,722  - $ 22,944     $ 19,810  - $ 20,053  
Total current assets  $ 452,515  - $ 440,322     $ 491,605  - $ 483,518  
Student loan receivables, net, non-current  $ 14,992  - $ 14,291     $ 15,143  - $ 14,416  
Deferred income taxes, non-current  $ 10,752  - $ 11,550     $ 13,266  - $ 13,706  
Total assets  $ 736,099  - $ 724,003     $ 750,787  - $ 742,413  
Accrued liabilities  $ 52,313  - $ 50,044     - - - 
Total current liabilities  $ 231,925  - $ 229,656     - - - 
Total liabilities  $ 265,565  - $ 263,296     - - - 
Retained earnings  $ 456,226  - $ 446,399     $ 474,598  - $ 466,224  
Total stockholders’ equity  $ 470,534  - $ 460,707     $ 491,570  - $ 483,196  
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity  $ 736,099  - $ 724,003     $ 750,787  - $ 742,413  
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   As Reported  As Reclassified  As Revised     As Reported  As Reclassified  As Revised  

   Three Months Ended  

Consolidated statement of income data:  March 31, 2012     June 30, 2012  

Revenue  $ 250,437  - $ 241,433     $ 256,302  - $ 249,534  
Instructional costs and services  $ 84,224  $ 84,453  $ 81,202     $ 85,279  $ 85,579  $ 79,719  
General and administrative  $ 25,542  $ 25,314  $ 25,314     $ 15,047  $ 14,747  $ 14,747  
Total costs and expenses  $ 199,808  - $ 196,558     $ 187,520  - $ 181,660  
Operating income  $ 50,629  - $ 44,875     $ 68,782  - $ 67,874  
Other income, net  $ 683  - $ 740     $ 854  - $ 883  
Income before income taxes  $ 51,312  - $ 45,615     $ 69,636  - $ 68,757  
Income tax expense  $ 19,341  - $ 17,181     $ 26,378  - $ 26,049  
Net income  $ 31,971  - $ 28,434     $ 43,258  - $ 42,708  
Basic earnings per share  $ 0.61  - $ 0.55     $ 0.82  - $ 0.81  
Diluted earnings per share  $ 0.57  - $ 0.51     $ 0.77  - $ 0.76  

   As Reported  As Reclassified  As Revised     As Reported  As Reclassified  As Revised  

   Three Months Ended  

Consolidated statement of income data:  September 30, 2012     December 31, 2012  

Revenue  $ 252,076  - $ 245,917     $ 209,356  - $ 206,521  
Instructional costs and services  $ 90,986  $ 91,362  $ 84,666     $ 102,034  $ 102,607  $ 97,485  
General and administrative  $ 17,247  $ 16,870  $ 16,870     $ 13,139  $ 12,566  $ 12,566  
Total costs and expenses  $ 204,967  - $ 198,270     $ 180,412  - $ 175,290  
Operating income  $ 47,109  - $ 47,647     $ 28,944  - $ 31,231  
Other income, net  $ 955  - $ 996     $ 878  - $ 912  
Income before income taxes  $ 48,064  - $ 48,643     $ 29,822  - $ 32,143  
Income tax expense  $ 18,244  - $ 18,464     $ 11,450  - $ 12,318  
Net income  $ 29,820  - $ 30,179     $ 18,372  - $ 19,825  
Basic earnings per share  $ 0.56  - $ 0.57     $ 0.34  - $ 0.37  
Diluted earnings per share  $ 0.53  - $ 0.54     $ 0.33  - $ 0.36  
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   As Reported  As Reclassified  As Revised     As Reported  As Reclassified  As Revised  

   Year to Date Period Ended  

Consolidated statement of income data:  March 31, 2012     June 30, 2012  

Revenue  $ 250,437  - $ 241,433     $ 506,739  - $ 490,967  
Instructional costs and services  $ 84,224  $ 84,453  $ 81,202     $ 169,503  $ 170,032  $ 160,921  
General and administrative  $ 25,542  $ 25,314  $ 25,314     $ 40,589  $ 40,061  $ 40,061  
Total costs and expenses  $ 199,808  - $ 196,558     $ 387,328  - $ 378,218  
Operating income  $ 50,629  - $ 44,875     $ 119,411  - $ 112,749  
Other income, net  $ 683  - $ 740     $ 1,537  - $ 1,623  
Income before income taxes  $ 51,312  - $ 45,615     $ 120,948  - $ 114,372  
Income tax expense  $ 19,341  - $ 17,181     $ 45,719  - $ 43,230  
Net income  $ 31,971  - $ 28,434     $ 75,229  - $ 71,142  
Basic earnings per share  $ 0.61  - $ 0.55     $ 1.44  - $ 1.36  
Diluted earnings per share  $ 0.57  - $ 0.51     $ 1.34  - $ 1.27  
Consolidated statement of cash flow data:                       

Net income  $ 31,971  - $ 28,434     $ 75,229  - $ 71,142  
Provision for bad debts  $ 16,669  - $ 13,418     $ 33,401  - $ 24,289  
Amortization of premium/discount  $ 1,754  - $ 2,125     $ 3,594     $ 4,470  
Restricted cash  $ — - $ (5,028 )     $ — - $ (2,809 )  

Accounts receivable  $ (46,053 )  - $ (37,153 )     $ (62,501 )  - $ (46,772 )  

Prepaid expenses and other current assets  $ (459 )  - $ 32     $ (5,084 )  - $ (6,806 )  

Student loans receivable  $ (2,399 )     $ (3,214 )     $ (5,626 )     $ (6,666 )  

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  $ 26,851  - $ 24,691     $ 18,492  - $ 17,847  
Cash flows from operating activities  $ 40,350  - $ 35,321     $ 76,806  - $ 73,996  
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23. Subsequent Events  

On February 10, 2014, representatives from the Company and Ashford University met with the Iowa Attorney General to discuss the status 
of the investigation and the Iowa Attorney General’s allegations against the Company. During this meeting, the Iowa Attorney General and 
Ashford University discussed the general framework of a potential resolution of the Iowa Attorney General’s allegations. For additional 
information, see Note 20, “Commitments and Contingencies - Iowa Attorney General Civil Investigation of Ashford University.”  
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   As Reported  As Reclassified  As Revised     As Reported  As Reclassified  As Revised  

   Year to Date Period Ended  

Consolidated statement of income data:  September 30, 2012     December 31, 2012  

Revenue  $ 758,815  - $ 736,884     $ 968,171  - $ 943,405  
Instructional costs and services  $ 260,489  $ 261,394  $ 245,587     $ 364,001  - $ 343,072  
General and administrative  $ 57,836  $ 56,931  $ 56,931     - - - 
Total costs and expenses  $ 592,295  - $ 576,488     $ 772,707  - $ 751,778  
Operating income  $ 166,520  - $ 160,396     $ 195,464  - $ 191,627  
Other income, net  $ 2,492  - $ 2,619     $ 3,370  - $ 3,531  
Income before income taxes  $ 169,012  - $ 163,015     $ 198,834  - $ 195,158  
Income tax expense  $ 63,963  - $ 61,694     $ 75,413  - $ 74,012  
Net income  $ 105,049  - $ 101,321     $ 123,421  - $ 121,146  
Basic earnings per share  $ 2.00  - $ 1.93     $ 2.33  - $ 2.29  
Diluted earnings per share  $ 1.87  - $ 1.81     $ 2.21  - $ 2.17  
Consolidated statement of cash flow data:                       

Net income  $ 105,049  - $ 101,321     $ 123,421  - $ 121,146  
Provision for bad debts  $ 52,418  - $ 36,610     $ 73,696  - $ 52,767  
Deferred income taxes  - - -    $ (9,972 )  - $ (11,373 )  

Amortization of premium/discount  $ 5,384     $ 6,922     $ 6,805     $ 8,992  
Restricted cash  $ — - $ 3,639     $ — - $ 6,721  
Accounts receivable  $ (90,188 )  - $ (68,357 )     $ (81,577 )  - $ (62,333 )  

Prepaid expenses and other current assets  $ (3,982 )  - $ (4,548 )     $ (1,056 )  - $ (2,387 )  

Student loans receivable  $ (5,730 )     $ (6,729 )     $ (3,778 )     $ (5,742 )  

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  $ 19,363  - $ 17,094     - - - 
Deferred revenue and student deposits  - - -    $ (10,389 )  - $ (3,921 )  

Cash flows from operating activities  $ 93,588  - $ 97,226     $ 143,185  - $ 149,905  



 

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.  

None.  

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.  

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures  

Our disclosure controls and procedures are designed to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed by us in 
reports that we file or submit under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), is recorded, processed, summarized 
and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC's rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, 
controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in reports we file or submit under the Exchange Act is 
accumulated and communicated to our management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, or persons 
performing similar functions, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. In designing and evaluating the disclosure 
controls and procedures, management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only 
reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives, and management is required to apply its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit 
relationship of possible controls and procedures.  

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our chief executive officer and our chief financial officer, 
we carried out an evaluation of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures, as defined in Rules 13a-
15(e) under the Exchange Act, as of the end of the period covered by this report. At the time that our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year 
ended December 31, 2013 was filed on March 17, 2014, our chief executive officer and our chief financial officer concluded that our disclosure 
controls and procedures were effective as of December 31, 2013. Subsequent to that evaluation, our chief executive officer and our chief 
financial officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were not effective as of December 31, 2013 because of the material 
weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting described below. Notwithstanding the material weaknesses described below, 
management, based upon the work performed during the restatement process, has concluded that the Company's consolidated financial 
statements for the periods covered by and included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K/A are fairly stated in all material respects in accordance 
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (“GAAP”) for each of the periods presented herein.  

Management's Restated Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting  

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such term is defined in 
Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f). Our internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the 
maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of our assets; (ii) provide 
reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles, and that our receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorizations of our management 
and directors; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of 
our assets that could have a material effect on our financial statements.  

Internal control over financial reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the 
preparation of financial statements prepared for external purposes in accordance with GAAP. Because of its inherent limitations, internal control 
over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are 
subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or 
procedures may deteriorate.  

Our management has assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2013, based on the 
framework in Internal Control-Integrated Framework (1992) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 
Commission (“COSO”). A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such 
that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of a company's annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or 
detected on a timely basis. In connection with our management's assessment of our internal control over financial reporting, our management has 
identified control deficiencies that constituted material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2013, as 
described below.  

Our management has concluded that there are two material weaknesses in internal control over financial reporting, as we did not maintain 
effective controls over the selection and application of GAAP related to revenue recognition and restricted cash. Specifically, the members of 
our management team with the requisite level of accounting knowledge, experience and  
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training commensurate with our financial reporting requirements did not analyze certain accounting issues at the level of detail required to 
ensure the proper application of GAAP in certain circumstances. One control deficiency related to our failure to maintain effective internal 
controls over the accounting for revenue recognition. Specifically, the process for analyzing the collectibility criterion for revenue recognition 
was not designed to reassess collectibility, on a student-by-student basis, throughout the period revenue was recognized by the Company's 
institutions. This control deficiency resulted in the misstatement of our revenue, bad debt expense, and accounts receivables and related financial 
disclosures, and resulted in the restatement of the Company’s consolidated financial statements for the year 2013 and each of the quarters of 
2013 and revision of the Company’s consolidated financial statements for the years 2012 and 2011 and each of the quarters of 2012 and 2011. 
The other control deficiency related to our failure to maintain effective internal controls over the presentation of certain funds as restricted cash. 
This control deficiency resulted in the misstatement of our cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash accounts, cash flow provided by 
operating activities on the consolidated statement of cash flows, and the related financial disclosures and resulted in the revision of the 
Company’s consolidated financial statements for the years 2013, 2012, and 2011 and each of the quarters of 2013, 2012, and 2011. Additionally, 
these control deficiencies could result in misstatements of the aforementioned accounts and disclosures that would result in a material 
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements that would not be prevented or detected. Accordingly, our management has determined 
that these control deficiencies constitute individual material weaknesses.  

In Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting included in our original Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year 
ended December 31, 2013, our management, including our chief executive officer and our chief financial officer, concluded that we maintained 
effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2013. Management has subsequently concluded that the material 
weaknesses described above existed as of December 31, 2013. As a result, we have concluded that we did not maintain effective internal control 
over financial reporting as of December 31, 2013, based on the criteria in Internal Control-Integrated Framework (1992) issued by the COSO. 
Accordingly, our management has restated its report on internal control over financial reporting.  

The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2013, has been audited by 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report which appears under Item 8.  

Management's Remediation Plan  

We are committed to remediating the control deficiencies that constitute the material weaknesses by implementing changes to our internal 
control over financial reporting. Management is responsible for implementing changes and improvements in the internal control over financial 
reporting and for remediating the control deficiencies that gave rise to the material weaknesses.  

We plan to implement measures to remediate the underlying causes of the control deficiencies that gave rise to the material weaknesses. 
We plan to achieve this primarily through additional training efforts as well as ensuring appropriate review of the related significant accounting 
policies by the members of management with the requisite level of knowledge, experience and training to appropriately apply GAAP. We plan to 
undertake additional review processes to ensure the related significant accounting policies are implemented and applied properly on a consistent 
basis throughout the Company. We believe these measures will remediate the control deficiencies. However, we have not completed all of the 
corrective processes, procedures and related evaluation or remediation that we believe are necessary. As we continue to evaluate and work to 
remediate the control deficiencies that gave rise to the material weaknesses, we may determine to take additional measures to address the control 
deficiencies.  

Prior Material Weakness and Remediation  

We had disclosed in Item 9A, Controls and Procedures of our annual report on Form 10-K/A, for the prior year ended December 31, 2012, 
that there were matters that constituted a material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting.  

The previous material weakness in internal control over financial reporting related to not maintaining effective internal controls over the 
accounting for accounts receivable. Specifically, we determined 1) that the process for estimating the allowance for doubtful accounts in 2012 
was not designed to appropriately incorporate all relevant qualitative factors and 2) that accounts receivable aging was not correct. These control 
deficiencies resulted in the revision of the Company's consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2012 related to the 
accounting for the valuation of the Company's accounts receivable.  

We committed to remediating the control deficiencies that constituted the fiscal year 2012 material weakness by implementing changes to 
our internal control over financial reporting. Throughout 2013, we took actions to improve in the area of accounts receivable including:  
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We will continue to maintain appropriate focus on these critical accounting areas going forward. We believe the measures we have taken 
will remediate the control deficiencies described above and strengthen our internal control over financial reporting.  

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting  

There were no changes in internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended December 31, 2013, that have materially 
affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.  

Item 9B. Other Information.  

None.  
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•  implementing additional oversight and review; 

•  performing additional analytical procedures, including detailed analysis of the accounts receivable aging, and of the allowance for 
doubtful accounts as a percentage of the receivables;  

•  gathering insights from operational personnel to ensure a better understanding of account balances and reasons for fluctuations; 

•  looking at other internal and external factors potentially impacting receivable balances at a more disaggregated level; 

•  implementing a look-back analysis to ensure that historical estimates remain appropriate; 

•  monitoring the receivable sub-populations to ensure a deeper understanding of how student behavior at the institutions affects related 
receivable balances; and  

•  engaging a third party to review historical percentage methodology. 



 
PART III  

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance.  

See Part I, Item 1, “Business-Executive Officers of the Registrant,” which information is incorporated herein by reference.  

The information required by this item regarding our directors and corporate governance matters is included under the captions “Proposal 1-
Election of Directors” and “Corporate Governance” in the Proxy Statement for the 2014 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the 
SEC within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2013 (the “2014 Proxy Statement”) and is incorporated herein by 
reference. The information required by this item regarding delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K is included under the 
heading “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance” in the 2014 Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.  

Item 11. Executive Compensation.  

The information required by this item is included under the captions “Corporate Governance-Director Compensation” and “Executive 
Compensation” in the 2014 Proxy Statement and incorporated herein by reference.  

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters.  

The information required by this item is included under the captions “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management” 
in the 2014 Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.  

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence.  

The information required by this item is included under the captions “Certain Relationships and Related Transactions” and “Corporate 
Governance-Director Independence” in the 2014 Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.  

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services.  

The information required by this item is included under the caption “Proposal 2-Ratification of Independent Registered Public Accounting 
Firm” in the 2014 Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.  
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PART IV  

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules.  

(a)    The following documents are included as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K/A:  

(1)    Financial Statements.  

(2)    Financial Statement Schedules.  

All financial statement schedules have been omitted as they are not required, not applicable, or the required information is otherwise 
included.  

(3)    Exhibits.  
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm  75 

Consolidated Balance Sheets  76 

Consolidated Statements of Income  77 

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income  78 

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity  79 

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows  80 

Notes to Annual Consolidated Financial Statements  81 

Exhibit     Description of Document    
Filed 
Herewith    

Incorporated by 
Reference    Form    

Exhibit 
No.    Date Filed  

      Acquisition Agreements                           
2.1 

    

Purchase and Sale Agreement dated December 3, 2004, as amended, 
among The Franciscan University of the Prairies, the Sisters of 
St. Francis and the registrant.         

X  

  

S-1  

  

2.1 

   

February 17, 2009  

2.2 
    

Asset Purchase and Sale Agreement dated September 12, 2007 between 
the Colorado School of Professional Psychology and the registrant.         

X  
  

S-1  
  

2.2 
   

February 17, 2009  

      
Charter Documents and Instruments Defining Rights of Security 
Holders                           

3.1     Fifth Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation.         X    10-Q    3.1    May 21, 2009  

3.2     Second Amended and Restated Bylaws.         X    S-1    3.4    March 20, 2009  

4.1     Specimen of Stock Certificate.         X    S-1    4.1    March 30, 2009  

4.2 

    

Second Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreement dated 
August 26, 2009 among the registrant and the other persons named 
therein.         

X  

  

S-1  

  

4.4 

   

September 4, 2009  

      Employee Benefit Plans                           
10.1  *  Amended and Restated 2005 Stock Incentive Plan.         X    S-1    10.1    December 22, 2008  

10.2 
 

*  2005 Stock Incentive Plan-Form of Stock Option Agreement and Notice 
of Option Grant for Founders.         

X  
  

S-1  
  

10.2 
   

February 17, 2009  

10.3 

 

*  2005 Stock Incentive Plan-Form of Stock Option Agreement and Notice 
of Option Grant for Charlene Dackerman, Jane McAuliffe, Ross 
Woodard and other non-executive employees.         

X  

  

S-1  

  

10.3 

   

February 17, 2009  

10.4 

 

*  2005 Stock Incentive Plan-Form of Stock Option Agreement and Notice 
of Option Grant for Andrew S. Clark, Daniel J. Devine, Rodney T. 
Sheng and Christopher L. Spohn.         

X  

  

S-1  

  

10.4 

   

February 17, 2009  

10.5 
 

*  2005 Stock Incentive Plan-Form of Stock Option Agreement and Notice 
of Option Grant for Robert Hartman.         

X  
  

S-1  
  

10.12 
   

February 17, 2009  

10.6 

 

*  Amended and Restated 2005 Stock Incentive Plan-Form of Stock Option 
Agreement and Notice of Option Grant for Charlene Dackerman, Jane 
McAuliffe, Ross Woodard and other non-executive employees.         

X  

  

8-K  

  

10.13 

   

January 12, 2010  

10.7 

 

*  Amended and Restated 2005 Stock Incentive Plan-Form of Stock Option 
Agreement and Notice of Option Grant for Andrew S. Clark, Daniel J. 
Devine, Rodney T. Sheng and Christopher L. Spohn.         

X  

  

8-K  

  

10.14 

   

January 12, 2010  

10.8 
 

*  Amended and Restated 2005 Stock Incentive Plan-Amendment to Stock 
Option Award         

X  
  

S-1  
  

10.33 
   

March 30, 2009  
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Exhibit     Description of Document    
Filed 
Herewith    

Incorporated by 
Reference    Form    

Exhibit 
No.    Date Filed  

10.9  *  Amended and Restated 2009 Stock Incentive Plan.         X    8-K    10.1    May 16, 2013  

10.10 
 

*  Amended and Restated 2009 Stock Incentive Plan-Form of Nonstatutory 
Stock Option Agreement for Executives and Senior Management.         

X  
  

S-8  
  

99.4 
   

May 13, 2009  

10.11 
 

*  Amended and Restated 2009 Stock Option Plan - Form of Nonstatutory 
Stock Option Agreement (effective March 2011).         

X  
  

10-Q  
  

10.3 
   

May 3, 2011  

10.12 
 

*  Amended and Restated 2009 Stock Incentive Plan-Form of Incentive 
Stock Option Agreement for Executives and Senior Management.         

X  
  

S-8  
  

99.5 
   

May 13, 2009  

10.13 
 

*  2009 Stock Incentive Plan - Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award 
Agreement (Deferred Settlement).         

X  
  

8-K  
  

99.1 
   

June 27, 2011  

10.14 
 

*  2009 Stock Incentive Plan - Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award 
Agreement (General).         

X  
  

8-K  
  

99.2 
   

June 27, 2011  

10.15  *  Form of Non-Plan Stock Option Agreement         X    S-8    99.6    May 13, 2009  

10.16  *  Form of Compensatory Warrant Agreement.         X    S-1    4.1    March 20, 2009  

10.17  *  Amended and Restated Employee Stock Purchase Plan.         X    8-K    99.1    March 22, 2010  

10.18  *  Bridgepoint Education Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Plan         X    10-Q    10.7    May 3, 2010  

      Agreements with Executive Officers, Directors and Warburg Pincus                           
10.19  *  Employment Agreement between Andrew S. Clark and the registrant.         X    S-1    10.24    March 20, 2009  

10.20  *  Employment Agreement between Daniel J. Devine and the registrant.         X    S-1    10.25    March 20, 2009  

10.21  *  Employment Agreement between Rodney T. Sheng and the registrant.         X    S-1    10.27    March 20, 2009  

10.22  *  Offer Letter to Diane Thompson.         X    S-1    10.28    March 20, 2009  

10.23  *  Offer Letter to Thomas Ashbrook.         X    S-1    10.29    March 20, 2009  

10.24  *  Offer Letter to Douglas C. Abts.         X    10-K    10.23    March 2, 2011  

10.25  *  Executive Severance Plan.         X    S-1    10.31    March 20, 2009  

10.26  *  Form of Severance Agreement under the Executive Severance Plan.         X    S-1    10.32    March 20, 2009  

10.27  *  Offer Letter to Dale Crandall.         X    S-1    10.30    March 20, 2009  

10.28  *  Offer Letter to Marye Anne Fox.         X    10-K    10.30    March 7, 2012  

10.29 
 

*  Offer Letter to Andrew Miller.  
       

X  
  

10-K  
  

10.31 
   

March 7, 2012  

10.30 
 

*  Form of Indemnification Agreement for Executive Officers and Directors 
(before January 1, 2012).         

X  
  

S-1  
  

10.8 
   

December 22, 2008  

10.31 
 

*  Form of Indemnification Agreement (after January 1, 2012).  
       

X  
  

10-K  
  

10.33 
   

March 7, 2012  

10.32 

 

*  Stock Ownership Guidelines (after December 31, 2011 and prior to May 
14, 2013).  

       

X  

  

10-K  

  

10.34 

   

March 7, 2012  

10.33 
 

*  Stock Ownership Guidelines (effective May 14, 2013).  
       

X  
  

10-K  
  

10.33 
   

March 17, 2014  

10.34     Nominating Agreement between Warburg Pincus and the registrant.         X    S-1    10.11    February 17, 2009  

      Bank Documents                           
10.35     Credit Agreement dated January 29, 2010 with Comerica Bank         X    8-K    99.1    February 3, 2010  

10.36     Revolving Credit Note dated January 29, 2010 with Comerica Bank         X    8-K    99.2    February 3, 2010  

10.37     Security Agreement dated January 29, 2010 with Comerica Bank         X    8-K    99.3    February 3, 2010  

10.38 
    

First Amendment to Loan Documents with Comerica Bank dated 
July 30, 2010         

X  
  

10-Q  
  

10.1 
   

August 3, 2010  

10.39 
    

Second Amendment to Loan Documents with Comerica Bank dated 
August 6, 2010.         

X  
  

10-Q  
  

10.2 
   

November 2, 2010  

10.40 
    

Third Amendment to Loan Documents with Comerica Bank dated 
December 1, 2010.         

X  
  

10-K  
  

10.39 
   

March 2, 2011  

10.41 
    

Fourth Amendment to Loan Documents with Comerica Bank, dated May 
2, 2011.         

X  
  

10-Q  
  

10.1 
   

August 2, 2011  

10.42 
    

Fifth Amendment to Loan Documents with Comerica Bank, dated 
January 27, 2012.         

X  
  

10-K  
  

10.43 
   

March 7, 2012  

10.43 
    

Sixth Amendment to Loan Documents with Comerica Bank, dated 
March 30, 2012.         

X  
  

10-Q  
  

10.6 
   

May 1, 2012  
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10.44 
    

Amended and Restated Revolving Credit Agreement with Comerica 
Bank, dated as of April 13, 2012.         

X  
  

10-Q  
  

10.1 
   

August 7, 2012  

      Material Real Estate Leases                           
10.45 

 

†  Office Lease dated January 31, 2008 with Kilroy Realty, L.P., as 
amended by the First Amendment thereto dated December 1, 2008, 
related to the premises located at 13480 Evening Creek Drive North, San 
Diego, California.         

X  

  

S-1  

  

10.15 

   

April 13, 2009  

10.46 

 

†  Second Amendment to Office Lease dated June 3, 2009, with Kilroy 
Realty L.P., related to the premises located at 13480 Evening Creek 
Drive North, San Diego, California.         

X  

  

10-Q  

  

10.2 

   

August 11, 2009  

10.47 
 

†  Office Lease and Sublease Agreements, related to the premises located at 
13500 Evening Creek Drive North, San Diego, California.         

X  
  

S-1  
  

10.16 
   

April 13, 2009  

10.48 

 

†  First Amendment to Office Lease dated March 12, 2010, with Kilroy 
Realty, L.P., related to the premises located at 13500 Evening Creek 
Drive North, San Diego, California.         

X  

  

10-Q  

  

10.5 

   

May 3, 2010  

10.49 

 

†  Second Amendment to Office Lease with Kilroy Realty, L.P., dated 
February 29, 2012, related to the premises located at 13500 Evening 
Creek Drive North, San Diego, California.         

X  

  

10-Q  

  

10.5 

   

May 1, 2012  

10.50 

 

†  Office Lease dated June 26, 2009, with Kilroy Realty, L.P., related to the 
premises located at 13520 Evening Creek Drive North, San Diego, 
California.         

X  

  

10-Q  

  

10.1 

   

August 11, 2009  

10.51 

 

†  Standard Form Modified Gross Office Lease dated October 22, 2008, 
and addendum, with Sunroad Centrum Office I, L.P. related to the 
premises located at 8620 Spectrum Center Lane, San Diego, California.         

X  

  

S-1  

  

10.17 

   

March 2, 2009  

10.52 

 

†  First Amendment to Standard Form Modified Gross Office Lease dated 
September 16, 2011, with Sunroad Centrum Office I, L.P., related to the 
premises located at 8620 Spectrum Center Lane, San Diego, California.         

X  

  

10-Q  

  

10.4 

   

December 16, 2011  

10.53 

 

†  Office Lease dated February 28, 2011 with WSC 1515 Arapahoe 
Investors V, L.L.C., related to the premises located at located at 1515 
Arapahoe Street, Denver, Colorado.         

X  

  

10-Q  

  

10.1 

   

May 3, 2011  

10.54 

 

†  Commencement Date Memorandum and First Amendment to Office 
Lease dated November 18, 2011 with WSC 1515 Arapahoe Investors V, 
L.L.C., related to the premises located at located at 1515 Arapahoe 
Street, Denver, Colorado.         

X  

  

10-K  

  

10.55 

   

March 7, 2012  

10.55 

 

†  Lease dated August 8, 2011, with CCP/MS SSIII Denver Tabor Center I 
Property Owner LLC, related to the premises located at 1200 17th Street 
and 1201 16th Street, Denver, Colorado.         

X  

  

10-Q  

  

10.3 

   

November 1, 2011  

10.56 

 

†  First Amendment dated June 28, 2012, with CCP/MS SSIII Denver 
Tabor Center I Property Owner LLC, related to the premises located at 
1200 17th Street and 1201 16th Street, Denver, Colorado.         

X  

  

10-Q  

  

10.2 

   

August 7, 2012  

      Material Strategic Agreements                           
10.57 

 
†  Master Services and License Agreement dated September 29, 2009, with 

eCollege.com         
X  

  
8-K  

  
99.1 

   
October 1, 2009  

10.58 
 

†  First Addendum to Master Services and License Agreement dated 
November 9, 2009 with eCollege.com         

X  
  

10-K  
  

10.45 
   

March 2, 2010  

10.59 
 

†  Second Addendum to Master Services and License Agreement dated 
December 15, 2009 with eCollege.com         

X  
  

10-K  
  

10.46 
   

March 2, 2010  

10.60 
 

†  Third Addendum to Master Services and License Agreement dated 
January 12, 2010 with eCollege.com         

X  
  

10-K  
  

10.47 
   

March 2, 2010  

10.61 
 

†  Fourth Addendum to Master Services and License Agreement dated 
October 14, 2010 with eCollege.com         

X  
  

10-K  
  

10.54 
   

March 2, 2011  

10.62 
 

†  Software License Agreement and Campuscare Support Agreement 
between Campus Management Corp. and the registrant.         

X  
  

S-1  
  

10.21 
   

March 30, 2009  

10.63 
 

†  Addenda to Software License Agreement with Campus Management 
Corp. dated June 29, 2009.         

X  
  

10-Q  
  

10.5 
   

August 11, 2009  

10.64 
 

†  Addendum to CampusCare Maintenance and Support Agreement dated 
February 11, 2011 with Campus Management Corporation.         

X  
  

10-Q  
  

10.2 
   

May 3, 2011  

10.65 
 

†  CampusCare Maintenance and Support Renewal dated December 28, 
2011, with Campus Management Corp.         

X  
  

10-K  
  

10.67 
   

March 7, 2012  

10.66 
 

†  Addendum to Software License Agreement with Campus Management 
Corp. dated June 29, 2012.         

X  
  

10-K  
  

10.72 
   

March 12, 2013  
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10.67 
 

†  Addendum to CampusCare Support Agreement dated June 29, 2012 with 
Campus Management Corporation.         

X  
  

10-K  
  

10.73 
   

March 12, 2013  

10.68 
 

†  CampusCare Maintenance and Support Renewal dated December 10, 
2012, with Campus Management Corp.         

X  
  

10-K  
  

10.68 
   

March 17, 2014  

10.69 
 

†  CampusCare Maintenance and Support Renewal dated October 24, 2013, 
with Campus Management Corp.         

X  
  

10-K  
  

10.69 
   

March 17, 2014  

10.70 
    

General Services Agreement dated January 1, 2009 between Affiliated 
Computer Services, Inc. and Ashford University, LLC.         

X  
  

10-K  
  

10.68 
   

March 7, 2012  

10.71 

    

Amendment One to General Services Agreement dated July 14, 2011 
between Affiliated Computer Services, Inc. and Ashford University, 
LLC.         

X  

  

10-Q  

  

10.4 

   

August 2, 2011  

10.72 

 

†  Amendment One to Task Order One (Central Financial Aid Processing) 
dated January 2, 2012 between Affiliated Computer Services, Inc. and 
Ashford University, LLC.         

X  

  

10-K  

  

10.70 

   

March 7, 2012  

10.73 
    

General Services Agreement dated January 1, 2009 between Affiliated 
Computer Services, Inc. and University of the Rockies, LLC.         

X  
  

10-K  
  

10.71 
   

March 7, 2012  

10.74 

    

Amendment One to General Services Agreement dated July 15, 2011 
between Affiliated Computer Services, Inc. and University of the 
Rockies, LLC.         

X  

  

10-Q  

  

10.5 

   

August 2, 2011  

10.75 

 

†  Amendment One to Task Order One (Central Financial Aid Processing) 
dated January 2, 2012 between Affiliated Computer Services, Inc. and 
University of the Rockies, LLC.         

X  

  

10-K  

  

10.73 

   

March 7, 2012  

10.76 
 

†  License Agreement dated October 31, 2013 between Forbes Education 
Holdings, Bridgepoint Education, Inc. and Ashford University, LLC.         

X  
  

10-K  
  

10.76 
   

March 17, 2014  

      Code of Ethics                           
14.1     Amended and Restated Code of Ethics         X    8-K    14.1    December 1, 2009  

      Subsidiaries                           
21.1     List of subsidiaries of the registrant.         X    10-K    21.1    March 12, 2013  

      Consent and Power of Attorney                           
23.1     Consent of independent registered public accounting firm.    X                      
24.1     Power of Attorney (included on signature page).         X    10-K    24.1    March 12, 2013  

      Certifications Required by Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002                           
31.1 

    

Certification of Andrew S. Clark, CEO and President, pursuant to 
Rule 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a) of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, 
as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.    

X  

                    
31.2 

    

Certification of Daniel J. Devine, Chief Financial Officer, pursuant to 
Rule 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a) of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, 
as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.    

X  

                    
32.1 

    

Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to 
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, executed by Andrew S. 
Clark, CEO and President, and Daniel J. Devine, Chief Financial Officer    

X  

                    
99.1 

    

Disclosure required pursuant to Section 13(r) of the Securities Exchange 
Act of 1934  

        

X  

  

10-K  

  

99.1 

   

March 17, 2014  

      Interactive Data                           
101 

 

‡  The following financial information from our Annual Report on 
Form 10-K/A for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2013, filed with the 
SEC on August 1, 2014, formatted in Extensible Business Reporting 
Language (“XBRL”): (i) the Consolidated Balance Sheets as of 
December 31, 2013, and December 31, 2012; (ii) the Consolidated 
Statements of Income for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 
2011; (iii) the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the 
years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 (iv) the Consolidated 
Statements Stockholder's Equity for the three years ended December 31, 
2013; (v) the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended 
December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011; and (vi) Notes to Annual 
Consolidated Financial Statements.    

X  

                    

*  Indicates management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement. 
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†  Portions of this exhibit have been omitted pursuant to a request for confidential treatment and the non-public information has been filed 
separately with the SEC.  

‡  XBRL information is furnished and not filed or a part of a registration statement or prospectus for purposes of Sections 11 or 12 of the 
Securities Act, is deemed not filed for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act, and otherwise is not subject to liability under these 
sections.  



 
SIGNATURES  

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be 
signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.  

Dated: August 1, 2014  

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf 
of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated. 

* by /s/ DANIEL J. DEVINE  
Attorney-in-Fact  
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   BRIDGEPOINT EDUCATION, INC.  

    

   /s/ ANDREW S. CLARK  

   
Andrew S. Clark  

(CEO and President)  

Name    Title    Date  

/s/ ANDREW S. CLARK    CEO and President (Principal Executive Officer) and a Director    August 1, 2014  

Andrew S. Clark            

          

/s/ DANIEL J. DEVINE    Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer)    August 1, 2014  

Daniel J. Devine            

          

/s/ RUSSELL SAKAMOTO    Vice President, Chief Accounting Officer and Corporate Controller (Principal Accounting Officer)    August 1, 2014  

Russell Sakamoto            

          

*    Director       

Ryan Craig            

          

*    Director       

Dale Crandall            

          

*    Director       

Patrick T. Hackett            

          

*    Director       

Marye Anne Fox            

          

*    Director       

Robert Hartman            

          

*    Director       

Adarsh Sarma            



 
 

Exhibit 23.1 
 

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING  FIRM  

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-8 (No. 333-159220, No. 333-164405, 
No. 333-171571, No. 333-179046, No. 333-185944 and No. 333-188738) and Form S-3 (No. 333-175724) of Bridgepoint Education, Inc. of our 
report dated March 17, 2014, except for the effects of the restatement described in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements and the matters 
described in the penultimate paragraph of Management's Restated Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting as to which the date is 
August 1, 2014 , relating to the consolidated financial statements and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, which appears 
in this Form 10-K/A.  

 
/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP  
Los Angeles, California  
August 1, 2014  

 
 
 



 
 

EXHIBIT 31.1 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302  
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002  

 

I, Andrew S. Clark, certify that:  

 

Date: August 1, 2014  

 
 
 

1.  I have reviewed this Amendment No. 1 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Bridgepoint Education, Inc.; 

2.  Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to 
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the 
period covered by this report;  

3.  Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material 
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;  

4.  The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act 
Rules 13a15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:  

a.  Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made 
known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;  

b.  Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed 
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of 
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;  

c.  Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions 
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on 
such evaluation; and  

d.  Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the 
registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially 
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and  

5.  The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent 
functions):  

a.  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting 
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial 
information; and  

b.  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the 
registrant's internal control over financial reporting.  

      /s/ ANDREW S. CLARK  

      
Andrew S. Clark  

President and Chief Executive Officer  



 
 

EXHIBIT 31.2 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302  
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002  

 

I, Daniel J. Devine, certify that:  

 

Date: August 1, 2014  

 
 
 

1.  I have reviewed this Amendment No. 1 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Bridgepoint Education, Inc.; 

2.  Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to 
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the 
period covered by this report;  

3.  Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material 
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;  

4.  The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act 
Rules 13a15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:  

a.  Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made 
known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;  

b.  Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed 
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of 
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;  

c.  Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions 
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on 
such evaluation; and  

d.  Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the 
registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially 
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and  

5.  The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent 
functions):  

a.  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting 
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial 
information; and  

b.  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the 
registrant's internal control over financial reporting.  

      /s/ DANIEL J. DEVINE  

      
Daniel J. Devine  

Chief Financial Officer  



 
 

Exhibit 32.1 

 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO  
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,  

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO  
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002  

          

In connection with the Amendment No. 1 to the annual report of Bridgepoint Education, Inc. (the "Company") on Form 10-K for the period 
ended December 31, 2013, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), each of the undersigned 
hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:  

Dated: August 1, 2014  

Dated: August 1, 2014  

 

        This certification shall not be deemed "filed" for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act, or otherwise subject to the liability of that 
section. This certification shall not be deemed to be incorporated by reference into any filing under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or 
the Exchange Act, except to the extent specifically incorporated by the Company into such filing.  

        A signed original of this certification has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished to the 
Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.  

 
 

1.  The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended 
(the "Exchange Act"); and  

2.  The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of 
operations of the Company.  

/s/ ANDREW S. CLARK        

Andrew S. Clark,  
President and Chief Executive Officer  

(Principal Executive Officer)        

/s/ DANIEL J. DEVINE        

Daniel J. Devine,  
Chief Financial Officer  

(Principal Financial Officer)        


